Effective Interventions and Patient Perceptions on the Management of Medication Adherence: a focus on mHealth

Thesis Elyssa Katlin Wiecek 2021

Doctor of Philosophy Graduate School of Health, Discipline of Pharmacy: University of Technology Sydney

i

CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINAL AUTHORSHIP

I Elyssa Katlin Wiecek declare that this thesis, is submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the award of Doctor of Philosophy, in the Graduate School of Health at the University of Technology Sydney.

This thesis is wholly my own work unless otherwise referenced or acknowledged. In addition, I certify that all information sources and literature used are indicated in the thesis.

This document has not been submitted for qualifications at any other academic institution.

This research is supported by a University of Technology Sydney International Research Scholarship and a University of Technology Sydney President's Scholarship.

This research is supported by the Australian Government Research Training Program.

Signature of Student:

Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.

Date: 05/06/2021

Abstract

Background

Non-adherence to medications remains a global crisis with high prevalence causing worsening health outcomes, increased morbidity, and even death. Multiple dimensions affect the medication-taking process ranging from patient-related determinants to health system causes. Many interventions to improve adherence have seen disappointingly modest improvements with the most effective strategies including multiple components. These interventions are normally delivered as a package without the full understanding of what are the most effective components. The Digital Revolution has put mHealth (mobile health) at the forefront of new, emerging tools for improved adherence. An approximate 200 new mHealth apps are added to the market each day with 46% of patients adapting mobile technology to improve their health in the previous twelve months. While the technical tools within apps such as dosage reminders have been proven effective, other components such as rewards and gamification have yet to be evaluated. The variety of components being offered also warrants an exploration of the opinions of their users. Through understanding effectiveness by adherence outcomes and users' experiences within these mHealth offerings, a full understanding of their success and acceptability is possible.

Objectives

To explore, analyse and estimate the effect of interventions to improve medication adherence. This research aimed to gain a better understanding of the combination of components within effective interventions as well as evaluated an emerging mHealth tool, Perx Health. Simultaneously, beliefs, perceptions and experiences of users of the innovative mHealth intervention were explored to understand the acceptability and adoption of the technology.

Methodology

A series of discrete studies were undertaken: (1) a network meta-analysis of studies assessing the effectiveness of interventions and their components aimed at improving medication adherence; (2) evaluation of the impact of an innovative mHealth intervention, Perx, utilising multiple components on sustaining optimal adherence levels; and (3) analysis of users' beliefs, perceptions and experiences within the mHealth app for an understanding of the app's desirability and adoption as a tool to improve adherence.

Results

The network meta-analysis identified 249 studies evaluating interventions to improve adherence over multiple periods of time. Multicomponent interventions were found to the be the most effective interventions at improving adherence over 10 months, with education in combination with technical and attitudinal components (OR 0.49, 95% CrI 0.27-0.88) and rewards in combination with technical interventions having the most effective odds ratio (OR 0.03, 95% CrI 0.01-0.13) against standard of care. The Perx mHealth app utilising rewards, technical components, education and attitudinal components revealed high rates of adherence, average at 87.6% (SD 16.9%), above an optimal adherence threshold standard of 80%, over 6 months. An analysis of 6,296 user reviews of the mHealth app discovered a highly accepted and appreciated tool for aiding the management of medication adherence. Users reacted positively to reminder and reward components specifically, though expected improvements within technical functionality issues and the frequency of rewards.

Conclusion

Interventions to improve medication adherence have revealed modest improvements in effectiveness, with a continued need for multicomponent interventions to sustain adherence over 10 months. The evaluated mHealth intervention, Perx, utilising multiple components, including rewards, technical, education and attitudinal components, highlighted an intervention able to sustain optimal adherence rates over time. User reviews recognised a highly desirable and appreciated mHealth interventions should continue to

be innovated and adopted as helpful tools in improving medication adherence but must be evidence-based and evaluated for their effect on health outcomes.

Dissemination of Research

Peer reviewed publications

- 1. Wiecek E, Torres-Robles A, Cutler RL, Benrimoj SI, Garcia-Cardenas V 2020, 'Impact of a Multicomponent Digital Therapeutic Mobile App on Medication Adherence in Patients with Chronic Conditions: Retrospective Analysis', JMIR, vol. 22, no. 8.
- Cutler, R.L., Torres-Robles, A, Wiecek, E, Drake, B., Van der Linden, N., Benrimoj, S.I.C. & Garcia-Cardenas, V. 2019, 'Pharmacist-led medication non-adherence intervention: reducing the economic burden placed on the Australian health care system', Patient preference and adherence, vol. 13, p. 853.
- 3. Wiecek, E, Tonin, F.S., Torres-Robles, A, Benrimoj, S.I., Fernandez-Llimos, F. & Garcia-Cardenas, V. 2019, 'Temporal effectiveness of interventions to improve medication adherence: A network meta-analysis', PloS one, vol. 14, no. 3, p. e0213432.
- 4. Torres-Robles, A, **Wiecek, E,** Cutler, R., Drake, B., Benrimoj, S.I., Fernandez-Llimos, F. & Garcia-Cardenas, V. 2019, 'Using Dispensing Data to Evaluate Adherence Implementation Rates in Community Pharmacy', Frontiers in Pharmacology, vol. 10, no. 130.
- Torres-Robles, A, Wiecek, E, Tonin, F.S., Benrimoj, S.I., Fernandez-Llimos, F. & Garcia-Cardenas, V. 2018, 'Comparison of Interventions to Improve Long-Term Medication Adherence Across Different Clinical Conditions: A Systematic Review With Network Meta-Analysis', Frontiers in Pharmacology, vol. 9, no. 1454.
- Tonin, F.S., Wiecek, E, Torres-Robles, A., Pontarolo, R, Benrimoj, S.C.I., Fernandez-Llimos, F. & Garcia-Cardenas, V. 2019, 'An innovative and comprehensive technique to evaluate different measures of medication adherence: The network meta-analysis', Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 358-65.

Conference proceedings

- Wiecek E, Torres-Robles A, Cutler RL, Garcia-Cardenas V 2019, 'Gamifying medication adherence: retrospective analysis of a mobile application utilising gamification and incentives to improve adherence', Poster presented at the 23rd Annual International Society for Patient Medication Adherence.
- 2. Leite J, **Wiecek E,** Torres-Robles A, Cutler RL, Garcia-Cardenas V 2019, 'The effectiveness of using mobile applications to improve medication adherence: a systematic review', Poster presented at the 23rd Annual International Society for Patient Medication Adherence.

- 3. Wiecek E, Torres-Robles A, Cutler RL, Benrimoj, SI, Garcia-Cardenas V 2018, 'Evaluation of a community pharmacy medication adherence service: A study protocol', Poster presented at the 2nd Annual Simpodader Internacional.
- 4. Wiecek E, Benrimoj SI, Fernandez-Llimos F, Tonin FS, Torres Robles A, Garcia-Cardenas A 2018a, 'Comparing the efficacy of intervention strategies to enhance medication adherence: a network meta-analysis', Poster presented at the 1st Annual Pharmacy Practice Research: Postgraduat Students, Postdoctoral Fellows and Supervisors Symposium Conference Organised by the FIP Special Interest Group (SIG) on Pharmacy Practice Research.

Acknowledgements

This research is supported by a University of Technology Sydney International Research Scholarship and a University of Technology Sydney President's Scholarship.

Thank you to my supervisors, Professor Charlie (Shalom) Benrimoj; Emeritus Professor, University of Sydney, Dr Victoria Garcia-Cardenas; Senior Lecturer, Graduate School of Health, School of Pharmacy, UTS, Professor Kylie Williams; Head of Discipline, Pharmacy, Graduate School of Health, School of Pharmacy, UTS., and Dr Rachelle Cutler; Lecturer, Graduate School of Health, School of Pharmacy, UTS.

In addition to my supervisors, I would like to acknowledge and thank the wonderful colleagues, co-authors, and external companies, both at UTS and abroad, with whom I have collaborated. Their guidance and knowledge lead to develop research I was excited and passionate about and I learned so much from you all in the process.

I would like to thank the staff and academics at the Graduate School of Health for their support and encouragement throughout my experience at UTS. The supportive community gave me opportunities and motivation I am forever grateful for.

To the fellow PhD students on this journey with me, I would not have survived this without our support system. To Carmen, who shared every step of this experience with me from the beginning until the end. Your company kept me sane, and every hug provided the love and family I needed on the other side of the world. To Andrea, for being my excel master and data expert. This research and my perseverance throughout this thesis would not have been possible without you.

Lastly to my friends, family, and partner, thank you so much for your unconditional love and support. You all believed in me throughout my highs and lows and even when I barely believed in myself. To my partner, thank you for taking care of me when I needed it the most and for being my number one fan. To my parents, sister, brother-in-law, uncle, and grandmother, I am eternally grateful for your comfort, cheerleading, and emotional support and would not be where I am today without you.

Preface

This thesis is presented in fulfilment of the doctoral degree (Doctor of Philosophy) requirements of the University of Technology Sydney, Australia.

The thesis is structured as a PhD by compilation. Chapter 1 contains a research overview and an outline of the overall rationale, objectives and organisation of the thesis. Chapter 2 provides the background and reasoning for the research. Chapters 3-5 comprise the results including a network meta-analysis assessing comparative effectiveness of interventions to improve medication adherence, evaluation of a mobile health app's impact on medication adherence and an exploration of user beliefs, perceptions and experiences using the aforementioned mobile health app. The chapters have been structured as research articles containing all corresponding references, figures, tables and appendices related to the research activity. This is followed by Chapter 6, which discusses the results, summarises the contribution of work and provides recommendations for future research.

Elyssa K Wiecek is the primary author of each publication. Additionally, co-authors contributed to the conception or design of the work, data collection, data analysis and interpretation, or revision of the manuscripts.

Table of Contents

Abstractiii
Dissemination of Research
Acknowledgementsviii
Prefacex
List of Figures
List of Tablesi
Abbreviations
Chapter 11
Synopsis1
Rationale0 Objectives
Research Overview
Chapter 2
Background1
Defining medication adherence1
Prevalence of non-adherence3
Reasons for non-adherence3
Measures of Adherence
Clinical Impact of Non-adherence14
Current Interventions to Improve Medication Adherence16
Mobile Applications to Improve Medication Adherence20
User Perceptions23
Implications of medication non-adherence25
Chapter 327
Temporal effectiveness of interventions to improve medication adherence: A network meta- analysis
Abstract
Introduction
Materials and methods
Results
Discussion
Conclusions

References	49
Chapter 4	162
The Effects of a Digital Therapeutic Utilizing Gamification and Incentives to Achieve Optimal Medication Adherence: Retrospective Analysis	162
Introduction	167
Methods	169
Results	173
Discussion	179
Conclusion	185
References	187
Chapter 5	193
User Perception of a mHealth Application Using Gamification and Incentives to Improve Medio Adherence: Content Analysis of User Survey Reviews	ation 193
Introduction	197
Methods	199
Results	201
Discussion	205
References	211
Chapter 6	214
Discussion	215
Effective Interventions to Improve Medication Adherence	217
Rewards-based Interventions	220
MHealth Intervention Content	224
The Perx Intervention	228
User Perspectives on mHealth	229
Future Directions	232
Methodological Strengths and Limitations	235
Implications for policy, professional practice and research	238
Opportunities for mHealth	240
Conclusions	241
References	242
Appendices	253
A. Negligible Risk Ethics Approval	253

List of Figures

Figure 1. Thesis structure
Figure 2. Intervention strategies based on barriers to adherence
Fig 1. Flowchart of the systematic review process and included studies
Fig 2. Networks of the comparisons between interventions for each time period (0-3
months, 4-6 months, 7-9 months, \geq 10 months) considering the overall composite
measure of adherence
Fig 3. Summary of the effectiveness of the interventions over time considering the
SUCRA analysis
S1 Fig. Risk of bias graph120
S2 Figure. SUCRA analyses137
Figure 1. Mean implementation adherence rates of 130 users of the Perx app over 6
months. The shaded area below 80% indicates less than optimal adherence based on
the literature176
Figure 2. Mean implementation adherence rates of 243 users of the Perx app over 3
months. The shaded area below 80% indicates less than optimal adherence based on
the literature176
Figure 3. Mean timing adherence rates of 111 users of the Perx app over 6 months.
The users were considered to be adherent to the dose if it was taken within ±1 hour
of the scheduled time178
Figure 4. Mean timing adherence rates of 221 users of the Perx app over 3 months.
The users were considered to be adherent to the dose if it was taken within ±1 hour
of the scheduled time178
Figure 1. Frequency of user responses stating how likely they were to recommend
Perx

List of Tables

S1 Table. Complete search strategy and category definitions	55
S2 Table. Category definitions	56
S3 Table. Risk of bias summary	121
S4 Table. Heterogenity between trials comparisons for the composite measure	133
S5 Table. Node-splitting analyses	135
S6 Table. Final rank orders from SUCRA analyses	145
Table 1. Frequency of positive (left) and negative (right) user responses stating w	vhy
they assigned a particular score for Perx recommendation	204
Table 2. Frequency of user responses stating what improvements are required w	vithin
the application	205

Abbreviations

- ABC Project Team: Ascertaining Barriers for Compliance
- ADHD: Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder
- AI: artificial intelligence
- **BCT: Behaviour Change Techniques**
- BE FIT: The Behavioral Economics Framingham Incentive Trial
- CDC: Centre for Disease Control
- COREQ: Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research
- CrI: Credibility Interval
- **DIC: Deviance Information Criterion**
- EMERGE: ESPACOMP Medication Adherence Reporting Guideline
- HIV: Human Immunodeficiency Virus
- HREC: Human Research Ethics Committee
- IQR: Interquartile range
- M-DOT: Mobile Direct Observation of Therapy
- MAQ: Medication Adherence Questionnaire
- MARS: Medication Adherence Report
- **MEMS: Medication Events Monitoring Systems**
- mHealth: Mobile Health
- MMAS-4: Four-item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale
- MMAS-8: Eight-item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale

MPR: Medication Possession Ratio

NICE: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

OR: Odds Ratio

PDC: Proportion of Days Covered

PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

PROSPERO: International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews

SD: Standard deviation

SOC: Standard of Care

SQL: Structured Query Language

STROBE: STrengthening the Reporting of OBservational Studies in Epidemiology

SUCRA: Surface Under the Cumulative Ranking Curve

WHO: World Health Organization

This page is intentionally left blank

Chapter 1

Synopsis

This page is intentionally left blank

Rationale

Medication non-adherence is highly prevalent globally with an estimated half of all patient's non-adherent to their medications. Interventions to improve medication adherence have been widely evaluated, including extensive variations in component composition, seeing modest improvements. (Kripalani, Yao & Haynes 2007) A lack of understanding surrounding the effectiveness of individual components within interventions is implicated. (Nieuwlaat et al. 2014) The understanding of the types of effective interventions or their combination of components is essential for the recommendation and feasibility of these interventions within health systems.

Quickly being adapted in the Digital Age is the use of mobile phones to assist in management of health. Widely varying from tools to assist in physical activity to full disease management, mobile health (mHealth) has been quickly adapted by consumers. MHealth facilitates unprecedented connectedness and convenience in a world where approximately 2.5 billion people own a mobile phone. Multiple apps, SMS messages or other novel ways to utilize mobile phones allow for innovative health interventions to be delivered cost-effectively and directly to patients. (Ahmed et al. 2018) Research is struggling to keep up with the fast pace development of these information technologies. While studies have evaluated the effectiveness of some of these tools, evidence is lacking in mHealth interventions aiming to improve medication adherence. The examination of these mHealth interventions adopted by patients is essential for their recommendation by healthcare providers as evidence-based digital health technologies. (Park et al. 2019) The understanding of the beliefs, perceptions and experiences of the users employing them is necessary in their full feasibility as effective and engaging solutions within the health system.

Objectives

The thesis covers the synthesis, analysis and development of knowledge surrounding interventions aimed at improving medication adherence. It evaluated a mHealth intervention in use by Australian patients and provides a holistic overview of evidence with adherence outcomes and user beliefs and experiences. To evaluate interventions aiming to improve medication adherence with a focus on the rise of mHealth, specific objectives were defined:

Specific objectives

- Analyse the comparative effectiveness of interventions for improving medication adherence over time among adults with any clinical condition.
- Assess the impact over time of an implemented mHealth intervention which uses multiple components including rewards, reminders, and education on medication adherence in adults with any clinical condition.
- Explore users' perceptions, beliefs, and experiences of the mHealth intervention by a content analysis of user survey reviews.

Research Overview

Mixed methodologies were used to investigate effective interventions at improving medication adherence with a focus on the adoption of mHealth. Following the overview of the dissertation in Chapter 1, Chapter 2 presents a background to the objectives of the research. The subsequent chapters present a series of works, each addressing a specific objective (Figure 1).

Chapter 3 employs a network meta-analysis to assess comparative effectiveness of interventions to improve medication adherence and their composition of components.

Chapter 4 describes an implemented mHealth app utilising multiple components to enhance adherence to medications. Quantitative analysis using mobile direct observation of therapy (M-DOT) measurements investigates the impact of the intervention on adherence rates over time.

Chapter 5 is a content analysis exploring the beliefs, perceptions and experiences of uses of the evaluated mHealth intervention. Content analyses of user reviews were used to examine the desirability and adoption of the intervention within Australian patients.



Figure 1. Thesis structure

Temporal Effectiveness of Interventions to Improve Medication Adherence: A Network Meta-analysis (chapter 3)

The first part of the thesis was to review the literature surrounding interventions to improve medication adherence and assess their comparative effectiveness. Multiple systematic reviews and meta-analyses have evaluated interventions either by intervention type or clinical condition, however the literature lacked comparative effectiveness and head-to head evidence of intervention strategies. (Nieuwlaat et al. 2014)

Network meta-analysis is used to compare efficacy among different interventions, rather than just standard care within a traditional pairwise meta-analysis. It allows estimates of relative treatment effects from both direct and indirect evidence to compare interventions to other interventions rather than standard of care alone. (Tonin et al. 2019)

A systematic search of the literature was conducted first for relevant meta-analyses comparing patient-targeted interventions aimed at enhancing medication adherence in adults with any condition. The PubMed search was conducted in January 2019 with no restriction on population, date or language. Primary studies were extracted and included if they reported adherence as an outcome using any measure.

Interventions were categorised within four categories, either singularly or as a combination. Technical components aimed to simplify the medication taking process. Educational components informed on the disease, medication or importance of adherence. Attitudinal components intended to modify beliefs. Reward components created incentives for improved adherence.

The database search identified 1081 meta-analyses with 69 included. A further 1234 primary studies were identified from the meta-analyses with 468 included in the qualitative synthesis and 249 for quantitative synthesis.

The quantitative analysis observed adherence rate follow-ups across four time periods: 0-3 months, 4-6 months, 7-9 months and \geq 10 months. Effective interventions varied across follow-ups of less than 10 months, with significant effects being observed by technical and attitudinal interventions. In follow-ups longer than 10 months, multicomponent interventions displayed the most effective solutions with education in combination with attitudinal and technical interventions showing the highest efficacy. Additionally, reward + technical interventions were found to achieve significant effectiveness, but a lack of evidence (n=1) of the combination prevented concrete conclusions.

The network meta-analysis confirmed, that while non-adherence to medications is a complex issue with multiple dimensions and determinants, multicomponent interventions may be needed to sustain long-term adherence over time. The effectiveness displayed by reward-based interventions but limited by a lack of studies warrants the need to further investigate their potential in enhancing adherence.

The Effects of a Digital Therapeutic Utilizing Gamification and Incentives to Achieve Optimal Medication Adherence: Retrospective Analysis (chapter 4)

The successive part of the research addressed a limitation of the network meta-analysis in that there was a lack of evidence surrounding a comparatively effective intervention component of rewards.

Perx Health is an implemented digital therapeutic, defined as a high-quality software program, in the form of a mHealth app aiming to improve medication adherence. The research assessed their mHealth intervention delivering a combination of rewards, technical, educational and attitudinal components directly to patients. This research aimed to analyse the impact over time of the Perx intervention on medication adherence rates in adults with any condition.

A retrospective observational study was conducted to evaluate adherence rates of users of the Perx intervention. Adherence was measured through mobile direct observation of therapy (M-DOT) over a 3 month and 6 month time period. Implementation adherence was measured and defined as the percentage of doses on which the correct dose of the medication(s) was recorded to have been taken over 30 days at a time. Timing adherence, or percentage of doses recorded to have been taken at the appropriate time (+/- one hour) was also assessed over 30 days at a time.

Three months analysis included 243 users of the app and 130 users were analysed across a 6 month period. The average age of all included users was 43.8 years (SD 15.5) with the most common medications being taken including varenicline, rosuvastatin and cholecalciferol. Over 3 months, implementation adherence averaged at 84.6% (SD 20.9%) and timing adherence at 61.1% (SD 28.5%). For the users observed over 6 months, implementation adherence averaged 87.6% (SD 16.9%) and timing adherence at 68.5% (SD 29.1%). The assessment of the Perx interventions adds to the evidence that interventions including rewards components can be effective at achieving optimal adherence rates over the standard 80% adherence threshold. The quantitative analysis concluded similarly to the network meta-analysis, that rewards components, especially when in combination with other components can be effective solutions to sustain optimal adherence over time. The results of this research identify an evidence-based mHealth intervention that can be recommended as a tool in assisting in the management of medication adherence.

User Perception of a mHealth Application Using Gamification and Incentives to Improve Medication Adherence: Content Analysis of User Survey Reviews (chapter 5)

The adoption of mHealth tools by consumers and the developing evidence supporting their effectiveness for adherence outcomes demands an investigation of their acceptability, desirability and feasibility within health systems. (Ahmed et al. 2018) To understand the appeal and appreciation of these digital strategies, it is necessary to evaluate the opinions of the users themselves. There is a lack of literature in understanding patient perceptions of mHealth interventions, preventing a full, holistic overview of recommendable interventions to assist in the management of medication adherence.

This research aimed to explore users' perceptions, beliefs and experiences of using the previously evaluated Perx mHealth app that utilised multiple components to enhance adherence including rewards, technical, education and attitudinal components. A retrospective mixed methods content analysis of quantitative and qualitative survey data was used. Users of the Perx app were prompted within one week of starting use of the app and one month thereafter to answer three survey questions including:

- 1. How likely are you to recommend Perx on a scale from 0 to 10, with 0 being very unlikely and 10 being very likely to recommend?
- 2. Why did you give Perx that score?
- 3. What is one thing we could improve within the app?

Quantitative data from question 1 was analysed within Microsoft Excel and qualitative data was assessed in NVivo version 12. Three main coding steps included: (1) initial open coding; (2) establishment of categories, and (3) attraction into themes. Qualitative themes were extracted from patterns found in the content analysis and analysed for frequency.

A total of 6,296 survey responses to the three survey questions were made by a total of 449 Perx users from November 2018 to September 2019. To the question "How likely are you to recommend Perx on a scale from 0 to 10," 1,026 out of 2,110 responses (48.6%) stated they were very likely (score of 10) to recommend Perx.

Answers to "Why did you give Perx that score?" were mainly positive, with common themes identified in overall positive experiences, a perceived improvement in medication adherence, and appreciation of reminder and reward components. Negative responses related to themes in reward frequency, overall negative experiences, and technological functionality issues.

User answers to "What is the one thing we could improve within the app?" commonly cited the rewards offered, not identifying the intention of frequency or type. Overall positive experiences with nothing to improve were an additional theme as well as the desire for more education and less repetition in disease state and medication facts.

The Perx mHealth intervention is widely accepted by its users with a majority of positive experiences being observed. The appreciation of rewards and reminders, a technical component, were themes identified with negative experiences often encompassing technological functionality issues such as glitches and reward frequency. The overall acceptance and appreciation of the Perx mHealth intervention allows for its recommendation to patients by healthcare professionals.

This page is intentionally left blank

Chapter 2

Introduction and background

This page is intentionally left blank

Background

The effectiveness of modern medication has allowed for breakthroughs for the human race, from increasing life expectancy to improving quality of life. (World Health Organization 2004) Despite the established effectiveness of evidence-based therapies, adherence to medications remains sub-optimal. (Brown & Bussell 2011) Non-adherence to medication has been shown to lead to worsening health outcomes, increased morbidity and mortality, and increased utilisation of healthcare resources. (Cutler et al. 2019) Medication non-adherence has high prevalence and remains an issue for all countries, developing or developed. Notwithstanding its importance in health and healthcare outcomes, non-adherence is often an overlooked issue of public health and health care systems. (Brown & Bussell 2011; Sabaté & Sabaté 2003) Efforts to understand and combat the prevalence and consequences of medication non-adherence are essential.

Defining medication adherence

Medication adherence has been defined by multiple sources including government institutions, health organisations, and research centres with similar yet differing definitions. ('Enhancing Patient Adherence: Proceedings of the Pinnacle Roundtable Discussion' 2004; Research 2010; Sabaté & Sabaté 2003) Adherence to medications is defined by the WHO (World Health Organisation) as "the extent to which a person's behaviour – taking medication...corresponds with agreed recommendations from a health care provider." (Sabaté & Sabaté 2003) Other definitions have underlined that the patient has a choice in taking their medication, one example being, "active, voluntary, and collaborative involvement of the patient in a mutually acceptable course of behaviour to produce a therapeutic result." (Ho, Bryson & Rumsfeld 2009)

Compliance is a term often used interchangeably in the field, defined as "the extent to which a patient acts in accordance with the prescribe interval and dose of a dosing regimen." (Cramer et al. 2008) Compliance is defined differently from adherence in that adherence requires the patient's agreement to the recommendations. Therefore, "adherence" as a term emphasizes that patients should have an active role and collaboration with health professionals regarding their own care and that effective clinical practice stems from a good relationship between doctor and patient. (Haynes 1979; Rand 1993; Sabaté & Sabaté 2003) Additionally, 'patient compliance' over time has adjusted to a negative connotation of patients not "doing as told" or "breaking the rules." (Jimmy & Jose 2011) Compliance and adherence have also been used to describe multiple medical processes including compliance with guidelines, compliance with drug regulations, compliance with appointments, etc. (Cramer et al. 2008) Increasingly adjusting to the term 'medication adherence' allows these confusions and negative connotations to dissolve from the literature.

With four decades of research and thousands of scientific articles on medication adherence, terminology uniformity was lacking. Patient behaviour deviating from prescribed therapies were defined as the same or in many different ways. In 2009, a European consensus meeting using a systematic literature review to establish a new taxonomy which conceptualized and defined different types of medication nonadherence with quantifiable measurement parameters (Vrijens et al. 2012)

"Adherence to medications" is defined as the process by which patients take their medication as prescribed. (Vrijens et al. 2012) The process encompasses multiple behaviours and dimensions that require transparency and replication within their meaning and measurement within the scientific field. The process is further divided into three quantifiable phases: initiation, implementation and discontinuation. Initiation is when the patient takes the first dose of a prescribed medication. Discontinuation occurs when the patient, for whatever reason, stops taking the medication. Finally,

implementation defines the extent to which a patient's actual dosing corresponds to the prescribed dosing regimen, from initiation until the last dose. The length of time between the first dose (initiation) and the last dose is defined as persistence. (Vrijens et al. 2012) With this strictly defined terminology, uniformity within the scientific field and presentations allow discussion to advance the field. However, many studies still fail to define which adherence process they are evaluating, creating confusion in measurements and adherence outcomes and an inability to accurately compare adherence results. (Raebel et al. 2013)

Prevalence of non-adherence

The Centre for Disease Control (CDC) states half of adults above age 18 suffer from at least one chronic disease within the United States. (Bauer et al. 2014) In Australia, 47% of adults have one chronic diseases with 20% suffering from two or more. (AIHW, 2018) With chronic disease often comes medication use. Approximately 50% of patients with chronic diseases do not take their medication as prescribed. (Brown & Bussell 2011; Horne et al. 2005; Kleinsinger 2018) While other estimates of adherence rates across clinical trials vary widely, clinical practice ranges are even lower at 10-40%. (Torres-Robles et al. 2019). In the United States, 14-21% of patients with prescription medication fail to fill their original prescription, never reaching the initiation phase of adherence. (Parthasarathi, Nyfort-Hansen & Nahata 2004; Vrijens et al. 2012) Additionally, Australian reports are consistent to the United States with an estimated 41% reporting discontinuation adherence, or having stopped a prescription medication before they were instructed to. (Health & Health 2010)

Reasons for non-adherence

In order to fully understand non-adherence and uncover solutions, the reasons behind non-adherence must be initially identified. While many causes of non-adherence have
been identified, these may fall between two overlapping categories: intentional and unintentional. (Horne et al. 2005; Lehane & McCarthy 2007) Intentional non-adherence happens when the patient makes a decision to not follow treatment recommendations or agreements. This may be based on patients' beliefs and perceptions of treatment as well as motivation influences. Unintentional non-adherence is caused by practical barriers out of a patient's control. Some examples are forgetfulness, not being able to avoid the cost of treatment, or difficulty in understanding the regimen or instructions. (Chapman et al. 2015; Nunes et al. 2009)

It is also important to realise that while the patient may be a contributor to nonadherence, the responsibility of proper use of medication does not lie wholly on them. (Sabaté & Sabaté 2003) Medication adherence remains a challenge in all countries due to numerous reasons related not only to the patient, but also the healthcare system, treatment, condition, and socioeconomic factors. (Sabaté & Sabaté 2003) These factors are interconnected throughout and create the multidimensional model of adherence. (Khan & Socha-Dietrich 2018) Patient factors such as perceptions, beliefs, and motivation add to the equation of non-adherence but do not complete the complex encompassment of non-adherence causes. (Kardas, Lewek & Matyjaszczyk 2013)

Healthcare team and system-related factors

Healthcare team and system-related factors, such as overworked providers or poor medication distribution systems, can affect adherence in both positive and negative ways. Barriers to access of healthcare, and especially high-quality care, are still common in modern society and all countries. Poor access can be exacerbated in rural areas as can long-wait times and queues in healthcare facilities in urban areas. (Sabaté & Sabaté 2003) As the world becomes more globalized as well, we are seeing language barriers in countries with high immigration rates that can aggravate difficulties in accessing healthcare and medications needed in addition to understanding treatment instructions. (Kardas, Lewek & Matyjaszczyk 2013)

The process of medication-taking is characterized by an interaction between the patient, prescriber, and pharmacist mainly, yet can be impacted by other healthcare and non-healthcare influences such as carers or relatives. Shared decision-making in care plan creation with patients often lead to better adherence results. (Khan & Socha-Dietrich 2018) Often the healthcare systems aim for a patient-centred approach with high communication, yet failure to reach shared decision-making creates a disconnect in a patients' resources and achievement to adherence. Personalisation to the patient and integration of health care professionals are necessary for the approach to understanding the individual patients' health needs and adherence barriers. (Safran et al. 1998) The ongoing process of devising and adapting a customised care plan creates an equal partnership between patient and provider and creates a trusted relationship leading to the ultimate goal of successful health outcomes. (Khan & Socha-Dietrich 2018)

Healthcare team and system-related factors can furthermore lead to unclear or misinformation about a patient's medication taking. Patients are often seeing multiple specialists and health care professionals in order to have a holistic approach to health. However, with non-communicating prescribers, conflicting messages and discrepancies between treatment guidelines are common. (Bosworth et al. 2011) Patients using multiple pharmacies as well can see negative consequences as pharmacy systems may be unable to communicate and therefore could miss dangerous medication interactions or important information about changes in a patient's drug regimen. (Kardas, Lewek & Matyjaszczyk 2013)

Socioeconomic Factors

In addition to healthcare system-related factors, there are socioeconomic factors affecting non-adherence. Examples include low levels of education or socioeconomic status. (Sabaté & Sabaté 2003) Social support and social stigma of a disease, specifically high-profile conditions like HIV (Human Immunodeficiency Virus) status or TB (tuberculosis), can prevent patients from wanting to take their medications in public places. (Rintamaki et al. 2006) The cost of medication and prescription coverage are also becoming major factors of adherence. Unaffordable treatments may cause patients to unwillingly miss doses of their medication needed for positive health outcomes. (Balkrishnan 1998) In countries like the U.S., inadequate prescription coverage and unemployment can cause major gaps in access to medication needed. (Kardas, Lewek & Matyjaszczyk 2013)

In a specific study in New Zealand, prescription costs increased from NZ\$3 to \$5. While a seemingly low amount, this had a devastating impact on those with lower incomes. Studies on this impact indicated that 6.4% of people reported not picking up a prescription needed due to the cost. In addition, 32.2% of people reporting severe psychological distress. (Norris 2014) The prohibitive increasing costs of healthcare have proven to have a large impact on patients' decisions to take medications and must be a consideration in medication adherence studies.

Socioeconomic factors can also be positive determinants, such as family and social support. A patient living with at least one other person has been shown to increase adherence. (Kardas, Lewek & Matyjaszczyk 2013) Additionally, family cohesiveness and emotional support can have encouraging benefits on a patient's odds of being adherent. Social systems or reminders system, which provide supervision of medication administration and motivational support, can enhance the desire in patients for positive health outcomes. (Amico et al. 2009)

Condition-related Factors

Condition-related factors, for example the severity of the disease and comorbidities, can contribute to patient non-adherence. (Kardas, Lewek & Matyjaszczyk 2013) Obvious physical barriers due to conditions can have an impact, such as being able to swallow a pill safely or not being able to open a pill bottle. The absence of symptoms can also affect non-adherence. Patients that do not feel sick or ill may not believe they require a medication at all or feel the need for daily dosing. (Khan & Socha-Dietrich 2018) These condition-related factors may vary based on the clinical condition of the patient and suggests that interventions addressing these determinants of non-adherence may need to be based on the clinical condition or conditions diagnosed.

Treatment-related Factors

While medications can be an effective solution to improving health outcomes and prolonging life, they can also create unforeseen complications to a patients' daily life. Treatment-related factors are such things such as frequency of doses or side effects. (Kardas, Lewek & Matyjaszczyk 2013) Side effects are often an unavoidable reality for many patients on medications and may deter good adherence. For intentional reasons, patients may avoid a medication they were prescribed if they feel the side effect ruins quality of life. (DiBonaventura et al. 2012)

Moreover, polypharmacy, most commonly defined as taking five or more unique medications, is highly prevalent, especially among older populations. (Masnoon et al. 2017) Within Australia, 36.1% of older Australians aged 70 or more, estimated to be almost one million people, are prescribed five or more unique medications. (Page et al. 2019) Due to the complicated nature of a multiple-medication regimen, patients may have lower adherence. (Kardas, Lewek & Matyjaszczyk 2013).

Patient-related Factors

Patient-related factors affecting adherence encompass a wide range of modifiable and non-modifiable determinants ranging from age or ethnicity to an individual's health beliefs and motivations. (Kardas, Lewek & Matyjaszczyk 2013) It is often found that very old age (older than 85 years) can have a negative effect on adherence. (Kardas, Lewek & Matyjaszczyk 2013) This may be due to lower health literacy or cognitive ability. Patients of Latino, Hispanic or non-white descent are commonly found to have lower adherence rates than Caucasians. (Shenolikar et al. 2006) This is most likely related to another dimension of non-adherence, socioeconomic reasons. Ethnicity may affect socioeconomic status which in turn affects multiple factors such as access to healthcare, family and social support, cost of healthcare or medications, and education or more specifically, health literacy. (Howard, Sentell & Gazmararian 2006)

Additionally, within socioeconomic factors and prohibitive costs of medications ethnicity has correlated with rates of medication adherence. In a US study evaluating medication adherence rates among privately insured patients, average adherence rates among blacks and Hispanics were 7.5% lower than those of their white counterparts. (Xie 2019) While race and ethnicity are complex healthcare topics to unwind based on long histories of colonization, institutional racism, and other largely ingrained system factors that disadvantage certain populations, they remain a major concern in healthcare disparities and a potential target for effective medication adherence interventions.

Education and health literacy play a large role in medication adherence. Those with a higher education level generally have higher adherence levels than those without. Patients with low health literacy may have a more difficult time adhering from not understanding their medication regimen, or by not understanding the benefits of medication and consequences of a disease. (Balkrishnan 1998) Cognitive function as well can have a negative effect on adherence if there is low attention or an impairment.

Frequently, psychiatric conditions are connected with lower rates of adherence and appear to be the only comorbidity to have a correlation. (Kardas, Lewek & Matyjaszczyk 2013)

Similarly related to education, motivation affects all aspects of healthcare and medication adherence. With medications leading to positive health outcomes, a higher quality of life and longevity, (Olsson, Runnamo & Engfeldt 2011) it is difficult to imagine why a patient would not be motivated to correctly take their medications. The same in reverse remains true with the severe and debilitating consequences unmanaged chronic illnesses can cause. Yet, 50% of patients still only remain adherent to their medications worldwide. (Brown & Bussell 2011)

Behavioural economics as a field rejects traditional economics, stating that humans will make rational and logical decisions based on price and information. (Ariely 2009) Alternatively to traditional economics, humans often make irrational decisions based on the context of their environment and emotion that are often hard to predict. This may help explain irrationality around medication adherence decisions.

As an example of irrational decision-making, present bias explains how human tendency leans toward a smaller reward in the present rather than a larger reward in the future. Present-biased preferences explain why humans may reject a behaviour that benefits themselves. Stronger weight and focus remain on earlier moments as they appear closer in time. (O'Donoghue & Rabin 1999) In order to achieve an uncertain and distant benefit, patients have to have certain and immediate inconveniences. Present-biased preferences are commonly seen in students and workers procrastinating, but even more so in health behaviours such as diet and exercise. (Wang & Sloan 2018; Yashkin, Hahn & Sloan 2016) The same applies to medication adherence. The immediate inconvenience of taking a medication can outweigh potential future benefits or consequences from health. Related, theorists have also determined what's known as the peanuts effect. Humans tend to pay little attention to small but cumulative consequences of repeated decisions. (Loewenstein et al. 2012) This can be seen in small consequences from not taking a medication; slight or even unnoticeable decreases in a patient's health can eventually turn into large consequences such as hospitalizations, costly procedures or even death. (Vik et al. 2006)

In relation to developing effective interventions to improve medication adherence, a problem cannot be solved unless the problem is identified and defined. In order to successfully position strategies to improve medication adherence within healthcare, the causes and determinants of non-adherence must be fully understood. Interventions without this direction may lack the necessary comprehension in how to utilise resources and behavioural strategies to employ. Simultaneously, the understanding that intervention strategies should compensate for individual causes of non-adherence advises that a tailored or multicomponent approach to interventions may be necessary. (Allemann et al. 2016)

Measures of Adherence

Before understanding effectiveness of interventions to improved adherence, measurements of adherence must be defined. Medication adherence has been measured for several decades using numerous different methods. These may vary from subjective strategies, such as self-report, to objective, such as electronic monitoring, with no gold standard. (El Alili et al. 2016) The analysis of methods of measurement is crucial in that the variable or inaccurate measurement of medication adherence can cause dangerous and expensive consequences of misunderstanding evidence. (Lam & Fresco 2015) The accurate measurement and estimation of adherence can provide better scientific evidence. (Lam & Fresco 2015) It is moreover necessary when comparing the effectiveness of different interventions aimed at improving adherence as their method of measurement may affect results. (Garber et al. 2004)

Subjective Measures of Adherence

When adherence was researched in the 1970s, subjective measures were most commonly used. (Lam & Fresco 2015) Subjective measurements include self- or healthcare professional- evaluation of adherence. (Lam & Fresco 2015) A plethora of questionnaires have been developed to measure adherence across multiple disease states, conditions and populations, and to date have been the most common tool used for adherence estimations. (Lam & Fresco 2015) A disadvantage of subjective measures is that patients often tend to overestimate their adherence. This may be a psychological effect of judging one's self or may be due to not wanting to disappoint or be disapproved by a provider, nurse, or pharmacist. (Alcántara et al. 2014; Fleisher & Stern 2013) However, their low cost and ability to also analyse barriers or beliefs about adherence makes them accessible and common. (Lam & Fresco 2015)

Nguyen et al. in a systematic review identified forty-three validated self-report adherence scales, though scales not in English were excluded. (Nguyen, Caze & Cottrell 2014) Generally, most scales focus on implementation adherence rather than initiation and discontinuation phases. Scales can also be different based on what part of the medication-taking process or behaviour they measure.

Three questionnaires of adherence stand out as the most commonly implemented in studies. (Lam & Fresco 2015) The Medication Adherence Questionnaire, or MAQ, is also known as the 4-item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale (MMAS-4). (Morisky, Green & Levine 1986) Identified as the most commonly used and apparent in the literature, the MAQ is the quickest questionnaire to administer and score. A second questionnaire, the Eight-Item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale (MMAS-8) was based on the MAQ and has over time become more popular due to a higher sensitivity and specificity found. (Morisky et al. 2008) In addition to the MAQ, the additional questions focus on

medication-taking behaviours, specifically related to underuse, for example forgetfulness. This is used to evaluate barriers to adherence. (Tan, Patel & Chang 2014) The third questionnaire is the Medication Adherence Report Scale (MARS). MARS also incorporates questions from the MAQ and is therefore able to evaluate both medicationtaking behaviours and attitudes and beliefs toward medications with high reliability. (Thompson, Kulkarni & Sergejew 2000)

While these three questionnaires may be commonly utilised and validated methods of measuring adherence, their ability to be compared based on different rating scales creates difficulty in the comparison of adherence measurements between studies.

Objective Measures of Adherence

Electronic measurements of adherence have evolved over the past five decades. (Lam & Fresco 2015) Commonly utilised within packaging devices, electronic measurements have become more popular in recent years and are the closest measurement to a "gold standard". (Anghel, Farcas & Oprean 2019)

Medication Events Monitoring Systems (MEMS) are the most widely known and recognized of the electronic medication packaging devices that records the time a medication container is opened. MEMS is a highly accurate measurement used in several studies and can measure sporadic or consistent medication-taking patterns, as it can detail every day down to the time of dose, therefore identifying partial non-adherence. (Zeller et al. 2008) Drawbacks to MEMS include high costs of such technology and the support required for the equipment and analysis. (Gillespie et al. 2011) Finally, MEMS alone can act as an intervention to improve adherence due to the use reminding the patient they are under surveillance for their medication-taking behaviour. Some MEMS may additionally have reminders. MEMS has been recognised as the reference standard to validate other measures of adherence against since the 1990s. (Lam & Fresco 2015)

Similar to electronic monitoring systems, Mobile Direct Observation of Therapy (M-DOT) has gained more recognition in recent years. (Shields et al. 2018) M-DOT observes the medication-taking behaviour through photos taken of the medication using a mobile device. As traditional Direct Observation of Therapy (DOT) is an expensive and difficult method of measuring adherence with the presence of a trained observer needed for every dose, M-DOT allows a more cost-efficient method utilising common technology from modern everyday life. Additionally, M-DOT can allow doses to be recorded on a time and date, being able to reveal patterns in patient adherence and to measure timing adherence similar to MEMS. Drawbacks to M-DOT, however, include not being able to fully observe if a dose was ingested. However, this limitation may also be present in DOT with patients able to hide tablets under their tongue, and in other methods where patients may always go to great lengths to avoid adherence. (Zullig, Mendys & Bosworth 2017)

Secondary electronic databases include curated primary data in systems, most commonly found in electronic prescription services of insurance claims. Large databases allow the quantification of medication adherence based on refill data. (Blaschke et al. 2012) Due to a patient needing to refill their medication either monthly or tri-monthly, adherence can be estimated by the date in which they pick up their refills or repeats. (Nau 2012) These large databases provide an inexpensive option to analyse adherence rates based on an equation. (Crowe 2013) Two major formulas are commonly used to analyse this data including the Medication Possession Ratio (MPR) and a more conservative measure of Proportion of Days Covered (PDC). Both observe the time between refills using time gaps and medication availability, or days' supply. PDC additionally accounts for surplus supply if a refill is filled early, where MPR does not. (Nau 2012)

$$MPR = (days' supply obtained)/(days between refills)$$

$$PDC = \frac{number of days in period covered}{number of days in period} x \ 100$$

Secondary databases also provide insights into adherence levels of large samples of the population. This data insight facilitates the implementation of pharmacist interventions to improve adherence as the system is able to identify and alert pharmacists if a patient appears to be non-adherent. (Torres-Robles et al. 2019) This method is popular as it allows analysis of large sample sizes providing rapid and cost-efficient results. Many limitations remain with secondary database analysis, including the inability to detect patterns or dates and times of doses taken. (Lam & Fresco 2015). Additionally, patients may receive prescriptions from other sources and are not recorded in a single database. Finally, errors can also range from inaccurate data input to other non-identified switches in medication regimen, pharmacy, or insurance provider, not allowing a full picture of adherence to be established.

With all of these methods of measuring adherence, it is difficult to compare studies utilising different measurements preventing comparative analysis of interventions aimed at improving adherence. Understanding this issue, a validated method within in our network meta-analysis study was created to compare interventions to improve adherence in chapter 3. Networks were created for different types of measurements and analysed, finding enough similarity to be able to be compared. (Tonin et al. 2019) Regardless of being able to compare different methods of measurement of adherence, a lack of a gold standard measurement of adherence remains with positive and negative factors found for all measures and situations.

Clinical Impact of Non-adherence

In order to recognize the need for effective adherence-enhancing interventions, we must understand the consequences of non-adherence. While correct medication use may lead to positive health outcomes, sub-optimal adherence can cause negative clinical effects. Poor medication adherence leads to worsening health outcomes, clinical complications, and even premature death. It is estimated that approximately 200,000 premature deaths were caused due to non- adherence in Europe per annum. (ADD CITATION) In the United States, non-adherence is attributed to 125,000 preventable deaths annually. (Osterberg & Blaschke 2005)

Patients with high adherence on average experience 1.18-5.72 fewer inpatient hospital days compared to patients with low adherence. (Roebuck 2011) Hospitalisation risk is also seen to increase with both diabetes and hypertensive patients with non-adherent patients experiencing 1.5 to 2 times greater risk compared to adherent patients. (Jimmy & Jose 2011; Khan & Socha-Dietrich 2018)

Chronic conditions are particularly susceptible to worsened health outcomes from poor adherence. Patients with diabetes and heart disease who did not adhere to their medications had nearly twice as high mortality rates compared to patients who did adhere. (Brown & Bussell 2011; Cramer 2004; Khan & Socha-Dietrich 2018) Additionally in heart disease, patients who discontinued their statin therapy before agreed upon faced a three times higher risk of heart attack. (Khan & Socha-Dietrich 2018; Maningat, Gordon & Breslow 2013) Non-adherence to beta-blocker therapy causes a 4.5 times higher risk to have complications from coronary heart disease compared to adherent patients. (Cramer et al. 2008)

Indubitably, the clinical impact of non-adherence is exceedingly significant on patient health outcomes. While the development of more efficacious medications is warranted, the improvement of medication adherence could potentially impact positive patient

15

health outcomes more drastically. (Tanna & Lawson 2016) It is therefore crucial to investigate strategies and solutions aimed to improve medication adherence.

Current Interventions to Improve Medication Adherence

A wide array of interventions to improve medication adherence have been developed and tested in the literature over the past five decades. (Kripalani, Yao & Haynes 2007) Across multiple settings, populations and clinical conditions, interventions have shown marginal success in improving adherence and health outcomes. These interventions range from simple, single component strategies such as an educational pamphlet, to complex, multicomponent interventions incorporating multiple healthcare professionals and resources. (Nieuwlaat et al. 2014) Though many interventions may be directed at others such as healthcare professionals, the majority of interventions are specifically delivered to the patients. Interventions and their components can be categorised into four overarching categories: educational, attitudinal, technical and rewards. (Wiecek et al. 2019)

Educational components of interventions aim to inform patients on the medication, clinical condition, or importance of adherence. Having been most commonly used, educational interventions may include simple written information delivered directly to a patient or more complex, educational sessions delivered continuously and verbally by a healthcare professional. (Sapkota et al. 2015) Modern times have witnessed the increase of digital tools as an innovative method to deliver information, yet the pharmacist remains a commonly utilised position to deliver medication information to patients at the time of dispensing. (Cutler et al. 2019; Presley, Groot & Pavlova 2019)

Attitudinal interventions aim to modify beliefs of a patient towards their health or medication use. These components are often used when a patient may be intentionally non-adherent. Motivational interviewing is the most commonly utilised attitudinal technique to encourage adherence to medications and requires in-depth training of healthcare professionals delivering these methods. (Wiecek et al. 2019)

Technical components of interventions to improve adherence intend to simplify the medication-taking process. These components often include dosage reminders, pill boxes, electronic feedback, or regimen simplification and often act on unintentional determinants of non-adherence. (Wiecek et al. 2019)

Reward components create incentives for better medication adherence. Rewards are generally of monetary value, either through cash or savings in medication costs, or may be employed in a lottery-based system to encourage adherence. Incentive-type intervention components are not as common as the other categories within the adherence literature but can often be seen commonly in other aspects of public health policy. (Wiecek et al. 2019)

Interventions to improve medication adherence have seen modest results in varying forms and strategies. (Nieuwlaat et al. 2014) As importantly discussed in the background, reasons and determinants of non-adherence are vital for understanding which specific approaches will work best for a patient. Though unfortunately not often utilised and difficult to implement, personalised approaches based on a patient's specific, individualised barriers to adherence may be the ultimate intervention. (Allemann et al. 2016) An example of approaches based on these barriers identified in the WHO Five Dimensions of Adherence and intentional vs unintentional non-adherence can be seen in Figure 2, though this is not a definitive list.

Observing incidence of barriers and by using multicomponent approaches, we can target multiple barriers to non-adherence within one intervention. Unfortunately, the evaluation of individual component within these "package" type interventions with multiple components is not reported. (Costa et al. 2015) Therefore, it is difficult to estimate if all components are necessary for the enhancement of adherence, if some can be dismissed to reduce cost and resources needed to deliver the intervention, or if a specific combination of components has significantly higher effectiveness.

Strategies for Intentional Non-adherence



Figure 2. Intervention strategies based on barriers to adherence

Strategies for Unintentional

Mobile Applications to Improve Medication Adherence

The expansion and adoption of modern technology such as mobile phones has created innovative methods to change health behaviour. MHealth, or mobile health, meaning the practice of medicine and public health supported by mobile devices, provides numerous opportunities to change health behaviours such as weight loss, diet, and disease management. (Ahmed et al. 2018) With an estimated two billion smartphone users known, there have been 3.7 billion downloads of mHealth apps in 2017. (Ahmed et al. 2018; Bhih, Johnson & Randles 2016; Research2Guidance 2017)

Many apps aimed at improving adherence are available for download in consumer markets yet the literature on the effectiveness and acceptability of these strategies remains minimal. A recent systematic review was conducted in 2019 that identified experimental studies evaluating a mobile or tablet application aimed at improving medication adherence in any age group for any clinical condition. From 1,551 potential articles retrieved, twelve studies were included in the review. (Leite et al. 2020)

Commonly utilised within mHealth, medication dosage reminders are a simple tool, evolved from basic reminder systems of the past and were the most common technical intervention component identified in our review in chapter 3. Medication reminders have long been utilized and declared an effective intervention to improve non-adherence due to unintentional reasons like forgetfulness. (Fenerty et al. 2012) In the systematic review of mHealth apps, most apps included a simple interface to alert patients when a dose of their medication was due. Seen in Mohan et al., dose reminders improved adherence from baseline to six months when implemented and evaluated on 100 patients with asthma. (Mohan et al. 2018) Reminders were able to be personalized and customized by patients for their convenience. Compared to a control group using reminder cards to improve adherence, adherence was increased in the intervention group by a mean difference of 5.02 (p=.001) measured by the MMAS-8 self-reporting

scale. In a different population of 39 children diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), medication dosage reminders only slightly improved adherence compared to the control group. (Schonherz et al. 2018) This may be due to multiple reasons, one being different populations, such as children, may not find reminders as helpful.

Educational interventions have been standard place in strategies to improve medication adherence for decades. (Nieuwlaat et al. 2014) Mobile apps have given the ability to transfer information to patients through an easy and convenient method, rather than having a trained healthcare professional deliver information. Mobile technology can also allow education to be delivered in an engaging and entertaining manner. Found in the systematic review, eight apps incorporated some type of educational component including material about a condition, medication treatment instructions, clinical outcomes or treatment goals. In a comparison of two different mobile applications, one included an educational component on the patients' condition and treatment while the other did not. The group using the advanced app with education had significantly higher average adherence as measured by the MARS 9 item scale (p=.03). This is attributed within the study to patients within this group gaining a greater and appreciable perception of the need for the medication. (Perera et al. 2014)

MHealth interventions have also created an opportunity for patients to be able to easily communicate with peers, pharmacists or physicians and are often utilised as attitudinal interventions to motivate patients. Morawski et al analysed the impact of a mobile app that allowed patient adherence data to be available to a close friend. The aim of this strategy was for a friend to motivate a patient with hypertension to be adherent. Compared to a standard care control group, adherence was significantly improved in the intervention group. (Morawski et al. 2018) Contreras et al evaluated a mobile app that included a chat function with physicians. The physician could provide advice, motivation and training to patients when needed, acting as an educational and attitudinal

intervention. The intervention group had 86.3% adherence after 12 months compared to an average adherence rate of 62.66% in a control group. (Márquez Contreras et al. 2019) Other communication components seen in mobile apps to include adherence was an alert to either a healthcare professional or caregiver if a patient missed a dose. Labovitz et al assessed a strategy that alerted clinic staff in real time when a dose was missed, taken late, or based on incorrect usage which provided an opportunity to intervene when necessary that was found effective. (Labovitz et al. 2017) Finally, an app including a peer and pharmacist chat function was also found to be effective in a study by Kosse et al. This allowed the pharmacist to monitor outcomes and to either facilitate contact or send additional educational material. (Kosse et al. 2019a)

Symptom or clinical outcome monitoring, considered technical interventions, have been commonplace in adherence interventions in the past but are often recorded by a healthcare professional. The introduction of mobile technology allows a patient to enter symptoms or outcomes and deliver them to a healthcare professional in real time for evaluation. An app evaluated by Kleinman et al included clinical outcome monitoring as a primary measure. Patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus were reminded to complete daily tasks such as medication taking and recording blood glucose levels. If blood glucose was determined to be out of standard range, the app generated an automated follow up questionnaire to identify potential underlying reasons. As determined by patient self-report, adherence to medications was improved compared to a standard care group at a 6 month follow up. (Kleinman et al. 2017)

Outside of medication adherence but within the emerging mHealth field, innovative motivators have been employed for various positive health behaviour changes. Gamification is the "application of game elements for purposes other than their expected use for entertainment." (Dicheva et al. 2015) Game elements, such as points systems or daily streaks, have high potential to drive intrinsic motivation in addition to engagement that can facilitate positive health behaviour changes. (Ahmed et al. 2015;

Miller, Cafazzo & Seto 2014) Revealed to be effective in multiple health behaviour changes such as smoking cessation or increased physical activity, gamification is still an unfamiliar strategy in managing medication adherence that warrants further exploration. (Patel et al. 2017; Pløhn & Aalberg 2015)

MHealth, including mobile apps and digital health technologies aiming to improve medication adherence, hold multiple advantages in their adaptability and ease of personalisation. Though mHealth may vary from multiple strategies to change patient behaviour, their effectiveness has been proven within medication adherence and justifies further evaluation of these quickly developing and innovative interventions. (Leite et al. 2020) While many components of mHealth apps, such as technical components (i.e. reminders), educational and attitudinal components have been researched, other strategies such as rewards and gamification concepts have yet to be evaluated. It is warranted that any mHealth intervention being utilised on a consumer market should be evaluated for its effectiveness on adherence and health outcomes. Furthermore, mHealth interventions will need to be evaluated within different populations to understand their full potential in improving adherence.

User Perceptions

After evaluating the effectiveness of mHealth interventions, it appears fast adoption of these strategies by consumers has left a gap in the research of understanding of user beliefs, perceptions and experiences surrounding mHealth. Few analyses have identified and evaluated public reviews of mHealth apps as well as qualitative studies using focus groups or questionnaires have evaluated users' of mHealth apps opinions. (Park et al. 2019; Vo, Auroy & Sarradon-Eck 2019) While research has concluded mHealth apps are viewed by users as a useful tool in managing many aspects of health, patient opinion on specific medication adherence enhancing apps, as well as specific components of app most utilised, are lacking.

User experience (UX), or the reflection of user's perceptions and attitudes about using a particular product, informs a crucial element of mHealth intervention design that can strongly affect the impact of a mobile intervention on patient outcomes. Poor user experience design can lead to low levels of engagement, poor understanding of how to use the intervention, or low adoption of the intervention by both patient consumers and other stakeholders. The measure of usability, or how easy and efficient is it to use the app, is often measured by multiple instruments to better understand the end user experience and the product's potential for high uptake and engagement. The three most common scales for usability testing include System Usability Scale (SUS), the Single Ease Questionnaire (SEQ), and the NASA (National Aeronautics and Space Administration) Task Load Index (NASA-TLX).

Potential for further research of the Perx intervention should include formal usability and user experience testing. While UX design methods and continuous testing were used in the development of the Perx mobile app, a formal and unbiased review from a separate party could benefit the knowledge on the uptake and potential for impact and engagement of the Perx intervention in chronic disease patients. The System Usability Scale (SUS) would be an informative questionnaire to further understand a patient's understanding of the app functions as well as the ease of use of the intervention without further support or training. Furthermore, the Mobile App Rating Scale (MARS) could be applied to evaluate the quality of engagement, functionality, asthetics and information within the Perx mobile app. (Stoyanov et al. 2015)

It is crucial not only to assess effectiveness of these mHealth tools but to understand their acceptability, areas of improvement as identified by its users, and their feasibility of integration and patient engagement. (Amico et al. 2009; Vo, Auroy & Sarradon-Eck 2019) Qualitative and mixed methods studies using content analysis are a useful method of understanding a full overview of user opinions within their own experiences and offer beneficial insight in how to improve these tools for a better user engagement and effectiveness in improving adherence or health outcomes.

Implications of medication non-adherence and mHealth

Sub-optimal levels of adherence and health outcomes with a growing and aging global population and increased rates of chronic disease and comorbidities are a challenge for the health care systems. The magnitude of non-adherence and potential consequences warrant in-depth research into methods and solutions for improving adherence to medications. While the literature has often addressed multicomponent interventions as the most effective strategy moving forward as well as the potential of mHealth avenues, major gaps remain within the adherence landscape that require further investigation.

- 1. What components or combination of components make up the most effective adherence enhancing interventions within the current literature?
- 2. What is the impact of utilising these components within a mHealth intervention?
- 3. What are the beliefs, perceptions and experiences of users towards a mHealth intervention encompassing these components?

This page is intentionally left blank

Chapter 3

Temporal effectiveness of interventions to improve medication adherence: A network metaanalysis

Wiecek, E, Tonin, F.S., Torres-Robles, A, Benrimoj, S.I., Fernandez-Llimos, F. & Garcia-Cardenas, V. 2019, 'Temporal effectiveness of interventions to improve medication adherence: A network meta-analysis', PloS one, vol. 14, no. 3, p. e0213432.

https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0213432

This page is intentionally left blank

Abstract

Introduction

Adherence-enhancing interventions have been assessed in the literature, however heterogeneity and conflicting findings have prohibited a consensus on the most effective approach to maintain adherence over time. With the ageing population and growth of chronic conditions, evaluation of sustainable strategies to improve and maintain medication adherence long term is paramount. We aimed to determine the comparative effectiveness of interventions for improving medication adherence over time among adults with any clinical condition.

Materials and methods

Meta-analyses evaluating interventions to improve medication adherence were searched in PubMed in January 2019 and reviewed for primary studies. Experimental studies with a comparison group assessing an intervention to enhance medication adherence in adult patients with reported adherence outcomes were included. Two authors extracted data for study characteristics, interventions and adherence outcomes. Interventions were categorized into four groups or combinations: educational, attitudinal, technical and rewards. Four network meta-analyses were performed to compare interventions based on patient follow-up time. Medication adherence effect sizes were reported as odds ratios (OR) with a 95% credibility interval (CrI) and surface under the cumulative ranking curve (SUCRA) to allow ranking probabilities. Risk of bias was assessed as per Cochrane guidelines.

Results

Data was obtained from 69 meta-analyses with 468 primary studies being included in qualitative synthesis. The four networks compromised of 249 studies in total (0-3 month follow-up: 99 studies, 4-6 months: 104, 7-9 months: 18, \geq 10 months: 94). Interventions showing success in follow-ups of less than 10 months varied across time. Significant effects compared to standard of care (SOC) were found in technical (4-6 months: OR 0.34, 95% CrI 0.25-0.45) and attitudinal interventions (7-9 months: 0.37, 0.17-0.84). Multicomponent interventions demonstrated effectiveness compared to standard of

care with an additive effect displayed, particularly in longer follow-ups (educational + attitudinal + technical interventions \geq 10 months: OR 0.49, 95% CrI 0.27-0.88).

Discussion

All interventions reviewed improved medication adherence compared to standard of care. Multicomponent interventions displayed the most promising results in maintenance of long-term medication adherence. Technical and reward components enhanced adherence on a short-term basis, while educational and attitudinal interventions evolved over time to be more effective in follow-ups greater than 7 months. Sustainability of adherence to medications over time is dependent upon multicomponent interventions including educational, attitudinal and technical aspects to modify and enhance patient medication-taking behavior. Future research should focus on the most cost-effective approaches able to be integrated into routine practice.

Introduction

A significant proportion of health care system funding is spent on medications, with 10% of U.S. national health expenditure attributed to prescription medications in 2016 [1]. As only 50% of patients reportedly take their medications as prescribed, medication non-adherence is a major challenge for the health care system [2]. Suboptimal adherence to prescribed medications not only increases health care costs but also increases the possibility of poor health outcomes, adverse events and hospitalizations [3, 4]. It is estimated that failure to adhere to medications results in \$290 billion per year in unnecessary expenditure in the U.S. [5].

Adherence is not simply a matter of patient choice or will [6-10], but is affected by the interplay of multiple determinants of adherence that the World Health Organization (WHO) has classified into five different dimensions – condition-related factors, therapy-related factors, patient-related factors, socio-economic factors and healthcare team and system-related factors. While patient population characteristics may have an effect on adherence, determinants and barriers for non-adherence are often comparable across different medications and clinical conditions. [11-13].

Medication adherence can be conceptualized as having three major components: (1) initiation – when the patient takes the first dose of a prescribed medication; (2) implementation – the extent to which a patient's actual dosing corresponds to the prescribed dosing regimen from initiation until the last dose is taken, and (3) persistence – the time from initiation to discontinuation [14]. Non-adherence can occur in any of these phases, and may change over time in patients. There is substantive evidence of a declining trend in adherence over time [15-18], and many determinants of non-adherence are found to be affected by time [6]. Time-related factors are particularly important for people with chronic diseases, where lifetime adherence to therapy may be required.

Numerous multifaceted adherence-enhancing interventions, ranging from simple educational material to multicomponent approaches integrating advanced behavioral

and educational techniques, have been proposed and tested in a wide variety of settings, populations and clinical conditions, using a wide range of measures of adherence [11, 19, 20]. Recent meta-analyses have not reached a decisive conclusion, with some suggesting cognitive-educational interventions are effective [21] and others promoting habit-based strategies [19]. A Cochrane systematic review also concluded interventions' effects were inconsistent across studies, however, they found the most effective interventions to be complex with frequent patient interaction [11]. Unfortunately there is additionally a lack of direct, head-to-head evidence of intervention strategies and combined with the complexity of the literature, makes it a challenge to select evidence-based interventions for implementation in routine clinical practice.

Network meta-analysis is a technique recommended by the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcome Research to compare efficacy among different interventions [22]. Compared with pairwise meta-analyses, it provides robust comparative evidence, allowing for estimates of relative treatment effects on both direct and indirect evidence [23]. This approach to evaluate all treatment options to each other simultaneously allows more optimal guidance on comparing interventions to other interventions rather than the common comparator of standard of care alone.

The aim of this systematic review and network meta-analysis was to analyze the comparative effectiveness of interventions for improving medication adherence over time among adults with any clinical condition.

Materials and methods

The PRISMA extension to network meta-analysis and Cochrane Collaboration recommendations to design and report were used for this systematic review and network meta-analysis [24-26]. The review is registered on PROSPERO at CRD42018054598.

Data sources

A systematic search of the medical literature was conducted for relevant meta-analyses comparing patient-targeted interventions to improve medication adherence in adult populations reporting adherence outcomes. The search was conducted on PubMed in January 2019 without any restriction based on publication date or language. The complete search strategy is available in S1 Table. Two investigators (EW, ATR) independently reviewed all abstracts and full-text articles and discrepancies were solved by a third reviewer. The primary studies included in the meta-analyses were then fully reviewed.

Study selection

Primary experimental design studies with a comparison group that assessed an intervention with the objective of improving medication adherence in adult patients and which reported implementation adherence as an outcome using any measure (e.g. self-report, pill count, electronic monitoring) were included. Other active interventions or standard of care were considered as comparators. Unpublished studies, articles written in non-Roman characters, with pediatric populations (<18 years), assessing interventions targeted at healthcare professionals or studies using other types of treatment (over-the-counter medications, depot medications, vaccines) were excluded. Studies were not restricted by country, clinical condition or trial follow-up. Eligible primary studies with categorical medication adherence outcomes (i.e. adherent vs non-adherent) were included in the network meta-analyses while those with continuous outcomes were only included in the qualitative analysis.

Data extraction and quality assessment

The following data from primary articles was extracted by two investigators (EW, ATR) using a standard data sheet piloted with 28 studies: study baseline characteristics (authors, year, title, sample size, clinical condition, demographics, duration of study, evaluated interventions), study design, measure of adherence used, variable type (continuous versus categorical) and corresponding adherence rates before and after the intervention.

To standardize the results obtained from different measures of adherence, an overall composite adherence outcome was used for categorical variables that represented the rate of adherent patients obtained from any of the measures in each study. The overall composite score was validated by Tonin et al, 2018 [27]. If a study included more than one measure, a mean rate from the different measures of adherence was calculated.

According to the patient follow-up period of each included study, results were grouped based on patient follow-up and results of adherence reported into standardized periods of time: 0-3 months, 4-6 months, 7-9 months, and \geq 10 months.

To improve interpretability, interventions were grouped into four categories: attitudinal components aiming to modify beliefs, reward components creating incentives, educational components to inform on the medication, disease state, or importance of adherence, and technical components intended to simplify the medication taking process. The development and categorization process was discussed in Tonin et al, 2018 [27], and full category definitions can be found in S2 Table. Multicomponent interventions included more than one single category (e.g. rewards + technical). Standard of care was considered as the usual care defined in the primary study.

Two reviewers (EW, ATR) assessed all articles using the Cochrane Risk of Bias tool [28]. Given the complexity of interventions and to avoid a floor effect, adjusted criteria for judgement of risk of bias were used. The adjusted criteria allowed for low risk of bias indicated if outcomes were not blinded but were measured with validated instruments (i.e. previously validated medication adherence questionnaires).

Data analysis

Network meta-analysis was performed using Bayesian framework to analyze the comparative adherence of all the interventions for the overall composite measure of categorical measures in each time period. Interventions were modelled as they were described in the original studies, that is, as different combinations of components. Only implementation adherence outcomes could be used for comparison purposes. For all comparisons, a common heterogeneity parameter was assumed, and a conservative analysis of non-informative priors was chosen [29, 30]. Effect sizes measures were

expressed as odds ratio (OR) with a 95% credibility interval (CrI). Heterogeneity between trial comparisons was estimated by using the I² statistic. Both random and fixed effect models were tested. The goodness of fit of the model was assessed using residual deviances (DIC). Models with lowest DIC were used. Convergence was attained based on visual inspection of Brooks-Gelman-Rubin plots and potential scale reduction factor -PSRF (1<PSRF≤1.05) [30, 31]. To increase the estimate precision of the relative effect sizes of comparisons and to account properly for correlations between multi-arm trials, rank probabilities involving all the interventions were built for each outcome. The surface under the cumulative ranking curve (SUCRA) analysis was performed to present results of ranking order. SUCRA values can range from 0% (i.e. the intervention always ranks last) to 100% (i.e. the intervention always ranks first) [32]. Node-splitting analyses were used to assess inconsistency in the networks (p-values<0.05 reveal significant inconsistencies in the network) [33]. All analyses were performed using software Addis version 1.17.6 [34]. Other sensitivity analyses with the hypothetical removal or inclusion of the studies were conducted based on article's year of publication (before or after 2007) and sample size (total number of included patients over 30).

Results

Database searching identified 1081 records. Sixty-nine meta-analyses were included for primary study extraction. From these, 1234 primary studies were identified and 468 studies were included for qualitative synthesis (see Fig 1) (S1 Appendix). The most common single interventions were educational (n=172 studies), followed by technical (n=118), attitudinal (n=57) and rewards (n=2). Combinations of two or more categories of interventions were found in 191 trials (41.0%) with most of them reporting educational + technical (n=94), educational + attitudinal (n=62) and educational + attitudinal + technical (n=25). Standard of care was the common comparator in 88.0% of studies. The earliest studies were published in 1971 and the most recent in 2017

(median=2008; IQR 2002-2012). Twelve clinical conditions were included with the most common being cardiovascular (n=206 studies) and HIV (n=96).



Fig 1. Flowchart of the systematic review process and included studies

Risk of bias assessment revealed most studies having an unclear risk of bias. The domains with higher risk of bias were attrition bias (around 25% of studies) and performance bias (30% of studies) as studies lacked complete outcome data or were unable to blind participants due to the nature of the interventions. More than 90% of studies were free of selective reporting. Fewer than 10% of trials were sponsored by industries or presented conflict of interest (S1 Fig and S3 Table).

For the quantitative network analyses, 219 studies were excluded due to the absence of categorical data on patient's adherence. Another 11 trials were excluded as intervention arms were grouped in the same category and were unable to be compared in the network (e.g. technical vs. technical). Finally, 249 studies were included in the network meta-analyses of overall composite measure for the four periods of time with studies able to be included in more than one time period: 99 studies reporting results in the 0-3 month follow-ups, 104 in the 4-6 months, 18 in 7-9 months, 94 in \geq 10 months. Seventy-one studies reported in more than one time period. Six interventions, in addition to standard of care, were evaluated in all the four time periods: attitudinal, educational, educational + attitudinal + attitudinal + technical, educational + technical, and technical. The network plots of each time period with nodes representing the interventions are presented in Fig 2. Heterogeneity between trials for the composite measure analysis was moderate for the majority of the comparisons (81.3% I² < 70%) (S4 Table).



Fig 2. Networks of the comparisons between interventions for each time period (0-3 months, 4-6 months, 7-9 months, ≥10 months) considering the overall composite measure of adherence. Each node represents an intervention. Directly comparable interventions are linked with a line, the number of trials for each comparison are shown in each line.

From the 16 built networks, accounting for both original and sensitivity analyses, 107 nodes were split during the evaluation of inconsistency (node-splitting analyses). Overall, results of direct and indirect evidence were consistent for all these networks (p-values > 0.050 in all cases), suggesting that conditions required for the analyses were met. Only 7 comparisons presented p-values close to the limit of significance (between 0.050 and 0.070). For complete results of node-splitting analyses are presented in S5 Table. The effect size of all the comparisons between interventions in each time period is presented in Table 1. The ranking probabilities of each intervention to be the best, second best and so on is expressed as SUCRA analysis (Fig 3 and S2 Fig).

B: 7-9 months (bottom right) and \geq 10 months (bottom left). А Att + ------------------------Rew --Att + 1.28 0.48 2.94 1.67 0.38 0.48 0.57 0.42 0.25 0.46 Tec + (0.11, (0.07. (0.29, (0.08, (0.05, (0.07, (0.08, (0.06, (0.04, (0.07, Rew 13.70) 2.64) 26.39) 108.62) 2.26) 2.60) 3.24) 2.19) 1.31) 2.48) --Att + 0.37 2.27 1.31 0.28 0.37 0.44 0.32 0.19 0.35 ---(0.04, Tec (0.08, (0.27, (0.07, (0.05, (0.07, (0.08, (0.06, (0.06, 1.80) 19.61) 84.69) 1.62) 1.94) 2.48) 1.67) 1.01) 1.91) 0.90 -----Att 6.40 3.60 0.72 0.93 1.23 0.91 0.54 0.99 (0.19, (1.60, (0.30, (0.36, (0.53, (0.62, (0.56, (0.35, (0.60, 4.46) 26.69) 103.50) 1.43) 1.66) 2.34) 1.47) 0.85) 1.65) ---Rew + 0.57 0.11 0.15 0.19 0.14 0.09 0.16 ---------(0.02, Tec (0.03, (0.03, (0.04, (0.05, (0.04, (0.04, 20.93) 0.58) 0.79) 0.55) 0.32) 0.47) 0.58) 0.20 0.26 0.34 0.26 0.15 0.28 Rew -------------(0.01, (0.01, (0.01, (0.01, (0.01, (0.01, 2.51) 3.18) 4.00) 3.00) 1.76) 3.28) 0.55 0.61 ---Edu + 1.30 1.70 1.27 0.75 1.38 ---------(0.43, (0.11, (0.30, (0.67, (0.81, (0.69, (0.74, Att + 2.76) 1.25) Tec 2.57) 3.58) 2.33) 1.32) 2.55) 1.31 0.68 0.75 Edu + 0.97 0.58 1.06 1.23 ---------(0.14, (0.71, (0.40, (0.40, (0.65, Att (0.64, (0.68, 0.83) 3.27) 1.38) 2.28) 2.38) 1.48) 1.64) 0.78 0.85 1.41 1.14 Edu + 0.75 0.45 0.81 -----------(0.17, (0.77, (0.70, (0.27, (0.45, (0.47, Tec (0.43, 3.72) 2.64) 1.27) 0.73) 1.57) 1.88) 1.43) 0.65 -----0.72 -----1.18 0.96 0.84 Edu 0.60 1.09 (0.47, (0.15, (0.42, (0.67, (0.62, (0.57, (0.75, 2.94) 2.08) 0.76) 1.20) 1.49) 1.22) 1.55) SOC 0.42 0.46 ---0.76 0.62 0.54 0.65 1.82 --------(0.09, (0.46, (0.43, (0.38, (0.51, (1.39, (0.28, 1.94) 0.77) 1.27) 0.89) 0.76) 0.83) 2.39)

Table 1. Consistency analyses of multiple comparison analyses for the overall composite measure in part A: 0-3 months (top right) and 4-6 months (top left) and part B: 7-9 months (bottom right) and ≥10 months (bottom left).
1.24			1.38			2.27	1.83	1.61	1.92	2.96	Тес
(0.26,			(0.77,			(1.25,	(1.16,	(1.03,	(1.33,	(2.22,	
5.81)			2.40)			4.04)	2.92)	2.45)	2.75)	3.94)	
В											
Att +											
Тес											
1.29	Att				0.74	0.59	0.89	0.40	0.37	0.63	
(0.43,					(0.27,	(0.22,	(0.32,	(0.13,	(0.17,	(0.22,	
3.74)					1.96)	1.48)	2.31)	0.98)	0.84)	1.90)	
24.10	18.71	Rew +									
(4.45,	(4.48,	Tec									
135.58)	86.42)										
1.07	0.84	0.04	Rew								
(0.24,	(0.26,	(0.01,									
4.54)	2.57)	0.26)									
1.62	1.27	0.07	1.51	Edu +							
(0.29,	(0.30,	(0.01,	(0.26,	Att +							
8.94)	5.32)	0.47)	8.54)	Rew							
1.60	1.24	0.07	1.48	0.97	Edu +	0.80	1.22	0.55	0.54	0.86	
(0.49,	(0.61,	(0.01,	(0.44,	(0.21,	Att +	(0.33,	(0.49,	(0.19,	(0.24,	(0.31,	
5.09)	2.49)	0.29)	5.17)	4.39)	Тес	1.80)	2.89)	1.33)	1.07)	2.54)	
1.12	0.87	0.05	1.04	0.69	0.71	Edu +	1.50	0.70	0.69	1.09	
(0.36,	(0.49,	(0.01,	(0.33,	(0.16,	(0.33,	Att	(0.71,	(0.29,	(0.38,	(0.46,	
3.42)	1.58)	0.20)	3.39)	3.05)	1.49)		3.32)	1.43)	1.16)	2.95)	
1.39	1.08	0.06	1.28	0.85	0.87	1.23	Edu +	0.46	0.45	0.72	
(0.48,	(0.69,	(0.01,	(0.44,	(0.21,	(0.46,	(0.73,	Тес	(0.17,	(0.23,	(0.28,	
3.93)	1.67)	0.23)	3.90)	3.56)	1.67)	2.10)		1.03)	0.80)	1.98)	
1.34	1.04	0.06	1.24	0.81	0.84	1.19	0.97	Edu	0.97	1.56	
(0.46,	(0.70,	(0.01,	(0.42,	(0.20,	(0.44,	(0.72,	(0.68,		(0.54,	(0.66,	
3.75)	1.54)	0.22)	3.73)	3.40)	1.60)	1.96)	1.35)		2.01)	4.90)	
0.78	0.61	0.03	0.73	0.48	0.49	0.70	0.56	0.59	SOC	1.61	
(0.28,	(0.42,	(0.01,	(0.26,	(0.12,	(0.27,	(0.44,	(0.44,	(0.45,		(0.82,	
2.14)	0.89)	0.13)	2.13)	1.96)	0.88)	1.11)	0.72)	0.76)		3.64)	
1.30	1.02	0.05	1.22	0.80	0.82	1.17	0.94	0.98	1.67	Тес	
(0.47,	(0.65,	(0.01,	(0.41,	(0.19,	(0.44,	(0.68,	(0.67,	(0.69,	(1.31,		
3.58)	1.61)	0.21)	3.69)	3.33)	1.56)	1.98)	1.32)	1.41)	2.16)		

Effect sizes are reported as OR (with 95% CrI). Comparisons are read from left to right (row to column above, column to row below) (e.g. the effect of Edu to SOC is 0.60 in 0-3 months). An OR <1 indicates a more effective intervention. Bold data comparisons are statistically significant. Edu: educational, Att: attitudinal, Tec: technical, Rew: rewards, SOC: standard of care.



Fig 3. Summary of the effectiveness of the interventions over time considering the SUCRA analysis. SUCRA values can range from 0% (i.e. the intervention always ranks last) to 100% (i.e. the intervention always ranks first).

0-3 month follow-ups

The 0-3 month network included data from 99 studies (n=35,714 patients) and comprised 11 different nodes. Follow-up time varied from 0-3 months, with the most common period being 10-12 weeks (n= 25 studies), followed by 4-6 weeks (n=22 studies).

4-6 month follow-ups

The 4-6 month network included data from 104 studies (n=31,736 patients), compromising eight arms. Follow-up time varied from 4-6 months, with the majority studies using 24-26 weeks (n=54).

7-9 month follow-ups

Data from 18 studies (n=7,586 patients) were included in the 7-9 month network with standard of care and six interventions (attitudinal, educational, educational + attitudinal, educational + attitudinal + technical, educational + technical, technical). No studies reporting data on reward components were reported in the literature for this time period. Follow-up time varied from 7-9 months.

≥10 month follow-ups

Ninety-four studies were included in the ≥ 10 month network (n=152,372 patients) comprising 11 arms. Follow-up time varied from 10-40 months, with 12 months (n=60 studies) as the most common.

Components of interventions

Across all time periods, multiple interventions were effective and standard of care ranked last in all SUCRA analyses (mean SUCRA value 6%). Single component interventions were found to be the most effective in follow-ups of 4-6 months and 7-9 months, with technical (SUCRA value 92%) (OR 0.33, [95% CrI 0.25-0.45] vs SOC) and attitudinal (SUCRA value 84%) (OR 0.37, [95% CrI 0.17-0.84] vs. SOC) ranking first in each time period respectively. The combination of educational + technical components consistently performed well, with an average SUCRA value around 63%, and was always more effective than educational components alone (highest SUCRA value 53% in \geq 10 month follow-ups). The addition of an attitudinal component to educational + technical components past 10 months increased effectiveness (attitudinal + educational + technical OR 0.49, [95% CrI 0.27-0.88] vs SOC; educational + technical OR 0.56 [95% CrI 0.44-0.72] vs SOC). Rewards + technical was considered an effective intervention in the shortest time period (0-3 months; n=1 study) and longest (\geq 10 months; n=1) (92% and 100% in the SUCRA analysis respectively) and presented significant statistical differences compared to almost all interventions and standard of care (OR 0.03, [95% CrI 0.01-0.13]

vs. SOC). However, conclusions cannot be determined on this combination based on the limited amount of evidence. Other combinations including reward components were also limited, appearing in only seven studies across all time periods with no statistically significant comparisons.

Changes over time

To facilitate data interpretation, Fig 3 shows a summary of the changes in the position of rank order for each intervention over time (for final rank orders see S6 Table). Considering only the interventions reporting data on all four time periods, educational + attitudinal + technical presented increasing comparative effectiveness over time, with a final SUCRA value reaching around 68% (median 46%, interguartile range [IQR] 26.0%-64.8%). Attitudinal interventions also presented increasing values through time up until the 7-9 month follow-ups, though dropped in effectiveness ≥ 10 months without the addition of other components. Technical interventions presented consistent values during the time periods (around 50% probability), except for the 4-6 month time period. In follow-ups less than 10 months, educational had a mean 29% chance of being the best option, but this value increased to 53% past 10 months (median 36%, IQR 30.0%-42.0%). The effectiveness of the interventions educational + attitudinal and educational + technical were relatively stable during all time periods at around 40% (IQR 39.0%-44.3%) and 63% (IQR 58.0%-64.0%), respectively. For attitudinal + rewards, attitudinal + technical, attitudinal + technical + rewards, rewards and educational + attitudinal + rewards further extrapolation was not possible due to the lack of studies reporting data for all follow-up periods.

Sensitivity analyses

Overall, studies' sample sizes were found to have low influence on the comparative effectiveness of interventions. Analyses that included only studies with more than 30 patients presented equivalent results compared to the original analyses for all four time periods. Results from sensitivity analyses of articles published before 2007 or after 2007 showed that for follow-ups \geq 10 months, differences in the position of the interventions in the rank order were observed compared to the original analyses. These, however,

were similar to those obtained in the original analyses for shorter time periods. When evaluating studies published before 2007, the comparisons attitudinal vs. standard of care and educational + attitudinal + technical vs. standard of care lose their statistical significance with the enlargement of the 95% CrI (OR 0.81 [95% CrI 0.38-1.74] and OR 0.89 [95% CrI 0.19-4.13], respectively). By removing these studies from the original analyses and accounting for studies published after 2007, both interventions became statistically superior to standard of care (0.56 [0.35-0.89] and 0.44 [0.22-0.83], respectively) with final SUCRA values of 67% and 83%, respectively. No other significant differences were observed (S1 File).

Discussion

By using NMAs to synthesise evidence from more than 200 studies on medication adherence, we found that time significantly influenced some interventions, while having no influence on others. We found a trend towards any intervention, either singly or in combination, being more effective than standard of care, although in many cases the trend did not reach statistical significance. This review demonstrated that multicomponent interventions including educational, attitudinal and technical aspects are more effective than single component interventions. This supports other research in adherence [11], pharmacology [35] and health care more broadly [36], and is logically reinforced by the idea that adherence is a multifaceted and complex issue [6, 14]. While other adherence research has shown this by indirect comparison to standard of care [20], our research has shown this by direct comparison, albeit through an estimate.

The comparative effectiveness of complex, multicomponent interventions is not surprising. But it raises the question of how to focus our efforts on the best combination of interventions. We found that an adherence intervention that included a technical component, either singly or in combination, showed benefits that were consistent across time, which builds on other research about effectiveness [19, 21]. A technical component, such as reminders and feedback from healthcare professionals, can be an effective and inexpensive opportunity to add to standard practice to improve adherence

[37]. Reward components were found effective when present in the networks, especially when combined with technical components. However, due to the lack of studies and evidence of interventions including reward components, it is not reasonable to draw conclusions or recommendations.

This review also revealed the effectiveness of interventions with an attitudinal or educational component increased with time, but declined after 10 months when used alone. However, they continued to become more effective past 10 months when in combination with other components. A possible explanation is that while attitudinal change is important, its effect is difficult to sustain without other elements. Similar themes have been found in other areas of public health and psychology [36, 38]. Brehm's motivational intensity theory states importance and difficulty of a goal determines motivation [39]. Educational intervention components may be necessary for patients to understand the importance of adherence while technical components can simplify the medication taking process. Thus, this allows motivation from attitudinal components to fully develop and be sustained.

Many studies have shown that adherence declines over time [16, 17, 21]. This research shows for the first time that the approach needed to support adherence may change over time. Adherence to medication should not be considered a fixed concept, as it is multi-dimensional in nature. The complexity of medication adherence behaviors are reflected in the adherence taxonomy proposed by the ABC (Ascertaining Barriers for Compliance) Project Team [14] and the five dimensions of medication adherence classified by WHO [40-42]. We have demonstrated in this review that interventions to improve adherence can have an impact that varies depending on the time at which they are used. With more than half of American adults having at least one chronic condition [43], and with many of these conditions requiring long-term management [44, 45], future efforts must be focused on interventions inducing adherence change that is sustained for long periods.

Our strengths of this study are found in our statistical approach used. Network metaanalysis creates more powerful and robust evidence compared to standard meta-

analysis by using both direct and indirect evidence [23]. All the built networks demonstrated robustness with no significant inconsistency between direct and indirect comparisons found. This is also the first network of its kind to evaluate adherence across all clinical conditions in addition to looking at variations in effectiveness of interventions across time. By acknowledging that adherence is a multi-dimensional topic affected by multiple factors including therapy-related, condition-related, health system-related, socio-economic-related, and patient-related factors [7], we aimed to create a broader picture of the landscape of medication adherence. This was achieved by evaluating the patterns and changes of the effect of intervention components comprehensively across all clinical conditions over time, by not limiting our research to a clinical condition, a setting or a specific intervention type. Previous research demonstrated that the effectiveness of interventions may be related to the clinical condition [13]. Although including different clinical conditions in the network meta-analysis may be considered as a drawback due the potential heterogeneity induced, in our research, the four periods of evaluation contain an almost identical mix of medical conditions. Additionally, the heterogeneity between trials was below 70% in the vast majority of the comparisons, which is not unexpected when gathering evidence about complex interventions. Moreover, we evaluated intervention effects on all clinical conditions over time to account for the fact that determinants and issues of non-adherence are often comparable across medications and disease states. [11, 12]. While our networks were large and with many direct comparisons and a concern for heterogeneity, we can be confident in our networks due to no evidence of inconsistency being found in nodesplitting analysis of direct and indirect evidence. Future research efforts should continue to expand on this landscape, including the effects of time on adherence as well as aiming to achieve the goal of long-term sustainability of improved adherence. Furthermore, sustainability of improved adherence first requires implementation of adherence enhancing interventions [46], a difficult process into the already overextended and resource-deficient practice of routine health care [45]. While multiple intervention components may be necessary for maintenance of adherence, too many components

may overwhelm and produce a negative effect [47]. To support the thinking of policymakers and healthcare professionals, we must determine where the best compromise in complex interventions lie for cost-effective and resource-limited approaches.

Our review has limitations. One is a lack of data across all combinations, with few trials available for some interventions and not all possible combinations of components being evaluated. Moreover, not all interventions or combinations were presented across all time periods, preventing a full narrative of temporal trends. The methodological quality of the included trials was mostly unclear, with a lack of complete outcome data or poor description of the study methodology definition of the evaluated interventions, and how they were delivered. Thus, only 53.2% of the studies could be part of the quantitative synthesis as they properly reported categorical results on patient's adherence.

Additionally, only studies measuring implementation adherence were included, as initial review of the literature did not reveal enough studies reporting initiation and persistence adherence. To assist interpretability, the adherence-enhancing interventions were grouped into categories based on previous literature, but we acknowledge that a different approach of categorization may alter some results. Finally, while we decided to categorize a trial arm as standard of care if it was so determined as such by the individual study, we understand the definition of standard of care may vary by country or healthcare system.

Conclusions

In conclusion, the results from this systematic review and network meta-analysis demonstrate several interventions including educational, attitudinal, technical and multicomponent strategies are effective in enhancing medication adherence. Multicomponent interventions incorporating educational, attitudinal, and technical aspects demonstrated greater sustainability of adherence over time. Technical interventions remained consistent in effectiveness across follow-up periods, while educational and attitudinal interventions were more effective with longer follow-up times, suggesting they may take more time to reach their potential in improving

medication adherence. This research can be used to guide policy-makers and healthcare professionals in selecting effective multicomponent interventions, while future research should evaluate cost-effectiveness of these interventions.

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge insight from Rachelle Cutler in the preparation of this manuscript.

References

1. Statistics NCfH. Health, United States, 2016: with chartbook on long-term trends in health. 2017.

2. Brown MT, Bussell JK. Medication adherence: WHO cares? Mayo Clin Proc. 2011;86(4):304-14. doi: 10.4065/mcp.2010.0575. PubMed PMID: 21389250; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3068890.

3. Osterberg L, Blaschke T. Adherence to Medication. New England Journal of Medicine. 2005;353(5):487-97. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra050100. PubMed PMID: 16079372.

4. Sokol MC, McGuigan KA, Verbrugge RR, Epstein RS. Impact of medication adherence on hospitalization risk and healthcare cost. Med Care. 2005;43(6):521-30. Epub 2005/05/24. PubMed PMID: 15908846.

5. Institute NEH. Thinking outside the pillbox: a system-wide approach to improving patient medication adherence for chronic disease: New England Health Care Institute; 2009.

6. Kardas P, Lewek P, Matyjaszczyk M. Determinants of patient adherence: a review of systematic reviews. Frontiers in pharmacology. 2013;4:91. Epub 2013/07/31. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2013.00091. PubMed PMID: 23898295; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3722478.

7. Sabaté E. Adherence to long-term therapies: evidence for action: World Health Organization; 2003.

8. Costa E, Giardini A, Savin M, Menditto E, Lehane E, Laosa O, et al. Interventional tools to improve medication adherence: review of literature. Patient preference and adherence. 2015;9:1303-14. Epub 2015/09/24. doi: 10.2147/ppa.S87551. PubMed PMID: 26396502; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4576894.

9. Burkhart PV, Sabate E. Adherence to long-term therapies: evidence for action. Journal of nursing scholarship : an official publication of Sigma Theta Tau International Honor Society of Nursing. 2003;35(3):207. Epub 2003/10/18. PubMed PMID: 14562485.

10. Costa E, Giardini A, Savin M, Menditto E, Lehane E, Laosa O, et al. Interventional tools to improve medication adherence: review of literature. Patient preference and adherence. 2015;9:1303-14. doi: 10.2147/PPA.S87551. PubMed PMID: PMC4576894.

11. Nieuwlaat R, Wilczynski N, Navarro T, Hobson N, Jeffery R, Keepanasseril A, et al. Interventions for enhancing medication adherence. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2014;(11):Cd000011. Epub 2014/11/21. doi:

10.1002/14651858.CD000011.pub4. PubMed PMID: 25412402.

12. Haynes RB, Taylor DW, Sackett DL. Compliance in health care: Johns Hopkins University Press; 1979.

13. Torres-Robles A, Wiecek E, Tonin FS, Benrimoj SI, Fernandez-Llimos F, Garcia-Cardenas V. Comparison of Interventions to Improve Long-Term Medication Adherence Across Different Clinical Conditions: A Systematic Review With Network Meta-Analysis. Frontiers in pharmacology. 2018;9:1454. Epub 2019/01/09. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.01454. PubMed PMID: 30618748; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6311651.

14. Vrijens B, De Geest S, Hughes DA, Przemyslaw K, Demonceau J, Ruppar T, et al. A new taxonomy for describing and defining adherence to medications. British journal of clinical pharmacology. 2012;73(5):691-705. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2012.04167.x. PubMed PMID: 22486599; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3403197.

15. Demonceau J, Ruppar T, Kristanto P, Hughes DA, Fargher E, Kardas P, et al. Identification and assessment of adherence-enhancing interventions in studies assessing medication adherence through electronically compiled drug dosing histories: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. Drugs. 2013;73(6):545-62. doi: 10.1007/s40265-013-0041-3. PubMed PMID: 23588595; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3647098.

16. Blaschke TF, Osterberg L, Vrijens B, Urquhart J. Adherence to medications: insights arising from studies on the unreliable link between prescribed and actual drug dosing histories. Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology. 2012;52:275-301. Epub 2011/09/29. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-011711-113247. PubMed PMID: 21942628.

17. Cooper V, Moyle GJ, Fisher M, Reilly G, Ewan J, Liu HC, et al. Beliefs about antiretroviral therapy, treatment adherence and quality of life in a 48-week randomised study of continuation of zidovudine/lamivudine or switch to tenofovir DF/emtricitabine, each with efavirenz. AIDS care. 2011;23(6):705-13. Epub 2011/04/09. doi: 10.1080/09540121.2010.534433. PubMed PMID: 21476152.

18. Krousel-Wood M, Joyce C, Holt E, Muntner P, Webber LS, Morisky DE, et al. Predictors of decline in medication adherence: Results from CoSMO. Hypertension. 2011;58(5):804-10. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.176859. PubMed PMID: PMC3220657.

19. Conn VS, Ruppar TM. Medication adherence outcomes of 771 intervention trials: systematic review and meta-analysis. Preventive medicine. 2017;99:269-76.

20. Sapkota S, Brien JA, Greenfield JR, Aslani P. A Systematic Review of Interventions Addressing Adherence to Anti-Diabetic Medications in Patients with Type
2 Diabetes--Components of Interventions. PLoS One. 2015;10(6):e0128581. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0128581. PubMed PMID: 26053004; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4460122.

21. Demonceau J, Ruppar T, Kristanto P, Hughes DA, Fargher E, Kardas P, et al. Identification and assessment of adherence-enhancing interventions in studies assessing medication adherence through electronically compiled drug dosing histories: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. Drugs. 2013;73(6):545-62. Epub 2013/04/17. doi: 10.1007/s40265-013-0041-3. PubMed PMID: 23588595; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3647098.

22. Hoaglin DC, Hawkins N, Jansen JP, Scott DA, Itzler R, Cappelleri JC, et al. Conducting indirect-treatment-comparison and network-meta-analysis studies: report of the ISPOR Task Force on Indirect Treatment Comparisons Good Research Practices: part 2. Value in health : the journal of the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research. 2011;14(4):429-37. Epub 2011/06/15. doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2011.01.011. PubMed PMID: 21669367.

23. Tonin FS, Rotta I, Mendes AM, Pontarolo R. Network meta-analysis: a technique to gather evidence from direct and indirect comparisons. Pharmacy practice. 2017;15(1):943. Epub 2017/05/16. doi: 10.18549/PharmPract.2017.01.943. PubMed PMID: 28503228; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5386629.

24. Hutton B, Salanti G, Caldwell DM, Chaimani A, Schmid CH, Cameron C, et al. The PRISMA extension statement for reporting of systematic reviews incorporating network meta-analyses of health care interventions: checklist and explanations. Annals of internal medicine. 2015;162(11):777-84. Epub 2015/06/02. doi: 10.7326/m14-2385. PubMed PMID: 26030634.

25. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JPA, et al. The PRISMA Statement for Reporting Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses of Studies That Evaluate Health Care Interventions: Explanation and Elaboration. PLOS Medicine. 2009;6(7):e1000100. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000100.

26. Higgins JP, Green S. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. version; 2005.

27. Tonin FS, Wiecek E, Torres-Robles A, Pontarolo R, Benrimoj SI, Fernandez-Llimos F, et al. An innovative and comprehensive technique to evaluate different measures of medication adherence: The network meta-analysis. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy. doi: 10.1016/j.sapharm.2018.05.010.

28. Higgins JP, Altman DG, Gotzsche PC, Juni P, Moher D, Oxman AD, et al. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2011;343:d5928. Epub 2011/10/20. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d5928. PubMed PMID: 22008217; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3196245.

29. Rucker G, Cates CJ, Schwarzer G. Methods for including information from multiarm trials in pairwise meta-analysis. Research synthesis methods. 2017;8(4):392-403. Epub 2017/08/02. doi: 10.1002/jrsm.1259. PubMed PMID: 28759708.

30. Dias S, Welton NJ, Caldwell DM, Ades AE. Checking consistency in mixed treatment comparison meta-analysis. Statistics in medicine. 2010;29(7-8):932-44. Epub 2010/03/10. doi: 10.1002/sim.3767. PubMed PMID: 20213715.

31. Higgins JP, Jackson D, Barrett JK, Lu G, Ades AE, White IR. Consistency and inconsistency in network meta-analysis: concepts and models for multi-arm studies. Research synthesis methods. 2012;3(2):98-110. Epub 2012/06/01. doi: 10.1002/jrsm.1044. PubMed PMID: 26062084; PubMed Central PMCID:

PMCPMC4433772.

32. Mbuagbaw L, Rochwerg B, Jaeschke R, Heels-Andsell D, Alhazzani W, Thabane L, et al. Approaches to interpreting and choosing the best treatments in network metaanalyses. Systematic reviews. 2017;6(1):79. doi: 10.1186/s13643-017-0473-z. PubMed PMID: 28403893; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5389085.

33. van Valkenhoef G, Dias S, Ades AE, Welton NJ. Automated generation of nodesplitting models for assessment of inconsistency in network meta-analysis. Research synthesis methods. 2016;7(1):80-93. doi: 10.1002/jrsm.1167. PubMed PMID: 26461181; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5057346.

34. van Valkenhoef G, Tervonenc T, Zwinkels T, Brock Bd, Hillege H. ADDIS: A decision support system for evidence-based medicine. Decision Support Systems. 2013;55(2):459-75. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2012.10.005.

35. Webster R, Patel A, Selak V, Billot L, Bots ML, Brown A, et al. Effectiveness of fixed dose combination medication ('polypills') compared with usual care in patients with cardiovascular disease or at high risk: A prospective, individual patient data metaanalysis of 3140 patients in six countries. International journal of cardiology. 2016;205:147-56. Epub 2016/01/07. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.12.015. PubMed PMID: 26736090.

36. Prochaska JJ, Prochaska JO. A Review of Multiple Health Behavior Change Interventions for Primary Prevention. American journal of lifestyle medicine. 2011;5(3):10.1177/1559827610391883. doi: 10.1177/1559827610391883. PubMed PMID: PMC3865280.

37. Zurovac D, Larson BA, Sudoi RK, Snow RW. Costs and Cost-Effectiveness of a Mobile Phone Text-Message Reminder Programmes to Improve Health Workers' Adherence to Malaria Guidelines in Kenya. PLOS ONE. 2012;7(12):e52045. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052045.

38. Conner M, Norman P. Health behaviour: Current issues and challenges. Psychology & health. 2017;32(8):895-906. Epub 2017/06/15. doi:

10.1080/08870446.2017.1336240. PubMed PMID: 28612656.

39. Brehm JW, Self EA. The intensity of motivation. Annual review of psychology.
1989;40:109-31. Epub 1989/01/01. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ps.40.020189.000545.
PubMed PMID: 2648973.

40. Touchette DR, Shapiro NL. Medication Compliance, Adherence, and Persistence: Current Status of Behavioral and Educational Interventions to Improve Outcomes. Journal of Managed Care Pharmacy 2008;14(6):S2-S10.

41. Carr-Lopez SM, Shek A, Lastimosa J, Patel RA, Woelfel JA, Galal SM, et al. Medication adherence behaviors of Medicare beneficiaries. Patient preference and adherence. 2014;8:1277-84. doi: 10.2147/PPA.S64825. PubMed PMID: 25258521; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4172241.

42. (WHO) WHO. Adherence to long-term therapies: Evidence for action2003.

43. Ward BW, Schiller JS, Goodman RA. Multiple chronic conditions among US adults: a 2012 update. Preventing chronic disease. 2014;11:E62. Epub 2014/04/20. doi: 10.5888/pcd11.130389. PubMed PMID: 24742395; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3992293.

44. Health Alo, Welfare. Australia's Health 2012: In Brief: AIHW; 2012.

45. Health UDo, Services H. Health, United States, 2005: With chartbook on trends in the health of Americans: Claitor's Law Books and Publishing Division; 2006.

46. Crespo-Gonzalez C, Garcia-Cardenas V, Benrimoj SI. The next phase in professional services research: From implementation to sustainability. Research in

social & administrative pharmacy : RSAP. 2017;13(5):896-901. Epub 2017/06/13. doi: 10.1016/j.sapharm.2017.05.020. PubMed PMID: 28602278.

47. Wilson K, Senay I, Durantini M, Sánchez F, Hennessy M, Spring B, et al. When It Comes to Lifestyle Recommendations, More is Sometimes Less: A Meta-Analysis of Theoretical Assumptions Underlying the Effectiveness of Interventions Promoting Multiple Behavior Domain Change. Psychological bulletin. 2015;141(2):474-509. doi: 10.1037/a0038295. PubMed PMID: PMC4801324.

Supporting Information

- S1 Table. Complete search strategy
- S2 Table. Category definitions
- S1 Appendix. Complete references
 - a. Included meta-analyses
 - b. Included primary studies
 - c. Excluded primary studies
 - d. Studies included in the network meta-analysis
- S1 Fig. Risk of bias graph
- S3 Table. Risk of bias summary
- S4 Table. Heterogeneity between trials comparisons for the composite measure
- **S5** Table. Node-splitting analyses
- S2 Fig. SUCRA analyses
- S1 File. Sensitivity and sub-group analyses
- S6 Table. Final rank orders from SUCRA analyses
- S2 File. PRISMA Checklist
- S3 File. PRISMA NMA Checklist

Search strategy						
	#1 ("drug therapy"[Mesh Terms] OR "medication[Title/Abstract]) AND ("patient compliance"[Mesh Terms] OR "medication adherence"[Mesh Terms] OR "medication adherence"[Title/Abstract])					
PubMed	#2 "systematic review"[Title/Abstract] OR "meta-analysis"[Publication type] OR "meta-analysis"[Title/Abstract]					
	#1 AND #2					

S1 Table. Complete search strategy and category definitions Search strategy

S2 Table. Category definitions

Category	Definition
Educational	Every intervention where a professional provided any kind of knowledge (e.g. medication information, disease state information, importance of adherence information), in any form (e.g. written, oral, in group, by telephone), to a patient with the aim of modifying patient's beliefs, attitudes or skills that facilitate adherence.
Attitudinal	Interventions aiming to modify behavioral intention (theory of planned behavior) based on modifying patient's attitudes or subjective norm, delivered in any form (e.g. written, oral, in group, by telephone).
Technical	Interventions providing any gadget, instrument, or system that facilitate the medication intake, through reminders, regime simplifications, follow- ups, direction observation therapy, self- monitoring, cue-dose training, feedback etc.
Rewards	Interventions that produce awards (or penalties) associated to a better (or worst) medication adherence.

S1 Appendix. Complete references

e. Included meta-analyses

- 1. Bangalore S, Kamalakkannan G, Parkar S, Messerli FH. Fixed-dose combinations improve medication compliance: a meta-analysis. Am J Med. 2007;120(8):713-719.
- 2. Burudpakdee C, Khan ZM, Gala S, Nanavaty M, Kaura S. Impact of patient programs on adherence and persistence in inflammatory and immunologic diseases: a meta-analysis. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2015;9:435-448.
- Caldeira D, Vaz-Carneiro A, Costa J. The impact of dosing frequency on medication adherence in chronic cardiovascular disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. Rev Port Cardiol. 2014;33(7-8):431-437.
- Chase JA, Bogener JL, Ruppar TM, Conn VS. The Effectiveness of Medication Adherence Interventions Among Patients With Coronary Artery Disease: A Meta-analysis. J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2016;31(4):357-366.
- Conn VS, Enriquez M, Ruppar TM, Chan KC. Cultural relevance in medication adherence interventions with underrepresented adults: systematic review and meta-analysis of outcomes. Prev Med. 2014;69:239-247.
- 6. Conn VS, Hafdahl AR, Cooper PS, Ruppar TM, Mehr DR, Russell CL. Interventions to improve medication adherence among older adults: meta-analysis of adherence outcomes among randomized controlled trials. Gerontologist. 2009;49(4):447-462.
- Conn VS, Ruppar TM, Chan KC, Dunbar-Jacob J, Pepper GA, De Geest S. Packaging interventions to increase medication adherence: systematic review and meta-analysis. Curr Med Res Opin. 2015;31(1):145-160.
- Conn VS, Ruppar TM, Chase JA, Enriquez M, Cooper PS. Interventions to Improve Medication Adherence in Hypertensive Patients: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2015;17(12):94.
- 9. Conn VS, Ruppar TM, Enriquez M, Cooper P. Medication adherence interventions that target subjects with adherence problems: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Res Social Adm Pharm. 2016;12(2):218-246.
- Crawshaw J, Auyeung V, Ashworth L, Norton S, Weinman J. Healthcare provider-led interventions to support medication adherence following ACS: a meta-analysis. Open heart. 2017;4(2):e000685.
- 11. de Bruin M, Viechtbauer W, Schaalma HP, Kok G, Abraham C, Hospers HJ. Standard care impact on effects of highly active antiretroviral therapy adherence interventions: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Arch Intern Med. 2010;170(3):240-250.
- 12. De Simoni A, Hardeman W, Mant J, Farmer AJ, Kinmonth AL. Trials to improve blood pressure through adherence to antihypertensives in stroke/TIA: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Heart Assoc. 2013;2(4):e000251.
- Demonceau J, Ruppar T, Kristanto P, et al. Identification and assessment of adherenceenhancing interventions in studies assessing medication adherence through electronically compiled drug dosing histories: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. Drugs. 2013;73(6):545-562.
- Dokbua S, Dilokthornsakul P, Chaiyakunapruk N, Saini B, Krass I, Dhippayom T. Effects of an Asthma Self-Management Support Service Provided by Community Pharmacists: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Journal of managed care & specialty pharmacy. 2018;24(11):1184-96.

- 15. Easthall C, Song F, Bhattacharya D. A meta-analysis of cognitive-based behaviour change techniques as interventions to improve medication adherence. BMJ Open. 2013;3(8).
- 16. Falagas ME, Karagiannis AK, Nakouti T, Tansarli GS. Compliance with once-daily versus twice or thrice-daily administration of antibiotic regimens: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS One. 2015;10(1):e0116207.
- 17. Fenerty SD, West C, Davis SA, Kaplan SG, Feldman SR. The effect of reminder systems on patients' adherence to treatment. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2012;6:127-135.
- Finitsis DJ, Pellowski JA, Johnson BT. Text message intervention designs to promote adherence to antiretroviral therapy (ART): a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS One. 2014;9(2):e88166.
- 19. Finitsis DJ, Vose BA, Mahalak JG, Salner AL. Interventions to promote adherence to endocrine therapy among breast cancer survivors: A meta-analysis. Psycho-oncology. 2018.
- 20. Fletcher BR, Hartmann-Boyce J, Hinton L, McManus RJ. The Effect of Self-Monitoring of Blood Pressure on Medication Adherence and Lifestyle Factors: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Am J Hypertens. 2015;28(10):1209-1221.
- 21. Gray R, Bressington D, Ivanecka A, et al. Is adherence therapy an effective adjunct treatment for patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders? A systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Psychiatry. 2016;16:90.
- 22. Hart JE, Jeon CY, Ivers LC, et al. Effect of directly observed therapy for highly active antiretroviral therapy on virologic, immunologic, and adherence outcomes: a meta-analysis and systematic review. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2010;54(2):167-179.
- 23. Heneghan CJ, Glasziou P, Perera R. Reminder packaging for improving adherence to selfadministered long-term medications. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2006(1):CD005025.
- 24. Hollands GJ, McDermott MS, Lindson-Hawley N, Vogt F, Farley A, Aveyard P. Interventions to increase adherence to medications for tobacco dependence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015(2):CD009164.
- 25. Horvath T, Azman H, Kennedy GE, Rutherford GW. Mobile phone text messaging for promoting adherence to antiretroviral therapy in patients with HIV infection. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012(3):CD009756.
- Iglay K, Cao X, Mavros P, Joshi K, Yu S, Tunceli K. Systematic Literature Review and Metaanalysis of Medication Adherence With Once-weekly Versus Once-daily Therapy. Clin Ther. 2015;37(8):1813-1821 e1811.
- 27. Iskedjian M, Einarson TR, MacKeigan LD, et al. Relationship between daily dose frequency and adherence to antihypertensive pharmacotherapy: evidence from a meta-analysis. Clin Ther. 2002;24(2):302-316.
- 28. Kanters S, Park JJ, Chan K, et al. Use of peers to improve adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a global network meta-analysis. J Int AIDS Soc. 2016;19(1):21141.
- 29. Kanters S, Park JJ, Chan K, et al. Interventions to improve adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet HIV. 2017;4(1):e31-e40.
- 30. Kassavou A, Sutton S. Automated telecommunication interventions to promote adherence to cardio-metabolic medications: meta-analysis of effectiveness and meta-regression of behaviour change techniques. Health Psychol Rev. 2018;12(1):25-42.
- 31. Kauppi K, Valimaki M, Hatonen HM, Kuosmanen LM, Warwick-Smith K, Adams CE. Information and communication technology based prompting for treatment compliance for people with serious mental illness. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014(6):CD009960.
- 32. Langebeek N, Nieuwkerk P. Electronic medication monitoring-informed counseling to improve adherence to combination anti-retroviral therapy and virologic treatment outcomes: a meta-analysis. Front Public Health. 2015;3:139.

- MacDonald L, Chapman S, Syrett M, Bowskill R, Horne R. Improving medication adherence in bipolar disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis of 30 years of intervention trials. J Affect Disord. 2016;194:202-221.
- 34. Mahtani KR, Heneghan CJ, Glasziou PP, Perera R. Reminder packaging for improving adherence to self-administered long-term medications. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011(9):CD005025.
- 35. Manias E, Williams A. Medication adherence in people of culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds: a meta-analysis. Ann Pharmacother. 2010;44(6):964-982.
- 36. Mes MA, Katzer CB, Chan AHY, Wileman V, Taylor SJC, Horne R. Pharmacists and medication adherence in asthma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The European respiratory journal. 2018;52(2).
- Miller L, Schuz B, Walters J, Walters EH. Mobile Technology Interventions for Asthma Self-Management: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2017;5(5):e57.
- 38. Morrissey EC, Durand H, Nieuwlaat R, et al. Effectiveness and content analysis of interventions to enhance medication adherence and blood pressure control in hypertension: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Psychol Health. 2017;32(10):1195-1232.
- 39. Mutasa-Apollo T, Ford N, Wiens M, et al. Effect of frequency of clinic visits and medication pickup on antiretroviral treatment outcomes: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. J Int AIDS Soc. 2017;20(Suppl 4):21647.
- 40. Normansell R, Kew KM, Stovold E. Interventions to improve adherence to inhaled steroids for asthma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;4:CD012226.
- 41. Omonaiye O, Nicholson P, Kusljic S, Manias E. A meta-analysis of effectiveness of interventions to improve adherence in pregnant women receiving antiretroviral therapy in sub-Saharan Africa. International journal of infectious diseases : IJID : official publication of the International Society for Infectious Diseases. 2018;74:71-82.
- Palacio A, Garay D, Langer B, Taylor J, Wood BA, Tamariz L. Motivational Interviewing Improves Medication Adherence: a Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J Gen Intern Med. 2016;31(8):929-940.
- Parappilly BP, Field TS, Mortenson WB, Sakakibara BM, Eng JJ. Effectiveness of interventions involving nurses in secondary stroke prevention: A systematic review and meta-analysis. European journal of cardiovascular nursing : journal of the Working Group on Cardiovascular Nursing of the European Society of Cardiology. 2018;17(8):728-36.
- 44. Parienti JJ, Bangsberg DR, Verdon R, Gardner EM. Better adherence with once-daily antiretroviral regimens: a meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;48(4):484-488.
- 45. Peterson AM, Takiya L, Finley R. Meta-analysis of trials of interventions to improve medication adherence. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2003;60(7):657-665.
- 46. Petry NM, Rash CJ, Byrne S, Ashraf S, White WB. Financial reinforcers for improving medication adherence: findings from a meta-analysis. Am J Med. 2012;125(9):888-896.
- 47. Rash JA, Campbell DJ, Tonelli M, Campbell TS. A systematic review of interventions to improve adherence to statin medication: What do we know about what works? Prev Med. 2016;90:155-169.
- 48. Readdean KC, Heuer AJ, Scott Parrott J. Effect of pharmacist intervention on improving antidepressant medication adherence and depression symptomology: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Res Social Adm Pharm. 2017.
- 49. Rocha BS, Silveira MP, Moraes CG, Kuchenbecker RS, Dal-Pizzol TS. Pharmaceutical interventions in antiretroviral therapy: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2015;40(3):251-258.

- 50. Rubio-Valera M, Serrano-Blanco A, Magdalena-Belio J, et al. Effectiveness of pharmacist care in the improvement of adherence to antidepressants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Pharmacother. 2011;45(1):39-48.
- 51. Ruppar TM, Delgado JM, Temple J. Medication adherence interventions for heart failure patients: A meta-analysis. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2015;14(5):395-404.
- Ruppar TM, Dunbar-Jacob JM, Mehr DR, Lewis L, Conn VS. Medication adherence interventions among hypertensive black adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hypertens. 2017;35(6):1145-1154.
- 53. Sakakibara BM, Kim AJ, Eng JJ. A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis on Self-Management for Improving Risk Factor Control in Stroke Patients. Int J Behav Med. 2017;24(1):42-53.
- Santo K, Kirkendall S, Laba TL, et al. Interventions to improve medication adherence in coronary disease patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2016;23(10):1065-1076.
- Simoni JM, Pearson CR, Pantalone DW, Marks G, Crepaz N. Efficacy of interventions in improving highly active antiretroviral therapy adherence and HIV-1 RNA viral load. A metaanalytic review of randomized controlled trials. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2006;43 Suppl 1:S23-35.
- 56. Sin NL, DiMatteo MR. Depression treatment enhances adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a meta-analysis. Ann Behav Med. 2014;47(3):259-269.
- Spaan P, van Luenen S, Garnefski N, Kraaij V. Psychosocial interventions enhance HIV medication adherence: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of health psychology. 2018:1359105318755545.
- 58. Takiya LN, Peterson AM, Finley RS. Meta-analysis of interventions for medication adherence to antihypertensives. Ann Pharmacother. 2004;38(10):1617-1624.
- 59. Tao D, Xie L, Wang T, Wang T. A meta-analysis of the use of electronic reminders for patient adherence to medication in chronic disease care. J Telemed Telecare. 2015;21(1):3-13.
- 60. Thakkar J, Kurup R, Laba TL, et al. Mobile Telephone Text Messaging for Medication Adherence in Chronic Disease: A Meta-analysis. JAMA Intern Med. 2016;176(3):340-349.
- 61. Tsoli S, Sutton S, Kassavou A. Interactive voice response interventions targeting behaviour change: a systematic literature review with meta-analysis and meta-regression. BMJ open. 2018;8(2):e018974.
- 62. Van Camp YP, Van Rompaey B, Elseviers MM. Nurse-led interventions to enhance adherence to chronic medication: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2013;69(4):761-770.
- van Driel ML, Morledge MD, Ulep R, Shaffer JP, Davies P, Deichmann R. Interventions to improve adherence to lipid-lowering medication. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;12:CD004371.
- 64. van Galen KA, Nellen JF, Nieuwkerk PT. The Effect on Treatment Adherence of Administering Drugs as Fixed-Dose Combinations versus as Separate Pills: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. AIDS Res Treat. 2014;2014:967073.
- 65. Vignon Zomahoun HT, de Bruin M, Guillaumie L, et al. Effectiveness and Content Analysis of Interventions to Enhance Oral Antidiabetic Drug Adherence in Adults with Type 2 Diabetes: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Value Health. 2015;18(4):530-540.
- 66. Wald DS, Butt S, Bestwick JP. One-way versus two-way text messaging on improving medication adherence: meta-analysis of randomized trials. Am J Med. 2015;128(10):1139 e1131-1135.
- Zhu Y, Zhou Y, Zhang L, Zhang J, Lin J. Efficacy of interventions for adherence to the immunosuppressive therapy in kidney transplant recipients: a meta-analysis and systematic review. J Investig Med. 2017;65(7):1049-1056.

- 68. Zomahoun HTV, Guenette L, Gregoire JP, et al. Effectiveness of motivational interviewing interventions on medication adherence in adults with chronic diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Epidemiol. 2017;46(2):589-602.
- 69. Zou H, Li Z, Nolan MT, Arthur D, Wang H, Hu L. Self-management education interventions for persons with schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. Int J Ment Health Nurs. 2013;22(3):256-271.

f. References from all included original studies in qualitative review

- 1. Adeyemo A, Tayo BO, Luke A, Ogedegbe O, Durazo-Arvizu R, Cooper RS. The Nigerian antihypertensive adherence trial: a community-based randomized trial. J Hypertens. 2013;31(1):201-207.
- 2. Aguwa CN, Ukwe CV, Ekwunife OI. Effect of pharmaceutical care programme on blood pressure and quality of life in a Nigerian pharmacy. Pharm World Sci. 2008;30(1):107-110.
- Alhalaiqa F, Deane KH, Nawafleh AH, Clark A, Gray R. Adherence therapy for medication noncompliant patients with hypertension: a randomised controlled trial. J Hum Hypertens. 2012;26(2):117-126.
- Aljumah K, Hassali MA. Impact of pharmacist intervention on adherence and measurable patient outcomes among depressed patients: a randomised controlled study. BMC Psychiatry. 2015;15:219.
- Al-Saffar N, Deshmukh AA, Carter P, Adib SM. Effect of information leaflets and counselling on antidepressant adherence: open randomised controlled trial in a psychiatric hospital in Kuwait. International Journal of Pharmacy Practice. 2005;13(2):123-131.
- 6. Altice FL, Maru DS, Bruce RD, Springer SA, Friedland GH. Superiority of directly administered antiretroviral therapy over self-administered therapy among HIV-infected drug users: a prospective, randomized, controlled trial. Clin Infect Dis. 2007;45(6):770-778.
- Amado Guirado E, Pujol Ribera E, Pacheco Huergo V, Borras JM. Knowledge and adherence to antihypertensive therapy in primary care: results of a randomized trial. Gac Sanit. 2011;25(1):62-67.
- Amado Guirado E, Pujol Ribera E, Pacheco Huergo V, Borras JM. Knowledge and adherence to antihypertensive therapy in primary care: results of a randomized trial. Gac Sanit. 2011;25(1):62-67.
- Anderson KH, Ford S, Robson D, Cassis J, Rodrigues C, Gray R. An exploratory, randomized controlled trial of adherence therapy for people with schizophrenia. Int J Ment Health Nurs. 2010;19(5):340-349.

- 10. Andrade AS, McGruder HF, Wu AW, et al. A programmable prompting device improves adherence to highly active antiretroviral therapy in HIV-infected subjects with memory impairment. Clin Infect Dis. 2005;41(6):875-882.
- 11. Andrejak M, Genes N, Vaur L, Poncelet P, Clerson P, Carre A. Electronic pill-boxes in the evaluation of antihypertensive treatment compliance: comparison of once daily versus twice daily regimen. Am J Hypertens. 2000;13(2):184-190.
- 12. Antoni MH, Carrico AW, Duran RE, et al. Randomized clinical trial of cognitive behavioral stress management on human immunodeficiency virus viral load in gay men treated with highly active antiretroviral therapy. Psychosom Med. 2006;68(1):143-151.
- 13. Antonicelli R, Mazzanti I, Abbatecola AM, Parati G. Impact of home patient telemonitoring on use of beta-blockers in congestive heart failure. Drugs Aging. 2010;27(10):801-805.
- Apter AJ, Wang X, Bogen DK, et al. Problem solving to improve adherence and asthma outcomes in urban adults with moderate or severe asthma: a randomized controlled trial. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2011;128(3):516-523 e511-515.
- 15. Armour C, Bosnic-Anticevich S, Brillant M, Burton D, Emmerton L, Krass I, et al. Pharmacy Asthma Care Program (PACP) improves outcomes for patients in the community. Thorax. 2007;62(6):496-502.
- 16. Arora S, Peters AL, Burner E, Lam CN, Menchine M. Trial to examine text message-based mHealth in emergency department patients with diabetes (TExT-MED): a randomized controlled trial. Ann Emerg Med. 2014;63(6):745-754 e746.
- 17. Asplund J, Danielson M, Ohman P. Patients compliance in hypertension--the importance of number of tablets. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1984;17(5):547-552.
- 18. Azrin NH, Teichner G. Evaluation of an instructional program for improving medication compliance for chronically mentally ill outpatients. Behav Res Ther. 1998;36(9):849-861.
- 19. Babamoto KS, Sey KA, Camilleri AJ, Karlan VJ, Catalasan J, Morisky DE. Improving diabetes care and health measures among hispanics using community health workers: results from a randomized controlled trial. Health Educ Behav. 2009;36(1):113-126.
- 20. Bailey B, Carney SL, Gillies AA, Smith AJ. Antihypertensive drug treatment: a comparison of usual care with self blood pressure measurement. J Hum Hypertens. 1999;13(2):147-150.
- Bailey WC, Richards JM, Jr., Brooks CM, Soong SJ, Windsor RA, Manzella BA. A randomized trial to improve self-management practices of adults with asthma. Arch Intern Med. 1990;150(8):1664-1668.
- 22. Baird MG, Bentley-Taylor MM, Carruthers SG, et al. A study of efficacy, tolerance and compliance of once-daily versus twice-daily metoprolol (Betaloc) in hypertension. Betaloc Compliance Canadian Cooperative Study Group. Clin Invest Med. 1984;7(2):95-102.
- Ball JR, Mitchell PB, Corry JC, Skillecorn A, Smith M, Malhi GS. A randomized controlled trial of cognitive therapy for bipolar disorder: focus on long-term change. J Clin Psychiatry. 2006;67(2):277-286.
- 24. Basso CR, Helena ET, Caraciolo JM, Paiva V, Nemes MI. Exploring ART intake scenes in a human rights-based intervention to improve adherence: a randomized controlled trial. AIDS and behavior. 2013;17(1):181-92.
- Begley S, Livingstone C, Hodges N, Williamson V. Impact of domiciliary pharmacy visits on medication management in an elderly population. International Journal of Pharmacy Practice. 1997;5(3):111-121.
- 26. Bender BG, Apter A, Bogen DK, et al. Test of an interactive voice response intervention to improve adherence to controller medications in adults with asthma. J Am Board Fam Med. 2010;23(2):159-165.

- 27. Berg J, Dunbar-Jacob J, Sereika SM. An evaluation of a self-management program for adults with asthma. Clin Nurs Res. 1997;6(3):225-238.
- Berg KM, Litwin A, Li X, Heo M, Arnsten JH. Directly observed antiretroviral therapy improves adherence and viral load in drug users attending methadone maintenance clinics: a randomized controlled trial. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2011;113(2-3):192-199.
- Berger S, Schad T, von Wyl V, et al. Effects of cognitive behavioral stress management on HIV-1 RNA, CD4 cell counts and psychosocial parameters of HIV-infected persons. AIDS. 2008;22(6):767-775.
- Bessa AB, Felipe CR, Hannun P, et al. Prospective Randomized Trial Investigating the Influence of Pharmaceutical Care on the Intra-Individual Variability of Tacrolimus Concentrations Early After Kidney Transplant. Ther Drug Monit. 2016;38(4):447-455.
- Beune EJ, Moll van Charante EP, Beem L, et al. Culturally adapted hypertension education (CAHE) to improve blood pressure control and treatment adherence in patients of African origin with uncontrolled hypertension: cluster-randomized trial. PLoS One. 2014;9(3):e90103.
- 32. Bisharat B, Hafi L, Baron-Epel O, Armaly Z, Bowirrat A. Pharmacist counseling to cardiac patients in Israel prior to discharge from hospital contribute to increasing patient's medication adherence closing gaps and improving outcomes. J Transl Med. 2012;10:34.
- 33. Blenkinsopp A, Phelan M, Bourne J, Dakhil N. Extended adherence support by community pharmacists for patients with hypertension: a randomised controlled trial. International Journal of Pharmacy Practice. 2000;8(3):165-175.
- 34. Bobrow K, Farmer AJ, Springer D, et al. Mobile Phone Text Messages to Support Treatment Adherence in Adults With High Blood Pressure (SMS-Text Adherence Support [StAR]): A Single-Blind, Randomized Trial. Circulation. 2016;133(6):592-600.
- 35. Bogner HR, de Vries HF. Integration of depression and hypertension treatment: a pilot, randomized controlled trial. Ann Fam Med. 2008;6(4):295-301.
- 36. Bogner HR, de Vries HF. Integrating type 2 diabetes mellitus and depression treatment among African Americans: a randomized controlled pilot trial. Diabetes Educ. 2010;36(2):284-292.
- 37. Bogner HR, Morales KH, de Vries HF, Cappola AR. Integrated management of type 2 diabetes mellitus and depression treatment to improve medication adherence: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Fam Med. 2012;10(1):15-22.
- Boissel JP, Meillard O, Perrin-Fayolle E, et al. Comparison between a bid and a tid regimen: improved compliance with no improved antihypertensive effect. The EOL Research Group. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 1996;50(1-2):63-67.
- Bosworth HB, Olsen MK, Neary A, et al. Take Control of Your Blood Pressure (TCYB) study: a multifactorial tailored behavioral and educational intervention for achieving blood pressure control. Patient Educ Couns. 2008;70(3):338-347.
- Bouvy ML, Heerdink ER, Urquhart J, Grobbee DE, Hoes AW, Leufkens HG. Effect of a pharmacistled intervention on diuretic compliance in heart failure patients: a randomized controlled study. J Card Fail. 2003;9(5):404-411.
- Bove AA, Homko CJ, Santamore WP, Kashem M, Kerper M, Elliott DJ. Managing hypertension in urban underserved subjects using telemedicine--a clinical trial. Am Heart J. 2013;165(4):615-621.
- 42. Boyle BA, Jayaweera D, Witt MD, Grimm K, Maa JF, Seekins DW. Randomization to once-daily stavudine extended release/lamivudine/efavirenz versus a more frequent regimen improves adherence while maintaining viral suppression. HIV Clin Trials. 2008;9(3):164-176.
- 43. Brankin E, Walker M, Lynch N, Aspray T, Lis Y, Cowell W. The impact of dosing frequency on compliance and persistence with bisphosphonates among postmenopausal women in the UK: evidence from three databases. Curr Med Res Opin. 2006;22(7):1249-1256.

- 44. Broekhuizen K, van Poppel MN, Koppes LL, Kindt I, Brug J, van Mechelen W. Can multiple lifestyle behaviours be improved in people with familial hypercholesterolemia? Results of a parallel randomised controlled trial. PLoS One. 2012;7(12):e50032.
- 45. Brook OH, van Hout H, Stalman W, et al. A pharmacy-based coaching program to improve adherence to antidepressant treatment among primary care patients. Psychiatr Serv. 2005;56(4):487-489.
- Brown BG, Bardsley J, Poulin D, et al. Moderate Dose, Three-Drug Therapy With Niacin, Lovastatin, and Colestipol to Reduce Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol <100 mg/dl in Patients With Hyperlipidemia and Coronary Artery Disease. The American Journal of Cardiology. 1997;80(2):111-115.
- 47. Brown I, Sheeran P, Reuber M. Enhancing antiepileptic drug adherence: a randomized controlled trial. Epilepsy Behav. 2009;16(4):634-639.
- 48. Burrelle TN. Evaluation of an interdisciplinary compliance service for elderly hypertensives. Journal of Geriatric Drug Therapy. 1986;1(2):23-51.
- 49. Calvert SB, Kramer JM, Anstrom KJ, Kaltenbach LA, Stafford JA, Allen LaPointe NM. Patientfocused intervention to improve long-term adherence to evidence-based medications: a randomized trial. Am Heart J. 2012;163(4):657-665 e651.
- Capoccia KL, Boudreau DM, Blough DK, et al. Randomized trial of pharmacist interventions to improve depression care and outcomes in primary care. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2004;61(4):364-372.
- 51. Carrico AW, Antoni MH, Duran RE, Ironson G, Penedo F, Fletcher MA, et al. Reductions in depressed mood and denial coping during cognitive behavioral stress management with HIV-Positive gay men treated with HAART. Annals of behavioral medicine : a publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine. 2006;31(2):155-64.
- Carter BL, Doucette WR, Franciscus CL, Ardery G, Kluesner KM, Chrischilles EA. Deterioration in BP Control Following Discontinuation of a Physician/Pharmacist Collaborative Intervention. Pharmacotherapy. 2010;30(3):228-235.
- 53. Castellano JM, Sanz G, Penalvo JL, et al. A polypill strategy to improve adherence: results from the FOCUS project. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;64(20):2071-2082.
- 54. Castle D, Berk M, Berk L, Lauder S, Chamberlain J, Gilbert M. Pilot of group intervention for bipolar disorder. Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract. 2007;11(4):279-284.
- Chaisson RE, Barnes GL, Hackman J, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of interventions to improve adherence to isoniazid therapy to prevent tuberculosis in injection drug users. Am J Med. 2001;110(8):610-615.
- 56. Chan SS, Leung DY, Abdullah AS, et al. Smoking-cessation and adherence intervention among Chinese patients with erectile dysfunction. Am J Prev Med. 2010;39(3):251-258.
- 57. Chan SS, Leung DY, Abdullah AS, Wong VT, Hedley AJ, Lam TH. A randomized controlled trial of a smoking reduction plus nicotine replacement therapy intervention for smokers not willing to quit smoking. Addiction. 2011;106(6):1155-1163.
- 58. Chang LW, Kagaayi J, Nakigozi G, et al. Effect of peer health workers on AIDS care in Rakai, Uganda: a cluster-randomized trial. PLoS One. 2010;5(6):e10923.
- Charles T, Quinn D, Weatherall M, Aldington S, Beasley R, Holt S. An audiovisual reminder function improves adherence with inhaled corticosteroid therapy in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2007;119(4):811-816.
- Chatkin JM, Blanco DC, Scaglia N, Wagner MB, Fritscher CC. Impact of a low-cost and simple intervention in enhancing treatment adherence in a Brazilian asthma sample. J Asthma. 2006;43(4):263-266.

- 61. Cheung R, Sullens CM, Seal D, et al. The paradox of using a 7 day antibacterial course to treat urinary tract infections in the community. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1988;26(4):391-398.
- 62. Chien WT, Mui JH, Cheung EF, Gray R. Effects of motivational interviewing-based adherence therapy for schizophrenia spectrum disorders: a randomized controlled trial. Trials. 2015;16:270.
- Chisholm MA, Mulloy LL, Jagadeesan M, DiPiro JT. Impact of clinical pharmacy services on renal transplant patients' compliance with immunosuppressive medications. Clin Transplant. 2001;15(5):330-336.
- 64. Choudhry NK, Avorn J, Glynn RJ, et al. Full coverage for preventive medications after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(22):2088-2097.
- 65. Cizmic AD, Heilmann RM, Milchak JL, Riggs CS, Billups SJ. Impact of interactive voice response technology on primary adherence to bisphosphonate therapy: a randomized controlled trial. Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA. 2015;26(8):2131-6.
- Claborn KR, Leffingwell TR, Miller MB, Meier E, Stephens JR. Pilot study examining the efficacy of an electronic intervention to promote HIV medication adherence. AIDS care. 2014;26(3):404-9.
- 67. Clowes JA, Peel NF, Eastell R. The impact of monitoring on adherence and persistence with antiresorptive treatment for postmenopausal osteoporosis: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89(3):1117-1123.
- 68. Cochran SD. Preventing medical noncompliance in the outpatient treatment of bipolar affective disorders. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1984;52(5):873-878.
- 69. Cohen CJ, Kubota M, Brachman PS, et al. Short-term safety and tolerability of a once-daily fixeddose abacavir-lamivudine combination versus twice-daily dosing of abacavir and lamivudine as separate components: findings from the ALOHA study. Pharmacotherapy. 2008;28(3):314-322.
- 70. Cole P, Emmanuel. Drug consultation: its significance to the discharged hospital patient and its relevance as a role for the pharmacist. Am J Hosp Pharm. 1971;28(12):954-960.
- Collier AC, Ribaudo H, Mukherjee AL, Feinberg J, Fischl MA, Chesney M. A randomized study of serial telephone call support to increase adherence and thereby improve virologic outcome in persons initiating antiretroviral therapy. J Infect Dis. 2005;192(8):1398-1406.
- 72. Cordasco KM, Asch SM, Bell DS, et al. A low-literacy medication education tool for safety-net hospital patients. Am J Prev Med. 2009;37(6 Suppl 1):S209-216.
- Cossette S, Frasure-Smith N, Dupuis J, Juneau M, Guertin MC. Randomized controlled trial of tailored nursing interventions to improve cardiac rehabilitation enrollment. Nursing research. 2012;61(2):111-20.
- Cramer J, Vachon L, Desforges C, Sussman NM. Dose frequency and dose interval compliance with multiple antiepileptic medications during a controlled clinical trial. Epilepsia. 1995;36(11):1111-1117.
- Cramer JA, Amonkar MM, Hebborn A, Altman R. Compliance and persistence with bisphosphonate dosing regimens among women with postmenopausal osteoporosis. Curr Med Res Opin. 2005;21(9):1453-1460.
- Cramer JA, Lynch NO, Gaudin AF, Walker M, Cowell W. The effect of dosing frequency on compliance and persistence with bisphosphonate therapy in postmenopausal women: a comparison of studies in the United States, the United Kingdom, and France. Clin Ther. 2006;28(10):1686-1694.
- 77. Cramer JA, Rosenheck R. Enhancing medication compliance for people with serious mental illness. J Nerv Ment Dis. 1999;187(1):53-55.

- Crockett J, Taylor S, Grabham A, Stanford P. Patient outcomes following an intervention involving community pharmacists in the management of depression. Aust J Rural Health. 2006;14(6):263-269.
- 79. Crome P, Curl B, Boswell M, Corless D, Lewis RR. Assessment of a new calendar pack--the 'C-Pak'. Age Ageing. 1982;11(4):275-279.
- 80. da Costa TM, Barbosa BJ, Gomes e Costa DA, et al. Results of a randomized controlled trial to assess the effects of a mobile SMS-based intervention on treatment adherence in HIV/AIDSinfected Brazilian women and impressions and satisfaction with respect to incoming messages. Int J Med Inform. 2012;81(4):257-269.
- de Bruin M, Hospers HJ, van Breukelen GJ, Kok G, Koevoets WM, Prins JM. Electronic monitoring-based counseling to enhance adherence among HIV-infected patients: a randomized controlled trial. Health Psychol. 2010;29(4):421-428.
- Delmas PD, Vrijens B, Eastell R, et al. Effect of monitoring bone turnover markers on persistence with risedronate treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(4):1296-1304.
- 83. Derose SF, Green K, Marrett E, et al. Automated outreach to increase primary adherence to cholesterol-lowering medications. JAMA Intern Med. 2013;173(1):38-43.
- Detry JM, Block P, De Backer G, Degaute JP. Patient compliance and therapeutic coverage: comparison of amlodipine and slow release nifedipine in the treatment of hypertension. The Belgian Collaborative Study Group. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 1995;47(6):477-481.
- 85. Dilorio C, McCarty F, Resnicow K, et al. Using motivational interviewing to promote adherence to antiretroviral medications: a randomized controlled study. AIDS Care. 2008;20(3):273-283.
- 86. Dilorio C, Reisinger EL, Yeager KA, McCarty F. A telephone-based self-management program for people with epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav. 2009;14(1):232-236.
- Dilorio C, Resnicow K, McDonnell M, Soet J, McCarty F, Yeager K. Using motivational interviewing to promote adherence to antiretroviral medications: a pilot study. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care. 2003;14(2):52-62.
- 88. Dogan S, Sabanciogullari S. The effects of patient education in lithium therapy on quality of life and compliance. Arch Psychiatr Nurs. 2003;17(6):270-275.
- D'Souza R, Piskulic D, Sundram S. A brief dyadic group based psychoeducation program improves relapse rates in recently remitted bipolar disorder: a pilot randomised controlled trial. J Affect Disord. 2010;120(1-3):272-276.
- 90. Du L, Dong P, Jia J, Li Z, Lai L, Yang X, et al. Impacts of intensive follow-up on the long-term prognosis of percutaneous coronary intervention in acute coronary syndrome patients a single center prospective randomized controlled study in a Chinese population. European journal of preventive cardiology. 2016;23(10):1077-85.
- 91. Dusing R, Handrock R, Klebs S, Tousset E, Vrijens B. Impact of supportive measures on drug adherence in patients with essential hypertension treated with valsartan: the randomized, open-label, parallel group study VALIDATE. J Hypertens. 2009;27(4):894-901.
- 92. Edworthy SM, Baptie B, Galvin D, et al. Effects of an enhanced secondary prevention program for patients with heart disease: a prospective randomized trial. Can J Cardiol. 2007;23(13):1066-1072.
- Edworthy SM, Devins GM. Improving medication adherence through patient education distinguishing between appropriate and inappropriate utilization. Patient Education Study Group. J Rheumatol. 1999;26(8):1793-1801.
- 94. Eker F, Harkin S. Effectiveness of six-week psychoeducation program on adherence of patients with bipolar affective disorder. J Affect Disord. 2012;138(3):409-416.

- 95. Elixhauser A, Eisen SA, Romeis JC, Homan SM. The effects of monitoring and feedback on compliance. Med Care. 1990;28(10):882-893.
- Elkjaer M, Shuhaibar M, Burisch J, et al. E-health empowers patients with ulcerative colitis: a randomised controlled trial of the web-guided 'Constant-care' approach. Gut. 2010;59(12):1652-1661.
- 97. Erickson SR, Ascione FJ, Kirking DM. Utility of electronic device for medication management in patients with hypertension: a pilot study. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003). 2005;45(1):88-91.
- Eron JJ, Feinberg J, Kessler HA, et al. Once-daily versus twice-daily lopinavir/ritonavir in antiretroviral-naive HIV-positive patients: a 48-week randomized clinical trial. J Infect Dis. 2004;189(2):265-272.
- Eron JJ, Yetzer ES, Ruane PJ, et al. Efficacy, safety, and adherence with a twice-daily combination lamivudine/zidovudine tablet formulation, plus a protease inhibitor, in HIV infection. AIDS. 2000;14(6):671-681.
- 100.Eshelman FN, Fitzloff J. Effect of packaging on patient compliance with an antihypertensive medication. Curr Ther Res Clin Exp. 1976;20(2):215-219.
- 101.Eussen SR, van der Elst ME, Klungel OH, et al. A pharmaceutical care program to improve adherence to statin therapy: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Pharmacother. 2010;44(12):1905-1913.
- 102. Evans CD, Eurich DT, Taylor JG, Blackburn DF. The Collaborative Cardiovascular Risk Reduction in Primary Care (CCARP) study. Pharmacotherapy. 2010;30(8):766-775.
- 103. Evans-Hudnall GL, Stanley MA, Clark AN, et al. Improving secondary stroke self-care among underserved ethnic minority individuals: a randomized clinical trial of a pilot intervention. J Behav Med. 2014;37(2):196-204.
- 104.Falces C, Lopez-Cabezas C, Andrea R, Arnau A, Ylla M, Sadurni J. [An educative intervention to improve treatment compliance and to prevent readmissions of elderly patients with heart failure]. Med Clin (Barc). 2008;131(12):452-456.
- 105.Farmer A, Hardeman W, Hughes D, et al. An explanatory randomised controlled trial of a nurseled, consultation-based intervention to support patients with adherence to taking glucose lowering medication for type 2 diabetes. BMC Fam Pract. 2012;13:30.
- 106.Farmer KC, Jacobs EW, Phillips CR. Long-term patient compliance with prescribed regimens of calcium channel blockers. Clin Ther. 1994;16(2):316-326; discussion 271-312.
- 107.Faulkner MA, Wadibia EC, Lucas BD, Hilleman DE. Impact of pharmacy counseling on compliance and effectiveness of combination lipid-lowering therapy in patients undergoing coronary artery revascularization: a randomized, controlled trial. Pharmacotherapy. 2000;20(4):410-416.
- 108.Fernandez S, Scales KL, Pineiro JM, Schoenthaler AM, Ogedegbe G. A senior center-based pilot trial of the effect of lifestyle intervention on blood pressure in minority elderly people with hypertension. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2008;56(10):1860-1866.
- 109. Finley PR, Rens HR, Pont JT, et al. Impact of a collaborative pharmacy practice model on the treatment of depression in primary care. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2002;59(16):1518-1526.
- 110. Finley PR, Rens HR, Pont JT, et al. Impact of a collaborative care model on depression in a primary care setting: a randomized controlled trial. Pharmacotherapy. 2003;23(9):1175-1185.
- 111.Fisher JD, Amico KR, Fisher WA, et al. Computer-based intervention in HIV clinical care setting improves antiretroviral adherence: the LifeWindows Project. AIDS Behav. 2011;15(8):1635-1646.
- 112.Foster JM, Usherwood T, Smith L, et al. Inhaler reminders improve adherence with controller treatment in primary care patients with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2014;134(6):1260-1268 e1263.

- 113. Friedberg JP, Rodriguez MA, Watsula ME, et al. Effectiveness of a tailored behavioral intervention to improve hypertension control: primary outcomes of a randomized controlled trial. Hypertension. 2015;65(2):440-446.
- 114. Friedman RH, Kazis LE, Jette A, et al. A telecommunications system for monitoring and counseling patients with hypertension. Impact on medication adherence and blood pressure control. Am J Hypertens. 1996;9(4 Pt 1):285-292.
- 115. Fulmer TT, Feldman PH, Kim TS, et al. An intervention study to enhance medication compliance in community-dwelling elderly individuals. J Gerontol Nurs. 1999;25(8):6-14.
- 116.Fyllingen G, Arnesen AR, Ronnevig J. Phenoxymethylpenicillin two or three times daily in bacterial upper respiratory tract infections: a blinded, randomized and controlled clinical study. Scand J Infect Dis. 1991;23(6):755-761.
- 117.Gabriel M, Gagnon JP, Bryan CK. Improved patients compliance through use of a daily drug reminder chart. Am J Public Health. 1977;67(10):968-969.
- 118.Gallant JE, DeJesus E, Arribas JR, et al. Tenofovir DF, emtricitabine, and efavirenz vs. zidovudine, lamivudine, and efavirenz for HIV. N Engl J Med. 2006;354(3):251-260.
- 119.Gamble J, Stevenson M, Heaney LG. A study of a multi-level intervention to improve nonadherence in difficult to control asthma. Respir Med. 2011;105(9):1308-1315.
- 120.Garcia MF, Bravin AM, Garcia PD, et al. Behavioral measures to reduce non-adherence in renal transplant recipients: a prospective randomized controlled trial. Int Urol Nephrol. 2015;47(11):1899-1905.
- 121.Garcia-Cardenas V, Sabater-Hernandez D, Kenny P, Martinez-Martinez F, Faus MJ, Benrimoj SI. Effect of a pharmacist intervention on asthma control. A cluster randomised trial. Respiratory medicine. 2013;107(9):1346-55.
- 122.Garnett WR, Davis LJ, McKenney JM, Steiner KC. Effect of telephone follow-up on medication compliance. Am J Hosp Pharm. 1981;38(5):676-679.
- 123.Gatwood J, Balkrishnan R, Erickson SR, An LC, Piette JD, Farris KB. The impact of tailored text messages on health beliefs and medication adherence in adults with diabetes: A randomized pilot study. Res Social Adm Pharm. 2016;12(1):130-140.
- 124.Gazmararian J, Jacobson KL, Pan Y, Schmotzer B, Kripalani S. Effect of a pharmacy-based health literacy intervention and patient characteristics on medication refill adherence in an urban health system. Ann Pharmacother. 2010;44(1):80-87.
- 125.Geiter LJ, O'Brien RJ, Combs DL, Snider DE, Jr. United States Public Health Service Tuberculosis Therapy Trial 21: preliminary results of an evaluation of a combination tablet of isoniazid, rifampin and pyrazinamide. Tubercle. 1987;68(2 Suppl):41-46.
- 126.Girvin B, McDermott BJ, Johnston GD. A comparison of enalapril 20 mg once daily versus 10 mg twice daily in terms of blood pressure lowering and patient compliance. J Hypertens. 1999;17(11):1627-1631.
- 127.Glanz K, Beck AD, Bundy L, et al. Impact of a health communication intervention to improve glaucoma treatment adherence. Results of the interactive study to increase glaucoma adherence to treatment trial. Arch Ophthalmol. 2012;130(10):1252-1258.
- 128.Goggin K, Gerkovich MM, Williams KB, et al. A randomized controlled trial examining the efficacy of motivational counseling with observed therapy for antiretroviral therapy adherence. AIDS Behav. 2013;17(6):1992-2001.
- 129.Golin CE, Earp J, Tien HC, Stewart P, Porter C, Howie L. A 2-arm, randomized, controlled trial of a motivational interviewing-based intervention to improve adherence to antiretroviral therapy (ART) among patients failing or initiating ART. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2006;42(1):42-51.
- 130.Gonzalez-Fernandez RA, Rivera M, Torres D, Quiles J, Jackson A. Usefulness of a systemic hypertension in-hospital educational program. Am J Cardiol. 1990;65(20):1384-1386.

- 131.Goodyer LI, Miskelly F, Milligan P. Does encouraging good compliance improve patients' clinical condition in heart failure? Br J Clin Pract. 1995;49(4):173-176.
- 132.Goswami NJ, Dekoven M, Kuznik A, et al. Impact of an integrated intervention program on atorvastatin adherence: a randomized controlled trial. Int J Gen Med. 2013;6:647-655.
- 133.Goujard C, Bernard N, Sohier N, et al. Impact of a patient education program on adherence to HIV medication: a randomized clinical trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2003;34(2):191-194.
- 134.Granger BB, Ekman I, Hernandez AF, et al. Results of the Chronic Heart Failure Intervention to Improve MEdication Adherence study: A randomized intervention in high-risk patients. Am Heart J. 2015;169(4):539-548.
- 135.Grant RW, Devita NG, Singer DE, Meigs JB. Improving adherence and reducing medication discrepancies in patients with diabetes. Ann Pharmacother. 2003;37(7-8):962-969.
- 136.Gray R, Leese M, Bindman J, et al. Adherence therapy for people with schizophrenia. European multicentre randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry. 2006;189:508-514.
- 137.Green BB, Anderson ML, Cook AJ, et al. e-Care for heart wellness: a feasibility trial to decrease blood pressure and cardiovascular risk. Am J Prev Med. 2014;46(4):368-377.
- 138.Greer DB, Ostwald SK. Improving adherence in African American women with uncontrolled hypertension. J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2015;30(4):311-318.
- 139.Gross R, Bellamy SL, Chapman J, et al. Managed problem solving for antiretroviral therapy adherence: a randomized trial. JAMA Intern Med. 2013;173(4):300-306.
- 140.Gross R, Tierney C, Andrade A, et al. Modified directly observed antiretroviral therapy compared with self-administered therapy in treatment-naive HIV-1-infected patients: a randomized trial. Arch Intern Med. 2009;169(13):1224-1232.
- 141.Gross R, Zheng L, La Rosa A, et al. Partner-Focused Adherence Intervention for Second-line Antiretroviral Therapy: A Multinational Randomized Trial (ACTG A5234). Lancet HIV. 2015;2(1):e12-e19.
- 142.Grymonpre RE, Williamson DA, Montgomery PR. Impact of a pharmaceutical care model for non-institutionalised elderly: results of a randomised, controlled trial. International Journal of Pharmacy Practice. 2001;9(4):235-241.
- 143.Gujral G, Winckel K, Nissen LM, Cottrell WN. Impact of community pharmacist intervention discussing patients' beliefs to improve medication adherence. Int J Clin Pharm. 2014;36(5):1048-1058.
- 144.Guthrie RM. The effects of postal and telephone reminders on compliance with pravastatin therapy in a national registry: results of the first myocardial infarction risk reduction program. Clin Ther. 2001;23(6):970-980.
- 145.Gwadry-Sridhar FH, Arnold JM, Zhang Y, Brown JE, Marchiori G, Guyatt G. Pilot study to determine the impact of a multidisciplinary educational intervention in patients hospitalized with heart failure. Am Heart J. 2005;150(5):982.
- 146.Hacihasanoglu R, Gozum S. The effect of patient education and home monitoring on medication compliance, hypertension management, healthy lifestyle behaviours and BMI in a primary health care setting. J Clin Nurs. 2011;20(5-6):692-705.
- 147. Hadji P, Blettner M, Harbeck N, Jackisch C, Luck HJ, Windemuth-Kieselbach C, et al. The Patient's Anastrozole Compliance to Therapy (PACT) Program: a randomized, in-practice study on the impact of a standardized information program on persistence and compliance to adjuvant endocrine therapy in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology. 2013;24(6):1505-12.
- 148. Hardy H, Kumar V, Doros G, et al. Randomized controlled trial of a personalized cellular phone reminder system to enhance adherence to antiretroviral therapy. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2011;25(3):153-161.

- 149. Hawkins DW, Fiedler FP, Douglas HL, Eschbach RC. Evaluation of a clinical pharmacist in caring for hypertensive and diabetic patients. Am J Hosp Pharm. 1979;36(10):1321-1325.
- 150. Haynes RB, Sackett DL, Gibson ES, et al. Improvement of medication compliance in uncontrolled hypertension. Lancet. 1976;1(7972):1265-1268.
- 151. Heisler M, Vijan S, Makki F, Piette JD. Diabetes control with reciprocal peer support versus nurse care management: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2010;153(8):507-515.
- 152. Henry A, Batey RG. Enhancing compliance not a prerequisite for effective eradication of Helicobacter pylori: the HelP Study. Am J Gastroenterol. 1999;94(3):811-815.
- 153.Hersch RK, Cook RF, Billings DW, et al. Test of a web-based program to improve adherence to HIV medications. AIDS Behav. 2013;17(9):2963-2976.
- 154. Hilleman DE, Mohiuddin SM, Lucas BD, Jr., Shinn B, Elsasser GN. Conversion from sustainedrelease to immediate-release calcium entry blockers: outcome in patients with mild-tomoderate hypertension. Clin Ther. 1993;15(6):1002-1010.
- 155. Hirsch JD, Gonzales M, Rosenquist A, Miller TA, Gilmer TP, Best BM. Antiretroviral therapy adherence, medication use, and health care costs during 3 years of a community pharmacy medication therapy management program for Medi-Cal beneficiaries with HIV/AIDS. J Manag Care Pharm. 2011;17(3):213-223.
- 156.Hirsch JD, Rosenquist A, Best BM, Miller TA, Gilmer TP. Evaluation of the first year of a pilot program in community pharmacy: HIV/AIDS medication therapy management for Medi-Cal beneficiaries. J Manag Care Pharm. 2009;15(1):32-41.
- 157.Ho LY, Camejo L, Kahook MY, Noecker R. Effect of audible and visual reminders on adherence in glaucoma patients using a commercially available dosing aid. Clin Ophthalmol. 2008;2(4):769-772.
- 158.Ho PM, Lambert-Kerzner A, Carey EP, et al. Multifaceted intervention to improve medication adherence and secondary prevention measures after acute coronary syndrome hospital discharge: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med. 2014;174(2):186-193.
- 159.Holstad MM, Dilorio C, Kelley ME, Resnicow K, Sharma S. Group motivational interviewing to promote adherence to antiretroviral medications and risk reduction behaviors in HIV infected women. AIDS Behav. 2011;15(5):885-896.
- 160.Holstad MM, Essien JE, Ekong E, Higgins M, Teplinskiy I, Adewuyi MF. Motivational groups support adherence to antiretroviral therapy and use of risk reduction behaviors in HIV positive Nigerian women: a pilot study. Afr J Reprod Health. 2012;16(3):14-27.
- 161.Holzemer WL, Bakken S, Portillo CJ, et al. Testing a nurse-tailored HIV medication adherence intervention. Nurs Res. 2006;55(3):189-197.
- 162. Homer D, Nightingale P, Jobanputra P. Providing patients with information about diseasemodifying anti-rheumatic drugs: Individually or in groups? A pilot randomized controlled trial comparing adherence and satisfaction. Musculoskeletal Care. 2009;7(2):78-92.
- 163.Hornnes N, Larsen K, Boysen G. Blood pressure 1 year after stroke: the need to optimize secondary prevention. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2011;20(1):16-23.
- 164.Horvath KJ, Oakes JM, Rosser BR, Danilenko G, Vezina H, Amico KR, et al. Feasibility, acceptability and preliminary efficacy of an online peer-to-peer social support ART adherence intervention. AIDS and behavior. 2013;17(6):2031-44.
- 165.Hosseininasab M, Jahangard-Rafsanjani Z, Mohagheghi A, et al. Self-monitoring of blood pressure for improving adherence to antihypertensive medicines and blood pressure control: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Hypertens. 2014;27(11):1339-1345.
- 166.Hunt JS, Siemienczuk J, Pape G, et al. A randomized controlled trial of team-based care: impact of physician-pharmacist collaboration on uncontrolled hypertension. J Gen Intern Med. 2008;23(12):1966-1972.

- 167.Ingersoll KS, Farrell-Carnahan L, Cohen-Filipic J, et al. A pilot randomized clinical trial of two medication adherence and drug use interventions for HIV+ crack cocaine users. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2011;116(1-3):177-187.
- 168. Interian A, Lewis-Fernandez R, Gara MA, Escobar JI. A randomized-controlled trial of an intervention to improve antidepressant adherence among Latinos with depression. Depress Anxiety. 2013;30(7):688-696.
- 169.Janson SL, Fahy JV, Covington JK, Paul SM, Gold WM, Boushey HA. Effects of individual selfmanagement education on clinical, biological, and adherence outcomes in asthma. Am J Med. 2003;115(8):620-626.
- 170.Jarab AS, Alqudah SG, Mukattash TL, Shattat G, Al-Qirim T. Randomized controlled trial of clinical pharmacy management of patients with type 2 diabetes in an outpatient diabetes clinic in Jordan. J Manag Care Pharm. 2012;18(7):516-526.
- 171.Jerant AF, Azari R, Martinez C, Nesbitt TS. A randomized trial of telenursing to reduce hospitalization for heart failure: patient-centered outcomes and nursing indicators. Home Health Care Serv Q. 2003;22(1):1-20.
- 172.Jiang X, Sit JW, Wong TK. A nurse-led cardiac rehabilitation programme improves health behaviours and cardiac physiological risk parameters: evidence from Chengdu, China. J Clin Nurs. 2007;16(10):1886-1897.
- 173.Johnson AL, Taylor DW, Sackett DL, Dunnett CW, Shimizu AG. Self-recording of blood pressure in the management of hypertension. Can Med Assoc J. 1978;119(9):1034-1039.
- 174.Johnson MO, Charlebois E, Morin SF, Remien RH, Chesney MA. Effects of a behavioral intervention on antiretroviral medication adherence among people living with HIV: the healthy living project randomized controlled study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2007;46(5):574-580.
- 175. Johnson MO, Dilworth SE, Taylor JM, Neilands TB. Improving coping skills for self-management of treatment side effects can reduce antiretroviral medication nonadherence among people living with HIV. Ann Behav Med. 2011;41(1):83-91.
- 176.Jones DL, Ishii M, LaPerriere A, et al. Influencing medication adherence among women with AIDS. AIDS Care. 2003;15(4):463-474.
- 177.Joost R, Dorje F, Schwitulla J, Eckardt KU, Hugo C. Intensified pharmaceutical care is improving immunosuppressive medication adherence in kidney transplant recipients during the first post-transplant year: a quasi-experimental study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2014;29(8):1597-1607.
- 178.Kalichman SC, Kalichman MO, Cherry C, et al. Brief behavioral self-regulation counseling for HIV treatment adherence delivered by cell phone: an initial test of concept trial. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2011;25(5):303-310.
- 179.Kamal AK, Shaikh Q, Pasha O, et al. A randomized controlled behavioral intervention trial to improve medication adherence in adult stroke patients with prescription tailored Short Messaging Service (SMS)-SMS4Stroke study. BMC Neurol. 2015;15:212.
- 180.Kardas P. Comparison of once daily versus twice daily oral nitrates in stable angina pectoris. Am J Cardiol. 2004;94(2):213-216.
- 181.Kardas P. Comparison of patient compliance with once-daily and twice-daily antibiotic regimens in respiratory tract infections: results of a randomized trial. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2007;59(3):531-536.
- 182.Kardas P. An education-behavioural intervention improves adherence to statins. In. Open Medicine. Vol 82013:580.
- 183.Katon W, Robinson P, Von Korff M, et al. A multifaceted intervention to improve treatment of depression in primary care. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1996;53(10):924-932.
- 184.Kauric-Klein Z. Improving blood pressure control in end stage renal disease through a supportive educative nursing intervention. Nephrol Nurs J. 2012;39(3):217-228.

- 185.Kellaway GS, McCrae E. The effect of counselling on compliance-failure in patient drug therapy. N Z Med J. 1979;89(631):161-165.
- 186.Kelly GR, Scott JE, Mamon J. Medication compliance and health education among outpatients with chronic mental disorders. Med Care. 1990;28(12):1181-1197.
- 187.Kertes J, Dushenat M, Vesterman JL, Lemberger J, Bregman J, Friedman N. Factors contributing to compliance with osteoporosis medication. Isr Med Assoc J. 2008;10(3):207-213.
- 188.Khonsari S, Subramanian P, Chinna K, Latif LA, Ling LW, Gholami O. Effect of a reminder system using an automated short message service on medication adherence following acute coronary syndrome. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2015;14(2):170-179.
- 189.Kim JI, Lee S, Kim JH. Effects of a web-based stroke education program on recurrence prevention behaviors among stroke patients: a pilot study. Health Educ Res. 2013;28(3):488-501.
- 190.Kim KB, Han HR, Huh B, Nguyen T, Lee H, Kim MT. The effect of a community-based self-help multimodal behavioral intervention in Korean American seniors with high blood pressure. Am J Hypertens. 2014;27(9):1199-1208.
- 191.Kim MT, Kim EY, Han HR, et al. Mail education is as effective as in-class education in hypertensive Korean patients. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2008;10(3):176-184.
- 192.Kiweewa FM, Wabwire D, Nakibuuka J, et al. Noninferiority of a task-shifting HIV care and treatment model using peer counselors and nurses among Ugandan women initiated on ART: evidence from a randomized trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;63(4):e125-132.
- 193.Klang SH, Ben-Amnon Y, Cohen Y, Barak Y. Community pharmacists' support improves antidepressant adherence in the community. Int Clin Psychopharmacol. 2015;30(6):316-319.
- 194.Klein A, Otto G, Kramer I. Impact of a pharmaceutical care program on liver transplant patients' compliance with immunosuppressive medication: a prospective, randomized, controlled trial using electronic monitoring. Transplantation. 2009;87(6):839-847.
- 195.Klein CE, Kastrissios H, Miller AA, et al. Pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and adherence to oral topotecan in myelodysplastic syndromes: a Cancer and Leukemia Group B study. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2006;57(2):199-206.
- 196.Koenig LJ, Pals SL, Bush T, Pratt Palmore M, Stratford D, Ellerbrock TV. Randomized controlled trial of an intervention to prevent adherence failure among HIV-infected patients initiating antiretroviral therapy. Health Psychol. 2008;27(2):159-169.
- 197.Kogos SC. Support Groups and Treatment Adherence in a Geriatric Outpatient Clinic. Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings. 2004;11(4):275-282.
- 198.Konkle-Parker DJ, Erlen JA, Dubbert PM, May W. Pilot testing of an HIV medication adherence intervention in a public clinic in the Deep South. J Am Acad Nurse Pract. 2012;24(8):488-498.
- 199.Konkle-Parker DJ, Amico KR, McKinney VE. Effects of an intervention addressing information, motivation, and behavioral skills on HIV care adherence in a southern clinic cohort. AIDS care. 2014;26(6):674-83.
- 200.Kooy MJ, van Wijk BLG, Heerdink ER, de Boer A, Bouvy ML. Does the use of an electronic reminder device with or without counseling improve adherence to lipid-lowering treatment? The results of a randomized controlled trial. Frontiers in Pharmacology. 2013;4:69.
- 201.Kopelowicz A, Zarate R, Gonzalez Smith V, Mintz J, Liberman RP. Disease management in Latinos with schizophrenia: a family-assisted, skills training approach. Schizophr Bull. 2003;29(2):211-227.
- 202.Kotowycz MA, Cosman TL, Tartaglia C, Afzal R, Syal RP, Natarajan MK. Safety and feasibility of early hospital discharge in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction--a prospective and randomized trial in low-risk primary percutaneous coronary intervention patients (the Safe-Depart Trial). Am Heart J. 2010;159(1):117 e111-116.

- 203.Kozuki Y, Schepp KG. Visual-feedback therapy for antipsychotic medication adherence. Int Clin Psychopharmacol. 2006;21(1):57-61.
- 204.Krier BP, Parker RD, Grayson D, Byrd G. Effect of diabetes education on glucose control. J La State Med Soc. 1999;151(2):86-92.
- 205.Kripalani S, Schmotzer B, Jacobson TA. Improving Medication Adherence through Graphically Enhanced Interventions in Coronary Heart Disease (IMAGE-CHD): a randomized controlled trial. J Gen Intern Med. 2012;27(12):1609-1617.
- 206.Kronish IM, Rieckmann N, Burg MM, Edmondson D, Schwartz JE, Davidson KW. The effect of enhanced depression care on adherence to risk-reducing behaviors after acute coronary syndromes: findings from the COPES trial. American heart journal. 2012;164(4):524-9.
- 207.Kronish IM, Goldfinger JZ, Negron R, et al. The Effect of Peer Education on Stroke Prevention: the Prevent Recurrence of All Inner-City Strokes through Education (PRAISE) Randomized Controlled Trial. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation. 2014;45(11):3330-3336.
- 208.Kruse W, Eggert-Kruse W, Rampmaier J, Runnebaum B, Weber E. Dosage frequency and drugcompliance behaviour--a comparative study on compliance with a medication to be taken twice or four times daily. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 1991;41(6):589-592.
- 209.Kurth AE, Spielberg F, Cleland CM, et al. Computerized counseling reduces HIV-1 viral load and sexual transmission risk: findings from a randomized controlled trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2014;65(5):611-620.
- 210.Lam DH, Bright J, Jones S, et al. Cognitive Therapy for Bipolar Illness—A Pilot Study of Relapse Prevention. Cognitive Therapy and Research. 2000;24(5):503-520.
- 211.Lam DH, Watkins ER, Hayward P, et al. A randomized controlled study of cognitive therapy for relapse prevention for bipolar affective disorder: outcome of the first year. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2003;60(2):145-152.
- 212.Laramee AS, Levinsky SK, Sargent J, Ross R, Callas P. Case management in a heterogeneous congestive heart failure population: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Intern Med. 2003;163(7):809-817.
- 213.Lavoie KL, Moullec G, Lemiere C, et al. Efficacy of brief motivational interviewing to improve adherence to inhaled corticosteroids among adult asthmatics: results from a randomized controlled pilot feasibility trial. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2014;8:1555-1569.
- 214.Lee JK, Grace KA, Taylor AJ. Effect of a pharmacy care program on medication adherence and persistence, blood pressure, and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2006;296(21):2563-2571.
- 215.Lee JY, Kusek JW, Greene PG, et al. Assessing medication adherence by pill count and electronic monitoring in the African American Study of Kidney Disease and Hypertension (AASK) Pilot Study. Am J Hypertens. 1996;9(8):719-725.
- 216.Lee M, Kemp JA, Canning A, Egan C, Tataronis G, Farraye FA. A randomized controlled trial of an enhanced patient compliance program for Helicobacter pylori therapy. Arch Intern Med. 1999;159(19):2312-2316.
- 217.Leenen FH, Wilson TW, Bolli P, et al. Patterns of compliance with once versus twice daily antihypertensive drug therapy in primary care: a randomized clinical trial using electronic monitoring. Can J Cardiol. 1997;13(10):914-920.
- 218.Lester RT, Ritvo P, Mills EJ, et al. Effects of a mobile phone short message service on antiretroviral treatment adherence in Kenya (WelTel Kenya1): a randomised trial. Lancet. 2010;376(9755):1838-1845.
- 219. Levin TP, Klibanov OM, Axelrod P, et al. A randomized trial of educational materials, pillboxes, and mailings to improve adherence with antiretroviral therapy in an inner city HIV clinic. JCOM. 2006;13(4).

- 220.Levine DM, Green LW, Deeds SG, Chwalow J, Russell RP, Finlay J. Health education for hypertensive patients. JAMA. 1979;241(16):1700-1703.
- 221.Lin EH, Von Korff M, Ciechanowski P, et al. Treatment adjustment and medication adherence for complex patients with diabetes, heart disease, and depression: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Fam Med. 2012;10(1):6-14.
- 222. Linkewich JA, Catalano RB, Flack HL. The Effect of Packaging and Instruction on Outpatient Compliance with Medication Regimens. Drug Intelligence & Clinical Pharmacy. 1974;8(1):10-15.
- 223.Lipton HL, Bird JA. The impact of clinical pharmacists' consultations on geriatric patients' compliance and medical care use: a randomized controlled trial. Gerontologist. 1994;34(3):307-315.
- 224.Logan AG, Milne BJ, Achber C, Campbell WA, Haynes RB. A comparison of community and occupationally provided antihypertensive care. J Occup Med. 1982;24(11):901-906.
- 225.Lopez Cabezas C, Falces Salvador C, Cubi Quadrada D, et al. Randomized clinical trial of a postdischarge pharmaceutical care program vs regular follow-up in patients with heart failure. Farm Hosp. 2006;30(6):328-342.
- 226.Lourenco LB, Rodrigues RC, Ciol MA, et al. A randomized controlled trial of the effectiveness of planning strategies in the adherence to medication for coronary artery disease. J Adv Nurs. 2014;70(7):1616-1628.
- 227.Lourens H, Woodward MC. Impact of a Medication Card on Compliance in Older People. Australian Journal on Ageing. 1994;13(2):72-76.
- 228.Lua PL, Neni WS. A randomised controlled trial of an SMS-based mobile epilepsy education system. J Telemed Telecare. 2013;19(1):23-28.
- 229.Lucas GM, Mullen BA, Galai N, et al. Directly administered antiretroviral therapy for HIVinfected individuals in opioid treatment programs: results from a randomized clinical trial. PLoS One. 2013;8(7):e68286.
- 230.Lv Y, Zhao H, Liang Z, et al. A mobile phone short message service improves perceived control of asthma: a randomized controlled trial. Telemed J E Health. 2012;18(6):420-426.
- 231.M A Jalal ZS, Smith F, Taylor D, Finlay K, Patel H, Antoniou S. Impact of pharmacy care upon adherence to cardiovascular medicines: a feasibility pilot controlled trial. European Journal of Hospital Pharmacy. 2016;23(5):250-6.
- 232.Ma C, Zhou Y, Zhou W, Huang C. Evaluation of the effect of motivational interviewing counselling on hypertension care. Patient Educ Couns. 2014;95(2):231-237.
- 233.Ma Y, Ockene IS, Rosal MC, Merriam PA, Ockene JK, Gandhi PJ. Randomized Trial of a Pharmacist-Delivered Intervention for Improving Lipid-Lowering Medication Adherence among Patients with Coronary Heart Disease. Cholesterol. 2010;2010:383281.
- 234. Macintosh PW, Pond GR, Pond BJ, Leung V, Siu LL. A comparison of patient adherence and preference of packaging method for oral anticancer agents using conventional pill bottles versus daily pill boxes. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl). 2007;16(4):380-386.
- 235. Mackenzie G, Ireland S, Moore S, et al. Tailored interventions to improve hypertension management after stroke or TIA--phase II (TIMS II). Can J Neurosci Nurs. 2013;35(1):27-34.
- 236.Maduka O, Tobin-West CI. Adherence counseling and reminder text messages improve uptake of antiretroviral therapy in a tertiary hospital in Nigeria. Niger J Clin Pract. 2013;16(3):302-308.
- 237.Magid DJ, Ho PM, Olson KL, et al. A multimodal blood pressure control intervention in 3 healthcare systems. Am J Manag Care. 2011;17(4):e96-103.
- 238.Malotte CK, Hollingshead JR, Larro M. Incentives vs outreach workers for latent tuberculosis treatment in drug users. Am J Prev Med. 2001;20(2):103-107.
- 239.Maneesriwongul W, Prajanket O-O, Saengcharnchai P. Effects of motivational interviewing or an educational video on knowledge about HIV/AIDS, health beliefs and antiretroviral medication

adherence among adult Thais with HIV/AIDS. Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research. 2012;16(2):124-137.

- 240. Margolin A, Avants SK, Warburton LA, Hawkins KA, Shi J. A randomized clinical trial of a manualguided risk reduction intervention for HIV-positive injection drug users. Health Psychol. 2003;22(2):223-228.
- 241. Markopoulos C, Neven P, Tanner M, Marty M, Kreienberg R, Atkins L, et al. Does patient education work in breast cancer? Final results from the global CARIATIDE study. Future oncology (London, England). 2015;11(2):205-17.
- 242. Marquez Contreras E, Casado Martinez JJ, Corchado Albalat Y, et al. [Efficacy of an intervention to improve treatment compliance in hyperlipidemias]. Aten Primaria. 2004;33(8):443-450.
- 243.Marquez Contreras E, Casado Martinez JJ, Corchado Albalat Y, et al. [Efficacy of an intervention to improve treatment compliance in hyperlipidemias]. Aten Primaria. 2004;33(8):443-450.
- 244. Márquez Contreras E, Joaquín Casado Martínez J, Motero Carrasco J, et al. El cumplimiento terapéutico en las dislipemias medido mediante monitores electrónicos. ¿Es eficaz un calendario recordatorio para evitar los olvidos? Atención Primaria. 2007;39(12):661-668.
- 245. Marquez Contreras E, Vegazo Garcia O, Martel Claros N, et al. Efficacy of telephone and mail intervention in patient compliance with antihypertensive drugs in hypertension. ETECUM-HTA study. Blood Press. 2005;14(3):151-158.
- 246.Martinot JB, Carr WD, Cullen S, et al. A comparative study of clarithromycin modified release and amoxicillin/clavulanic acid in the treatment of acute exacerbation of chronic bronchitis. Adv Ther. 2001;18(1):1-11.
- 247.Matsumura K, Arima H, Tominaga M, et al. Does a combination pill of antihypertensive drugs improve medication adherence in Japanese? A randomized controlled trial. Circ J. 2012;76(6):1415-1422.
- 248. Mbuagbaw L, Thabane L, Ongolo-Zogo P, et al. The Cameroon Mobile Phone SMS (CAMPS) trial: a randomized trial of text messaging versus usual care for adherence to antiretroviral therapy. PLoS One. 2012;7(12):e46909.
- 249.McGillicuddy JW, Gregoski MJ, Weiland AK, et al. Mobile Health Medication Adherence and Blood Pressure Control in Renal Transplant Recipients: A Proof-of-Concept Randomized Controlled Trial. JMIR Res Protoc. 2013;2(2):e32.
- 250.McKenney JM, Brown DE, Necsary R, Reavis HL. Effect of pharmacist drug monitoring and patient education on hypertensive patients. Contemporary Pharmacy Practice. 1978;1(2):50-56.
- 251.McKenney JM, Munroe WP, Wright JT, Jr. Impact of an electronic medication compliance aid on long-term blood pressure control. J Clin Pharmacol. 1992;32(3):277-283.
- 252.McKenney JM, Slining JM, Henderson HR, Devins D, Barr M. The effect of clinical pharmacy services on patients with essential hypertension. Circulation. 1973;48(5):1104-1111.
- 253.McKinstry B, Hanley J, Wild S, et al. Telemonitoring based service redesign for the management of uncontrolled hypertension: multicentre randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2013;346:f3030.
- 254.McPherson-Baker S, Malow RM, Penedo F, Jones DL, Schneiderman N, Klimas NG. Enhancing adherence to combination antiretroviral therapy in non-adherent HIV-positive men. AIDS Care. 2000;12(4):399-404.
- 255.Mehos BM, Saseen JJ, MacLaughlin EJ. Effect of pharmacist intervention and initiation of home blood pressure monitoring in patients with uncontrolled hypertension. Pharmacotherapy. 2000;20(11):1384-1389.
- 256.Mehuys E, Van Bortel L, De Bolle L, et al. Effectiveness of pharmacist intervention for asthma control improvement. Eur Respir J. 2008;31(4):790-799.
- 257. Migneault JP, Dedier JJ, Wright JA, et al. A culturally adapted telecommunication system to improve physical activity, diet quality, and medication adherence among hypertensive African-Americans: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Behav Med. 2012;43(1):62-73.
- 258. Miklowitz DJ, Simoneau TL, George EL, et al. Family-focused treatment of bipolar disorder: 1year effects of a psychoeducational program in conjunction with pharmacotherapy. Biol Psychiatry. 2000;48(6):582-592.
- 259.Miller P, Wikoff R, Garrett MJ, McMahon M, Smith T. Regimen compliance two years after myocardial infarction. Nurs Res. 1990;39(6):333-336.
- 260. Molina JM, Podsadecki TJ, Johnson MA, et al. A lopinavir/ritonavir-based once-daily regimen results in better compliance and is non-inferior to a twice-daily regimen through 96 weeks. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2007;23(12):1505-1514.
- 261.Mols RE, Jensen JM, Sand NP, et al. Visualization of Coronary Artery Calcification: Influence on Risk Modification. Am J Med. 2015;128(9):1023 e1023-1031.
- 262.Montes JM, Medina E, Gomez-Beneyto M, Maurino J. A short message service (SMS)-based strategy for enhancing adherence to antipsychotic medication in schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res. 2012;200(2-3):89-95.
- 263.Montori VM, Shah ND, Pencille LJ, et al. Use of a decision aid to improve treatment decisions in osteoporosis: the osteoporosis choice randomized trial. Am J Med. 2011;124(6):549-556.
- 264.Mooney M, Babb D, Jensen J, Hatsukami D. Interventions to increase use of nicotine gum: a randomized, controlled, single-blind trial. Nicotine Tob Res. 2005;7(4):565-579.
- 265.Mooney ME, Sayre SL, Hokanson PS, Stotts AL, Schmitz JM. Adding MEMS feedback to behavioral smoking cessation therapy increases compliance with bupropion: a replication and extension study. Addict Behav. 2007;32(4):875-880.
- 266. Moore JM, Shartle D, Faudskar L, Matlin OS, Brennan TA. Impact of a patient-centered pharmacy program and intervention in a high-risk group. J Manag Care Pharm. 2013;19(3):228-236.
- 267.Morales Suarez-Varela MT. [Study on the use of a smart pillbox to improve treatment compliance]. Aten Primaria. 2009;41(4):185-191.
- 268. Morgado M, Rolo S, Castelo-Branco M. Pharmacist intervention program to enhance hypertension control: a randomised controlled trial. Int J Clin Pharm. 2011;33(1):132-140.
- 269. Morisky DE, DeMuth NM, Field-Fass M, Green LW, Levine DM. Evaluation of family health education to build social support for long-term control of high blood pressure. Health Educ Q. 1985;12(1):35-50.
- 270. Morisky DE, Malotte CK, Choi P, et al. A patient education program to improve adherence rates with antituberculosis drug regimens. Health Educ Q. 1990;17(3):253-267.
- 271. Moshkovska T, Stone MA, Smith RM, Bankart J, Baker R, Mayberry JF. Impact of a tailored patient preference intervention in adherence to 5-aminosalicylic acid medication in ulcerative colitis: results from an exploratory randomized controlled trial. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2011;17(9):1874-1881.
- 272. Moss AC, Chaudhary N, Tukey M, et al. Impact of a patient-support program on mesalamine adherence in patients with ulcerative colitis--a prospective study. J Crohns Colitis. 2010;4(2):171-175.
- 273.Mugusi F, Mugusi S, Bakari M, et al. Enhancing adherence to antiretroviral therapy at the HIV clinic in resource constrained countries; the Tanzanian experience. Trop Med Int Health. 2009;14(10):1226-1232.
- 274.Muir KW, Ventura A, Stinnett SS, Enfiedjian A, Allingham RR, Lee PP. The influence of health literacy level on an educational intervention to improve glaucoma medication adherence. Patient Educ Couns. 2012;87(2):160-164.

- 275. Munoz M, Finnegan K, Zeladita J, et al. Community-based DOT-HAART accompaniment in an urban resource-poor setting. AIDS Behav. 2010;14(3):721-730.
- 276.Murphy DA, Lu MC, Martin D, Hoffman D, Marelich WD. Results of a pilot intervention trial to improve antiretroviral adherence among HIV-positive patients. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care. 2002;13(6):57-69.
- 277. Murphy DA, Marelich WD, Rappaport NB, Hoffman D, Farthing C. Results of an Antiretroviral Adherence Intervention: STAR (Staying Healthy: Taking Antiretrovirals Regularly). J Int Assoc Physicians AIDS Care (Chic). 2007;6(2):113-124.
- 278. Murray MD, Birt JA, Manatunga AK, Darnell JC. Medication compliance in elderly outpatients using twice-daily dosing and unit-of-use packaging. Ann Pharmacother. 1993;27(5):616-621.
- 279.Murray MD, Young J, Hoke S, et al. Pharmacist intervention to improve medication adherence in heart failure: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2007;146(10):714-725.
- 280.Nachega JB, Chaisson RE, Goliath R, et al. Randomized controlled trial of trained patientnominated treatment supporters providing partial directly observed antiretroviral therapy. AIDS. 2010;24(9):1273-1280.
- 281.Najafi SS, Shaabani M, Momennassab M, Aghasadeghi K. The Nurse-Led Telephone Follow-Up on Medication and Dietary Adherence among Patients after Myocardial Infarction: A Randomized Controlled Clinical Trial. International journal of community based nursing and midwifery. 2016;4(3):199-208.
- 282.Nance N, Pendo P, Masanja J, Ngilangwa DP, Webb K, Noronha R, et al. Short-term effectiveness of a community health worker intervention for HIV-infected pregnant women in Tanzania to improve treatment adherence and retention in care: A cluster-randomized trial. PloS one. 2017;12(8):e0181919.
- 283.Nazareth I, Burton A, Shulman S, Smith P, Haines A, Timberal H. A pharmacy discharge plan for hospitalized elderly patients--a randomized controlled trial. Age Ageing. 2001;30(1):33-40.
- 284.Nesari M, Zakerimoghadam M, Rajab A, Bassampour S, Faghihzadeh S. Effect of telephone follow-up on adherence to a diabetes therapeutic regimen. Jpn J Nurs Sci. 2010;7(2):121-128.
- 285.Nessman DG, Carnahan JE, Nugent CA. Increasing compliance. Patient-operated hypertension groups. Arch Intern Med. 1980;140(11):1427-1430.
- 286.Nielsen D, Ryg J, Nielsen W, Knold B, Nissen N, Brixen K. Patient education in groups increases knowledge of osteoporosis and adherence to treatment: a two-year randomized controlled trial. Patient Educ Couns. 2010;81(2):155-160.
- 287.Nieuwkerk PT, Nierman MC, Vissers MN, et al. Intervention to improve adherence to lipidlowering medication and lipid-levels in patients with an increased cardiovascular risk. Am J Cardiol. 2012;110(5):666-672.
- 288.Nollen NL, Cox LS, Nazir N, et al. A pilot clinical trial of varenicline for smoking cessation in black smokers. Nicotine Tob Res. 2011;13(9):868-873.
- 289.Nunes EV, Rothenberg JL, Sullivan MA, Carpenter KM, Kleber HD. Behavioral therapy to augment oral naltrexone for opioid dependence: a ceiling on effectiveness? Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse. 2006;32(4):503-517.
- 290.O'Carroll RE, Chambers JA, Dennis M, Sudlow C, Johnston M. Improving adherence to medication in stroke survivors: a pilot randomised controlled trial. Ann Behav Med. 2013;46(3):358-368.
- 291.O'Connor PJ, Schmittdiel JA, Pathak RD, et al. Randomized trial of telephone outreach to improve medication adherence and metabolic control in adults with diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(12):3317-3324.
- 292.Odegard PS, Christensen DB. MAP study: RCT of a medication adherence program for patients with type 2 diabetes. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003). 2012;52(6):753-762.

- 293.Ogedegbe G, Chaplin W, Schoenthaler A, et al. A practice-based trial of motivational interviewing and adherence in hypertensive African Americans. Am J Hypertens. 2008;21(10):1137-1143.
- 294.Ogedegbe G, Tobin JN, Fernandez S, et al. Counseling African Americans to Control Hypertension (CAATCH): Cluster Randomized Clinical Trial Main Effects. Circulation. 2014;129(20):2044-2051.
- 295.Ogedegbe GO, Boutin-Foster C, Wells MT, et al. A randomized controlled trial of positive-affect intervention and medication adherence in hypertensive African Americans. Arch Intern Med. 2012;172(4):322-326.
- 296.Okeke CO, Quigley HA, Jampel HD, et al. Interventions improve poor adherence with once daily glaucoma medications in electronically monitored patients. Ophthalmology. 2009;116(12):2286-2293.
- 297.Oliver S, Jones J, Leonard D, Crabbe A, Delkhah Y, Nesbitt S. Improving adherence with amlodipine/atorvastatin therapy: IMPACT study. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2011;13(8):598-604.
- 298.Ollivier L, Romand O, Marimoutou C, et al. Use of short message service (SMS) to improve malaria chemoprophylaxis compliance after returning from a malaria endemic area. Malar J. 2009;8:236.
- 299.Onyirimba F, Apter A, Reisine S, et al. Direct clinician-to-patient feedback discussion of inhaled steroid use: its effect on adherence. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2003;90(4):411-415.
- 300.Östbring MJ, Eriksson T, Petersson G, Hellström L. Medication beliefs and self-reported adherence–results of a pharmacist's consultation: a pilot study. European Journal of Hospital Pharmacy: Science and Practice. 2014;21(2):102-107.
- 301.Pagoto SL, McDermott MM, Reed G, et al. Can attention control conditions have detrimental effects on behavioral medicine randomized trials? Psychosom Med. 2013;75(2):137-143.
- 302.Palacio AM, Uribe C, Hazel-Fernandez L, et al. Can phone-based motivational interviewing improve medication adherence to antiplatelet medications after a coronary stent among racial minorities? A randomized trial. J Gen Intern Med. 2015;30(4):469-475.
- 303.Park DC, Morrell RW, Frieske D, Kincaid D. Medication adherence behaviors in older adults: effects of external cognitive supports. Psychol Aging. 1992;7(2):252-256.
- 304.Park JJ, Kelly P, Carter BL, Burgess PP. Comprehensive pharmaceutical care in the chain setting. J Am Pharm Assoc (Wash). 1996;NS36(7):443-451.
- 305.Park LG, Howie-Esquivel J, Chung ML, Dracup K. A text messaging intervention to promote medication adherence for patients with coronary heart disease: a randomized controlled trial. Patient Educ Couns. 2014;94(2):261-268.
- 306.Park YH, Chang H, Kim J, Kwak JS. Patient-tailored self-management intervention for older adults with hypertension in a nursing home. J Clin Nurs. 2013;22(5-6):710-722.
- 307.Parsons JT, Golub SA, Rosof E, Holder C. Motivational interviewing and cognitive-behavioral intervention to improve HIV medication adherence among hazardous drinkers: a randomized controlled trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2007;46(4):443-450.
- 308.Pearson CR, Micek MA, Simoni JM, et al. Randomized control trial of peer-delivered, modified directly observed therapy for HAART in Mozambique. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2007;46(2):238-244.
- 309.Peltzer K, Ramlagan S, Jones D, Weiss SM, Fomundam H, Chanetsa L. Efficacy of a lay health worker led group antiretroviral medication adherence training among non-adherent HIVpositive patients in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa: results from a randomized trial. SAHARA J. 2012;9(4):218-226.

- 310.Peterson GM, McLean S, Millingen KS. A randomised trial of strategies to improve patient compliance with anticonvulsant therapy. Epilepsia. 1984;25(4):412-417.
- 311.Petrie KJ, Perry K, Broadbent E, Weinman J. A text message programme designed to modify patients' illness and treatment beliefs improves self-reported adherence to asthma preventer medication. Br J Health Psychol. 2012;17(1):74-84.
- 312. Piette JD, Weinberger M, Kraemer FB, McPhee SJ. Impact of automated calls with nurse followup on diabetes treatment outcomes in a Department of Veterans Affairs Health Care System: a randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Care. 2001;24(2):202-208.
- 313.Piette JD, Weinberger M, McPhee SJ, Mah CA, Kraemer FB, Crapo LM. Do automated calls with nurse follow-up improve self-care and glycemic control among vulnerable patients with diabetes? Am J Med. 2000;108(1):20-27.
- 314.Pladevall M, Brotons C, Gabriel R, et al. Multicenter cluster-randomized trial of a multifactorial intervention to improve antihypertensive medication adherence and blood pressure control among patients at high cardiovascular risk (the COM99 study). Circulation. 2010;122(12):1183-1191.
- 315.Pladevall M, Divine G, Wells KE, Resnicow K, Williams LK. A randomized controlled trial to provide adherence information and motivational interviewing to improve diabetes and lipid control. Diabetes Educ. 2015;41(1):136-146.
- 316.Planas LG, Crosby KM, Mitchell KD, Farmer KC. Evaluation of a hypertension medication therapy management program in patients with diabetes. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003). 2009;49(2):164-170.
- 317.Polack J, Jorgenson D, Robertson P. Evaluation of Different Methods of Providing Medication-Related Education to Patients following Myocardial Infarction. Canadian Pharmacists Journal / Revue des Pharmaciens du Canada. 2008;141(4):241-247.
- 318.Polsook R, Aungsuroch Y, Thongvichean T. The effect of self-efficacy enhancement program on medication adherence among post-acute myocardial infarction. Applied nursing research : ANR. 2016;32:67-72.
- 319.Pop-Eleches C, Thirumurthy H, Habyarimana JP, et al. Mobile phone technologies improve adherence to antiretroviral treatment in a resource-limited setting: a randomized controlled trial of text message reminders. AIDS. 2011;25(6):825-834.
- 320.Portsmouth SD, Osorio J, McCormick K, Gazzard BG, Moyle GJ. Better maintained adherence on switching from twice-daily to once-daily therapy for HIV: a 24-week randomized trial of treatment simplification using stavudine prolonged-release capsules. HIV Med. 2005;6(3):185-190.
- 321.Powell KM, Edgren B. Failure of educational videotapes to improve medication compliance in a health maintenance organization. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 1995;52(20):2196-2199.
- 322.Pradier C, Bentz L, Spire B, et al. Efficacy of an educational and counseling intervention on adherence to highly active antiretroviral therapy: French prospective controlled study. HIV Clin Trials. 2003;4(2):121-131.
- 323.Pullar T, Birtwell AJ, Wiles PG, Hay A, Feely MP. Use of a pharmacologic indicator to compare compliance with tablets prescribed to be taken once, twice, or three times daily. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1988;44(5):540-545.
- 324. Purcell DW, Latka MH, Metsch LR, et al. Results from a randomized controlled trial of a peermentoring intervention to reduce HIV transmission and increase access to care and adherence to HIV medications among HIV-seropositive injection drug users. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2007;46 Suppl 2:S35-47.
- 325.Put C, van den Bergh O, Lemaigre V, Demedts M, Verleden G. Evaluation of an individualised asthma programme directed at behavioural change. Eur Respir J. 2003;21(1):109-115.

- 326.Pyne JM, Fortney JC, Curran GM, et al. Effectiveness of collaborative care for depression in human immunodeficiency virus clinics. Arch Intern Med. 2011;171(1):23-31.
- 327.Qureshi NN, Hatcher J, Chaturvedi N, Jafar TH. Effect of general practitioner education on adherence to antihypertensive drugs: cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2007;335(7628):1030.
- 328. Rabenda V, Mertens R, Fabri V, et al. Adherence to bisphosphonates therapy and hip fracture risk in osteoporotic women. Osteoporos Int. 2008;19(6):811-818.
- 329.Rabenda V, Vanoverloop J, Fabri V, et al. Low incidence of anti-osteoporosis treatment after hip fracture. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2008;90(10):2142-2148.
- 330.Ramirez-Garcia P, Cote J. An individualized intervention to foster optimal antiretroviral treatment-taking behavior among persons living with HIV: a pilot randomized controlled trial. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care. 2012;23(3):220-232.
- 331.Rathbun RC, Farmer KC, Stephens JR, Lockhart SM. Impact of an adherence clinic on behavioral outcomes and virologic response in treatment of HIV infection: a prospective, randomized, controlled pilot study. Clin Ther. 2005;27(2):199-209.
- 332.Rawlings MK, Thompson MA, Farthing CF, et al. Impact of an educational program on efficacy and adherence with a twice-daily lamivudine/zidovudine/abacavir regimen in underrepresented HIV-infected patients. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2003;34(2):174-183.
- 333.Raynor DK, Booth TG, Blenkinsopp A. Effects of computer generated reminder charts on patients' compliance with drug regimens. BMJ. 1993;306(6886):1158-1161.
- 334.Rea MM, Tompson MC, Miklowitz DJ, Goldstein MJ, Hwang S, Mintz J. Family-focused treatment versus individual treatment for bipolar disorder: results of a randomized clinical trial. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2003;71(3):482-492.
- 335.Rehder TL, McCoy LK, Blackwell B, Whitehead W, Robinson A. Improving medication compliance by counseling and special prescription container. Am J Hosp Pharm. 1980;37(3):379-385.
- 336.Reinares M, Colom F, Sanchez-Moreno J, et al. Impact of caregiver group psychoeducation on the course and outcome of bipolar patients in remission: a randomized controlled trial. Bipolar Disord. 2008;10(4):511-519.
- 337.Remien RH, Stirratt MJ, Dolezal C, et al. Couple-focused support to improve HIV medication adherence: a randomized controlled trial. AIDS. 2005;19(8):807-814.
- 338.Reynolds NR, Testa MA, Su M, et al. Telephone support to improve antiretroviral medication adherence: a multisite, randomized controlled trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2008;47(1):62-68.
- 339.Rich MW, Beckham V, Wittenberg C, Leven CL, Freedland KE, Carney RM. A multidisciplinary intervention to prevent the readmission of elderly patients with congestive heart failure. N Engl J Med. 1995;333(18):1190-1195.
- 340.Rich MW, Gray DB, Beckham V, Wittenberg C, Luther P. Effect of a multidisciplinary intervention on medication compliance in elderly patients with congestive heart failure. Am J Med. 1996;101(3):270-276.
- 341.Rickles NM, Svarstad BL, Statz-Paynter JL, Taylor LV, Kobak KA. Pharmacist telemonitoring of antidepressant use: effects on pharmacist-patient collaboration. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003). 2005;45(3):344-353.
- 342. Rigsby MO, Rosen MI, Beauvais JE, et al. Cue-dose training with monetary reinforcement: pilot study of an antiretroviral adherence intervention. J Gen Intern Med. 2000;15(12):841-847.
- 343.Rinfret S, Lussier MT, Peirce A, et al. The impact of a multidisciplinary information technologysupported program on blood pressure control in primary care. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2009;2(3):170-177.

- 344.Rinfret S, Rodes-Cabau J, Bagur R, et al. Telephone contact to improve adherence to dual antiplatelet therapy after drug-eluting stent implantation. Heart. 2013;99(8):562-569.
- 345. Ringer J. Patient Persistency Project. JOURNALOFMANAGEDCAREPHARMAC[~]. 2001;7(1):50.
- 346.Robbins GK, Testa MA, Su M, et al. Site nurse-initiated adherence and symptom support telephone calls for HIV-positive individuals starting antiretroviral therapy, ACTG 5031: substudy of ACTG 384. HIV Clin Trials. 2013;14(5):235-253.
- 347.Robinson JD, Segal R, Lopez LM, Doty RE. Impact of a pharmaceutical care intervention on blood pressure control in a chain pharmacy practice. Ann Pharmacother. 2010;44(1):88-96.
- 348.Roden SM, Harvey PG, Mayer PP, Spence LI. Evaluation of two techniques to improve drug compliance in the elderly. Journal of Clinical & Experimental Gerontology. 1985;7(1):71-82.
- 349.Rosen MI, Dieckhaus K, McMahon TJ, et al. Improved adherence with contingency management. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2007;21(1):30-40.
- 350.Rotheram-Borus MJ, Swendeman D, Comulada WS, Weiss RE, Lee M, Lightfoot M. Prevention for substance-using HIV-positive young people: telephone and in-person delivery. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2004;37 Suppl 2:S68-77.
- 351.Rozenfeld V, Pflomm J-M, Singh KK, Bazil MK, Cheng JWM. Assessing the Impact of Medication Consultations with a Medication Event Monitoring System. Hospital Pharmacy. 1999;34(5):539-550.
- 352.Rubio-Valera M, March Pujol M, Fernandez A, et al. Evaluation of a pharmacist intervention on patients initiating pharmacological treatment for depression: a randomized controlled superiority trial. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2013;23(9):1057-1066.
- 353.Rudd P, Miller NH, Kaufman J, et al. Nurse management for hypertension. A systems approach. Am J Hypertens. 2004;17(10):921-927.
- 354.Ruiz I, Olry A, Lopez MA, Prada JL, Causse M. Prospective, randomized, two-arm controlled study to evaluate two interventions to improve adherence to antiretroviral therapy in Spain. Enferm Infecc Microbiol Clin. 2010;28(7):409-415.
- 355.Ruppar TM. Randomized pilot study of a behavioral feedback intervention to improve medication adherence in older adults with hypertension. J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2010;25(6):470-479.
- 356.Russell C, Conn V, Ashbaugh C, et al. Taking immunosuppressive medications effectively (TIMELink): a pilot randomized controlled trial in adult kidney transplant recipients. Clin Transplant. 2011;25(6):864-870.
- 357.Sabin LL, DeSilva MB, Hamer DH, et al. Using electronic drug monitor feedback to improve adherence to antiretroviral therapy among HIV-positive patients in China. AIDS Behav. 2010;14(3):580-589.
- 358.Sackett DL, Haynes RB, Gibson ES, et al. Randomised clinical trial of strategies for improving medication compliance in primary hypertension. Lancet. 1975;1(7918):1205-1207.
- 359.Sadik A, Yousif M, McElnay JC. Pharmaceutical care of patients with heart failure. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2005;60(2):183-193.
- 360.Saini B, Filipovska J, Bosnic-Anticevich S, Taylor S, Krass I, Armour C. An evaluation of a community pharmacy-based rural asthma management service. The Australian journal of rural health. 2008;16(2):100-8.
- 361.Safren SA, Hendriksen ES, Desousa N, Boswell SL, Mayer KH. Use of an on-line pager system to increase adherence to antiretroviral medications. AIDS Care. 2003;15(6):787-793.
- 362.Safren SA, O'Cleirigh C, Tan JY, et al. A randomized controlled trial of cognitive behavioral therapy for adherence and depression (CBT-AD) in HIV-infected individuals. Health Psychol. 2009;28(1):1-10.

- 363.Safren SA, O'Cleirigh CM, Bullis JR, Otto MW, Stein MD, Pollack MH. Cognitive behavioral therapy for adherence and depression (CBT-AD) in HIV-infected injection drug users: a randomized controlled trial. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2012;80(3):404-415.
- 364.Safren SA, Otto MW, Worth JL, et al. Two strategies to increase adherence to HIV antiretroviral medication: life-steps and medication monitoring. Behav Res Ther. 2001;39(10):1151-1162.
- 365.Sajatovic M, Davies MA, Ganocy SJ, et al. A comparison of the life goals program and treatment as usual for individuals with bipolar disorder. Psychiatr Serv. 2009;60(9):1182-1189.
- 366.Saleem F, Hassali MA, Shafie AA, et al. Pharmacist intervention in improving hypertensionrelated knowledge, treatment medication adherence and health-related quality of life: a nonclinical randomized controlled trial. Health Expect. 2015;18(5):1270-1281.
- 367.Samet JH, Horton NJ, Meli S, et al. A randomized controlled trial to enhance antiretroviral therapy adherence in patients with a history of alcohol problems. Antivir Ther. 2005;10(1):83-93.
- 368.Sampaio-Sa M, Page-Shafer K, Bangsberg DR, et al. 100% adherence study: educational workshops vs. video sessions to improve adherence among ART-naive patients in Salvador, Brazil. AIDS and Behavior. 2008;12(1):54-62.
- 369.Sarna A, Luchters S, Geibel S, et al. Short- and long-term efficacy of modified directly observed antiretroviral treatment in Mombasa, Kenya: a randomized trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2008;48(5):611-619.
- 370.Saunders LD, Irwig LM, Gear JS, Ramushu DL. A randomized controlled trial of compliance improving strategies in Soweto hypertensives. Med Care. 1991;29(7):669-678.
- 371.Schaffer SD, Tian L. Promoting adherence: effects of theory-based asthma education. Clin Nurs Res. 2004;13(1):69-89.
- 372.Schectman G, Hiatt J, Hartz A. Telephone contacts do not improve adherence to niacin or bile acid sequestrant therapy. Ann Pharmacother. 1994;28(1):29-35.
- 373.Schmitz JM, Sayre SL, Stotts AL, Rothfleisch J, Mooney ME. Medication compliance during a smoking cessation clinical trial: a brief intervention using MEMS feedback. J Behav Med. 2005;28(2):139-147.
- 374.Schneider PJ, Murphy JE, Pedersen CA. Impact of medication packaging on adherence and treatment outcomes in older ambulatory patients. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003). 2008;48(1):58-63.
- 375.Schroeder K, Fahey T, Hollinghurst S, Peters TJ. Nurse-led adherence support in hypertension: a randomized controlled trial. Fam Pract. 2005;22(2):144-151.
- 376.Schulz M, Gray R, Spiekermann A, Abderhalden C, Behrens J, Driessen M. Adherence therapy following an acute episode of schizophrenia: a multi-centre randomised controlled trial. Schizophr Res. 2013;146(1-3):59-63.
- 377.Sclar DA, Chin A, Skaer TL, Okamoto MP, Nakahiro RK, Gill MA. Effect of health education in promoting prescription refill compliance among patients with hypertension. Clin Ther. 1991;13(4):489-495.
- 378.Selke HM, Kimaiyo S, Sidle JE, et al. Task-shifting of antiretroviral delivery from health care workers to persons living with HIV/AIDS: clinical outcomes of a community-based program in Kenya. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2010;55(4):483-490.
- 379.Sewerynek E, Horst-Sikorska H, Stepien-Klos W, et al. The role of counselling and other factors in compliance of postmenopausal osteoporotic patients to alendronate 70 therapy. Arch Med Sci. 2013;9(2):288-296.
- 380.Sherrard H, Struthers C, Kearns SA, Wells G, Chen L, Mesana T. Using technology to create a medication safety net for cardiac surgery patients: a nurse-led randomized control trial. Can J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2009;19(3):9-15.

- 381.Shet A, De Costa A, Kumarasamy N, et al. Effect of mobile telephone reminders on treatment outcome in HIV: evidence from a randomised controlled trial in India. BMJ. 2014;349:g5978.
- 382.Shu AD, Stedman MR, Polinski JM, et al. Adherence to osteoporosis medications after patient and physician brief education: post hoc analysis of a randomized controlled trial. Am J Manag Care. 2009;15(7):417-424.
- 383.Silva RCe, Pellanda L, Portal V, Maciel P, Furquim A, Schaan B. Transdiciplinary Approach to the Follow-Up of Patients After Myocardial Infarction. Clinics (Sao Paulo, Brazil). 2008;63(4):489-496.
- 384.Silveira MP, Guttier MC, Page K, Moreira LB. Randomized controlled trial to evaluate the impact of pharmaceutical care on therapeutic success in HIV-infected patients in Southern Brazil. AIDS Behav. 2014;18 Suppl 1:S75-84.
- 385.Simkins CV, Wenzloff NJ. Evaluation of a computerized reminder system in the enhancement of patient medication refill compliance. Drug Intell Clin Pharm. 1986;20(10):799-802.
- 386.Simon GE, Ralston JD, Savarino J, Pabiniak C, Wentzel C, Operskalski BH. Randomized trial of depression follow-up care by online messaging. J Gen Intern Med. 2011;26(7):698-704.
- 387.Simoni JM, Huh D, Frick PA, et al. Peer support and pager messaging to promote antiretroviral modifying therapy in Seattle: a randomized controlled trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2009;52(4):465-473.
- 388.Simoni JM, Pantalone DW, Plummer MD, Huang B. A randomized controlled trial of a peer support intervention targeting antiretroviral medication adherence and depressive symptomatology in HIV-positive men and women. Health Psychol. 2007;26(4):488-495.
- 389.Simoni JM, Wiebe JS, Sauceda JA, Huh D, Sanchez G, Longoria V, et al. A preliminary RCT of CBT-AD for adherence and depression among HIV-positive Latinos on the U.S.-Mexico border: the Nuevo Dia study. AIDS and behavior. 2013;17(8):2816-29.
- 390.Sit JW, Yip VY, Ko SK, Gun AP, Lee JS. A quasi-experimental study on a community-based stroke prevention programme for clients with minor stroke. Journal of clinical nursing. 2007;16(2):272-81.
- 391.Skaer TL, Sclar DA, Markowski DJ, Won JK. Effect of value-added utilities on prescription refill compliance and health care expenditures for hypertension. J Hum Hypertens. 1993;7(5):515-518.
- 392.Skaer TL, Sclar DA, Markowski DJ, Won JK. Effect of value-added utilities on prescription refill compliance and Medicaid health care expenditures--a study of patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Clin Pharm Ther. 1993;18(4):295-299.
- 393.Smith L, Bosnic-Anticevich SZ, Mitchell B, Saini B, Krass I, Armour C. Treating asthma with a selfmanagement model of illness behaviour in an Australian community pharmacy setting. Social science & medicine (1982). 2007;64(7):1501-11.
- 394.Smith DH, Kramer JM, Perrin N, et al. A randomized trial of direct-to-patient communication to enhance adherence to beta-blocker therapy following myocardial infarction. Arch Intern Med. 2008;168(5):477-483; discussion 483; quiz 447.
- 395.Smith SR, Rublein JC, Marcus C, Brock TP, Chesney MA. A medication self-management program to improve adherence to HIV therapy regimens. Patient Educ Couns. 2003;50(2):187-199.
- 396.Solomon DH, Iversen MD, Avorn J, et al. Osteoporosis Telephonic Intervention to Improve Medication Adherence (OPTIMA): A Large Pragmatic Randomized Controlled Trial. Archives of internal medicine. 2012;172(6):477-483.
- 397.Solomon DH, Iversen MD, Avorn J, et al. Osteoporosis Telephonic Intervention to Improve Medication Adherence (OPTIMA): A Large Pragmatic Randomized Controlled Trial. Archives of internal medicine. 2012;172(6):477-483.

- 398.Solomon DK, Portner TS, Bass GE, et al. Clinical and economic outcomes in the hypertension and COPD arms of a multicenter outcomes study. J Am Pharm Assoc (Wash). 1998;38(5):574-585.
- 399.Sookaneknun P, Richards RM, Sanguansermsri J, Teerasut C. Pharmacist involvement in primary care improves hypertensive patient clinical outcomes. Ann Pharmacother. 2004;38(12):2023-2028.
- 400.Sorensen JL, Haug NA, Delucchi KL, et al. Voucher reinforcement improves medication adherence in HIV-positive methadone patients: a randomized trial. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2007;88(1):54-63.
- 401.Sosa N, Hill-Zabala C, Dejesus E, et al. Abacavir and lamivudine fixed-dose combination tablet once daily compared with abacavir and lamivudine twice daily in HIV-infected patients over 48 weeks (ESS30008, SEAL). J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2005;40(4):422-427.
- 402.Stacy JN, Schwartz SM, Ershoff D, Shreve MS. Incorporating tailored interactive patient solutions using interactive voice response technology to improve statin adherence: results of a randomized clinical trial in a managed care setting. Popul Health Manag. 2009;12(5):241-254.
- 403.Staring AB, Van der Gaag M, Koopmans GT, et al. Treatment adherence therapy in people with psychotic disorders: randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry. 2010;197(6):448-455.
- 404.Stewart K, George J, Mc Namara KP, et al. A multifaceted pharmacist intervention to improve antihypertensive adherence: a cluster-randomized, controlled trial (HAPPy trial). J Clin Pharm Ther. 2014;39(5):527-534.
- 405.Stewart K, Mc Namara KP, George J. Challenges in measuring medication adherence: experiences from a controlled trial. Int J Clin Pharm. 2014;36(1):15-19.
- 406.Strandbygaard U, Thomsen SF, Backer V. A daily SMS reminder increases adherence to asthma treatment: a three-month follow-up study. Respir Med. 2010;104(2):166-171.
- 407.Su WJ, Perng RP. Fixed-dose combination chemotherapy (Rifater/Rifinah) for active pulmonary tuberculosis in Taiwan: a two-year follow-up. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2002;6(11):1029-1032.
- 408.Svarstad BL, Kotchen JM, Shireman TI, et al. Improving refill adherence and hypertension control in black patients: Wisconsin TEAM trial. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003). 2013;53(5):520-529.
- 409.Sweeney S, Dixon J, Sutcliffe I. The impact of the clinical pharmacist on compliance in a geriatric population. Pharm J. 1989;242:R4-6.
- 410. Taggart AJ, Johnston GD, McDevitt DG. Does the frequency of daily dosage influence compliance with digoxin therapy? Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1981;11(1):31-34.
- 411. Taiwo BO, Idoko JA, Welty LJ, et al. Assessing the viorologic and adherence benefits of patientselected HIV treatment partners in a resource-limited setting. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2010;54(1):85-92.
- 412. Tan H, Yu J, Tabby D, Devries A, Singer J. Clinical and economic impact of a specialty care management program among patients with multiple sclerosis: a cohort study. Mult Scler. 2010;16(8):956-963.
- 413. Taylor CT, Byrd DC, Krueger K. Improving primary care in rural Alabama with a pharmacy initiative. Am J Health Syst Pharm. 2003;60(11):1123-1129.
- 414.Team CPMMPE. The MEDMAN study: a randomized controlled trial of community pharmacy-led medicines management for patients with coronary heart disease. Fam Pract. 2007;24(2):189-200.
- 415.Thom S, Poulter N, Field J, et al. Effects of a fixed-dose combination strategy on adherence and risk factors in patients with or at high risk of CVD: the UMPIRE randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2013;310(9):918-929.
- 416. Tinsel I, Buchholz A, Vach W, et al. Shared decision-making in antihypertensive therapy: a cluster randomised controlled trial. BMC Fam Pract. 2013;14:135.

- 417. Tsuyuki RT, Fradette M, Johnson JA, et al. A multicenter disease management program for hospitalized patients with heart failure. J Card Fail. 2004;10(6):473-480.
- 418. Tuldra A, Fumaz CR, Ferrer MJ, et al. Prospective randomized two-Arm controlled study to determine the efficacy of a specific intervention to improve long-term adherence to highly active antiretroviral therapy. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2000;25(3):221-228.
- 419.Udelson JE, Pressler SJ, Sackner-Bernstein J, et al. Adherence with once daily versus twice daily carvedilol in patients with heart failure: the Compliance And Quality of Life Study Comparing Once-Daily Controlled-Release Carvedilol CR and Twice-Daily Immediate-Release Carvedilol IR in Patients with Heart Failure (CASPER) Trial. J Card Fail. 2009;15(5):385-393.
- 420.Uysal H, Ozcan S. The effect of individual education on patients' physical activity capacity after myocardial infarction. International journal of nursing practice. 2015;21(1):18-28.
- 421.Valencia M, Rascon ML, Juarez F, Murow E. A psychosocial skills training approach in Mexican out-patients with schizophrenia. Psychol Med. 2007;37(10):1393-1402.
- 422.van Gent EM, Zwart FM. Psychoeducation of partners of bipolar-manic patients. J Affect Disord. 1991;21(1):15-18.
- 423.van Onzenoort HA, Verberk WJ, Kroon AA, et al. Effect of self-measurement of blood pressure on adherence to treatment in patients with mild-to-moderate hypertension. J Hypertens. 2010;28(3):622-627.
- 424.van Servellen G, Carpio F, Lopez M, et al. Program to enhance health literacy and treatment adherence in low-income HIV-infected Latino men and women. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2003;17(11):581-594.
- 425.van Servellen G, Nyamathi A, Carpio F, et al. Effects of a treatment adherence enhancement program on health literacy, patient-provider relationships, and adherence to HAART among low-income HIV-positive Spanish-speaking Latinos. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2005;19(11):745-759.
- 426.Varma S, McElnay JC, Hughes CM, Passmore AP, Varma M. Pharmaceutical care of patients with congestive heart failure: interventions and outcomes. Pharmacotherapy. 1999;19(7):860-869.
- 427.Velligan DI, Diamond PM, Mintz J, et al. The use of individually tailored environmental supports to improve medication adherence and outcomes in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull. 2008;34(3):483-493.
- 428. Vervloet M, van Dijk L, Santen-Reestman J, et al. SMS reminders improve adherence to oral medication in type 2 diabetes patients who are real time electronically monitored. Int J Med Inform. 2012;81(9):594-604.
- 429. Villeneuve J, Genest J, Blais L, et al. A cluster randomized controlled Trial to Evaluate an Ambulatory primary care Management program for patients with dyslipidemia: the TEAM study. CMAJ. 2010;182(5):447-455.
- 430.Vollmer WM, Feldstein A, Smith DH, Dubanoski JP, Waterbury A, Schneider JL, et al. Use of health information technology to improve medication adherence. The American journal of managed care. 2011;17(12 Spec No.):Sp79-87.
- 431.Vollmer WM, Owen-Smith AA, Tom JO, et al. Improving adherence to cardiovascular disease medications with information technology. Am J Manag Care. 2014;20(11 Spec No. 17):SP502-510.
- 432.Volpp KG, Loewenstein G, Troxel AB, et al. A test of financial incentives to improve warfarin adherence. BMC Health Serv Res. 2008;8:272.
- 433.Vrijens B, Belmans A, Matthys K, de Klerk E, Lesaffre E. Effect of intervention through a pharmaceutical care program on patient adherence with prescribed once-daily atorvastatin. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2006;15(2):115-121.

- 434.Wagner GJ, Kanouse DE, Golinelli D, et al. Cognitive-behavioral intervention to enhance adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a randomized controlled trial (CCTG 578). AIDS. 2006;20(9):1295-1302.
- 435.Wagner GJ, Lovely P, Schneider S. Pilot controlled trial of the adherence readiness program: an intervention to assess and sustain HIV antiretroviral adherence readiness. AIDS Behav. 2013;17(9):3059-3065.
- 436. Wakefield BJ, Holman JE, Ray A, et al. Outcomes of a home telehealth intervention for patients with diabetes and hypertension. Telemed J E Health. 2012;18(8):575-579.
- 437.Wakefield BJ, Holman JE, Ray A, et al. Outcomes of a home telehealth intervention for patients with heart failure. J Telemed Telecare. 2009;15(1):46-50.
- 438. Wald DS, Bestwick JP, Raiman L, Brendell R, Wald NJ. Randomised trial of text messaging on adherence to cardiovascular preventive treatment (INTERACT trial). PLoS One. 2014;9(12):e114268.
- 439.Walker CC. An educational intervention for hypertension management in older African Americans. Ethn Dis. 2000;10(2):165-174.
- 440.Wall TL, Sorensen JL, Batki SL, Delucchi KL, London JA, Chesney MA. Adherence to zidovudine (AZT) among HIV-infected methadone patients: a pilot study of supervised therapy and dispensing compared to usual care. Drug Alcohol Depend. 1995;37(3):261-269.
- 441.Wan LH, Zhang XP, Mo MM, Xiong XN, Ou CL, You LM, et al. Effectiveness of Goal-Setting Telephone Follow-Up on Health Behaviors of Patients with Ischemic Stroke: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Journal of stroke and cerebrovascular diseases : the official journal of National Stroke Association. 2016;25(9):2259-70.
- 442.Wang KY, Chian CF, Lai HR, Tarn YH, Wu CP. Clinical pharmacist counseling improves outcomes for Taiwanese asthma patients. Pharmacy world & science : PWS. 2010;32(6):721-9.
- 443.Wang H, Zhou J, Huang L, Li X, Fennie KP, Williams AB. Effects of nurse-delivered home visits combined with telephone calls on medication adherence and quality of life in HIV-infected heroin users in Hunan of China. J Clin Nurs. 2010;19(3-4):380-388.
- 444.Wang J, Wu J, Yang J, et al. Effects of pharmaceutical care interventions on blood pressure and medication adherence of patients with primary hypertension in China. Clinical Research and Regulatory Affairs. 2011;28(1):1-6.
- 445.Wang K, Wang C, Xi L, et al. A randomized controlled trial to assess adherence to allergic rhinitis treatment following a daily short message service (SMS) via the mobile phone. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2014;163(1):51-58.
- 446.Webb PA. Effectiveness of patient education and psychosocial counseling in promoting compliance and control among hypertensive patients. J Fam Pract. 1980;10(6):1047-1055.
- 447.Weber R, Christen L, Christen S, et al. Effect of individual cognitive behaviour intervention on adherence to antiretroviral therapy: prospective randomized trial. Antivir Ther. 2004;9(1):85-95.
- 448.Weinberger M, Tierney WM, Booher P, Katz BP. The impact of increased contact on psychosocial outcomes in patients with osteoarthritis: a randomized, controlled trial. J Rheumatol. 1991;18(6):849-854.
- 449.Williams A, Manias E, Walker R, Gorelik A. A multifactorial intervention to improve blood pressure control in co-existing diabetes and kidney disease: a feasibility randomized controlled trial. J Adv Nurs. 2012;68(11):2515-2525.
- 450. Williams AB, Fennie KP, Bova CA, Burgess JD, Danvers KA, Dieckhaus KD. Home visits to improve adherence to highly active antiretroviral therapy: a randomized controlled trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2006;42(3):314-321.

- 451. Williams AB, Wang H, Li X, Chen J, Li L, Fennie K. Efficacy of an evidence-based ARV adherence intervention in China. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2014;28(8):411-417.
- 452. Windsor RA, Bailey WC, Richards JM, Jr., Manzella B, Soong SJ, Brooks M. Evaluation of the efficacy and cost effectiveness of health education methods to increase medication adherence among adults with asthma. Am J Public Health. 1990;80(12):1519-1521.
- 453.Winland-Brown JE, Valiante J. Effectiveness of different medication management approaches on elders' medication adherence. Outcomes Manag Nurs Pract. 2000;4(4):172-176.
- 454.Wohl AR, Garland WH, Valencia R, et al. A randomized trial of directly administered antiretroviral therapy and adherence case management intervention. Clin Infect Dis. 2006;42(11):1619-1627.
- 455.Wong LY, Chua SS, Husin AR, Arshad H. A pharmacy management service for adults with asthma: a cluster randomised controlled trial. Family practice. 2017;34(5):564-73.
- 456.Wong MC, Liu KQ, Wang HH, et al. Effectiveness of a pharmacist-led drug counseling on enhancing antihypertensive adherence and blood pressure control: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Pharmacol. 2013;53(7):753-761.
- 457.Wright JM, Htun Y, Leong MG, Forman P, Ballard RC. Evaluation of the use of calendar blister packaging on patient compliance with STD syndromic treatment regimens. Sex Transm Dis. 1999;26(10):556-563.
- 458.Wu JR, Corley DJ, Lennie TA, Moser DK. Effect of a medication-taking behavior feedback theorybased intervention on outcomes in patients with heart failure. J Card Fail. 2012;18(1):1-9.
- 459.Wyatt GE, Longshore D, Chin D, et al. The efficacy of an integrated risk reduction intervention for HIV-positive women with child sexual abuse histories. AIDS Behav. 2004;8(4):453-462.
- 460.Xavier D, Gupta R, Kamath D, Sigamani A, Devereaux PJ, George N, et al. Community health worker-based intervention for adherence to drugs and lifestyle change after acute coronary syndrome: a multicentre, open, randomised controlled trial. The lancet Diabetes & endocrinology. 2016;4(3):244-53.
- 461.Young H, Nadra Havican S, A Chewning B, A Sorkness C, Ruppel X, Griesbach S. Patient And phaRmacit Telephonic Encounters (PARTE) in an Underserved Rural Population with Asthma: Methods and Rationale2011. 49 p.
- 462.Zang XY, Liu JF, Chai YF, Wong FK, Zhao Y. Effect on blood pressure of a continued nursing intervention using chronotherapeutics for adult Chinese hypertensive patients. J Clin Nurs. 2010;19(7-8):1149-1156.
- 463.Zaretsky A, Lancee W, Miller C, Harris A, Parikh SV. Is cognitive-behavioural therapy more effective than psychoeducation in bipolar disorder? Can J Psychiatry. 2008;53(7):441-448.
- 464.Zarnke KB, Feagan BG, Mahon JL, Feldman RD. A randomized study comparing a patientdirected hypertension management strategy with usual office-based care. Am J Hypertens. 1997;10(1):58-67.
- 465.Ziller V, Kyvernitakis I, Knoll D, Storch A, Hars O, Hadji P. Influence of a patient information program on adherence and persistence with an aromatase inhibitor in breast cancer treatment-the COMPAS study. BMC cancer. 2013;13:407.
- 466.Zillich AJ, Jaynes HA, Snyder ME, et al. Evaluation of specialized medication packaging combined with medication therapy management: adherence, outcomes, and costs among Medicaid patients. Med Care. 2012;50(6):485-493.
- 467.Zillich AJ, Sutherland JM, Kumbera PA, Carter BL. Hypertension outcomes through blood pressure monitoring and evaluation by pharmacists (HOME study). J Gen Intern Med. 2005;20(12):1091-1096.

468.Zwikker HE, van den Ende CH, van Lankveld WG, et al. Effectiveness of a group-based intervention to change medication beliefs and improve medication adherence in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a randomized controlled trial. Patient Educ Couns. 2014;94(3):356-361.

g. Excluded primary studies

Original studies	Excluded
Quilici, 2013	Non-experimental study
Gould, 2011	Non-experimental study
Simoni, 2011	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Berger, 2003	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Awofeso, 1995	Non-experimental study
Becker, 1986	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Kennedy, 1990	Non-experimental study
Levensky, 2006	Non-experimental study
MacDonald, 1977	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Qingjun, 1998a	Included pediatrics
Revankar, 1993	Included pediatrics
Spriet, 1980	Non-experimental study
Traiger, 1997	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Hosie, 1995	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Lennon, 2008	Included pediatrics
Adam, 2001	Included pediatrics
Garcia Callejo, 1998	Included pediatrics
Clegg, 2006	Included pediatrics
Ballantyne, 1985	Out of scope
Linder, 1993	Included pediatrics
Gooch, 1997	Included pediatrics
Edelstein, 1993	Included pediatrics
Owen, 1993	Included pediatrics
Venuta, 1998	Included pediatrics
Disney, 1990	Included pediatrics
Mita, 2003	Included pediatrics
Cohen, 1996	Included pediatrics
Behre, 1997	Included pediatrics
Pichichero, 1999	Included pediatrics
Gooch, 1993	Included pediatrics

Original studies	Excluded
Richard, 1981	Included pediatrics
Damrikarnlert, 2000	Included pediatrics
Gerber, 1985	Included pediatrics
Gehanno, 1994	Included pediatrics
Cook, 1996	Included pediatrics
Dawson, 1998	Non-experimental study
Nimpitakpong, 2002	Non-experimental study
Nucifora, 2006	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Powell, 2010	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Tierney, 2003	Non patient-targeted interventions
Clarkin, 1998	Out of scope
Colom, 2003	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Lenz, 2010	Non-experimental study
Maneesakorn, 2007	Undefined/excluded outcomes
von Bormann, 2015	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Austin, 1986	Non-experimental study
Cook, 2010	Undefined/excluded outcomes
De Geest, 2006	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Freedman, 2007	Non-experimental study
Harper, 1984	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Matterson, 2011	Non-experimental study
Mitchell, 1992	Non-experimental study
Moitra, 2011	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Nietert, 2009	Non patient-targeted interventions
Oser, 2008	Non-experimental study
Stewart, 2008	Non-experimental study
Watakakasol, 2010	Non-experimental study
Wu, 2006	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Zuckerman, 2004	Non patient-targeted interventions
Christensen, 2010	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Chung, 2011	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Franklin, 2006	Included pediatrics
Rothschild, 2014	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Zolfaghari, 2012	Non-experimental study
Walker, 2011	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Benson, 2004	Out of scope
Parienti, 2007	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Rode, 2008	Non-experimental study
Ruane, 2006	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Tulsky, 2000	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Bock, 2001	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Morisky, 2001	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Jakubowiak, 2007	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Martins, 2009	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Grabowski, 1979	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Preston, 1999	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Carroll, 2001	Out of scope
Carroll, 2002	Out of scope

Original studies	Excluded
Seal, 2003	Excluded medication
Stitzer, 2010	Excluded medication
Claassen, 2007	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Berger, 2005	Undefined/excluded outcomes
George, 2010	Non-experimental study
Hovell, 2003	Included pediatrics
Sheeran, 1999	Included pediatrics
Van Es, 2001	Included pediatrics
Engelbrecht, 2010	Non-experimental study
Sabin, 2014	Non-experimental study
Davies, 2010	Non-experimental study
Wilson, 2010	Non patient-targeted interventions
Adler, 2004	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Lai, 2010	Non-experimental study
Heilmann, 2012	Out of scope
Ting, 2012	Included pediatrics
Cook, 2010	Non-experimental study
Stockl, 2010	Out of scope
Stockl, 2010b	Out of scope
Tamone, 2012	Non-experimental study
Downey, 2006	Non-experimental study
Marteau, 2012	Out of scope
Smith, 2013	Excluded medication
Musser, 2001	Non-experimental study
RCTAI, 1989	Non-experimental study
Hulsbosch, 2008	Non-experimental study
Jones, 2007	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Tuldra, 2002	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Maasland, 2007	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Armstrong, 2009	Excluded medication
Cococila, 2009	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Yentzer, 2011	Non-experimental study
Binstock, 1988	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Huang, 2000	Excluded medication
Jansen, 2009	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Kripalani, 2007	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Simmons, 2000	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Suppapitiporn, 2005	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Dezii, 2000	Non-experimental study
NDC data set	Non-experimental study
Melikian, 2002	Non-experimental study
Knobel, 1999	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Kelly, 1988	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Nicoleau, 1985	Non-experimental study
Zhao, 2004	Non-experimental study
Lourenco, 2011	Non-experimental study
Campbell, 1998	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Gould, 2011	Non-experimental study

Original studies	Excluded
Lehr, 1986	Non-experimental study
Muniz, 2010	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Shemesh, 2006	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Yilmaz, 2005	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Anderson, 2004	Out of scope
Austin, 1986	Non-experimental study
Bogart, 2012	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Freedman, 2007	Non-experimental study
Harper, 1984	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Laine, 1996	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Mann, 2001	Out of scope
Martin, 2011	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Moitra, 2011	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Mundy, 2009	Non-experimental study
Newsome, 1995	Non-experimental study
Powell, 2002	Non-experimental study
Tagliacozzo, 1974	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Vivian, 2002	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Webel, 2010	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Werner, 1979	Non-experimental study
Fujii, 1985	Non-experimental study
Eisen, 1990	Non-experimental study
Halpern, 1993	Excluded medication
Brun, 1994	Non-experimental study
Halfmann, 2000	Non-experimental study
Jennings, 1992	Non-experimental study
Rimer, 1987	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Wood, 1989	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Eisen, 1990	Non-experimental study
Girvin, 1999	Non-experimental study
Berkovitch, 1998	Included pediatrics
Rapoff, 2002	Included pediatrics
Grosset, 2007	Non-experimental study
Ducharme, 2011	Included pediatrics
Bonner, 2002	Included pediatrics
Canino, 2008	Included pediatrics
Morisky, 2001	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Schwartz-Lookinland, 1989	Included pediatrics
Yin, 2008	Included pediatrics
Armour, 2004	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Berrien, 2004	Included pediatrics
Bertakis, 1986	Included pediatrics
Colcher, 1972	Included pediatrics
Ellison, 1982	Included pediatrics
Eriksson, 1998	Out of scope
Finney, 1985	Included pediatrics
Gibbs, 1989	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Jameson, 1995	Undefined/excluded outcomes

Original studies	Excluded
Levesque, 1983	Out of scope
Linszen, 1996	Included pediatrics
McCrindle, 1997	Included pediatrics
Mengze, 1994	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Sanmarti, 1993	Included pediatrics
Sellors, 1997	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Sharpe, 1974	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Smith, 1986	Included pediatrics
Spriet, 1980	Non-experimental study
Tinkelman, 1980	Included pediatrics
Williams, 1986	Included pediatrics
Al Owaish, 1985	Non-experimental study
Avanzini, 2002	Non patient-targeted interventions
Beeson, 1977	Non-experimental study
Cooper, 2011	Non patient-targeted interventions
Evans, 1986	Non patient-targeted interventions
Fletcher, 1975	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Gomez-Marcos, 2006	Non patient-targeted interventions
Harowski, 1983	Non-experimental study
Harper, 1984	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Hess, 2007	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Inui, 1976	Non patient-targeted interventions
Jafar, 2009	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Kobalava, 2010	Non-experimental study
Leung, 2012	Non-experimental study
Magadza, 2009	Non-experimental study
Martin, 2011	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Muhlhauser, 1988	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Murray, 2004	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Oparah, 2006	Non-experimental study
Patel, 2013	Non-experimental study
Pertusa Martinez, 1998	Non-experimental study
Pierce, 1984	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Pippalla, 1994	Non-experimental study
Resnick, 2009	Non-experimental study
Roca-Cusachs, 1991	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Rodriguez, 2011	Non-experimental study
Roumie, 2006	Non patient-targeted interventions
Santschi, 2008	Non-experimental study
Sicras-Mainar, 2013	Non-experimental study
Stewart, 2005	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Stewart, 2008	Undefined/excluded outcomes
van de Steeg-van Gompel, 2010	Non patient-targeted interventions
Wentzlaff, 2011	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Patel, 2015	Undefined/excluded outcomes
van Bruggen, 2009	Non-experimental study
Aslani, 2011	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Flemming, 2013	Undefined/excluded outcomes

Original studies	Excluded
Bangsberg, 2009	Non-experimental study
Hornung, 1996	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Pitschel-Walz, 2006	Excluded medication
Williams-a, 2012	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Kender, 2010	Non-experimental study
Martino, 2006	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Macalino, 2007	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Crowley, 2013	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Greer, 2011	Non-experimental study
Margolius, 2012	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Duncan, 2013	Included pediatrics
Otsuki, 2009	Included pediatrics
Hederos, 2005	Included pediatrics
Bender, 2014	Included pediatrics
Liu, 2007	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Byan 2012	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Chisholm-Burns 2013	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Fennell 1994	Included pediatrics
Babigumira 2011	Non-experimental study
laffar 2009	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Sherrard, 2015	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Belzer, 2014	Included pediatrics
Duncan, 2012	Out of scope
Garcia, 2005	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Naar-King, 2013	Included pediatrics
Orrell, 2015	Included pediatrics
Wamalwa, 2009	Included pediatrics
Yu, 2012	Non-experimental study
Heisig, 2015	Non-experimental study
Graetz, 2017	Non-experimental study
EII, 2009	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Giallauria, 2009	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Giannuzzi, 2008	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Jorstad, 2013	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Lapointe, 2006	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Miller, 1988	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Redfern, 2008	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Yorio, 2008	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Charrois, 2006	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Cordina, 2001	Included pediatrics
Xaubet Olivera, 2016	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Aluisio, 2011	Out of scope
Kalembo, 2013	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Turan, 2015	Undefined/excluded outcomes

Original studies	Excluded
Stinson, 2013	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Kim, 2015	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Dillabaugh, 2012	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Kirsten, 2011	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Mepham, 2011	Non-experimental study
ENHAT-CS, 2014	Non-experimental study
Weiss, 2013	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Okonji, 2012	Non-experimental study
Herlihy, 2015	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Richter, 2014	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Le Roux, 2013	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Kieffer, 2011	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Matthews, 2016	Out of scope
Yotebieng, 2016	Out of scope
Finocchario-Kessler, 2014	Undefined/excluded outcomes
Nyamathi, 2012	Undefined/excluded outcomes

h. Studies included in the network meta-analysis

0-3	mo	nt	hs

Study ID	Title	Stud	Interventions
		y size	
Berg, 2011	Use of peers to improve adherence to	77	Technical 1st,
	antiretroviral therapy: a global network meta-		Standard care 1st
	analysis		
Bessa, 2016	Efficacy of interventions for adherence to the	124	Educational 1st,
	immunosuppressive therapy in kidney transplant		Standard care 1st
	recipients: a meta-analysis and systematic review		
Bogner, 2008	Integration of Depression and Hypertension	64	Educational +
	Treatment: A Pilot, Randomized Controlled Trial		Attitudinal 1st,
			Standard care 1st
Boissel, 1996	Comparison between a bid and a tid regimen:	7274	Technical 1st,
	improved compliance with no improved		Standard care 1st
	antihypertensive effect		
Capoccia, 2004	Randomized trial of pharmacist interventions to	74	Educational +
	improve depression care and outcomes in primary		Technical 1st,
	care		Standard care 1st
Chatkin, 2006	Impact of a Low-Cost and Simple Intervention in	271	Educational 1st,
	Enhancing Treatment Adherence in a Brazilian		Standard care 1st
	Asthma Sample		
Cheung, 1988	The paradox of using a 7 day antibacterial course	77	Technical 1st,
	to treat urinary tract infections in the community		Standard care 1st
Claborn, 2014	Pilot study examining the efficacy of an electronic	97	Educational +
	intervention to promote HIV medication		Attitudinal +
	adherence		Technical 1st,
0 1 1001			Standard care 1st
Cochran, 1984	Preventing Medical Noncompliance in the	28	Attitudinal 1st ,
	Outpatient Treatment of Bipolar Affective		Standard care 1st
0 1 4074	Disorders	50	
Cole, 1971	Drug consultation: its significance to the	50	Educational 1st,
	discharged hospital patient and its relevance as a		Standard care 1st
Collier 2005	A Bandomized Study of Social Talanhana Call	171	Educational
Collier, 2005	Support to Increase Adherence and Thereby	1/1	Attitudinal 1st
	Improve Virologic Outcome in Persons Initiating		Standard care 1st
	Antiretroviral Therany		
Cossette 2012	Randomized Controlled Trial of Tailored Nursing	243	Educational +
20052002, 2012	Interventions to Improve Cardiac Rehabilitation	245	Attitudinal 1st
	Enrollment		Standard care 1st
Crockett. 2006	Patient outcomes following an intervention	106	Educational 1st.
,	involving community pharmacists in the		Standard care 1st
	management of depression		
Crome, 1982	Assessment of a new calendar pack-the C-PAK	78	Technical 1st,
	· ·		Standard care 1st
Da Costa, 2012	Results of a randomized controlled trial to assess	21	Technical 1st,
	the effects of a mobile SMS-based intervention on		Standard care 1st
	treatment adherence in HIV/AIDS-infected		

	Brazilian women and impressions and satisfaction with respect to incoming messages		
Detry, 1995	Patient compliance and therapeutic coverage: comparison of amlodipine and slow release nifedipine in the treatment of hypertension	640	Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Dilorio, 2009	A telephone-based self-management program for people with epilepsy	22	Educational + Attitudinal 1st, Educational 1st
Eker, 2012	Effectiveness of six-week psychoeducation program on adherence of patients with bipolar affective disorder	71	Educational + Attitudinal 1st, Standard care 1st
Elixhauser, 1990	The Effects of 'Monitoring and Feedback on Compliance	90	Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Elkjaer, 2010	E-health empowers patients with ulcerative colitis: a randomised controlled trial of the web-guided 'Constant-care' approach	333	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Eron, 2000	Efficacy, safety, and adherence with a twice-daily combination lamivudine/zidovudine tablet formulation, plus a protease inhibitor, in HIV infection	223	Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Eshelman, 1976	Effect of packging on patient compliance with na antihypertensive medication	100	Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Faulkner, 2000	Impact of Pharmacy Counseling on Compliance and Effectiveness of Combination Lipid-Lowering Therapy in Patients Undergoing Coronary Artery Revascularization: A Randomized, Controlled Trial	30	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Fisher, 2011	Computer-Based Intervention in HIV Clinical Care Setting Improves Antiretroviral Adherence: The LifeWindows Project	328	Attitudinal 1st , Standard care 1st
Fulmer, 1999	An Intervention Study to Enhance Medication Compliance in Community-Dwelling Elderly Individuals	42	Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Fyllingen, 1991	Phenoxymethylpenicillin Two or Three Times Daily in Bacterial Upper Respiratory Tract Infections: A Blinded, Randomized and Controlled Clinical Study	131	Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Gabriel, 1977	Improved Patient Compliance through Use of a Daily Drug Reminder Chart	79	Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Garcia, 2015	Behavioral measures to reduce non-adherence in renal transplant recipients: a prospective randomized controlled trial	111	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
García- Cardenas, 2013	Effect of a pharmacist intervention on asthma control. A cluster randomised trial	336	Educational + Attitudinal 1st, Standard care 1st
Girvin, 1999	A comparison of enalapril 20 mg once daily versus 10 mg twice daily in terms of blood pressure lowering and patient compliance Briegeen Girvin,	27	Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Golin, 2006	A 2-Arm, Randomized, Controlled Trial of a Motivational Interviewing–Based Intervention to Improve Adherence to Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Among Patients Failing or Initiating	117	Educational + Attitudinal 1st, Educational 1st

Gonzalez-	Usefulness of a Systemic Hypertension In-Hospital	47	Educational 1st,
Fernandez, 1990	Educational Program		Standard care 1st
Goswami, 2013	Impact of an integrated intervention program on	208	Educational 1st,
	atorvastatin adherence: a randomized controlled		Standard care 1st
	trial		
Henry, 1999	Enhancing Compliance Not a Prerequisite for	117	Educational +
	Effective Eradication of Helicobacter pylori: The		Technical 1st,
	HelP Study		Standard care 1st
Hilleman, 1993	Conversion from Sustained-Release to Immediate-	82	Technical 1st,
	Release Calcium Entry Blockers: Outcome in		Standard care 1st
	Patients with Mild-to-Moderate Hypertension		
Ho, 2008	Effect of audible and visual reminders on	42	Technical 1st,
	adherence in glaucoma patients using a		Standard care 1st
	commercially available dosing aid		
Holzemer, 2006	Testing a Nurse-Tailored HIV Medication	180	Educational +
	Adherence Intervention		Attitudinal 1st,
			Standard care 1st
Horvath, 2013	Feasibility, Acceptability and Preliminary Efficacy of	123	Educational +
	an Online Peer-to-Peer Social Support ART		Attitudinal +
	Adherence Intervention		Technical 1st,
			Standard care 1st
Ingersoll, 2011	A Pilot Randomized Clinical Trial of Two Medication	42	Attitudinal 1st,
	Adherence and Drug Use Interventions For HIV+		Educational 1st
	Crack Cocaine Users*		
Johnson, 2011	Improving Coping Skills for Self-management of	249	Educational +
	Treatment Side Effects Can Reduce Antiretroviral		Attitudinal 1st,
	Medication Nonadherence among People Living		Standard care 1st
	with HIV		
Khonsari, 2015	Effect of a reminder system using an automated	62	Technical 1st,
	short message service on medication adherence		Standard care 1st
	following acute coronary syndrome		
Kim, 2013	Effects of a web-based stroke education program	36	Educational 1st,
	on recurrence prevention behaviors among stroke		Standard care 1st
	patients: a pilot study		
Klang, 2015	Community pharmacists' support improves	1291	Technical 1st,
	antidepressant adherence in the community	9	Standard care 1st
Koenig, 2008	Randomized Controlled Trial of an Intervention to	226	Educational +
	Prevent Adherence Failure Among HIV-Infected		Attitudinal +
	Patients Initiating Antiretroviral Therapy		Technical 1st,
			Standard care 1st
Kotowycz, 2010	Safety and feasibility of early hospital discharge in	54	Educational 1st,
	ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction		Standard care 1st
Kronish, 2012	The Effect of Enhanced Depression Care on	157	Attitudinal 1st,
	Adherence to Risk Reducing Behaviors after Acute		Standard care 1st
	Coronary Syndromes: Findings from the COPES		
	Trial		
Kubota, 2006	Short-term Safety and Tolerability of a Once-Daily	680	Technical 1st,
	Fixed-Dose Abacavir-Lamivudine Combination		Standard care 1st
	versus Twice-Daily Dosing of Abacavir and		
	Lamivudine as Separate Components: Findings		
	from the ALOHA Study		

Lee, 1999	A Randomized Controlled Trial of an Enhanced	125	Educational +
	Patient Compliance Program for Helicobacter		Technical 1st,
	pylori Therapy		Standard care 1st
Lopez Cabezas,	Randomized clinical trial of a postdischarge	94	Educational 1st,
2006	pharmaceutical care program vs. regular follow-up in patients with heart failure		Standard care 1st
Lv, 2012	A mobile phone short message service improves	71	Educational 1st,
	perceived control of asthma: a randomized		Educational +
	controlled trial		Technical 1st,
			Standard care 1st
MacIntosh, 2007	A comparison of patient adherence and preference	42	Technical 1st,
	of packaging method for oral anticancer agents		Standard care 1st
	using conventional pill bottles versus daily pill		
	boxes		
Maduka, 2013	Adherence counseling and reminder text messages	104	Educational +
	improve uptake of antiretroviral therapy in a		Attitudinal +
	tertiary hospital in Nigeria		Technical 1st,
		67	Standard care 1st
Marquez	Effectiveness of an intervention to provide	6/	Educational +
Contreas, 2004	information to patients with hypertension as short		Technical 1st,
	text messages and reminders sent to their mobile		Standard care 1st
Marguoz	Effectiveness of an Intervention to Brovide	67	Educational 1st
Controras 2004	Information to Patients With Hypertension as	67	Educational Ist,
Contrelas, 2004	Short Toxt Mossages of Pominders Sont to Their		Stanuaru care Ist
	Mobile Phone (HTA_A)		
Martinot 2001	A Comparative Study of Clarithromycin Modified	250	Technical 1st
	Release and Amovicillin/ Clavulanic Acid in the	250	Standard care 1st
	Treatment of Acute Exacerbation of Chronic		
	Bronchitis		
Matsumura.	Does a Combination Pill of Antihypertensive Drugs	207	Technical 1st.
2012	Improve Medication Adherence in Japanese?		Standard care 1st
Mbuagbaw,	Mobile phone text messages for improving	200	Technical 1st,
2012	adherence to antiretroviral therapy (ART): an		Standard care 1st
	individual patient data meta-analysis of		
	randomised trials		
Mooney, 2005	Interventions to increase use of nicotine gum: A	97	Technical 1st,
	randomized, controlled, single-blind trial		Rewards +
			Technical 1st,
			Standard care 1st
Mooney, 2007	Adding MEMS feedback to behavioral smoking	55	Attitudinal +
	cessation therapy increases compliance with		Technical 1st,
	bupropion: A replication and extension study		Attitudinal 1st
Moss, 2010	Impact of a patient-support program on	62	Educational +
	mesalamine adherence in patients with ulcerative		Attitudinal 1st,
	colitis — A prospective study		Standard care 1st
Najafi, 2016	The Nurse-Led Telephone Follow-Up on	100	Educational 1st,
	Medication and Dietary Adherence among Patients		Standard care 1st
	atter Myocardial Infarction: A Randomized		
	Controlled Clinical Trial		

Nance, 2017	Short-term effectiveness of a community health worker intervention for HIV-infected pregnant women in Tanzania to improve treatment adherence and retention in care: A cluster- randomized trial	1830	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Nazareth, 2001	A pharmacy discharge plan for hospitalized elderly patients – a randomized controlled trial	362	Educational + Attitudinal 1st, Standard care 1st
Nielson, 2010	Patient education in groups increases knowledge of osteoporosis and adherence to treatment: A two-year randomized controlled trial	300	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Ollivier, 2009	Use of short message service (SMS) to improve malaria chemoprophylaxis compliance after returning from a malaria endemic area	335	Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Park, 1992	Medication Adherence Behaviors in Older Adults: Effects of External Cognitive Supports	61	Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Parsons, 2007	Motivational Interviewing and Cognitive- Behavioral Intervention to Improve HIV Medication Adherence Among Hazardous Drinkers: A Randomized Controlled Trial	115	Attitudinal 1st , Educational 1st
Pearson, 2007	Randomized Control Trial of Peer-Delivered, Modified Directly Observed Therapy for HAART in Mozambique	350	Educational + Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Polack, 2008	Evaluation of different methods of providing medication-related education to patients following	14	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Pullar, 1988	Use of a pharmacologic indicator to compare compliance with tablets prescribed to be taken once, twice, or three times daily	179	Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Purcell, 2007	Results From a Randomized Controlled Trial of a Peer-Mentoring Intervention to Reduce HIV Transmission and Increase Access to Care and Adherence	430	Attitudinal 1st , Educational 1st
Ramirez-Garcia & Cote, 2012	An Individualized Intervention to Foster Optimal Antiretroviral Treatment-Taking Behavior Among Persons Living With HIV: A Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial	44	Educational + Attitudinal 1st, Standard care 1st
Raynor, 1993	Effects of computer generated reminder charts on patients' compliance with drug regimens	191	Educational 1st, Educational + Technical 1st
Rich, 1995	A multidisciplinary intervention to prevent the readmission of elderly Patients with congestive heart failure	282	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Rich, 1996	Effect of a Multidisciplinary Intervention on Medication Compliance in Elderly Patients with Congestive Heart Failure	156	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Rigsby, 2000	Cue-dose Training with Monetary Reinforcement Pilot Study of an Antiretroviral Adherence Intervention	55	Technical 1st, Attitudinal + Technical + Rewards 1st, Standard care 1st

Rinfret, 2013	Telephone contact to improve adherence to dual antiplatelet therapy after drug-eluting stent implantation	300	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Roden, 1985	Evaluation of two techniques to improve drug Compliance in the elderly	84	Technical 1st, Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Rozenfeld, 1999	Assessing the Impact of Medication Consultations with a Medication Event Monitoring System	33	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Rubio-Valera, 2013	Evaluation of a pharmacist intervention on patients initiating pharmacological treatment for depression: A randomized controlled superiority trial	179	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Schaffer and Tian, 2004	Promoting Adherence Effects of Theory-Based Asthma Education	70	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Schmitz, 2005	Medication Compliance During a Smoking Cessation Clinical Trial: A Brief Intervention Using MEMS Feedback	97	Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Silveira, 2014	Randomized Controlled Trial to Evaluate the Impact of Pharmaceutical Care on Therapeutic Success in HIV-Infected Patients in Southern Brazil	332	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Smith, 2003	A medication self-management program to improve adherence to HIV therapy regimens	43	Educational + Attitudinal 1st, Standard care 1st
Strandbygaard, 2010	A daily SMS reminder increases adherence to asthma treatment: A three-month follow-up study	22	Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Sweeney, 1989	The impact of the clinical pharmacist on compliance in a geriatric population	103	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Tuldra, 2000	Prospective Randomized Two-Arm Controlled Study To Determine the Efficacy of a Specific Intervention To Improve Long-Term Adherence to Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy	116	Attitudinal 1st , Standard care 1st
Volpp, 2008	A test of financial incentives to improve warfarin adherence	45	Rewards 1st, Standard care 1st
Wagner, 2006	Cognitive-behavioral intervention to enhance adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a randomized controlled trial (CCTG 578)	199	Attitudinal 1st , Standard care 1st
Wagner, 2013	Pilot Controlled Trial of the Adherence Readiness Program: An Intervention to Assess and Sustain HIV Antiretroviral Adherence Readiness	60	Educational + Attitudinal 1st, Standard care 1st
Wakefield, 2009	Outcomes of a home telehealth intervention for patients with heart failure	89	Educational 1st, Standard care 1st
Wang, 2014	A Randomized Controlled Trial to Assess Adherence to Allergic Rhinitis Treatment following a Daily Short Message Service (SMS)	50	Technical 1st, Standard care 1st
Williams, 2006	Home Visits to Improve Adherence to Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy: A Randomized Controlled Trial	171	Educational + Attitudinal 1st, Standard care 1st
Williams, 2012	A multifactorial intervention to improve blood pressure control in co-existing diabetes and kidney disease: a feasibility randomized controlled trial	75	Educational + Attitudinal + Technical 1st, Standard care 1st

-	-		
Wong, 2013	Effectiveness of a Pharmacist-Led Drug Counseling	231	Educational +
	on Enhancing Antihypertensive Adherence and		Technical 1st,
	Blood Pressure Control: A Randomized Controlled		Standard care 1st
	Trial		
Wong, 2017	A pharmacy management service for adults with	157	Educational 1st,
	asthma: a cluster randomised controlled trial		Standard care 1st
Wu, 2012	Effect of a Medication-Taking Behavior Feedback,	82	Attitudinal 1st,
	Theory-Based Intervention on Outcomes in		Educational +
	Patients with Heart Failure		Attitudinal +
			Technical 1st,
			Standard care 1st
Wyatt, 2004	The Efficacy of an Integrated Risk Reduction	147	Attitudinal 1st,
	Intervention for HIV-PositiveWomen With Child		Standard care 1st
	Sexual Abuse Histories		
Zillich, 2005	Hypertension Outcomes Through Blood Pressure	125	Educational 1st,
	Monitoring and Evaluation by Pharmacists (HOME		Standard care 1st
	Study)		

Study ID	Titlo	Ctudy	Interventions
Study ID	litte	size	interventions
Altice, 2007	Superiority of Directly Administered Antiretroviral Therapy over Self-Administered Therapy among HIV- Infected Drug Users: A Prospective, Randomized, Controlled Trial	141	Technical 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Ball, 2006	A Randomized Controlled Trial of Cognitive Therapy for Bipolar Disorder: Focus on Long-Term Change	52	Standard care 2nd, Attitudinal 2nd
Basso, 2013	Exploring ART Intake Scenes in a Human Rights-Based Intervention to Improve Adherence: A Randomized Controlled Trial	108	Standard care 2nd, Educational + Attitudinal 2nd
Berg, 2011	Directly observed antiretroviral therapy improves adherence and viral load in drug users attending methadone maintenance clinics: a randomized controlled trial*	77	Technical 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Bessa, 2016	Prospective Randomized Trial Investigating the Influence of Pharmaceutical Care on the Intra- Individual Variability of Tacrolimus Concentrations Early After Kidney Transplant	124	Educational 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Beune, 2014	Culturally Adapted Hypertension Education (CAHE) to Improve Blood Pressure Control and Treatment Adherence in Patients of African Origin with Uncontrolled Hypertension: Cluster-Randomized Trial	139	Educational 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Blenkinsopp, 2000	Extended adherence 0 support Ir by 0 community pharmac with hypertension: a controlled trial	232	Educational 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Bosworth, 2008	Take Control of Your Blood pressure (TCYB) study: A multifactorial tailored behavioral and educational intervention for achieving blood pressure control	636	Standard care 2nd, Educational + Attitudinal + Technical 2nd
Bouvy, 2003	Effect of a Pharmacist-Led Intervention on Diuretic Compliance in Heart Failure Patients: A Randomized Controlled Study	152	Educational 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Brook, 2005	A Pharmacy-Based Coaching Program to Improve Adherence to Antidepressant Treatment Among Primary Care Patients	135	Educational 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Brown, 1997	Moderate Dose, Three-Drug Therapy With Niacin, Lovastatin, and Colestipol	29	Technical 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Burrelle, 1987	Evaluation of an Interdisciplinary Compliance Service for Elderly Hypertensives	16	Standard care 2nd, Educational + Technical 2nd
Calvert, 2012	Patient-focused intervention to improve long-term adherence to evidence-based medications: A randomized trial	143	Educational 2nd, Educational + Technical 2nd

Capoccia, 2004	Randomized trial of pharmacist interventions to improve depression care and outcomes in primary care	74	Standard care 2nd, Educational +
			Technical 2nd
Chaisson, 2001	A Randomized, Controlled Trial of Interventions to Improve Adherence to Isoniazid Therapy to Prevent Tuberculosis in Injection Drug Users	300	Technical 2nd, Educational 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Charles, 2007	An audiovisual reminder function improves adherence with inhaled corticosteroid therapy in asthma	90	Technical 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Cochran, 1984	Preventing Medical Noncompliance in the Outpatient Treatment of Bipolar Affective Disorders	28	Standard care 2nd, Attitudinal 2nd
Costa, 2008	Transdiciplinary approach to the follow-up of patients after myocardial infarction	142	Educational 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Da Costa, 2012	Results of a randomized controlled trial to assess the effects of a mobile SMS-based intervention on treatment adherence in HIV/AIDS-infected Brazilian women and impressions and satisfaction with respect to incoming messages	21	Technical 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Eron, 2000	Efficacy, safety, and adherence with a twice-daily combination lamivudine/zidovudine tablet formulation, plus a protease inhibitor, in HIV infection	223	Technical 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Evans, 2010	The Collaborative Cardiovascular Risk Reduction in Primary Care (CCARP) Study	176	Standard care 2nd, Educational + Technical 2nd
Falces, 2008	[An educative intervention to improve treatment compliance and to prevent readmissions of elderly patients with heart failure]	103	Educational 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Finley, 2003	Impact of a Collaborative Care Model on Depression in a Primary Care Setting: A Randomized Controlled Trial	125	Standard care 2nd, Educational + Technical 2nd
Foster, 2014	Inhaler reminders improve adherence with controller treatment in primary care patients with asthma	129	Technical 2nd, Educational 2nd, Standard care 2nd, Educational + Technical 2nd
Gamble, 2011	A study of a multi-level intervention to improve non- adherence in difficult to control asthma	18	Standard care 2nd, Educational + Attitudinal 2nd
García-Cardenas, 2013	"Effect of a pharmacist intervention on asthma control. A cluster randomised trial"	336	Standard care 2nd, Educational + Attitudinal 2nd

Geiter, 1987	United States public health service tuberculosis therapy Trial 21: preliminary results of an evaluation of a Combination tablet of isoniazid, rifampin and pyrazinamide	460	Technical 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Gross, 2009	Modified Directly Observed Antiretroviral Therapy Compared with Self-Administered Therapy in Treatment-Naïve HIV-1 Infected Patients: A Randomized Trial	243	Technical 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Gross, 2015	Partner-Focused Adherence Intervention for Second- line Antiretroviral Therapy: A Multinational Randomized Trial (ACTG A5234)	257	Standard care 2nd, Educational + Attitudinal + Technical 2nd
Holstad, 2012	Motivational Groups Support Adherence to Antiretroviral Therapy and use of Risk Reduction Behaviors in HIV Positive Nigerian Women: A Pilot Study	48	Educational 2nd, Attitudinal 2nd
Holzemer, 2006	Testing a Nurse-Tailored HIV Medication Adherence Intervention	180	Standard care 2nd, Educational + Attitudinal 2nd
Ingersoll, 2011	A Pilot Randomized Clinical Trial of Two Medication Adherence and Drug Use Interventions For HIV+ Crack Cocaine Users*	42	Educational 2nd, Attitudinal 2nd
Jarab, 2012	Randomized Controlled Trial of Clinical Pharmacy Management of Patients with Type 2 Diabetes in an Outpatient Diabetes Clinic in Jordan	171	Educational 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Johnson, 2011	Improving Coping Skills for Self-management of Treatment Side Effects Can Reduce Antiretroviral Medication Nonadherence among People Living with HIV	249	Standard care 2nd, Educational + Attitudinal 2nd
Joost, 2014	Intensified pharmaceutical care is improving immunosuppressive medication adherence in kidney transplant recipients during the first post-transplant year: a guasi-experimental study	74	Standard care 2nd, Educational + Technical 2nd
Katon, 1996	A Multifaceted Intervention to Improve Treatment of Depression in Primary Care	153	Standard care 2nd, Educational + Attitudinal 2nd
Kelly, 1990	Medication Compliance and Health Education Among Outpatients With Chronic Mental Disorders	418	Educational 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Klang, 2015	Community pharmacists' support improves antidepressant adherence in the community	12919	Technical 2nd, Standard care 2nd
Koenig, 2008	Randomized Controlled Trial of an Intervention to Prevent Adherence Failure Among HIV-Infected Patients Initiating Antiretroviral Therapy	226	Standard care 2nd, Educational + Attitudinal + Technical 2nd

Konkle-Parker,	Pilot testing of an HIV medication adherence	36	Standard care
2012	intervention in a public clinic in the Deep South		2nd, Attitudinal
			2nd
Konkle-Parker,	"Effects of an Intervention Addressing Information,	100	Standard care
2014	Motivation, and Behavioral Skills on HIV Care		2nd,
	Adherence in a Southern Clinic Cohort"		Educational +
			Attitudinal +
			Technical 2nd
Kopelowicz, 2003	Disease Management in Latinos With Schizophrenia:	92	Standard care
	A Family-Assisted, Skills Training Approach		2nd,
			Educational +
			Attitudinal 2nd
Kronish, 2012	The Effect of Enhanced Depression Care on	157	Standard care
,	Adherence to Risk Reducing Behaviors after Acute		2nd, Attitudinal
	Coronary Syndromes: Findings from the COPES Trial		2nd
Lee. 1996	Assessing Medication Adherence by Pill Count and	313	Technical 2nd.
,	Electronic Monitoring in the African American Shdy of		Standard care
	Kidney Disease and Hypertension (AASK) Pilot Study		2nd
Levin. 2006	A Randomized Trial of Educational Materials.	49	Standard care
- ,	Pillboxes, and Mailings to Improve Adherence with	_	2nd,
	Antiretroviral Therapy in an Inner City HIV Clinic		Educational +
			Technical 2nd
Levine, 1979	Health Education for Hypertensive Patients	325	Standard care
,			2nd.
			Educational +
			Attitudinal 2nd
Lopez Cabezas,	Randomized clinical trial of a postdischarge	74	Educational
2006	pharmaceutical care program vs. regular follow-up in		2nd, Standard
	patients with heart failure		care 2nd
Magid, 2011	A Multimodal Blood Pressure Control Intervention in	283	Educational
0,	3 Healthcare Systems		2nd,
			Educational +
			Technical 2nd
Marquez	Effectiveness of an intervention to provide	67	Standard care
Contreas, 2004	information to patients with hypertension as short		2nd,
	text messages and reminders sent to their mobile		Educational +
	phone (HTA-Alert)		Technical 2nd
Marquez-	Effectiveness of an Intervention to Provide	67	Educational
Contreras, 2004	Information to Patients With Hypertension as Short		2nd, Standard
	Text Messages of Reminders Sent to Their Mobile		care 2nd
	Phone (HTA-Alert)		
Marquez-	Efficacy of telephone and mail intervention in patient	538	Technical 2nd,
Contreras, 2005	compliance with antihypertensive drugs in		Educational
	hypertension. ETECUM-HTA study		2nd, Standard
			care 2nd
Marquez-	Therapy compliance in cases of hyperlipaemia, as	220	Technical 2nd,
Contreras, 2007	measured through electronic monitors. Is a reminder		Standard care
	calendar to avoid forgetfulness effective?		2nd
Matsumura, 2012	Does a Combination Pill of Antihypertensive Drugs	207	Technical 2nd,
	Improve Medication Adherence in Japanese?		Standard care
			2nd

Mbuagbaw, 2012	Mobile phone text messages for improving	200	Technical 2nd,
	adherence to antiretroviral therapy (ART): an		Standard care
	individual patient data meta-analysis of randomised		2nd
	trials		
McKenney, 1973	The Effect of Clinical Pharmacy Services on Patients	49	Educational
	with Essential Hypertension		2nd, Standard
			care 2nd
McKinstry, 2013	Telemonitoring based service redesign for the	401	Technical 2nd,
	management of uncontrolled hypertension:		Standard care
	multicentre randomised controlled trial		2nd
Mckenney, 1978	Effect of Pharmacist Drug Monitoring and Patient	135	Educational
	Education on Hypertensive Patients		2nd, Standard
			care 2nd
Mehos, 2000	Effect of Pharmacist Intervention and Initiation of	36	Educational
,	Home Blood Pressure Monitoring in Patients with		2nd.
	Uncontrolled Hypertension		Educational +
			Technical 2nd
Mehuvs. 2008	Effectiveness of pharmacist intervention for asthma	150	Educational
	control improvement		2nd. Standard
			care 2nd
Mols. 2015	Visualization of Coronary Artery Calcification:	189	Educational
111010, 2010	Influence on Risk Modification	105	2nd Standard
			care 2nd
Montori 2011	Use of a Decision Aid to Improve Treatment Decisions	100	Educational
1011011, 2011	in Osteonorosis: The Osteonorosis Choice	100	2nd Standard
	Randomized Trial		care 2nd
Moss 2010	Impact of a patient-support program on mesalamine	62	Standard care
10000, 2010	adherence in patients with ulcerative colitis $- \Lambda$	02	2nd
	nrospective study		Educational +
			Attitudinal 2nd
Nachega 2010	Bandomized Controlled Trial of Trained Patient-	27/	Standard care
Nachega, 2010	Nominated Treatment Supporters Providing Partial	2/4	2nd
	Directly Observed Antiretroviral Therapy		Educational +
	Directly Observed Antirectovital merapy		Technical 2nd
Nazaroth 2001	A pharmacy discharge plan for hospitalized elderly	362	Standard care
Nazaretti, 2001	nationts – a randomized controlled trial	502	2nd
			Educational +
			Attitudinal 2nd
Nunes 2006	Rehavioral Therapy to Augment Oral Naltreyope for	60	Educational
Nulles, 2000	Onioid Dependence: A Coiling on Effectiveness?	09	2nd Attitudinal
	Opioid Dependence. A centing on Effectiveness:		+ Powards 2nd
Octhring 2014	Modication boliefs and solf reported adherence	21	+ Newalus 2110
OSLUTING, 2014	regults of a pharmasist's consultations a pilot study	21	
	results of a pharmacist's consultation, a phot study		2nd 2nd
Darcons 2007	Motivational Interviewing and Cognitive Debeying	115	Educational
Parsons, 2007	Intervention to Improve HIV Medication Adherence	112	
	Among Hazardous Drinkors: A Danderstad		2nd, Attitudinal
	Among Hazardous Drinkers: A Kandomized		Znu
Deemen 2007	Controlled Irial	250	Chandard
Pearson, 2007	Randomized Control Irial of Peer-Delivered, Modified	350	Standard care
	Directly Observed Therapy for HAART In Mozambique	1	zna,

			Educational +
			Technical 2nd
Petrie, 2012	A text message programme designed to modify	103	Educational
	patients' illness and treatment beliefs improves self-		2nd, Standard
	reported adherence to asthma preventer medication		care 2nd
Pladevall, 2010	A multi-center cluster-randomized trial of a	875	Standard care
	multifactorial Intervention to improve		2nd,
	antihypertensive Medication adherence and blood		Educational +
	pressure control Among patients at high		Attitudinal 2nd
	cardiovascular risk (the Com99 study)*		
Pradier, 2003	Efficacy of an Educational and Counseling	202	Standard care
,	Intervention on Adherence to Highly Active		2nd,
	Antiretroviral Therapy: French Prospective		Educational +
			Attitudinal 2nd
Purcell. 2007	Results From a Randomized Controlled Trial of a	405	Educational
	Peer-Mentoring Intervention to Reduce HIV		2nd. Attitudinal
	Transmission and Increase Access to Care and		2nd
	Adherence		2110
Pvne 2011	Effectiveness of Collaborative Care for Depression in	194	Standard care
1 ync, 2011	Human Immunodeficiency Virus Clinics	134	2nd
	Trainan minunou chereney virus cimes		Educational +
			Technical 2nd
Ramirez-Garcia &	An Individualized Intervention to Foster Ontimal	11	Standard care
	Antiretroviral Treatment-Taking Behavior Among		2nd
Cole, 2012	Porsons Living With HIV: A Dilot Pondomized		Educational +
	Controlled Trial		Attitudinal 2nd
Pawlings 2002	Impact of an Educational Program on Efficacy and	105	Educational
Rawlings, 2005	Adherence With a Twice Daily	195	2nd Standard
	Lamiyuding/Zidoyuding/Abasayir Bogimon in		2110, Statiuaru
	Lanivuume/Ziuovuume/Abacavii Regimen in		
Pobdor 1090	Improving modication compliance by counceling and	100	Tochnical 2nd
Render, 1980	improving medication compliance by courseling and	100	Technical Zhu,
	special prescription container		Educational
			Znu, Stanuaru
			care zno,
			Educational +
Dinfrot 2012	Tolophono contact to improve adherence to due!	200	
Riffiel, 2013	antiplate let the rank often drive adherence to dual	300	
	implated therapy after drug-eluting stent		Zna, Standara
Dubie Melana	Implantation	170	Care Zno
Rubio-Valera,	Evaluation of a pharmacist intervention on patients	1/9	Educational
2013	initiating pharmacological treatment for depression:		2nd, Standard
0 1 11 4075	A randomized controlled superiority trial		care 2nd
Sackett, 1975	Randomised clinical trial of strategies for improving	230	Educational
	medication compliance in primary hypertension		2nd, Standard
		60	care 2nd
Satren, 2003	Use of an on-line pager system to increase adherence	60	Technical 2nd,
	to antiretroviral medications		Standard care
			2nd
Samet, 2005	A randomized controlled trial to enhance	138	Standard care
	antiretroviral therapy adherence in patients with a		2nd,
	history of alcohol problems		Educational +

			Attitudinal +
			Technical 2nd
Saunders, 1991	A Randomized Controlled Trial of Compliance	115	Educational
	Improving Strategies in Soweto Hypertensives		2nd,
			Educational +
			Technical 2nd
Schaffer and Tian,	Promoting Adherence Effects of Theory-Based	70	Educational
2004	Asthma Education		2nd, Standard
			care 2nd
Selke, 2010	Task-Shifting of Antiretroviral Delivery From Health	208	Educational
	Care Workers to Persons Living With HIV/AIDS:		2nd, Standard
	Clinical Outcomes of a Community-Based Program in		care 2nd
	Kenya		
Sherrard, 2009	Using Technology to Create a Medication Safety Net	331	Technical 2nd,
	for Cardiac Surgery Patients: A Nurse-Led		Standard care
	Randomized Control Trial		2nd
Simon, 2011	Randomized Trial of Depression Follow-Up Care by	208	Technical 2nd,
	Online Messaging		Standard care
			2nd
Simoni, 2013	A Preliminary RCT of CBT-AD for Adherence and	40	Standard care
	Depression among HIV-Positive Latinos on the U.S. –		2nd,
	Mexico Border: The Nuevo Día Study		Educational +
			Attitudinal +
			Technical 2nd
Sookaneknun,	Pharmacist Involvement in Primary Care Improves	235	Standard care
2004	Hypertensive Patient Clinical Outcomes		2nd,
			Educational +
			Technical 2nd
Stacy, 2009	Incorporating Tailored Interactive Patient Solutions	497	Standard care
	Using Interactive Voice Response Technology to		2nd,
	Improve Statin Adherence: Results of a Randomized		Educational +
	Clinical Trial in a Managed Care Setting		Technical 2nd
Stewart, 2014	A multifaceted pharmacist intervention to improve	354	Standard care
	antihypertensive adherence: a cluster-randomized,		2nd,
	controlled trial (HAPPy trial)		Educational +
			Attitudinal +
		-	Technical 2nd
Taiwo, 2010	Assessing the Viorologic and Adherence Benefits of	499	Technical 2nd,
	Patient-Selected HIV Treatment Partners in a		Standard care
	Resource-limited Setting	-	2nd
Tsuyuki, 2004	A Multicenter Disease Management Program for	276	Standard care
	Hospitalized Patients With Heart Failure		2nd,
			Educational +
			Technical 2nd
Tuldra, 2000	Prospective Randomized Two-Arm Controlled Study	116	Standard care
	To Determine the Efficacy of a Specific Intervention		2nd, Attitudinal
	To Improve Long-Term Adherence to Highly Active		2nd
	Antiretroviral Therapy	1.0-	
Wagner, 2006	Cognitive-behavioral intervention to enhance	199	Standard care
	adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a randomized		2nd, Attitudinal
	controlled trial (CCTG 578)		2nd

Wagner, 2013	Pilot Controlled Trial of the Adherence Readiness	60	Standard care
	Program: An Intervention to Assess and Sustain HIV		2nd,
	Antiretroviral Adherence Readiness		Educational +
			Attitudinal 2nd
Wakefield, 2009	Outcomes of a home telehealth intervention for	89	Educational
	patients with heart failure		2nd, Standard
			care 2nd
Wald, 2014	Randomised Trial of Text Messaging on Adherence to	301	Technical 2nd,
	Cardiovascular Preventive treatment (INTERACT Trial)		Standard care
			2nd
Williams, 2006	Home Visits to Improve Adherence to Highly Active	171	Standard care
	Antiretroviral Therapy: A Randomized Controlled Trial		2nd,
			Educational +
			Attitudinal 2nd
Williams, 2014	Efficacy of an Evidence-Based ARV Adherence	110	Standard care
	Intervention in China		2nd,
			Educational +
			Attitudinal 2nd
Wohl, 2006	A Randomized Trial of Directly Administered	96	Technical 2nd,
	Antiretroviral Therapy and Adherence Case		Educational
	Management Intervention		2nd, Standard
			care 2nd
Wong, 2013	Effectiveness of a Pharmacist-Led Drug Counseling on	231	Standard care
	Enhancing Antihypertensive Adherence and Blood		2nd,
	Pressure Control: A Randomized Controlled Trial		Educational +
			Technical 2nd
Wong, 2017	A pharmacy management service for adults with	157	Educational
	asthma: a cluster randomised controlled trial		2nd, Standard
			care 2nd
Zaretsky, 2008	Is Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy More Effective Than	79	Educational
	Psychoeducation in Bipolar Disorder?		2nd,
			Educational +
			Attitudinal 2nd
van Gent, 1991	Psychoeducation of partners of bipolar-manic	39	Educational
	patients		2nd, Standard
			care 2nd

Study ID	Title	Stud	Interventions
		y size	
Asplund, 1984	Patients compliance in hypertension-the importance of number of tablets	160	Technical 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Brown, 1997	Moderate Dose, Three-Drug Therapy With Niacin, Lovastatin, and Colestipol to Reduce Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol ò100 mg/dl in Patients With Hyperlipidemia and Coronary Artery Disease	29	Technical 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Capoccia, 2004	Randomized trial of pharmacist interventions to improve depression care and outcomes in primary care	74	Educational + Technical 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Castellano, 2014	A Polypill Strategy to Improve Adherence Results From the FOCUS Project	695	Technical 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Dusing, 2009	Impact of supportive measures on drug adherence in patients with essential hypertension treated with valsartan: the randomized, open-label, parallel group study VALIDATE	202	Educational + Technical 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Johnson, 2011	Improving Coping Skills for Self-management of Treatment Side Effects Can Reduce Antiretroviral Medication Nonadherence among People Living with HIV	249	Educational + Attitudinal 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Katon, 1996	A Multifaceted Intervention to Improve Treatment of Depression in Primary Care	153	Educational + Attitudinal 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Kronish, 2012	The Effect of Enhanced Depression Care on Adherence to Risk Reducing Behaviors after Acute Coronary Syndromes: Findings from the COPES Trial	157	Attitudinal 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Margolin, 2003	A Randomized Clinical Trial of a Manual-Guided Risk Reduction Intervention for HIV-Positive Injection Drug Users	69	Educational + Attitudinal 3rd, Educational 3rd
Peterson, 1984	A Randomised Trial of Strategies to Improve Patient Compliance with Anticonvulsant Therapy	53	Educational + Technical 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Powell, 1995	Failure of educational videotapes to improve medication compliance in a health maintenance organization	4246	Educational 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Rathburn, 2005	Impact of an Adherence Clinic on Behavioral Outcomes and Virologic Response in the Treatment of HIV Infection: A Prospective, Randomized, Controlled Pilot Study	33	Educational + Technical 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Simoni, 2009	An RCT of Peer Support and Pager Messaging to Promote Antiretroviral Therapy Adherence and Clinical	224	Educational + Attitudinal + Technical 3rd.

	Outcomes among Adults Initiating or Modifying Therapy in Seattle, WA, USA		Educational + Attitudinal 3rd, Educational + Technical 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Simoni, 2013	"A Preliminary RCT of CBT-AD for Adherence and Depression among HIV-Positive Latinos on the U.S. – Mexico Border: The Nuevo Día Study"	40	Educational + Attitudinal + Technical 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Smith, 2008	A Randomized Trial of Direct-to-Patient Communication to Enhance Adherence to B-Blocker Therapy Following Myocardial Infarction	888	Educational 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Velligan, 2008	The Use of Individually Tailored Environmental Supports to Improve Medication Adherence and Outcomes in Schizophrenia	61	Attitudinal 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Williams, 2006	Home Visits to Improve Adherence to Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy: A Randomized Controlled Trial	171	Educational + Attitudinal 3rd, Standard care 3rd
Wu, 2012	Effect of a Medication-Taking Behavior Feedback, Theory-Based Intervention on Outcomes in Patients with Heart Failure	82	Educational + Attitudinal + Technical 3rd, Attitudinal 3rd, Standard care 3rd
210 months	1	1	
-------------------	--	-------	---
Study ID	Title	Study	Interventions
Antonicelli, 2010	Impact of Home Patient Telemonitoring on Use of ß-Blockers in Congestive Heart Failure	57	Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Ball, 2006	A Randomized Controlled Trial of Cognitive Therapy for Bipolar Disorder: Focus on Long-Term Change	52	Attitudinal 4th, Standard care 4th
Boyle, 2008	Randomization to Once-Daily Stavudine Extended Release/Lamivudine/Efavirenz Versus a More Frequent Regimen Improves Adherence While Maintaining Viral Suppression	300	Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Brankin, 2006	The impact of dosing frequency on compliance and persistence with bisphosphonates among postmenopausal women in the UK: evidence from three databases	15330	Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Broekhuizen, 2012	Can Multiple Lifestyle Behaviours Be Improved in People with Familial Hypercholesterolemia? Results of a Parallel Randomised Controlled Trial	224	Educational + Attitudinal 4th, Standard care 4th
Capoccia, 2004	Randomized trial of pharmacist interventions to improve depression care and outcomes in primary care	74	Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Chang, 2010	Effect of Peer Health Workers on AIDS Care in Rakai, Uganda: A Cluster-Randomized Trial	1203	Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Choudhry, 2011	Full Coverage for Preventive Medications after Myocardial Infarction	5855	Rewards 4th, Standard care 4th
Clowes, 2004	The Impact of Monitoring on Adherence and Persistence with Antiresorptive Treatment for Postmenopausal Osteoporosis: A Randomized Controlled Trial	48	Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Collier, 2005	A Randomized Study of Serial Telephone Call Support to Increase Adherence and Thereby Improve Virologic Outcome in Persons Initiating Antiretroviral Therapy	101	Educational + Attitudinal 4th, Standard care 4th
Cramer, 2005	Compliance and persistence with bisphosphonate dosing regimens among women with postmenopausal osteoporosis	2741	Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Cramer, 2006	The Effect of Dosing Frequency on Compliance and Persistence with Bisphosphonate Therapy in Postmenopausal Women: A Comparison of Studies in the United States, the United Kingdom, and France	15640	Technical 4th, Standard care 4th

Delmas, 2007	Effect of Monitoring Bone Turnover Markers on	2302	Technical 4th,
	Persistence with Risedronate Treatment of		Standard care
	Postmenopausal Osteoporosis		4th
Derose, 2013	Automated Outreach to Increase Primary	5216	Educational +
	Adherence to Cholesterol-Lowering Medications		Technical 4th,
			Standard care
			4th
Edworthy, 2007	Effects of an enhanced secondary prevention	2643	Educational
	program for patients with heart disease: A		4th, Standard
	prospective randomized trial		care 4th
Eron, 2004	Once-Daily versus Twice-Daily Lopinavir/Ritonavir	38	Technical 4th,
	in Antiretroviral-Naive HIV-Positive Patients: A 48-		Standard care
	Week Randomized Clinical Trial		4th
Eussen, 2010	A Pharmaceutical Care Program to Improve	899	Educational
	Adherence to Statin Therapy: A Randomized		4th, Standard
	Controlled Trial		care 4th
Falces, 2008	[An educative intervention to improve treatment	103	Educational
	compliance and to prevent readmissions of elderly		4th, Standard
	patients with heart failure]		care 4th
Gallant, 2006	Tenofovir DF, Emtricitabine, and Efavirenz vs.	509	Technical 4th,
	Zidovudine, Lamivudine, and Efavirenz for HIV		Standard care
			4th
Gamble, 2011	A study of a multi-level intervention to improve	18	Educational +
	non-adherence in difficult to control asthma		Attitudinal 4th,
			Standard care
	• • • • • • • •		4th
Glanz, 2012	Impact of a Health Communication Intervention to	302	Educational +
	Improve Glaucoma Treatment Adherence: Results		Technical 4th,
	of the I-SIGHT Trial		Standard care
			4th
Goswami, 2013	Impact of an integrated intervention program on	208	Educational
	atorvastatin adherence: a randomized controlled		4th, Standard
Crees 2012	trial	100	Care 4th
Gross, 2013	Therease Adhereases A Deciderational Trial	180	Educational +
	merapy Aunerence: A Randomized That		Attituuinai +
			Standard caro
			Ath
Gurial 2014	Impact of community pharmacist intervention	200	Attitudinal 4th
Ourjai, 2014	discussing natients' beliefs to improve medication	200	Standard care
	adherence		4th
Hadii 2013	The Patient's Anastrozole Compliance to Therapy	2800	Educational +
1100]1, 2010	(PACT) Program: a randomized in-practice study	2000	Technical 4th
	on the impact of a standardized information		Standard care
	program on persistence and compliance to		4th
	adjuvant endocrine therapy in postmenopausal		
	women with early breast cancer ⁺		
Hawkins, 1979	Evaluation of a clinical pharmacist in caring for	137	Educational
, -	hypertensive and diabetic patients		4th, Standard
			care 4th

Hirsch, 2009	Evaluation of the First Year of a Pilot Program in	7018	Educational
	Community Pharmacy: HIV/AIDS Medication		4th, Standard
	Therapy Management for Medi-Cal Beneficiaries		care 4th
Hirsch, 2011	Antiretroviral Therapy Adherence, Medication Use,	2234	Educational +
	and Health Care Costs During 3 Years of a		Technical 4th,
	Community Pharmacy Medication Therapy		Standard care
	Management Program for Medi-Cal Beneficiaries		4th
	with HIV/AIDS		
Ho, 2014	Multifaceted Intervention to Improve Medication	241	Educational +
	Adherence and Secondary Prevention Measures		Technical 4th,
	After Acute Coronary Syndrome Hospital Discharge		Standard care
	A Randomized Clinical Trial		4th
Homer, 2009	Providing patients with information about disease-	62	Educational
	modifying antirheumatic drugs: Individually or in		4th,
	groups? A pilot randomized controlled trial		Educational +
	comparing adherence and satisfaction		Technical 4th
Hornnes, 2011	Blood Pressure 1 Year after Stroke: The Need to	293	Educational +
	Optimize Secondary Prevention		Technical 4th,
			Standard care
			4th
Hunt, 2008	A Randomized Controlled Trial of Team-Based	272	Educational +
	Care: Impact of Physician-Pharmacist Collaboration		Technical 4th,
	on Uncontrolled Hypertension		Standard care
			4th
Johnson, 2011	Improving Coping Skills for Self-management of	249	Educational +
	Treatment Side Effects Can Reduce Antiretroviral		Attitudinal 4th,
	Medication Nonadherence among People Living		Standard care
	with HIV		4th
Joost, 2014	Intensified pharmaceutical care is improving	74	Educational +
	immunosuppressive medication adherence in		Technical 4th,
	kidney transplant recipients during the first post-		Standard care
	transplant year: a quasi-experimental study		4th
Kellaway, 1979	The effect of counselling on compliance-failure in	757	Educational +
	patient drug therapy		Technical 4th,
			Standard care
			4th
Kiweewa, 2013	Noninferiority of a Task-Shifting HIV Care and	85	Educational
	Treatment Model Using Peer Counselors and		4th, Standard
	Nurses Among Ugandan Women Initiated on ART:		care 4th
	Evidence From a Randomized Trial		
Konkle-Parker, 2014	"Effects of an Intervention Addressing Information,	100	Educational +
	Motivation, and Behavioral Skills on HIV Care		Attitudinal +
	Adherence in a Southern Clinic Cohort"		Technical 4th,
			Standard care
			4th
Кооу, 2013	Does the use of an electronic reminder device with	381	Technical 4th,
	or without counseling improve adherence to lipid-		Attitudinal +
	lowering treatment? The results of a randomized		Technical 4th,
	controlled trial		Standard care
			4th

Lam, 2003	A Randomized Controlled Study of Cognitive	103	Attitudinal 4th,
	Therapy for Relapse Prevention for Bipolar		Standard care
	Affective Disorder		4th
Lester, 2010	Effects of a mobile phone short message service on	538	Technical 4th,
	antiretroviral treatment adherence in Kenya		Standard care
	(WelTel Kenya1): a randomised trial		4th
Lopez Cabezas,	Randomized clinical trial of a postdischarge	63	Educational
2006	pharmaceutical care program vs. regular follow-up		4th, Standard
	in patients with heart failure		care 4th
Lucas, 2013	Directly Administered Antiretroviral Therapy for	107	Technical 4th,
,	HIVInfected Individuals in Opioid Treatment		Standard care
	Programs: Results from a Randomized Clinical Trial		4th
Malotte, 2001	Incentives vs Outreach Workers for Latent	163	Rewards +
,	Tuberculosis Treatment in Drug Users		Technical 4th.
			Technical 4th
Markopoulous.	Does patient education work in breast cancer?	2757	Educational
2015	Final results from the global CARIATIDE study		4th. Standard
			care 4th
Molina 2007	A Lopinavir/Ritonavir-Based Once-Daily Regimen	190	Technical 4th
	Results in Better Compliance and Is Non-inferior to		Standard care
	a Twice-Daily Regimen Through 96 Weeks		4th
Morisky 1985	Evaluation of family health education to build	290	Educational
Wiensky, 1909	social support for long-term control of high blood	250	4th Standard
	pressure		care 4th
Morisky 1990	A Patient Education Program to Improve	88	Educational +
	Adherence Rates with Antituberculosis Drug		Attitudinal +
	Regimens		Rewards 4th.
			Standard care
			4th
Moshkovska. 2011	Impact of a Tailored Patient Preference	71	Educational +
, -	Intervention in Adherence to 5-Aminosalicylic Acid		Attitudinal +
	Medication in Ulcerative Colitis: Results from an		Technical 4th.
	Exploratory Randomized Controlled Trial		Standard care
			4th
Mugusi, 2009	Enhancing adherence to antiretroviral therapy at	621	Technical 4th,
	the HIV clinic in resource constrained countries;		Educational +
	the Tanzanian experience		Technical 4th,
			Standard care
			4th
Munoz, 2009	Community-based DOT-HAART Accompaniment in	120	Educational +
	an Urban Resource-Poor Setting		Technical 4th,
			Standard care
			4th
Nielson, 2010	Patient education in groups increases knowledge of	300	Educational
	osteoporosis and adherence to treatment: A two-		4th, Standard
	year randomized controlled trial		care 4th
Ogedegbe, 2008	A Practice-based Trial of Motivational Interviewing	160	Attitudinal 4th,
	and Adherence in Hypertensive 065African		Standard care
	Americans		4th

Ogedegbe, 2012	A Randomized Controlled Trial of Positive-Affect Intervention and Medication Adherence in Hypertensive African Americans	256	Educational 4th, Educational + Attitudinal 4th
Pagoto, 2013	Can attention control conditions have detrimental effects in behavioral medicine randomized trials?	235	Educational 4th, Standard care 4th
Palacio, 2015	Can Phone-Based Motivational Interviewing Improve Medication Adherence to Antiplatelet Medications After a Coronary Stent Among Racial Minorities? A Randomized Trial	339	Attitudinal 4th, Educational 4th
Pearson, 2007	Randomized Control Trial of Peer-Delivered, Modified Directly Observed Therapy for HAART in Mozambique	350	Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Piette, 2000	Do Automated Calls with Nurse Follow-up Improve Self-Care and Glycemic Control among Vulnerable Patients with Diabetes?	248	Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Piette, 2001	Impact of Automated Calls With Nurse Follow-Up on Diabetes Treatment Outcomes in a Department of Veterans Affairs Health Care System A randomized controlled trial	272	Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Pop-Eleches, 2011	Mobile phone technologies improve adherence to antiretroviral treatment in a resource-limited setting: a randomized controlled trial of text message reminders	428	Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Purcell, 2007	Results From a Randomized Controlled Trial of a Peer-Mentoring Intervention to Reduce HIV Transmission and Increase Access to Care and Adherence	408	Attitudinal 4th, Educational 4th
Pyne, 2011	Effectiveness of Collaborative Care for Depression in Human Immunodeficiency Virus Clinics	178	Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Rabenda, 2008a	Adherence to bisphosphonates therapy and hip fracture risk in osteoporotic women	29157	Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Rabenda, 2008b	Low Incidence of Anti-Osteoporosis Treatment After Hip Fracture	306	Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Reinares, 2008	Impact of caregiver group psychoeducation on the course and outcome of bipolar patients in remission: a randomized controlled trial	113	Educational + Attitudinal 4th, Standard care 4th
Reynolds, 2008	Telephone Support to Improve Antiretroviral Medication Adherence	109	Educational 4th, Educational + Attitudinal 4th

Rinfret, 2013	Telephone contact to improve adherence to dual antiplatelet therapy after drug-eluting stent implantation	300	Educational 4th, Standard care 4th
Sabin, 2010	Using Electronic Drug Monitor Feedback to Improve Adherence to Antiretroviral Therapy Among HIV-Positive Patients in China	64	Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Sadik, 2005	Pharmaceutical care of patients with heart failure	208	Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Samet, 2005	A randomized controlled trial to enhance antiretroviral therapy adherence in patients with a history of alcohol problems	94	Educational + Attitudinal + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Selke, 2010	Task-Shifting of Antiretroviral Delivery From Health Care Workers to Persons Living With HIV/AIDS: Clinical Outcomes of a Community-Based Program in Kenya	208	Educational 4th, Standard care 4th
Shet, 2014	Effect of mobile telephone reminders on treatment outcome in HIV: evidence from a randomised controlled trial in India	631	Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Silveira, 2014	Randomized Controlled Trial to Evaluate the Impact of Pharmaceutical Care on Therapeutic Success in HIV-Infected Patients in Southern Brazil	332	Educational 4th, Standard care 4th
Soloman, 2012	Osteoporosis Telephonic Intervention to Improve Medication Adherence (OPTIMA): A Large Pragmatic Randomized Controlled Trial	2087	Attitudinal 4th, Educational 4th
Sosa, 2005	Abacavir and Lamivudine Fixed-Dose Combination Tablet	236	Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Su and Pergn, 2002	Fixed-dose combination chemotherapy (Rifater [®] /Rifinah [®]) for active pulmonary tuberculosis in Taiwan: a two-year follow-up	52	Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Taiwo, 2010	Assessing the Viorologic and Adherence Benefits of Patient-Selected HIV Treatment Partners in a Resource-limited Setting	499	Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Taylor, 2003	Improving primary care in rural Alabama with a pharmacy initiative	69	Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Thom, 2013	Effects of a Fixed-Dose Combination Strategy on Adherence and Risk Factors in Patients With or at High Risk of CVD The UMPIRE Randomized Clinical Trial	1860	Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Tuldra, 2000	Prospective Randomized Two-Arm Controlled Study To Determine the Efficacy of a Specific Intervention To Improve Long-Term Adherence to Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy	116	Attitudinal 4th, Standard care 4th

Valencia, 2008	A psychosocial skills training approach in Mexican out-patients with schizophrenia	82	Educational 4th, Standard care 4th
Varma, 1999	Pharmaceutical Care of Patients with Congestive Heart Failure: Interventions and Outcomes	49	Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Velligan, 2008	The Use of Individually Tailored Environmental Supports to Improve Medication Adherence and Outcomes in Schizophrenia	61	Attitudinal 4th, Standard care 4th
Villeneuve, 2010	A cluster randomized controlled Trial to Evaluate an Ambulatory primary care Management program for patients with dyslipidemia: the TEAM study	225	Educational 4th, Standard care 4th
Vollmer, 2014	Improving Adherence to Cardiovascular Disease Medications With Information Technology	21752	Technical 4th, Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Wagner, 2006	Cognitive-behavioral intervention to enhance adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a randomized controlled trial (CCTG 578)	199	Attitudinal 4th, Standard care 4th
Wang, 2011	Effects of pharmaceutical care interventions on blood pressure and medication adherence of patients with primary hypertension in China	59	Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Weber, 2004	Effect of individual cognitive behaviour intervention on adherence to antiretroviral therapy: prospective randomized trial	60	Attitudinal 4th, Standard care 4th
Williams, 2006	Home Visits to Improve Adherence to Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy: A Randomized Controlled Trial	171	Educational + Attitudinal 4th, Standard care 4th
Williams, 2014	Efficacy of an Evidence-Based ARV Adherence Intervention in China	110	Educational + Attitudinal 4th, Standard care 4th
Windsor, 1990	Evaluation of the Efficacy and Cost Effectiveness of Health Education Methods to Increase Medication Adherence among Adults with Asthma	267	Educational 4th, Standard care 4th
Xavier, 2016	"Community health worker-based intervention for adherence to drugs and lifestyle change after acute coronary syndrome: a multicentre, open, randomised controlled trial"	750	Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th
Ziller, 2013	Influence of a patient information program on adherence and persistence with an aromatase inhibitor in breast cancer treatment - the COMPAS study	171	Educational 4th, Educational + Technical 4th, Standard care 4th

Zillich, 2012	Evaluation of Specialized Medication Packaging Combined With Medication Therapy Management: Adherence, Outcomes, and Costs Among Medicaid Patients	14621	Educational 4th, Standard care 4th
Zwikker, 2014	Effectiveness of a group-based intervention to change medication beliefs and improve medication adherence in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: A randomized controlled trial	123	Attitudinal 4th, Educational 4th

S1 Fig. Risk of bias graph



able. Risk of bias summary	Random sequence generation (selection blas)	Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Blinding of participants and personnel (performance blas)	Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias)	Incomplete outcome data (attrition pras):	Selective reporting (reporting bias).	Other bias	
Adeyemo,	2013 ?	(?)	Ö.	۲	0	۲		
Aguwa,	2008	?	?	•	Θ		?	
. Alhalaiqa,	2012	(?	۲	2	•	•	
Aljúmáh	2015	?		۲	۲		۲	
Al-Saffar,	2005 🤶	2	۲	۲		۲	?	d
Altiče,	2007	1	0	2	0	۲	۲	
Amado,	2011 2	2	1	۲	۲	۲	•	
Anderson,	2010 🤶	?	?	۲	۲	۲		
Andrade,	2005 🥐	(<mark>?</mark>	:	?	۲	۲	•	
Andrejak,	2000	?	0	•	?		?	
Antoni,	2006 🚺	2	2	۲	۲	•	?	1
Antonicelli	2010		?		0	Ð	١	
Apter,	2011	?	?	•		۲		
,Armour,	2007	?		?	۲	۲	۲	
Arora,	2014	2	?	۲	۲	۲		
Asplund	1984 🤶	. ?	?	۲	0	۲	?	
Azrin,	1998	(?)	0	•		۲	?]
. Babamoto,	2009	(:	۲	Θ		?	
Bajley,	1990 💽	Ó		۲			?	I
Báiley,	1999		?	۲		Ð	?	ı
Baird,	1984 🥐	?	?	•	2	?	?	d
Ball,	2006	2	:	?	0	:	?	
		l 👝 i	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	\sim	<u>~</u>	° 🧀 👘	1

S3 Ta

. Basso, 2013	۲	۲ <mark>۵</mark>	.	۱ ۱)		?	
Begley, 1997	1	(ð	, O ,	1	١		4
Bender, 2010	١		1		?		۲	¢ (]
Berg, 1997	(?))	روپ					5 >
Berg, 2011		2	0				?	•
Berger, 2008	۲	۲	(?)			۲	?	
Bessa, 2016			ن م					
Beune; 2014		۲		ن ف				
Bisharat; 201.2	2			, Č	, .	٢		
Blenkinsopp; 2000	٢	0		۲	۲		۲	ů Q
Bobrow, 2016	۲				۲			0
Bogner, 2008	2	0	1	١	?	٢	۲	R° A G
Bogner, 2010	?	Ō.	0		۲		:	0
Bogner, 2012	۲	2	۲	۲	۲		۲	0 {}
Boissél, 1996	۲		۲					
Bond; 2007		2	۲) L J
Boswort, 2008	<u>?</u>		3		۲			
Bouvy, 2003	۲		0		۲			。 。
Bove, 2013	۲		1		?			•
Bayle, 2008							0	
Brankin, 2006		0	0		0			J
Broekhuizen, 2012	۲	2						
Brook;: 2005		2,						
Brown, 1997) <mark>?</mark>		, O				2.2	0
Bröwin, 2009.								1
Buitekę, 1987:								0
Calvert; 2012		1						,
Capocela, 2004							2	2
Carrico, 200B								
Cartér, 2010	2							0
Castellano, 2014								
Castle, 2007			()					
Ghalason, 2001								- - -
-Chan: 2010	?	?		?			?	l

، ، ــــ ، ــ	· 💎 .	,∼,	-	₩;		- 1	<u>.</u>	I
.Chan, 2011	۲							, ,
Chang, 2010	Ì.		۲	۲	٢			
Charles, 2007	۲	0		۲	1		2	0
Chiatkin, 2006		0				۲	:0	0
Cheung, 1988	(?)		1		1	1		
Chlen, 2015	?		٢	۲	۲	۲	۲	ا د 1
Chishaim, 2001	َ ي		1					• 7
Choudkry, 2011.		1	?	, Î.	وَ	٢		N. 1
Cizmic, 2015	۲	:	?	۲	۲		٢	0
Clabom, 2014	÷.					١	٢	
Clowes, 2004	۲					١	0	ľ
*Cochran, 2984	(?)	?		' ()	۲			
Cole, 1971	2	2	?		?			•
Collier, 2005					۲		١	•
Cordasco, 2009	۲		:			۲		2010
Cossette, 2012	٢	ġ.		١	۲		, Č	
Costa, 2008	۲	?			0	Ő	٢	
Cramer, 1995.				۲			١	50
Cramer, 1999	٠		0				1	
Cramer, 2005	` @ ;•	٢	۲		1	۲	۲	
Cramer, 2006		2	٢			۲	۲	
Crockett, 2006	?			2	1		1	
Crome, 1982		2	<u>@</u>) 💽 '			2	0,00
D'Souza, 2010	?	?	2		۲			
Da Costa, 2012								6
de Bruin, 2010	.				<u>,</u>		2	
Delmas, 2007	2						٠	
Derose, 2013	۲				۲			
Detry, 1995							?	- - -
Diloria, 2003.								2
Dilorio, 2008	۲			٢				
Dilario, 2009		?	1					2
Dogan, 2003	1	1	?	وَ	?	3	3	q

Du, 2016	۲	,	,	÷	۲			0.040
Dusing, 2009,	(?)				۲		۲	2
Edwarthy, 1999			•		٢			2
Edworthy 2007	۲		1		۱			0 -
Eker, 2012	,?,		1					°, [°
Elixhauser, 1990					٢			0
Elkjaer, 2010	٩		1	۲	۲	۲	٩.	° 00
Ericksön, 2003			•		1		١	7
Eron, 2000	,	÷,		, (?)	į		:	4
Eron, 2004	1	:	?			٩,	۲	2
Eshelman, 1976	وَنِي ا					٩		7
Eusisen _i : 2019,		2						, , ,
Evans, 2010	٢				٢	١	1	9
Évaris-Hudnail, 2014	Í		:	Ĭ.	١			9
Falces, 2008	١	, 🕐	:		۲		1	0
Farmer, 1994					٢		(?),	2 2
Farmer, 2012					Ż			
Faulkner, 2000	۲	1			٢		:	9
Fernández, 2008	?				?			0 0 0
Finley, 2002	١		0		ن ا			ข ,
Finley, 2003	2				0			0
Fisher 2011	١							
Foster, 2014	۲							J
Friedberg, 2015	۲						۲	。]
Friedman, 1996				, 💽			i)	, ,
Fulmer, 1999	۲		?		1			2
Fyllingen, 1991		٢			Ì		0	•
Gabriel, 1977	:		:	Ò.	١		ن <mark>و</mark> ر ا	
Gallant, 2006	Ì	1	٢		۲			
Gamble; 2011:	?	1	2				٢	2
Garcia, 2015	, ,		1		١		Ò	, , , , ,
Garcia Cardenas, 2013	۲	:	۲	?			۲	0
Öairiett, 1981.)	۲	, 📀	١	1	۲	1	P
		<u> </u>		° 🦾	: <u></u>			

Gatwood, 2016	
Gazmararian, 2019	
Geiter, 1987	000000000000000000000000000000000000000
Girvin, 1999	
Glánz, 2012	
Goggin, 2013.	
Gòlin, 2006	
Gorizalez-Fernandez, 1990	
Goodyer, 1995.	
Goswami, 2013	
Goujard, 2003	
Granger, 2015	
Grant, 2003	
Oray, 2006	
Green, 2014	
Greer, 2014.	
Gross, 2009	
Gross, 2013	
Gross, 2015	
Grymonpre, 2001	
Guirado, 2011	
Guiral, 2014	
Guthrie, 2007	
Gwady-Sridhar, 2005	
Hacihasanoglu, 2011.	
Hadi, 2013	
Hardy, 201\$	
Hawkins, 1979	
Haynes, 1976	
Heisler, 2010.	
Henry, 1999	
Hersch, 2013	
Hilleman, 1993'	
Hirsch: 2009	🚍 🥐 🥐 🌑 🥐 🌆

4	-	λ γ	~	, ,	.~	, 199	~~~	
Hirsch, 2011	٢	ن ب			(?)			, P.C
Ha, 2008	:	Ċ,	?	۲	۲			Р) 0
Ha, 2014	0		1	۲			۲	0 0
Hoitstad, 2011	1	0	0		:		•	0
Holstad, 2012			2			۲		•
Holzemer, 2006	3		3)
Homer, 2009	Ò		1	.		Q		, , ,
Homnes, 2011	0	1			1			4
Horvath, 2013	۲	3	?			۲	۲	
Hesseininasab, 2014			٢		۲	ا ک		Ф 0
Hunt; 2008	۲		٢	٢		١	0	。 1
Ingersoll, 2011;							1	ے ،
Interian, 2013			2				(2)	•
Jalal, 2016			۲				1	。 □ 。
Janson, 2003	:	1	?	()	۲		; 💽	P
Jarab, 2012	١	ŗ,	٢		,		, Č)
Jerant, 2003	۲		? ????		۲	١	@ ,]
Jian <u>ý,</u> 2007	٢							0 2 0
Johnson; 1979	0		:				3	ං ව
Johnson; 2007	۲		۲	j 🔘			2	0
Johnson, 2011		0	<u>@</u>					5
Jones, 2003	0				2		2	- - -
Joost, 2014		2	<u>.</u>	1	۲			2
Kallchman, 2011			0		Ó		?	•
Kamal, 2015	٢		۲		٢			
Kardás, 2004							2	0
Kardas, 2007					۲			
Kardās, 2012	2	?	•		0			0
Katon, 1996	0		0				?	۰°
Kaudo-Klein, 2012					(?)		۲	o Ilo
Kellaway, 1979					0	9)
Kelly, 1990		2						d
Kertes, 2008	0	3	(?).		?		3	- 1

Khonisari, 2015	1	<u>je</u> ,						2 6 4 ° C
.Kim, 2008	۲	(2)			(?		:	
Kim, 2013		0			٢			
Kim, 2014	3				1			о. С
Kiweewa, 2013	۲							l l
Klang, 2015	0			1907	٢		٢	2
Klein, 2006			<u>(</u>				۲	00
Klein, 2009	?						۲	
Kaeni <u>a</u> , 2008	١	۲	0	ث ®	ؘڰؚ		3	
Kogos, 2004	۲		2				1	
Korikle-Parker, 2012	1		Ì.		۲			7
Konkle-Parker, 2014		0			۲	je,	۲	
Kooy, 2013	۲	0	<u>?</u>	٢	٢	۲	1	
Kopelówicz, 2003	1		۲		2		:	5
Katawyez, 2010	۲			۲			0	0
Kazuki, 2006	?	?			۲		1 0,	
krier, 1999	?			2	Ő		٢	٤
Kripalaril, 2012	۲				٢		۲	0
Kronish, 2012	?	٦.			?		1	8
Kronish, 2014	0				۲			
kruse, 1991		?			0	۲	۲	•
Kubota, 2006	2	:			۲			
Kleth; 2014	:		٠					0
Lee, 1996	ز 💽		۲		,		2	
Lee, 2006								
Leenen, 1997.					?		1	
Lester, 2010	۲		?		Ì		٢	ç,
Levin, 2006			:	Ó	٢		٢	
Levine, 1979	۰ ۱	1	٢		٢		(?)	1
Lipton, 1994	٠				٢		1	
Logan, 1982	2	2	0		2	٢	0	
Lourens, 1994		2	1	۲			2	•
Lusiand Neni, 2013		۲	1		?		1	° P
		: <u> </u>		' 🦾 I	r 🦀 🛛	L / A - 1		Г ⁰

Lučas, 2013	۲		.0	JO.	9		?	
Lv, 2012		1					, Ö,	2
Ma, 2014							1	þ
Maduka and Tobin-West, 2013	۲		è,		٢	Ì.		
Magid, 2011	۲							N2121
Margolin, 2003	0		۷			۲	ن م	
Markopoulous, 2015		1						0
Marquez Contreras, 2004				١			2)°
Marquez-Contreras; 2005	?	0		۲	?			
Matsumura, 2012				۲	۲		1	P
Mbuagbaw, 2012	۲		۲		۲		1	
McGillicuddy, 2013	2	٠	۲	۲	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	۲		° / 1
McKenney, 1973	۲			Ð.	2		2	
McKenney, 1978	۲	2			2		0	7
McKenney, 1992					2			°
McKinstry, 2013					۲			
Mehos, 2000	۲		0		1		٢	
Mehuys, 2008	۲		٢		۲		2	•
Miller, 1990.	:	1	۲		?			•
Mols, 2015	0	((?)		۲		۲	
Montes 2011			0	<u>,</u>	۲			•
Montori, 2011	۲	0			۲		١	
Mooney, 2005	2	0,					(?)	
Mooney, 2007	2	۲			١ ا			
Moore, 2013			0	۲	0			0
Morgado, 2011	۲		۲		۲		0	
Marisky, 1985-	۲	Ż	ِن <u>َ</u> کَنْ		?		2	
.Moss, 2010	۲		۲		٢	۲	<u>.</u>	0
Mugusi, 2009		0			۲			Q
Milly 2012	2		1					
Munoz, 2009	۲	2,	۲	,	. O ,		2	
Murray, 1993	٢	١			۲	0		
Nadhega, 2010	1	۲		, Ö	۲			-
Neiaf, 2016'		(`?)`		Ì 🍙 i				0

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	~	₩.		3 7 41		- -	·	
Nance, 2017.	۲	1		:			, ?	о Р П
Nessman, 1980.	:		:	٢				2
Nielson, 2010	0	1	۲	1			2	0
Nieuwkerk, 2012		0					3	0
Nolten, 2011	Ĩ.	, ,	1	ز،	į	Ô		•
O'Cormor, 2014	?		?			- O ,		
Ogedegbe, 2012	ٞ	Ì			:			گ ا
. Ogedegbe, 2014	2		, , ,		٢			N° JI
Oliver, 2011	ن <mark>ہ</mark> ک		•		; Ö ;			2
QIIIvier, 2009					()			0
Onvirimba, 2003	(?)	2		۲	۲	۲		
Pagoto, 2013	2			, O	۲			٥.
Park, 1996	<u>, (7)</u>			۲			?	q
Park, 2013				<u>20</u>		۲		2 O
Park, 2014						۲		รธรา ะ
Pearson, 2007		jej		, 💽			<u>, (2)</u>	
Pelizer, 2012	۲	?			۲			
Piette, 2000								ۍ ۵
Piette, 2001	0	,						n
Pladevali, 2010			0					2000
Pladevali, 2015								2
Planas, 2003								•
Polsook, 2008								0 00
Pop-Eleches, 2011							<u>;</u>	•
Powell, 1995		<u>?</u> .	•		<u>.</u>			4
Rullar, 1988.					<u>,</u>			•
Purcell, 2007								5
Fyne, 2011				· 🥥				
Qurëshi, 2007								¢
Rabenda, 2008a	, .	, <mark>9</mark>), 20,						J
Rabenda, 2008b			?		<u>()</u>			ď° 0.0
Rathbun, 2005								đ
Ráwlings, 2003	3	3		Ô	, .	U.	۷	° J

8 0		5-						
Raynor, 1993		2						
Rehder, 1990	ن و			۲			۲	
Reynolds, 2008	0	1	?					0
Rich, 1995	۲		2		?		2	0
Rickles, 2005	١							2
Rintret, 2009							ِ ب	,
Robbins, 2013		0	?	į	۲	۲	٢	
Robinsön, 2018			۲					
Roden, 1985							٠	1
Rotheram Borus, 2004	0	(?)					:	
Rózenfeld, 1999	` ?					()		2
Rubio-Valera, 2013		?						
Rudd, 2004	٢	0	٩	, Î			(?)	
Ruiz, 2010	?				۲			2
Sabin; 2010	٢	, 🕐	0		?			0
Sackett, 1975	1	٢			۲		? ,	
Samen, 2009	0				2			5
Salien, 2012					?			
[.] Saini, 2008		?	((?)	8
Saleem, 2013	Ò.						٢	
Sampaio, 2008	0	?						0
Saunders, 1991	2	` @`	•	Ì.	?		2	1
Schaffer and Tian; 2004	Ò,						?	5
Schectman, 1994	ز الم		٢				2	,
Schmitz, 2006	<u>(</u>	2			, ,			
Schneider 2008	١		2		2			۹ ٥
Schroeder, 2005	Ò	? ,	jÔ,		Ì	ز کر	Ö,	
Sclar, 1991	٢		٢	Þ.				
Selke, 2010			٢					9
Sewerynek, 2013		@		, `` ,	?			9
Shenard, 2009	2		1					5
Shet, 2014			0	۲	۲			2
Shu, 2009-	(2)	۲	۲	١	1	١	٢	1
			244					۵

Bilvéira, 2014	۲	ی <mark>ک</mark> (. 🥲	2		٠	
Simkins, †986		(0) ,	N	ِ ١	?	١		ج ۲
. Simoni, 2007	۲						?	0
Simoni, 2013	٢			- ,,,,, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		j		
Sit, 2007		, <u>(</u>	?	-		٩		Navio
Skaer, 1993	(ئ		?				ِنْ رَ	0 0
Smith, 2007		0	٢	ġ.	۲		٢	-
Smith, 2008			:		۲		۲	
Solomon, 1998	۲	0		۲	?		?	
Sookaneknun, 2004	۲		2		۲		1	9
Stacy 2009	۲	2		٠.	0		٩	4
Stewart, 2014	2						2	2
Stewart, 2014a	?	3	?		2		۲	
Strandbygaard, 2010							۲	-
Su and Pergn, 2002	2							
Starstad, 2013								
Taggan, 1991	2		2					
Talwo, 2010			<u>?</u>					2 I-14
Tàn, 2010	۲				?			9
Thom, 2013								ج 1
Tinsel, 2014.								2
Uvsal, 2015	<u>.</u>							•
València, 2008		. 🕑,			?			
van Onzenoort, 2010			, ,					с ⁰⁶ г/
van Servellen, 2003.					9			, ,
Yelligan, 2008								
Vervicet; 2012			<u>.</u>	i I Ser ie				9. C
Volimer, 2011								, .
xolimer, 2014								
.vnjens _i 2006		. <u></u> ,	<u>.</u>					
yvagner, žut 3 sizer izviti siziči	, 🤍 🏹							
ல்லார். அது காண்டு பிற்றின் குறுத்து காண்டிற்றின் குறுத்து			? ``@``		کې د ا			C°
Walkie 2000	1 1 1 1 1		!! * う					0.0
<i>™ ♥ © ™ © 1. 2. 2. 10 0 </i> 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0					1	47	4 1 1	

S4 Table. Heterogenity between trials comparisons for the composite measure.

1st period – Composite measure		
Direct comparison	Studies	²
Attitudinal + Technical x Attitudinal	1	-
Attitudinal x Educational	3	0%
Attitudinal x Educational + Attitudinal + Technical	1	-
Attitudinal x Standard care	7	0%
Educational x Educational + Technical	2	33.0%
Educational x Educational + Attitudinal	2	11.2%
Educational x Technical	1	-
Educational x Standard care	30	54.5%
Educational + Attitudinal x Standard care	13	69.1%
Technical x Rewards + Technical	1	-
Technical x Attitudinal + Technical + Rewards	1	-
Technical x Standard care	31	37.1%
Rewards + Technical x Standard care	1	-
Rewards x Standard care	1	-
Educational + Attitudinal + Technical x Standard care	6	4.4%
Educational + Technical x Standard care	7	60.3%
2nd period – Composite measure		
Direct comparison	Studies	²
Attitudinal x Educational	4	74.5%
Attitudinal x Standard care	7	2.2%
Educational x Attitudinal + Rewards	1	-
Educational x Educational + Technical	6	45.3%
Educational x Technical	5	17.0%
Educational x Educational + Attitudinal	1	-
Educational x Standard care	31	67.1%
Educational + Technical x Standard care	16	54.2%
Educational + Technical x Technical	1	-
Educational + Attitudinal x Standard care	16	61.3%
Technical x Standard care	24	81.6%
Educational + Attitudinal + Technical x Standard care	7	39.0%
3rd period – Composite measure		
Direct comparison	Studies	²
Attitudinal x Educational + Attitudinal + Technical	1	-
Attitudinal x Standard care	3	42.8%
Educational + Attitudinal + Technical x Educational + Technical	1	-
Educational + Attitudinal + Technical x Educational + Attitudinal	1	-
Educational + Attitudinal + Technical x Standard care	3	13.0%
Educational + Technical x Standard care	5	64.5%
Educational + Technical x Educational + Attitudinal	1	-
Educational + Attitudinal x Educational	1	-
Educational + Attitudinal x Standard care	4	65.9%
Educational x Standard care	2	0%
Technical x Standard care	3	0%
4th period – Composite measure	T	1
Direct comparison	Studies	²

Rewards x Standard care	1	-
Attitudinal + Technical x Technical	1	-
Attitudinal + Technical x Standard care	1	-
Educational + Attitudinal + Technical x Standard care	4	58.1%
Educational + Attitudinal + Rewards x Standard care	1	-
Attitudinal x Educational	4	10.3%
Attitudinal x Standard care	8	67.1%
Educational + Attitudinal x Educational	2	-
Educational + Attitudinal x Standard care	7	72.4%
Educational x Educational + Technical	1	-
Educational x Technical	2	0%
Educational x Standard care	20	89.7%
Educational + Technical x Technical	2	-
Educational + Technical x Standard care	26	87.9%
Technical x Standard care	22	91.8%
Rewards + Technical x Technical	1	-

S5 Table. Node-splitting analyses

0-3 months

Name	Direct Effect	Indirect	Overall	P-
		Effect		Valu
				е
Attitudinal 1st , Educational 1st	-0,33 (-1,25,	0,00 (-0,57,	-0,09 (-0,57,	0.53
	0,56)	0,58)	0,38)	
Attitudinal 1st , Educational + Attitudinal +	-0,46 (-2,04,	-0,32 (-1,07,	-0,33 (-1,03,	0.87
Technical 1st	1,10)	0,42)	0,36)	
Attitudinal 1st , Standard care 1st	-0,53 (-1,03, -	-0,82 (-1,66, -	-0,61 (-1,05, -	0.53
	0,02)	0,02)	0,16)	
Educational 1st, Educational + Attitudinal	0,35 (-0,77,	-0,03 (-0,48,	0,03 (-0,39,	0.55
1st	1,51)	0,45)	0,44)	
Educational 1st, Educational + Technical 1st	0,96 (-0,03,	0,00 (-0,64,	0,29 (-0,24,	0.1
	1,94)	0,63)	0,84)	
Educational 1st, Standard care 1st	-0,58 (-0,87, -	0,04 (-0,59,	-0,48 (-0,75, -	0.06
	0,29)	0,66)	0,20)	
Educational 1st, Technical 1st	0,96 (-0,49,	0,05 (-0,33,	0,08 (-0,28,	0.23
	2,48)	0,42)	0,44)	
Educational + Attitudinal 1st, Standard care	-0,50 (-0,89, -	-0,88 (-2,08,	-0,54 (-0,91, -	0.56
1st	0,13)	0,32)	0,19)	
Educational + Technical 1st, Standard care	-0,66 (-1,23, -	-1,37 (-2,35, -	-0,81 (-1,32, -	0.21
1st	0,13)	0,39)	0,32)	

4-6 months

Name	Direct Effect	Indirect Effect	Overall	P-
				Value
Attitudinal 2nd, Educational 2nd	-0,63 (-1,47,	-0,14 (-0,82,	-0,33 (-0,86,	0.37
	0,20)	0,53)	0,19)	
Attitudinal 2nd, Standard care 2nd	-0,60 (-1,23,	-1,11 (-1,97, -	-0,77 (-1,28, -	0.35
	0,02)	0,26)	0,27)	
Educational 2nd, Educational +	0,87 (-0,99,	0,06 (-0,39,	0,09 (-0,34,	0.59
Attitudinal 2nd	2,94)	0,51)	0,53)	
Educational 2nd, Educational + Technical	0,61 (0,01,	-0,10 (-0,59,	0,18 (-0,20,	0.07
2nd	1,24)	0,39)	0,56)	
Educational 2nd, Standard care 2nd	-0,54 (-0,81, -	0,00 (-0,47,	-0,43 (-0,68, -	0.06
	0,28)	0,49)	0,18)	
Educational 2nd, Technical 2nd	0,88 (0,20,	0,59 (0,18,	0,65 (0,28,	0.45
	1,57)	1,00)	1,01)	
Educational + Attitudinal 2nd, Standard	-0,47 (-0,86, -	-1,26 (-3,33,	-0,50 (-0,87, -	0.5
care 2nd	0,09)	0,61)	0,11)	
Educational + Technical 2nd, Standard	-0,54 (-0,94, -	-0,92 (-1,55, -	-0,61 (-0,96, -	0.3
care 2nd	0,15)	0,28)	0,27)	
Educational + Technical 2nd, Technical	0,48 (-0,71,	0,44 (-0,03,	0,47 (0,03,	0.94
2nd	1,73)	0,90)	0,90)	

7-9 months

Name	Direct	Indirect	Overall	P-
	Effect	Effect		Value
Attitudinal 3rd, Educational + Attitudinal +	-0,17 (-1,68,	-0,47 (-1,72,	-0,31 (-1,31,	0.73
Technical 3rd	1,31)	0,69)	0,67)	
Educational 3rd, Educational + Attitudinal 3rd	1,02 (-0,39,	0,17 (-0,83,	0,35 (-0,36,	0.26
	2,45)	1,07)	1,24)	
Educational 3rd, Standard care 3rd	-0,14 (-0,89,	0,75 (-0,75,	-0,03 (-0,62,	0.25
	0,62)	2,26)	0,70)	
Educational + Attitudinal 3rd, Educational +	0,17 (-1,04,	0,48 (-0,68,	0,23 (-0,59,	0.68
Attitudinal + Technical 3rd	1,51)	1,73)	1,11)	
Educational + Attitudinal 3rd, Educational +	0,56 (-0,70,	0,34 (-0,54,	0,41 (-0,34,	0.74
Technical 3rd	1,87)	1,37)	1,20)	
Educational + Attitudinal 3rd, Standard care 3rd	-0,27 (-0,88,	-0,70 (-1,73,	-0,37 (-0,96,	0.42
	0,38)	0,29)	0,14)	
Educational + Attitudinal + Technical 3rd,	0,30 (-0,99,	0,10 (-1,02,	0,20 (-0,72,	0.78
Educational + Technical 3rd	1,68)	1,25)	1,06)	

≥10 months

Name	Direct Effect	Indirect	Overall	P-
		Effect		Value
Attitudinal 4th, Educational 4th	-0,29 (-0,86,	0,34 (-0,20,	0,04 (-0,36,	0.12
	0,28)	0,87)	0,43)	
Attitudinal 4th, Standard care 4th	-0,26 (-0,75,	-0,89 (-1,52, -	-0,50 (-0,88, -	0.12
	0,19)	0,26)	0,12)	
Educational 4th, Educational +	0,28 (-0,74,	-0,32 (-0,91,	-0,18 (-0,67,	0.32
Attitudinal 4th	1,28)	0,25)	0,33)	
Educational 4th, Educational + Technical	-0,43 (-1,44,	0,09 (-0,27,	0,03 (-0,30,	0.33
4th	0,57)	0,45)	0,39)	
Educational 4th, Standard care 4th	-0,62 (-0,90, -	-0,26 (-0,79,	-0,53 (-0,79, -	0.23
	0,33)	0,28)	0,27)	
Educational + Attitudinal 4th, Standard	-0,24 (-0,76,	-0,86 (-1,91,	-0,36 (-0,82,	0.28
care 4th	0,27)	0,18)	0,10)	
Educational + Technical 4th, Standard	-0,60 (-0,86, -	-0,19 (-0,88,	-0,57 (-0,82, -	0.27
care 4th	0,36)	0,51)	0,33)	
Educational + Technical 4th, Technical	0,21 (-0,70,	-0,07 (-0,46,	-0,06 (-0,42,	0.56
4th	1,12)	0,31)	0,30)	

S2 Figure. SUCRA analyses

Surface Under the Cumulative Ranking curve (SUCRA) for composite measures for each time period (0-3 months, 4-6 months, 7-9 months, >10 months). SUCRA values can range from 0% (i.e. the treatment always ranks last) to 100% (i.e. the treatment always ranks first).





7-9 months





S1 File. Sensitivity and sub-group analyses

Figure A and Tables A-D. Sample size >30

Fig A. Networks of the comparisons between interventions with sample size >30 for each time period (0-3 months, 4-6 months, 7-9 months, ≥10 months) (top left to bottom right) considering the overall composite measure of adherence. Each node represents an intervention. Directly comparable interventions are linked with a line, the number of trials for each comparison are shown in each line.



Tables A-D. Consistency analyses of multiple comparison analyses for the overall composite measure in studies with sample size >30 in 0-3 months, 4-6 months, 7-9 months, and \geq 10 months.

Effect sizes are reported as OR (with 95% CrI). Comparisons are read from left to right (row to column above, column to row below). An OR <1 indicates a more effective intervention. Bold data comparisons are statistically significant. Edu: educational, Att: attitudinal, Tec: technical, Rew: rewards, SOC: standard of care.

Table A. 0-3 months

Att + Tec + Rew 1s 0,44 (0,06, 2,49)	2,83 (0,32, 22,78)	1,72 (0,07, 95,26)	0,33 (0,05, 1,93)	0,40 (0,06, 2,18)	0,55 (0,08, 3,15)	0,39 (0,06, 2,12)	0,25 (0,04, 1,33)	0,45 (0,07, 2,38)
Att 1st	6,56 (1,60, 26,28)	3,85 (0,31, 177,10	0,75 (0,38, 1,46)	0,90 (0,52, 1,59)	1,26 (0,65, 2,39)	0,88 (0,54, 1,42)	0,57 (0,36, 0,88)	1,01 (0,60, 1,68)
	Rew + Tec 1st	0,61 (0,04, 29,08)	0,12 (0,03, 0,46)	0,14 (0,04, 0,54)	0,19 (0,05, 0,79)	0,14 (0,03, 0,52)	0,09 (0,02, 0,32)	0,16 (0,04, 0,57)
		Rew 1st	0,20 (0,00, 2,33)	0,24 (0,01, 2,74)	0,33 (0,01, 4,12)	0,23 (0,01, 2,69)	0,15 (0,00, 1,69)	0,26 (0,01, 3,05)
			Edu + Att + Tec 1st	1,21 (0,63, 2,35)	1,69 (0,83, 3,49)	1,18 (0,67, 2,14)	0,76 (0,45, 1,29)	1,35 (0,76, 2,46)
				Edu + Att 1st	1,40 (0,75, 2,55)	0,98 (0,63, 1,51)	0,63 (0,43, 0,90)	1,12 (0,71, 1,77)
					Edu + Tec 1st	0,70 (0,42, 1,17)	0,45 (0,28, 0,73)	0,80 (0,46, 1,40)
						Edu 1st	0,64 (0,49, 0,83)	1,14 (0,79, 1,66)
							SOC 1st	1,78 (1,36, 2,35)
								Tec 1st

Table B. 4-6 months

Att + Rew 2nd	0,65 (0,12, 3,64)	0,49 (0,09, 2,73)	0,73 (0,14, 3,89)	0,73 (0,15, 3,76)	0,67 (0,14, 3,25)	0,41 (0,08, 2,02)	1,24 (0,25, 6,31)
	Att 2nd	0,75 (0,32, 1,76)	1,13 (0,54, 2,41)	1,10 (0,54, 2,34)	1,02 (0,53, 1,97)	0,62 (0,33, 1,18)	1,91 (0,93, 3,85)
		Edu + Att + Tec 2	1,50 (0,77, 2,94)	1,47 (0,76, 2,90)	1,37 (0,73, 2,52)	0,83 (0,47, 1,44)	2,52 (1,34, 4,73)
			Edu + Att 2nd	0,99 (0,59, 1,65)	0,91 (0,57, 1,44)	0,55 (0,38, 0,81)	1,69 (1,04, 2,76)
				Edu + Tec 2nd	0,92 (0,62, 1,37)	0,56 (0,39, 0,79)	1,71 (1,10, 2,68)
					Edu 2nd	0,61 (0,47, 0,78)	1,86 (1,27, 2,71)
						SOC 2nd	3,05 (2,25, 4,17)
							Tec 2nd

Table C. 7-9 months

Att 3rd	0,72 (0,23, 2,21)	0,56 (0,20, 1,50)	0,82 (0,27, 2,41)	0,45 (0,12, 0,98)	0,38 (0,16, 0,84)	0,55 (0,16, 1,79)
	Edu + Att + Tec 3rd	0,79 (0,28, 2,15)	1,14 (0,39, 3,31)	0,53 (0,15, 1,58)	0,53 (0,20, 1,31)	0,77 (0,20, 2,65)
		Edu + Att 3rd	1,45 (0,63, 3,54)	0,67 (0,27, 1,49)	0,67 (0,36, 1,21)	0,98 (0,32, 2,85)
			Edu + Tec 3rd	0,46 (0,16, 1,19)	0,46 (0,22, 0,92)	0,67 (0,21, 2,07)
				Edu 3rd	1,00 (0,49, 2,25)	1,44 (0,47, 4,77)
					SOC 3rd	1,46 (0,59, 3,51)
						Tec 3rd

Table D. ≥10 months

Att I Toc 4th	1 26 (0 47 2 04)	74 14 14 69 140	1 09 (0 26 4 55)	1 62 (0 21 0 60)	1 60 (0 E0 E 01)	1 26 (0 42 2 75)	1 20/0 47 2 65)	1 27 (0 40 2 92)	0 79 (0 20 2 14)	1 21 /0 /0 2 52)
ALL TIEL 4LII	1,30 (0,47, 3,94)	24,14 (4,00, 140,0	1,08 (0,20, 4,55)	1,05 (0,51, 8,08)	1,00 (0,30, 3,01)	1,20 (0,42, 5,75)	1,50 (0,47, 5,05)	1,37 (0,49, 3,62)	0,78 (0,29, 2,14)	1,51 (0,49, 5,55)
	Att 4th	17,97 (4,31, 78,5	0,80 (0,27, 2,37)	1,20 (0,30, 4,79)	1,18 (0,58, 2,38)	0,92 (0,51, 1,70)	0,96 (0,61, 1,52)	1,00 (0,67, 1,50)	0,58 (0,39, 0,85)	0,96 (0,61, 1,54)
		Rew + Tec 4th	<u>0,04 (0,01, 0,25)</u>	<u>0,07 (0,01, 0,45)</u>	0,07 (0,01, 0,29)	<u>0,05 (0,01, 0,22)</u>	0,05 (0,01, 0,21)	<u>0,06 (0,01, 0,23)</u>	0,03 (0,01, 0,12)	<u>0,05 (0,01, 0,20)</u>
			Rew 4th	1,49 (0,28, 8,08)	1,47 (0,45, 4,64)	1,16 (0,38, 3,48)	1,21 (0,41, 3,42)	1,26 (0,44, 3,60)	0,73 (0,26, 1,98)	1,22 (0,42, 3,43)
				Edu + Att + Rew 41	0,97 (0,23, 4,08)	0,77 (0,19, 3,17)	0,80 (0,21, 3,06)	0,84 (0,21, 3,21)	0,48 (0,13, 1,81)	0,79 (0,21, 3,08)
					Edu + Att + Tec 4	0,79 (0,38, 1,62)	0,82 (0,44, 1,50)	0,85 (0,45, 1,58)	0,49 (0,28, 0,87)	0,82 (0,43, 1,55)
						Edu + Att 4th	1,04 (0,63, 1,75)	1,08 (0,65, 1,78)	0,63 (0,39, 0,99)	1,05 (0,61, 1,76)
							Edu + Tec 4th	1,04 (0,74, 1,46)	0,60 (0,47, 0,76)	1,00 (0,71, 1,40)
								Edu 4th	0,58 (0,45, 0,74)	0,96 (0,68, 1,39)
									SOC 4th	1,67 (1,30, 2,15)
										Tec 4th

Figure B and Tables E-H. After 2007

Fig B. Networks of the comparisons between interventions in studies published after 2007 for each time period (0-3 months, 4-6 months, 7-9 months, ≥10 months) (top left to bottom right) considering the overall composite measure of adherence. Each node represents an intervention. Directly comparable interventions are linked with a line, the number of trials for each comparison are shown in each line.



Tables E-H. Consistency analyses of multiple comparison analyses for the overall composite measure in studies published after 2007 in 0-3 months, 4-6 months, 7-9 months, and ≥10 months.

Effect sizes are reported as OR (with 95% CrI). Comparisons are read from left to right (row to column above, column to row below). An OR <1 indicates a more effective intervention. Bold data comparisons are statistically significant. Edu: educational, Att: attitudinal, Tec: technical, Rew: rewards, SOC: standard of care.

Table E. 0-3 months

Att + Tec 1st	0,37 (0,08, 1,63)	1,14 (0,07, 50,98	0,23 (0,04, 1,20)	0,32 (0,06, 1,66)	0,32 (0,05, 1,88)	0,32 (0,06, 1,56)	0,17 (0,03, 0,85)	0,32 (0,06, 1,64)
	Att 1st	3,06 (0,27, 111,7	0,62 (0,29, 1,33)	0,87 (0,42, 1,80)	0,85 (0,34, 2,21)	0,86 (0,48, 1,55)	0,47 (0,27, 0,82)	0,85 (0,41, 1,79)
		Rew 1st	0,21 (0,01, 2,26)	0,28 (0,01, 3,10)	0,28 (0,01, 3,28)	0,28 (0,01, 3,07)	0,15 (0,00, 1,59)	0,28 (0,01, 3,01)
			Edu + Att + Tec 1s	1,39 (0,68, 2,86)	1,37 (0,55, 3,54)	1,39 (0,74, 2,56)	0,75 (0,44, 1,29)	1,36 (0,67, 2,81)
				Edu + Att 1st	0,97 (0,41, 2,45)	0,99 (0,56, 1,73)	0,54 (0,33, 0,85)	0,98 (0,51, 1,90)
					Edu + Tec 1st	1,02 (0,44, 2,23)	0,56 (0,25, 1,09)	1,00 (0,41, 2,41)
						Edu 1st	0,54 (0,39, 0,76)	0,98 (0,57, 1,75)
							SOC 1st	1,80 (1,15, 2,91)
								Tec 1st

Table F. 4-6 months

Att 2nd	0,53 (0,22, 1,27)	0,63 (0,28, 1,40)	0,63 (0,28, 1,38)	0,74 (0,38, 1,40)	0,39 (0,20, 0,77)	1,03 (0,47, 2,21)
	Edu + Att + Tec 2n	1,19 (0,59, 2,47)	1,18 (0,59, 2,39)	1,40 (0,74, 2,60)	0,73 (0,43, 1,26)	1,95 (1,03, 3,75)
		Edu + Att 2nd	0,99 (0,54, 1,88)	1,17 (0,67, 2,05)	0,61 (0,39, 0,99)	1,64 (0,91, 2,97)
			Edu + Tec 2nd	1,19 (0,71, 1,91)	0,62 (0,40, 0,94)	1,66 (1,02, 2,84)
				Edu 2nd	0,52 (0,38, 0,73)	1,40 (0,86, 2,25)
					SOC 2nd	2,66 (1,86, 3,76)
						Tec 2nd

Table G. 7-9 months

Att 3rd	0,68 (0,24, 1,90)	0,36 (0,11, 1,14)	0,94 (0,28, 3,13)	0,49 (0,12, 1,93)	0,39 (0,16, 0,85)	0,59 (0,13, 2,29)
	Edu + Att + Tec 3rd	0,53 (0,19, 1,52)	1,38 (0,47, 4,18)	0,72 (0,17, 2,87)	0,58 (0,25, 1,26)	0,87 (0,20, 3,42)
		Edu + Att 3rd	2,57 (0,89, 7,92)	1,36 (0,31, 5,98)	1,08 (0,44, 2,55)	1,62 (0,35, 6,59)
			Edu + Tec 3rd	0,52 (0,11, 2,23)	0,42 (0,16, 1,02)	0,63 (0,13, 2,60)
				Edu 3rd	0,81 (0,24, 2,56)	1,21 (0,23, 5,84)
					SOC 3rd	1,49 (0,46, 4,94)
						Tec 3rd

Table H. ≥10 months

Att + Tec 4th	1,41 (0,44, 4,36)	1,08 (0,25, 4,97)	1,79 (0,53, 5,92)	0,99 (0,30, 3,13)	1,32 (0,45, 3,74)	1,29 (0,44, 3,64)	0,78 (0,27, 2,15)	1,32 (0,47, 3,67)
	Att 4th	0,77 (0,23, 2,53)	1,28 (0,57, 2,93)	0,70 (0,35, 1,41)	0,94 (0,55, 1,61)	0,91 (0,58, 1,42)	0,56 (0,35, 0,89)	0,94 (0,54, 1,67)
		Rew 4th	1,65 (0,47, 5,89)	0,91 (0,27, 3,05)	1,21 (0,41, 3,68)	1,18 (0,39, 3,68)	0,72 (0,24, 2,14)	1,23 (0,40, 3,79)
			Edu + Att + Tec 4t	0,55 (0,24, 1,27)	0,73 (0,36, 1,48)	0,71 (0,35, 1,45)	0,44 (0,22, 0,83)	0,74 (0,36, 1,52)
				Edu + Att 4th	1,33 (0,73, 2,43)	1,29 (0,73, 2,31)	0,79 (0,46, 1,37)	1,34 (0,72, 2,54)
					Edu + Tec 4th	0,98 (0,67, 1,43)	0,60 (0,45, 0,78)	1,01 (0,68, 1,50)
						Edu 4th	0,61 (0,46, 0,81)	1,03 (0,68, 1,60)
							SOC 4th	1,70 (1,25, 2,33 <u>)</u>
								Tec 4th

Figure C and Tables I-L. Before 2007

Fig C. Networks of the comparisons between interventions in studies published before 2007 for each time period (0-3 months, 4-6 months, 7-9 months, \geq 10 months) (top left to bottom right) considering the overall composite measure of adherence. Each node represents an intervention. Directly comparable interventions are linked with a line, the number of trials for each comparison are shown in each line.



Tables I-L. Consistency analyses of multiple comparison analyses for the overall composite measure in studies published before 2007 in 0-3 months, 4-6 months, 7-9 months, and ≥10 months.

Effect sizes are reported as OR (with 95% CrI). Comparisons are read from left to right (row to column above, column to row below). An OR <1 indicates a more effective intervention. Bold data comparisons are statistically significant. Edu: educational, Att: attitudinal, Tec: technical, Rew: rewards, SOC: standard of care.

Table I. 0-3 months

Att + Tec + Rew 1s	0,38 (0,05, 2,67)	2,81 (0,25, 30,54)	0,40 (0,05, 2,49)	0,61 (0,07, 4,19)	0,38 (0,05, 2,38)	0,25 (0,03, 1,49)	0,45 (0,06, 2,70)
	Att 1st	7,36 (1,42, 40,98)	1,00 (0,38, 2,79)	1,58 (0,54, 4,63)	0,98 (0,41, 2,37)	0,64 (0,30, 1,41)	1,15 (0,50, 2,74)
		Rew + Tec 1st	0,14 (0,03, 0,68)	0,22 (0,04, 1,11)	0,13 (0,03, 0,61)	0,09 (0,02, 0,38)	0,16 (0,03, 0,67)
			Edu + Att 1st	1,59 (0,59, 3,99)	0,97 (0,47, 1,94)	0,64 (0,34, 1,17)	1,14 (0,54, 2,31)
				Edu + Tec 1st	0,62 (0,28, 1,39)	0,40 (0,19, 0,85)	0,72 (0,32, 1,66)
					Edu 1st	0,66 (0,43, 0,98)	1,18 (0,68, 2,02)
						SOC 1st	1,79 (1,24, 2,60)
							Tec 1st

Table J. 4-6 months

Att + Rew 2nd	1,14 (0,14, 8,72)	0,58 (0,05, 6,88)	0,95 (0,14, 6,33)	1,23 (0,18, 8,27)	0,68 (0,11, 3,96)	0,54 (0,09, 3,38)	1,67 (0,24, 11,42
	Att 2nd	0,51 (0,08, 3,36)	0,84 (0,28, 2,47)	1,09 (0,37, 3,24)	0,60 (0,22, 1,58)	0,48 (0,20, 1,17)	1,46 (0,50, 4,40)
		Edu + Att + Tec 2	1,65 (0,29, 9,29)	2,16 (0,38, 12,60)	1,19 (0,22, 6,22)	0,96 (0,19, 4,74)	2,93 (0,51, 16,58
			Edu + Att 2nd	1,30 (0,55, 3,10)	0,71 (0,33, 1,49)	0,57 (0,31, 1,05)	1,75 (0,73, 4,14)
				Edu + Tec 2nd	0,55 (0,27, 1,10)	0,44 (0,23, 0,81)	1,35 (0,58, 3,09)
					Edu 2nd	0,80 (0,52, 1,24)	2,45 (1,23, 4,94)
						SOC 2nd	3,06 (1,68, 5,62)
							Tec 2nd

Table K. 7-9 months

Edu + Att 3rd	0,85 (0,15, 6,06)	0,44 (0,09, 2,05)	0,46 (0,13, 1,66)	0,91 (0,14, 9,05)
	Edu + Tec 3rd	0,52 (0,06, 3,20)	0,53 (0,14, 1,75)	1,08 (0,15, 9,12)
		Edu 3rd	1,03 (0,23, 4,84)	2,06 (0,28, 23,29)
l I			SOC 3rd	2,01 (0,47, 12,23)
				Tec 3rd

Table L. ≥10 months

Att 4th	23,38 (3,97, 149,7	1,70 (0,30, 9,61)	0,92 (0,17, 4,99)	1,59 (0,45, 5,99)	1,85 (0,71, 5,00)	1,84 (0,61, 5,30)	0,81 (0,38, 1,74)	1,31 (0,53, 3,26)
	Rew + Tec 4th	0,07 (0,01, 0,67)	0,04 (0,00, 0,36)	0,07 (0,01, 0,46)	0,08 (0,01, 0,43)	0,08 (0,01, 0,44)	0,03 (0,01, 0,17)	0,06 (0,01, 0,26)
		Edu + Att + Rew 4	0,54 (0,06, 4,59)	0,94 (0,15, 6,05)	1,09 (0,21, 5,67)	1,09 (0,18, 6,08)	0,48 (0,10, 2,21)	0,77 (0,15, 3,99)
			Edu + Att + Tec 4t	1,75 (0,28, 11,10)	2,01 (0,40, 10,68	2,00 (0,36, 10,88	0,89 (0,19, 4,13)	1,43 (0,29, 7,31)
				Edu + Att 4th	1,16 (0,35, 3,80)	1,14 (0,31, 4,03)	0,51 (0,18, 1,40)	0,83 (0,26, 2,56)
					Edu + Tec 4th	0,99 (0,37, 2,44)	0,44 (0,24, 0,77)	0,70 (0,33, 1,49)
						Edu 4th	0,44 (0,21, 0,95)	0,72 (0,29, 1,80)
							SOC 4th	1,63 (1,01, 2,66)
								Tec 4th

S6 Table. Final rank orders from SUCRA analyses

Rank	0-3 months	4-6 months	7-9 months	≥10 months
1st	Rewards + Technical	Technical	Attitudinal	Rewards + Technical
2nd	Rewards	Attitudinal	Educational + Technical	Educational + Attitudinal + Technical
3rd	Attitudinal + Technical	Attitudinal + Rewards	Educational + Attitudinal + Technical	Educational + Attitudinal + Rewards
4th	Attitudinal + Technical + Rewards	Educational + Technical	Technical	Educational + Technical
5th	Educational + Technical	Educational + Attitudinal	Educational + Attitudinal	Educational
6th	Attitudinal	Educational	Educational	Technical
7th	Educational + Attitudinal	Educational + Attitudinal + Technical	Standard care	Attitudinal
8th	Technical	Standard care		Rewards
9th	Educational			Educational + Attitudinal
10th	Educational + Attitudinal + Technical			Attitudinal + Technical
11th	Standard care			Standard care

S2 File. PRISMA Checklist

Section/topic	#	Checklist item	Reported on page #
TITLE			
Title	1	Identify the report as a systematic review, meta- analysis, or both.	1
ABSTRACT	-		
Structured summary	2	Provide a structured summary including, as applicable: background; objectives; data sources; study eligibility criteria, participants, and interventions; study appraisal and synthesis methods; results; limitations; conclusions and implications of key findings; systematic review registration number.	2
INTRODUCTION			
Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of what is already known.	4-5
Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of questions being addressed with reference to participants, interventions, comparisons, outcomes, and study design (PICOS).	5
METHODS			
Protocol and registration	5	Indicate if a review protocol exists, if and where it can be accessed (e.g., Web address), and, if available, provide registration information including registration number.	5
Eligibility criteria	6	Specify study characteristics (e.g., PICOS, length of follow-up) and report characteristics (e.g., years considered, language, publication status) used as criteria for eligibility, giving rationale.	6
Information sources	7	Describe all information sources (e.g., databases with dates of coverage, contact with study authors to identify additional studies) in the search and date last searched.	6
Search	8	Present full electronic search strategy for at least one database, including any limits used, such that it could be	6 and

		repeated.	Supporting
Study selection	9	State the process for selecting studies (i.e., screening, eligibility, included in systematic review, and, if applicable, included in the meta-analysis).	6
Data collection process	10	Describe method of data extraction from reports (e.g., piloted forms, independently, in duplicate) and any processes for obtaining and confirming data from investigators.	7
Data items	11	List and define all variables for which data were sought (e.g., PICOS, funding sources) and any assumptions and simplifications made.	7
Risk of bias in individual studies	12	Describe methods used for assessing risk of bias of individual studies (including specification of whether this was done at the study or outcome level), and how this information is to be used in any data synthesis.	7
Summary measures	13	State the principal summary measures (e.g., risk ratio, difference in means).	8
Synthesis of results	14	Describe the methods of handling data and combining results of studies, if done, including measures of consistency (e.g., I^2) for each meta-analysis.	8

Page 1 c	of 2
----------	------

Section/topic	#	Checklist item	Reported on page #	
Risk of bias across studies	15	Specify any assessment of risk of bias that may affect the cumulative evidence (e.g., publication bias, selective reporting within studies).	7	
Additional analyses	16	Describe methods of additional analyses (e.g., sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression), if done, indicating which were pre-specified.		
RESULTS				
Study selection	17	Give numbers of studies screened, assessed for eligibility, and included in the review, with reasons for exclusions at each stage, ideally with a flow diagram.	8-9	
Study characteristics	18	For each study, present characteristics for which data were extracted (e.g., study size, PICOS, follow-up period) and provide the citations.	9-12 and Supporting	
Risk of bias within studies	19	Present data on risk of bias of each study and, if available, any outcome level assessment (see item 12).		
-------------------------------	----	--	---------------------	
Results of individual studies	20	For all outcomes considered (benefits or harms), present, for each study: (a) simple summary data for each intervention group (b) effect estimates and confidence intervals, ideally with a forest plot.		
Synthesis of results	21	Present results of each meta-analysis done, including confidence intervals and measures of consistency.		
Risk of bias across studies	22	Present results of any assessment of risk of bias across studies (see Item 15).	9 and Supporting	
Additional analysis	23	Give results of additional analyses, if done (e.g., sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression [see Item 16]).	14	
DISCUSSION	_			
Summary of evidence	24	Summarize the main findings including the strength of evidence for each main outcome; consider their relevance to key groups (e.g., healthcare providers, users, and policy makers).	14-16	
Limitations	25	Discuss limitations at study and outcome level (e.g., risk of bias), and at review-level (e.g., incomplete retrieval of identified research, reporting bias).	17	
Conclusions	26	Provide a general interpretation of the results in the context of other evidence, and implications for future research.	17-18	
FUNDING	_			
Funding	27	Describe sources of funding for the systematic review and other support (e.g., supply of data); role of funders for the systematic review.	In Submission	

From: Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, The PRISMA Group (2009). Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement. PLoS Med 6(7): e1000097. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed1000097

For more information, visit: www.prisma-statement.org.

Page 2 of 2

Section/Topic	Item #	Checklist Item	Reported on Page #
TITLE			
Title	1	Identify the report as a systematic review <i>incorporating a network meta-analysis (or related form of meta-analysis)</i> .	1
ABSTRACT			
Structured summary	2	 Provide a structured summary including, as applicable: Background: main objectives Methods: data sources; study eligibility criteria, participants, and interventions; study appraisal; and synthesis methods, such as network meta-analysis. Results: number of studies and participants identified; summary estimates with corresponding confidence/credible intervals; treatment rankings may also be discussed. Authors may choose to summarize pairwise comparisons against a chosen treatment included in their analyses for brevity. Discussion/Conclusions: limitations; conclusions and implications of findings. Other: primary source of funding; systematic review registration number with registry name. 	2
INTRODUCTION			
Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of what is already known, <i>including mention of why a network</i> <i>meta-analysis has been conducted</i> .	4-5
Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of questions being addressed, with reference to participants, interventions, comparisons, outcomes, and study design (PICOS).	5
METHODS			
Protocol and registration	5	Indicate whether a review protocol exists and if and where it can be accessed (e.g., Web address); and, if available, provide registration information, including registration number.	5
Eligibility criteria	6	Specify study characteristics (e.g., PICOS, length of follow-up) and report characteristics (e.g., years considered, language, publication status) used as criteria for eligibility, giving rationale. <i>Clearly describe eligible treatments included in the treatment network, and note whether any have been clustered or merged into the same node (with justification)</i> .	6
Information sources	7	Describe all information sources (e.g., databases with dates of coverage, contact with study authors to identify additional studies) in the search and date last searched	6
Search	8	Present full electronic search strategy for at least one	6 and

PRISMA NMA Checklist of Items to Include When Reporting A Systematic Review Involving a Network Meta-analysis

		database, including any limits used, such that it could be repeated.	Supporting
Study selection	9	State the process for selecting studies (i.e., screening, eligibility, included in systematic review, and, if applicable, included in the meta-analysis).	6
Data collection process	10	Describe method of data extraction from reports (e.g., piloted forms, independently, in duplicate) and any processes for obtaining and confirming data from investigators.	7
Data items	11	List and define all variables for which data were sought (e.g., PICOS, funding sources) and any assumptions and simplifications made.	7
Geometry of the network	S1	Describe methods used to explore the geometry of the treatment network under study and potential biases related to it. This should include how the evidence base has been graphically summarized for presentation, and what characteristics were compiled and used to describe the evidence base to readers.	7
Risk of bias within individual studies	12	Describe methods used for assessing risk of bias of individual studies (including specification of whether this was done at the study or outcome level), and how this information is to be used in any data synthesis.	7
Summary measures	13	State the principal summary measures (e.g., risk ratio, difference in means). Also describe the use of additional summary measures assessed, such as treatment rankings and surface under the cumulative ranking curve (SUCRA) values, as well as modified approaches used to present summary findings from meta-analyses.	8
Planned methods of analysis	14	 Describe the methods of handling data and combining results of studies for each network meta-analysis. This should include, but not be limited to: Handling of multi-arm trials; Selection of variance structure; Selection of prior distributions in Bayesian analyses; and Assessment of model fit. 	8
Assessment of Inconsistency	S2	Describe the statistical methods used to evaluate the agreement of direct and indirect evidence in the treatment network(s) studied. Describe efforts taken to address its presence when found.	8
Risk of bias across studies	15	Specify any assessment of risk of bias that may affect the cumulative evidence (e.g., publication bias, selective reporting within studies).	7
Additional analyses	16	 Describe methods of additional analyses if done, indicating which were pre-specified. This may include, but not be limited to, the following: Sensitivity or subgroup analyses; Meta-regression analyses; Alternative formulations of the treatment network; and Use of alternative prior distributions for Bayesian analyses (if applicable). 	8

RESULTS†

Study selection	17	Give numbers of studies screened, assessed for eligibility, and included in the review, with reasons for exclusions at each stage, ideally with a flow diagram.	8-9
Presentation of network structure	S3	Provide a network graph of the included studies to enable visualization of the geometry of the treatment network.	Fig 2
Summary of network geometry	S4	Provide a brief overview of characteristics of the treatment network. This may include commentary on the abundance of trials and randomized patients for the different interventions and pairwise comparisons in the network, gaps of evidence in the treatment network, and potential biases reflected by the network structure.	9-10
Study characteristics	18	For each study, present characteristics for which data were extracted (e.g., study size, PICOS, follow-up period) and provide the citations.	9-12 and Supporting
Risk of bias within studies	19	Present data on risk of bias of each study and, if available, any outcome level assessment.	9 and Supporting
Results of individual studies	20	For all outcomes considered (benefits or harms), present, for each study: 1) simple summary data for each intervention group, and 2) effect estimates and confidence intervals. <i>Modified approaches may be needed to deal with</i> <i>information from larger networks</i> .	10-14
Synthesis of results	21	Present results of each meta-analysis done, including confidence/credible intervals. <i>In larger networks, authors</i> <i>may focus on comparisons versus a particular comparator</i> <i>(e.g. placebo or standard care), with full findings presented</i> <i>in an appendix. League tables and forest plots may be</i> <i>considered to summarize pairwise comparisons.</i> If additional summary measures were explored (such as treatment rankings), these should also be presented.	10-11 and Supporting
Exploration for inconsistency	S5	Describe results from investigations of inconsistency. This may include such information as measures of model fit to compare consistency and inconsistency models, <i>P</i> values from statistical tests, or summary of inconsistency estimates from different parts of the treatment network.	10
Risk of bias across studies	22	Present results of any assessment of risk of bias across studies for the evidence base being studied.	9 and Supporting
Results of additional analyses	23	Give results of additional analyses, if done (e.g., sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression analyses, <i>alternative</i> <i>network geometries studied, alternative choice of prior</i> <i>distributions for Bayesian analyses,</i> and so forth).	14 and Supporting
DISCUSSION			
Summary of evidence	24	Summarize the main findings, including the strength of evidence for each main outcome; consider their relevance to key groups (e.g., healthcare providers, users, and policy- makers).	14-16

Limitations	25	Discuss limitations at study and outcome level (e.g., risk of bias), and at review level (e.g., incomplete retrieval of identified research, reporting bias). <i>Comment on the validity of the assumptions, such as transitivity and consistency. Comment on any concerns regarding network geometry (e.g., avoidance of certain comparisons).</i>	17
Conclusions	26	Provide a general interpretation of the results in the context of other evidence, and implications for future research.	17-18
FUNDING Funding	27	Describe sources of funding for the systematic review and other support (e.g., supply of data); role of funders for the systematic review. This should also include information	In Submission
		regarding whether funding has been received from manufacturers of treatments in the network and/or whether some of the authors are content experts with professional conflicts of interest that could affect use of treatments in the network.	

PICOS = population, intervention, comparators, outcomes, study design.

* Text in italics indicateS wording specific to reporting of network meta-analyses that has been added to guidance from the PRISMA statement.

[†] Authors may wish to plan for use of appendices to present all relevant information in full detail for items in this section.

Box. Terminology: Reviews With Networks of Multiple Treatments

Different terms have been used to identify systematic reviews that incorporate a network of multiple treatment comparisons. A brief overview of common terms follows.

Indirect treatment comparison: Comparison of 2 interventions for which studies against a common comparator, such as placebo or a standard treatment, are available (i.e., indirect information). The direct treatment effects of each intervention against the common comparator (i.e., treatment effects from a comparison of interventions made within a study) may be used to estimate an indirect treatment comparison between the 2 interventions (**Appendix Figure 1, A**). An indirect treatment comparison (ITC) may also involve multiple links. For example, in **Appendix Figure 1, B**, treatments B and D may be compared indirectly on the basis of studies encompassing comparisons of B versus C, A versus C, and A versus D.

Network meta-analysis or mixed treatment comparison: These terms, which are often used interchangeably, refer to situations involving the simultaneous comparison of 3 or more interventions. Any network of treatments consisting of strictly unclosed loops can be thought of as a series of ITCs (**Appendix Figure 1, A and B**). In mixed treatment comparisons, both direct and indirect information is available to inform the effect size estimates for at least some of the comparisons; visually, this is shown by closed loops in a network graph (**Appendix Figure 1, C**). Closed loops are not required to be present for every comparison under study. "Network meta-analysis" is an inclusive term that incorporates the scenarios of both indirect and mixed treatment comparisons.

Network geometry evaluation: The description of characteristics of the network of interventions, which may include use of numerical summary statistics. This does not involve quantitative synthesis to compare treatments. This evaluation describes the current evidence available for the competing interventions to identify gaps and potential bias. Network geometry is described further in **Appendix Box 4**.

Appendix Box 1. The Assumption of Transitivity for Network Meta-Analysis

Methods for indirect treatment comparisons and network meta-analysis enable learning about the relative treatment effects of, for example, treatments A and B through use of studies where these interventions are compared against a common therapy, C.

When planning a network meta-analysis, it is important to assess patient and study characteristics across the studies that compare pairs of treatments. These characteristics are commonly referred to as *effect modifiers* and include traits such as average patient age, gender distribution, disease severity, and a wide range of other plausible features.

For network meta-analysis to produce valid results, it is important that the distribution of effect modifiers is similar, for example, across studies of A versus B and A versus C. This balance increases the plausibility of reliable findings from an indirect comparison of B versus C through the common comparator A. When this balance is present, the assumption of transitivity can be judged to hold.

Authors of network meta-analyses should present systematic (and even tabulated) information regarding patient and study characteristics whenever available. This information helps readers to empirically evaluate the validity of the assumption of transitivity by reviewing the distribution of potential effect modifiers across trials.

Appendix Box 2. Differences in Approach to Fitting Network Meta-Analyses

Network meta-analysis can be performed within either a frequentist or a Bayesian framework. Frequentist and Bayesian approaches to statistics differ in their definitions of probability. Thus far, the majority of published network meta-analyses have used a Bayesian approach.

Bayesian analyses return the posterior probability distribution of all the model parameters given the data and prior beliefs (e.g., from external information) about the values of the parameters. They fully encapsulate the uncertainty in the parameter of interest and thus can make direct probability statements about these parameters (e.g., the probability that one intervention is superior to another).

Frequentist analyses calculate the probability that the observed data would have occurred under their sampling distribution for hypothesized values of the parameters. This approach to parameter estimation is more indirect than the Bayesian approach.

Bayesian methods have been criticized for their perceived complexity and the potential for subjectivity to be introduced by choice of a prior distribution that may affect study findings. Others argue that explicit use of a prior distribution makes transparent how individuals can interpret the same data differently. Despite these challenges, Bayesian methods offer considerable flexibility for statistical modeling. In-depth introductions to Bayesian methods and discussion of these and other issues can be found elsewhere.

Appendix Box 3. Network Meta-Analysis and Assessment of Consistency

Network meta-analysis often involves the combination of direct and indirect evidence. In the simplest case, we wish to compare treatments A and B and have 2 sources of information: direct evidence via studies comparing A versus B, and indirect evidence via groups of studies comparing A and B with a common intervention, C. Together, this evidence forms a closed loop, ABC.

Direct and indirect evidence for a comparison of interventions should be combined only when their findings are similar in magnitude and interpretation. For example, for a comparison of mortality rates between A and B, an odds ratio determined from studies of A versus B should be similar to the odds ratio comparing A versus B estimated indirectly based on studies of A versus C and B versus C. This assumption of comparability of direct and indirect evidence is referred to as *consistency* of treatment effects.

When a treatment network contains a closed loop of interventions, it is possible to examine statistically whether there is agreement between the direct and indirect estimates of intervention effect.

Different methods to evaluate potential differences in relative treatment effects estimated by direct and indirect comparisons are grouped as *local approaches* and *global approaches*. Local approaches (e.g., the Bucher method or the node-splitting method) assess the presence of inconsistency for a particular pairwise comparison in the network, whereas global approaches (e.g., inconsistency models, *l*² measure for inconsistency) consider the potential for inconsistency in the network as a whole.

Tests for inconsistency can have limited power to detect a true difference between direct and indirect evidence. When multiple loops are being tested for inconsistency, one or a few may show inconsistency simply by chance. Further discussions of consistency and related concepts are available elsewhere.

Inconsistency in a treatment network can indicate lack of transitivity (see **Appendix Box 1**).

Appendix Box 4. Network Geometry and Considerations for Bias

The term *network geometry* is used to refer to the architecture of the treatment comparisons that have been made for the condition under study. This includes what treatments are involved in the comparisons in a network, in what abundance they are present, the respective numbers of patients randomly assigned to each treatment, and whether particular treatments and comparisons may have been preferred or avoided.

Networks may take on different shapes. Poorly connected networks depend extensively on indirect comparisons. Meta-analyses of such networks may be less reliable than those from networks where most treatments have been compared against each other.

Qualitative description of network geometry should be provided and accompanied by a network graph. Quantitative metrics assessing features of network geometry, such as *diversity* (related to the number of treatments assessed and the balance of evidence among them), *co-occurrence* (related to whether comparisons between certain treatments are more or less common), and *homophily* (related to the extent of comparisons between treatments in the same class versus competing classes), can also be mentioned.

Although common, established steps for reviewing network geometry do not yet exist, however examples of in-depth evaluations have been described related to treatments for tropical diseases and basal cell carcinoma and may be of interest to readers. An example based on 75 trials of treatments for pulmonary arterial hypertension (**Appendix Figure 3**) suggests that head-to-head studies of active therapies may prove useful to further strengthen confidence in interpretation of summary estimates of treatment comparisons.

Appendix Box 5. Probabilities and Rankings in Network Meta-Analysis

Systematic reviews incorporating network meta-analyses can provide information about the hierarchy of competing interventions in terms of treatment rankings.

The term *treatment ranking probabilities* refers to the probabilities estimated for each treatment in a network of achieving a particular placement in an ordering of treatment effects from best to worst. A network of 10 treatments provides a total of 100 ranking probabilities—that is, for each intervention, the chance of being ranked first, second, third, fourth, fifth, and so forth).

Several techniques are feasible to summarize relative rankings, and include graphical tools as well as different approaches for estimating ranking probabilities. **Appendix Figure 6** shows 2 approaches to presenting such information, on the basis of a comparison of adjuvant interventions for resected pancreatic adenocarcinoma.

Robust reporting of rankings also includes specifying median ranks with uncertainty intervals, cumulative probability curves, and the surface under the cumulative ranking (SUCRA) curve.

Rankings can be reported along with corresponding estimates of pairwise comparisons between interventions. Rankings should be reported with probability estimates to minimize misinterpretation from focusing too much on the most likely rank.

Rankings may exaggerate small differences in relative effects, especially if they are based on limited information. An objective assessment of the strength of information in the network and the magnitude of absolute benefits should accompany rankings to minimize potential biases.



Appendix Figure 1A-1C

Appendix Figure 3



Appendix Figure 6

	Treatment and Cooresponding Ranking Prob Grade 3 or 4 Hematologic Toxicity			
Ranking	5-FU	Gemcitabine	Chemoradiation + 5-FU	Chemoradiation + gemcitabine
1	0.42	0.42	0.15	0.01
2	0.46	0.36	0.15	0.02
3	0.10	0.17	0.68	0.04
4	0.02	0.05	0.02	0.93



This page is intentionally left blank

Chapter 4

Impact of a Multicomponent Digital Therapeutic Mobile App on Medication Adherence in Patients with Chronic Conditions: Retrospective Analysis

Wiecek E, Torres-Robles A, Cutler RL, Benrimoj SI, Garcia-Cardenas V Impact of a Multicomponent Digital Therapeutic Mobile App on Medication Adherence in Patients with Chronic Conditions: Retrospective Analysis J Med Internet Res 2020;22(8):e17834

https://www.jmir.org/2020/8/e17834/

This page is intentionally left blank

Background:

Strategies to improve medication adherence are widespread in the literature; however, their impact is limited in real practice. Few patients persistently engage long-term to improve health outcomes, even when they are aware of the consequences of poor adherence. Despite the potential of mobile phone apps as a tool to manage medication adherence, there is still limited evidence of the impact of these innovative interventions. Real-world evidence can assist in minimizing this evidence gap.

Objective:

The objective of this study was to analyze the impact over time of a previously implemented digital therapeutic mobile app on medication adherence rates in adults with any chronic condition.

Methods:

A retrospective observational study was performed to assess the adherence rates of patients with any chronic condition using Perx Health, a digital therapeutic that uses multiple components within a mobile health app to improve medication adherence. These components include gamification, dosage reminders, incentives, educational components, and social community components. Adherence was measured through mobile direct observation of therapy (MDOT) over 3-month and 6-month time periods. Implementation adherence, defined as the percentage of doses in which the correct dose of a medication was taken, was assessed across the study periods, in addition to timing adherence or percentage of doses taken at the appropriate time (±1 hour). The Friedman test was used to compare differences in adherence rates over time.

Results:

We analyzed 243 and 130 patients who used the app for 3 months and 6 months, respectively. The average age of the 243 patients was 43.8 years (SD 15.5), and 156 (64.2%) were female. The most common medications prescribed were varenicline, rosuvastatin, and cholecalciferol. The median implementation adherence was 96.6%

(IQR 82.1%-100%) over 3 months and 96.8% (IQR 87.1%-100%) over 6 months. Nonsignificant differences in adherence rates over time were observed in the 6-month analysis (Fr(2)=4.314, P=.505) and 3-month analysis (Fr(2)=0.635, P=.728). Similarly, the timing adherence analysis revealed stable trends with no significant changes over time.

Conclusions:

Retrospective analysis of users of a medication adherence management mobile app revealed a positive trend in maintaining optimal medication adherence over time. Mobile technology utilizing gamification, dosage reminders, incentives, education, and social community interventions appears to be a promising strategy to manage medication adherence in real practice.

Keywords: medication adherence; medication compliance; mobile phone; mobile apps; mHealth; gamification

Introduction

Strategies to manage medication adherence, which is defined as the process by which patients take their medications as prescribed [1], are widespread in the literature and are reported to be modestly effective [2]. Most likely due to the multidimensional nature of medication-taking behavior and numerous determinants of nonadherence [3], multicomponent interventions with both technical and educational aspects have shown the most success [4]. However, these strategies have failed to find success in the real world; patient adherence levels tend to decrease in the long term and stay consistently at around 50% [5]. These strategies are limited not only by the capacity of the health care system delivering them but also by low levels of patient engagement. Even when patients are aware of the risks and consequences of diseases, few engage persistently in therapies to improve health outcomes [6-8].

Cognitive biases resulting in irrational and unhealthy behavior may be a key contributor to patient engagement in preventative health strategies. In contrast with traditional economic models of rational choice, modern insights have suggested that human behavior is highly influenced by the context or environment of our decision-making process rather than by price signals or factual information [9]. The field of behavioral economics combines psychology and neoclassical economics to shed light on the errors in mental processing that prevent patients from making rational and beneficial decisions to improve their health [10]. Some health behaviors may require high levels of selfcontrol, meaning that a patient may need to endure "certain and immediate inconveniences in return for uncertain and distant benefits [11]." Obvious behaviors that create this paradigm are healthy food choices and exercise [12]. However, medication adherence, or the act of taking a medication at a certain time each day, creates inconvenience by disrupting the patient's daily lifestyle or causing adverse effects; meanwhile, this behavior is only rewarded with uncertain and distant future health outcomes. Strategies to influence cognitive biases include incentives and rewards. Incentives and rewards not only impact motivation but also create an immediate benefit to counteract inconvenience [13]. In previous literature, financial incentives showed success in improving medication adherence but were limited by long-term viability and capacity of resources, with economic incentives often eroding the potential economic gain [13-19]. The use of lottery-based incentives has also shown success in sustainment of adherence and long-term engagement [20,21]. Frequent lotteries with small rewards can engage patients based on regret aversion, namely the understanding that the emotional cost of regret (ie, missing a reward by not taking a medication dose) is significant [21].

Methods of gamification or use of nonfinancial extrinsic motivators, such as accruing "points," can be feasible and practical ways to create similar senses of gratification and motivation [22]. Gamification is the application of game elements for purposes other than their expected use for entertainment [23]. An individual's choice to engage in an activity is affected by extrinsic and intrinsic motivation. Medication adherence requires intrinsic motivation driven by internal rewards; this sense of motivation can often be difficult to achieve for behavior that has uncertain and distant health benefits. Through the use of gamification, extrinsic motivations such as earning points and monetary rewards can create and trigger internal motivation [23]. Gamification is not only able to use both extrinsic and intrinsic motivation to create consistent engagement through rewards, such as points or daily streaks, but can also create a sense of achievement [23]. Both gamification and rewards appear to be promising strategies to potentiate the effects of frequently used adherence management approaches, such as educational components and reminders.

Currently, over 300,000 mobile health (mHealth) apps are available; they have become common and instrumental tools for health behavior change in modern times [24,25]. Success has already been demonstrated with using mobile phone apps to support health behavior changes, ranging from constructing a healthy diet to managing chronic pain or improving physical activity [26-28]. Despite the potential of mobile phone apps as a tool to manage medication adherence, there is limited evidence of the effectiveness of these innovative interventions [29-31]. Real-world evidence, which refers to health care information gathered outside clinical research settings, can help minimize this evidence gap. Generated through the analysis of multiple sources, including electronic health records and mHealth apps, real-world evidence can be used to test how health interventions work in usual practice [32]. Observational studies of real-world data can assist in evaluating the potential impact of implemented health interventions in real world settings, such as interventions delivered through mobile phone apps [33].

The objective of this study was to use real-world data to analyze the impact over time of a previously implemented digital therapeutic mobile app on medication adherence rates in adults with any chronic condition. The impact on timing adherence rates was also analyzed.

Methods

Study design

This was a retrospective observational study using real-world data. The implementation adherence of people in Australia using a commercially available smartphone application, Perx, was evaluated. The ESPACOMP Medication Adherence Reporting Guideline (EMERGE) and STrengthening the Reporting of OBservational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) Statement were used [1,34].

Intervention: Perx Digital Therapeutic

Perx is a digital therapeutic that uses different components within a mobile app to improve adherence to medications. These include technical components (through dosage reminders based on the individual patient's dosing regimen and individualized visual adherence feedback), educational components (through the use of educational materials on the disease and medications used), incentives and rewards (lottery-style delivery of gift cards), a social community (through a chat forum and collaborative competition dynamics), and gamification (through the use of point-earning and minigames to enhance the medication-taking experience). Perx enables users to input their medication schedule information while sending dosage reminders based on the individual patient's regimen. Doses taken are self-reported and recorded by mobile direct observation of therapy (MDOT) photo verification [35]. "Gold" points are rewarded to users for each dose taken on time (±1 hour). Additionally, different minigames are offered at the time of a medication dose to enhance the medicationtaking experience. The patient can earn extra gold points through learning a daily fact about their medication or disease state and by completing all daily tasks. Supplementary tasks within the app include health measurements, appointment reminders, physical therapy sessions, and other health actions, which provide users with a comprehensive system to track their health in addition to visual adherence feedback on their personal progress. A social forum and leaderboard component are also included, which create a Perx community. Reward shopping vouchers for popular stores can be redeemed either with a certain amount of gold earned or randomly by taking a correct dose. Screenshots showing the different features of the app can be found in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Data Source and Patients

Deidentified user data from the Perx database were analyzed for this study to assess adherence dosing data between October 2018 and May 2019 within Australia. All information was deidentified, including medications, doses, schedules, user age, dosages taken and missed, and timestamps of dosages taken.

Users were recruited to use the app via a range of channels, including patient advocacy organizations (ie, Cystic Fibrosis Australia and Diabetes NSW & ACT), local community pharmacies, outpatient clinics at local hospitals, and app stores. App users with any chronic condition were included in the analysis. Two user cohorts were analyzed: one for users who used the app consistently for over 6 months and one for users who used the app consistently for over 6 months and one for users who used the intervention for less than 30% of the time period defined by the number of days active on the app. The 30% threshold was used because it excluded patients who appeared to decide to stop using the app during the time period of the analysis, as the objective was to analyze user medication adherence rather than adherence to the app itself.

A subanalysis of timing adherence was also performed for both time periods. Users were excluded from the subanalysis if timestamps were not available for the entire time period.

Outcome: Medication Adherence

Adherence implementation rates (where adherence implementation was defined as the extent to which a patient's actual dosing corresponded to the prescribed dosing regimen [1]) were calculated by dividing doses taken by total doses scheduled per 30-day period. This included doses taken outside the \pm 1-hour time period and was verified by comparing the recorded timestamps to the dosing schedules inputted within the app.

For the subanalysis, timing adherence was assessed with doses taken at the correct time $(\pm 1 \text{ hour})$ over total doses scheduled per 30-day period. This additional analysis was performed to understand the effects of the incentives, as users could only redeem incentives if the medication was taken within the ± 1 hour time threshold. Both adherence measures are presented as percentages. Rates were compared to an optimal adherence level of 80%, which is the most commonly used cutoff point in the literature [36,37].

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed by integrating the PROC SQL (SAS University Edition 9.4) and Python (Jupyter Lab 1.0) language programs and Microsoft Excel 2019 (Microsoft Corporation) to organize and retrieve the results. The analysis was conducted in 30-day time periods. Study variables were summarized using mean (SD) and median (IQR). Adherence variables were verified for normal distribution using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Due to the distribution of the data, the Friedman test was used to compare differences in adherence rates over time. A P value <.05 was considered to indicate statistical significance.

Ethics Statement

The University of Technology Sydney Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) approved this study (ETH19-3622). All users recruited into the program were required

to actively accept and consent to the Terms of Use and Privacy Policy, which stated that de-identified data in aggregated form may be used by third parties for research and other purposes. No personal or confidential data were included in the database; therefore, informed patient consent was not required.

Results

Study Sample

A total of 130 users were included in the 6-month analysis, and 243 users were included in the 3-month analysis. For the timing adherence subanalysis, 111 users and 221 users were included in the 6-month and 3-month analyses, respectively.

6-Month Analysis Group

The distribution of users according to gender was 36/130 male (27.7%) and 88/130 (67.7%); 6/130 users (4.6%) did not disclose their gender. The average age was 45.8 years (SD 17.2). The most common medications prescribed were rosuvastatin, cholecalciferol, and atorvastatin; the mean number of medications prescribed per patient was 4.3 (SD 3.1).

3-Month Analysis Group

The distribution of users according to gender was 80/243 male (32.9%) and 156/243 female (64.2%); 7/243 users (2.9%) did not disclose their gender). The average age was 43.8 years (SD 15.5). The most common medications prescribed were varenicline, rosuvastatin, and cholecalciferol; the mean number of medications prescribed per patient was 4.0 (SD 2.9).

Implementation Adherence

Adherence rates across the 6-month time period are shown in Table 1. The overall median implementation adherence was 96.8% (IQR 87.1%-100%) across 6 months. A small decreasing trend was observed from month 4 to month 6. However, the Friedman test revealed non-significant differences in adherence rates over time (Fr(2)=4.314, P=.505) (Figure 1).

Adherence rates across the 3-month time period are shown in Table 1. The overall median implementation adherence was 96.6% (IQR 82.1%-100%) across 3 months. A slight decreasing trend was seen from month 1 to month 3 (Figure 2). Similarly to the 6-month analysis, nonsignificant differences in adherence rates over time were found (Fr(2)=0.635, P=.728).

Timing Adherence Sub-analysis

Timing adherence rates across study time periods can be found in Table 2. For the 111 users included in the 6-month timing adherence analysis, their adherence remained unchanged, with medians of 77.3% (IQR 52.0%-93.1%) in month 1 and 77.4% (IQR 36.2%-94.4%) in month 6. The median value across the time periods was 79.0% (IQR 50.8%-92.9%). Overall, there were no significant changes over time (Fr(2)=5.465, P=.362) (Figure 3).

In the 3-month timing adherence analysis, 221 users' adherence remained stable (Table 2), with nonsignificant changes across time periods (Fr(2)=2.125, P=.346) (Figure 4).

Study period	Mean (SD)	Median (IQR)			
6-month analysis (%)					
Month 1	88.6 (21.5)	96.8 (88.0-100)			
Month 2	88.0 (20.3)	96.8 (82.5-100)			
Month 3	89.5 (18.5)	97.1 (87.1-100)			
Month 4	88.6 (20.9)	98.3 (86.5-100)			
Month 5	87.0 (24.0)	97.1 (85.7-100)			
Month 6	83.9 (26.9)	96.8 (83.9-100)			
Overall	87.6 (16.9)	96.8 (87.1-100)			
3-month analysis (%)					
Month 1	87.3 (21.1)	96.1 (86.1-99.6)			
Month 2	84.1 (24.7)	96.8 (79.0-100)			
Month 3	82.5 (27.5)	96.7 (80.6-100)			
Overall	84.6 (20.9)	96.6 (82.1-100)			

Table 1. Adherence rates across the 6-month and 3-month time periods.



Figure 1. Mean implementation adherence rates of 130 users of the Perx app over 6 months. The shaded area below 80% indicates less than optimal adherence based on the literature.



Figure 2. Mean implementation adherence rates of 243 users of the Perx app over 3 months. The shaded area below 80% indicates less than optimal adherence based on the literature.

Study period	Mean (SD)	Median (IQR)
6-month analysis (%)		
Month 1	68.4 (27.9)	77.3 (52.0-93.1)
Month 2	70.5 (28.4)	82.3 (54.8-91.9)
Month 3	69.2 (27.7)	79.8 (50.3-93.5)
Month 4	69.8 (28.8)	81.7 (51.4-93.5)
Month 5	68.7 (28.9)	80.6 (52.8-92.7)
Month 6	63.4 (33.7)	77.4 (36.2-94.4)
Overall	68.5 (29.1)	79.0 (50.8-92.9)
3-month analysis (%)		
Month 1	63.7 (28.2)	71.0 (46.4-85.9)
Month 2	64.0 (30.8)	74.2 (41.9-90.3)
Month 3	61.4 (32.3)	71.0 (34.7-88.7)
Overall	61.1 (28.5)	72.0 (41.8-88.3)

Table 2. Timing adherence across the 6-month and 3-month time periods.



Figure 3. Mean timing adherence rates of 111 users of the Perx app over 6 months. The users were considered to be adherent to the dose if it was taken within ±1 hour of the scheduled time.



Figure 4. Mean timing adherence rates of 221 users of the Perx app over 3 months. The users were considered to be adherent to the dose if it was taken within ±1 hour of the scheduled time.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Retrospective analysis of the medication adherence of users receiving a multicomponent adherence management intervention that includes reminders, educational components, incentives, gamification, and social community components demonstrated that this intervention is a successful approach to maintaining optimal medication adherence. To our knowledge, this is the first study investigating a comprehensive multicomponent mobile intervention to maintain medication adherence across different chronic conditions.

Trends observed from the users of the mobile app showed high rates of adherence across the study periods. The adherence rates of Perx users averaged over 85% across six months. This was significantly higher than previously observed dispensing data adherence rates in Australian patients, which were found to be between 50.2% and 66.9% [38]. While a slight decrease in adherence was observed over 6 months, the long-term rates remained above 80%, which is often considered to be an optimal threshold for medication adherence [36]. The decrease in adherence rates was found to be statistically insignificant [36][39]. The gradual decrease was less pronounced than that in previous literature examining the long-term effects and multidimensional, dynamic nature of medication adherence; in a previous study, average adherence was estimated to decrease by 1.1% per month [40]. This suggests that the addition of gamification and incentive components to more traditional management interventions (eg, educational components and reminders) is a viable option to inspire long-term motivation and adherence to medications.

A recent network meta-analysis examined the impact of adherence interventions across time and identified multicomponent interventions as the most effective long-term solution [4]. Although there is limited evidence, interventions that include incentives and technical aspects (ie, dosage reminders) have been shown to be the most effective in sustaining long-term results [4]. The Perx digital therapeutic presents an advantageous alternative to existing medication adherence interventions due to its incorporation of multiple and innovative components into one platform to continuously motivate and empower users. A main component of the Perx app, medication reminders, has long been identified as a successful intervention component to improve adherence [41,42]. However, although medication reminders help to enhance adherence, they only affect one dimension of the multiple nonadherence determinants and are frequently used in combination with additional interventions, such as education [4]. Educational interventions are also a common long-term strategy to improve adherence to medications [2,43]. Delivered by numerous methods, these interventions can be moderately effective; however, they are not a sole solution to improve adherence for all patients [44]. When combined with technical and attitudinal components such as motivational interviewing, education-based strategies are found to be even more successful [4].

Motivation is another common determinant of medication adherence [3]. Patients can be fully aware of the positive health benefits medications provide as well as the consequences of poor health behavior; however, some patients consistently make poor health choices [11]. Present-biased preferences explain the "human tendency to grab immediate rewards and to avoid immediate costs in a way that our 'long-run selves' do not appreciate [10]." An individual may analyze immediate costs or immediate rewards to make a decision; such decisions often result from impatience or immediate gratification and place greater value on achieving gratification in the present moment than obtaining the same reward in the future. Positive and negative health outcomes remain too distant of a reward and consequence, respectively [45]. The Perx digital therapeutic aims to create instant gratification through gamification elements. Through receiving instant praise and reward after each medication dose taken on time, users may be motivated to continue to be adherent. Motivation can additionally be created through intrinsic forces, as stated by the self-determination theory. The selfdetermination theory suggests that the nature of perceptible motivational types determines the predictability and force of how people behave, rather than the amount of motivation [46,47]. Therefore, it is necessary for gamified systems to promote a sense of autonomy, competence, and relatedness to create the intrinsic motivation needed to continue the value of the extrinsic motivating factors [46,48]. The Perx digital therapeutic intervention may be successful because it meets the users' need for competence, autonomy, and relatedness. Competence and autonomy are created by setting challenging yet manageable goals, where adherence is the challenge and financial incentives are the goals. Users can also follow their progress through points, leaderboards, and personal visualized feedback graphs on their individual adherence. This feedback provides additional positive reinforcement and has been proven to be a successful component of interventions to improve medication adherence; it is estimated that adherence increases 8.8% for interventions where feedback is included compared to those that do not include feedback [40,49]. The social community component meets

the need for relatedness by fostering a feeling of belonging to a community that shares the common goal of better health [46].

While gamification is a main force in creating motivation in the app, the impact of rewards and incentives cannot be dismissed. The use of incentives in public policy has long been used as an extrinsic force to influence behavior and intrinsic motivation [9,50,51]. However, the use of incentives to encourage health behaviors is relatively new, and more research is needed in this area. Financial incentives have proven to improve medication adherence in certain populations; however, their long-term viability can be guestioned due to the resources needed [13-19]. Although incentives can be critiqued on their superficial nature or short-term viability, they may be a powerful motivating factor in creating habit-based behavior, a proven successful key in improving medication adherence, and an intrinsic source of motivation [51,52]. In the case of Perx, the extrinsic nature of the incentives may create habit-based adherence behavior in addition to intrinsic motivation to improve health outcomes. Additionally, the Perx app uses lottery-based incentives rather than predictable rewards. These incentives can enhance health behavior based on regret aversion or the human tendency to place a significant cost on regret [20]. If users believe that missing a medication dose can prevent them from winning a reward, they are still likely to improve their adherence, even without a guaranteed instant reward [21].

Limitations

Although our analysis proved that the Perx digital therapeutic is an effective intervention in managing medication adherence, it does have some limitations. First, the number of app users with available data was limited, did not extend past 6 months for the majority of users, and did not include information on the users' clinical conditions. Due to this, we were unable to perform subanalyses based on patient age, gender, medication, or condition. Second, we could not establish baseline adherence rates before the intervention was implemented or evaluate a control group due to the retrospective nature of the study. Third, while we believe that our sample reflects an accurate sample of patients who would be likely to use a mobile app to manage medications, the users who downloaded the app may also have been likely to adhere to their medications without the app. Conversely, it could also be argued that patients who need adherence management support would be more likely to download the app. Finally, while we could measure the number of active days per patient, it was not possible to determine full user engagement of the intervention in this analysis to understand the extent to which the intervention was used by each user.

Strengths

One strength of our study is our measure of adherence, self-reporting with MDOT [35]. Similar to electronic methods such as the Medication Event Monitoring System (MEMS), MDOT enables objective measurement while simultaneously providing timestamps to additionally measure timing adherence, which is an important component of the multidimensional medication-taking process [35]. Additionally, our analysis of the gamification of mobile apps to maintain positive health behaviors is part of a new and emerging research landscape within the pharmacy and health care sector that has not been previously examined [53]. With the increasing number of health apps entering the market, supportive evidence is necessary to demonstrate the effectiveness of these tools and to indicate whether they should be recommended by health care professionals as a component of medication therapy [54,55]. Finally, our use of real-world data generated from users of this commercially available mobile app was a strength in that the data can be applied to a broader population of patients and reflect actual use in practice [32].

Future Work

A 12-month clinical trial is currently being conducted with the objective of assessing the efficacy of the Perx intervention in adherence and clinical outcomes. Future research
should aim to assess the effectiveness of this intervention in improving adherence to medications and other gamification- or incentive-based strategies in addition to observing the impact on clinical health outcomes. Furthermore, a longer analysis period of 12 to 24 months would be beneficial in observing the long-term effects to determine if these types of interventions can sustain gold-standard adherence rates above 80% for longer than 6 months. It would additionally be useful to analyze the impact of the intervention across different points in the medication-taking process, such as initiation of medication, implementation and persistence adherence, and time to discontinuation of medication [1]. Finally, the opinions of stakeholders, specifically users, regarding the app and intervention components are vital to understand the main motivating factor in promoting adherence. A full engagement analysis identifying the components of the app on which the most time is spent as well as a user survey analysis are required to obtain a complete understanding of the success of the intervention.

Conclusion

Retrospective analysis of a digital therapeutic mobile app that merges gamification, education, reminders, a social community, and incentive-based components indicates that this intervention is successful in maintaining optimal medication adherence over time. Extrinsic external monetary motivators combined with fundamental game mechanics and other common behavioral change components may be a key force to promote intrinsic motivation and habit-based behavior, which can spark long-term changes in health behavior. Future research should evaluate the long-term impact of mobile apps using these components over a longer time period using experimental designs.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Lucky Health Pty Ltd for providing the data. This study received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Abbreviations

M-DOT: Mobile Direct Observation of Therapy EMERGE: ESPACOMP Medication Adherence Reporting Guideline STROBE: STrengthening the Reporting of OBservational Studies in Epidemiology SD: Standard Deviation HREC: Human Research Ethics Committee

Multimedia Appendix 1 Screenshots of the most important features of the Perx app.

ut ♥ 9×41 am 100% ➡ Friday 6 September (■	utl ♥ 9:41 am 100% ➡ My Health	utl ♥ 0:41 am 100% ■ Perx Rewards 🗐	.al ♥
9:00 AM Your Medication is DUE	Schedule Actions Insights Gurrent & Brett 26 Past 7 days	My Gold My Hearts My Rewards Ready to use (3)	Mary A My 100% streak made it another day. Feel free to message me around 8pm though cos 1'm going to struggle! 4m 1 like 1 comment
Panadol Extra 2 tablet	My medications: Adherence rate Adherence rate: 87% 30 Aug - 05 Sep O O	Music Voucher	Hyun P Good job Mary, you can do it 48s
Complete	> Ranking by day Monday 2 Friday > rankMedication \ Constructly Constructly Paradia	Book Voucher	2 likes 2 comments ம் James O ··· Doing well Rebecca, 100% streaks! Thanks for checking in! 7m ℃ W Wexests 0 ···
Simple management	Helpful insights	Motivating rewards	Support & Community

References

- De Geest S, Zullig LL, Dunbar-Jacob J, Helmy R, Hughes DA, Wilson IB, et al. ESPACOMP Medication Adherence Reporting Guideline (EMERGE). Ann Intern Med 2018 Jul 03;169(1):30-35. [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 2. Nieuwlaat R, Wilczynski N, Navarro T, Hobson N, Jeffery R, Keepanasseril A, et al. Interventions for enhancing medication adherence. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014 Dec 20(11):CD000011 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Kardas P, Lewek P, Matyjaszczyk M. Determinants of patient adherence: a review of systematic reviews. Front Pharmacol 2013;4:91 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Wiecek E, Tonin FS, Torres-Robles A, Benrimoj SI, Fernandez-Llimos F, Garcia-Cardenas V. Temporal effectiveness of interventions to improve medication adherence: A network meta-analysis. PLoS One 2019;14(3):e0213432 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 5. Brown MT, Bussell JK. Medication adherence: WHO cares? Mayo Clin Proc 2011 May;86(4):304-314 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Yang K, Lee Y, Chasens ER. Outcomes of health care providers' recommendations for healthy lifestyle among U.S. adults with prediabetes. Metab Syndr Relat Disord 2011 Jul;9(3):231-237. [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Okosun IS, Lyn R. Prediabetes awareness, healthcare provider's advice, and lifestyle changes in American adults. Int J Diabetes Mellit 2015 May;3(1):11-18 [FREE Full text] [Medline]
- Ruge T, Nyström L, Lindahl B, Hallmans G, Norberg M, Weinehall L, et al. Recruiting high-risk individuals to a diabetes prevention program: how hard can it be? Diabetes Care 2007 Jul;30(7):e61. [CrossRef] [Medline]

- 9. Vlaev I, King D, Darzi A, Dolan P. Changing health behaviors using financial incentives: a review from behavioral economics. BMC Public Health 2019 Aug 07;19(1):1059 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 10. O'Donoghue T, Rabin M. Doing It Now or Later. American Economic Review 1999 Mar 01;89(1):103-124. [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Kullgren JT, Hafez D, Fedewa A, Heisler M. A Scoping Review of Behavioral Economic Interventions for Prevention and Treatment of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Curr Diab Rep 2017 Oct;17(9):73 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Arno A, Thomas S. The efficacy of nudge theory strategies in influencing adult dietary behaviour: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health 2016 Jul 30;16:676 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 13. Volpp KG, Loewenstein G, Troxel AB, Doshi J, Price M, Laskin M, et al. A test of financial incentives to improve warfarin adherence. BMC Health Serv Res 2008 Dec 23;8:272 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 14. Mooney M, Babb D, Jensen J, Hatsukami D. Interventions to increase use of nicotine gum: a randomized, controlled, single-blind trial. Nicotine Tob Res 2005 Aug;7(4):565-579. [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Rigsby MO, Rosen MI, Beauvais JE, Cramer JA, Rainey PM, O'Malley SS, et al. Cue-dose training with monetary reinforcement: pilot study of an antiretroviral adherence intervention. J Gen Intern Med 2000 Dec;15(12):841-847 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Nunes EV, Rothenberg JL, Sullivan MA, Carpenter KM, Kleber HD. Behavioral therapy to augment oral naltrexone for opioid dependence: a ceiling on effectiveness? Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse 2006;32(4):503-517. [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Choudhry NK, Avorn J, Glynn RJ, Antman EM, Schneeweiss S, Toscano M, et al. Full coverage for preventive medications after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 2011 Dec 01;365(22):2088-2097. [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Malotte CK, Hollingshead JR, Larro M. Incentives vs outreach workers for latent tuberculosis treatment in drug users. Am J Prev Med 2001 Mar;20(2):103-107. [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 19. Morisky DE, Malotte CK, Choi P, Davidson P, Rigler S, Sugland B, et al. A patient education program to improve adherence rates with antituberculosis drug regimens. Health Educ Q 1990;17(3):253-267. [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 20. Sen AP, Sewell TB, Riley EB, Stearman B, Bellamy SL, Hu MF, et al. Financial incentives for home-based health monitoring: a randomized controlled trial. J Gen Intern Med 2014 May;29(5):770-777 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Humphrey CH, Small DS, Jensen ST, Volpp KG, Asch DA, Zhu J, et al. Modeling lottery incentives for daily adherence. Stat Med 2019 Jul 10;38(15):2847-2867 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 22. Sardi L, Idri A, Fernández-Alemán JL. A systematic review of gamification in e-Health. J Biomed Inform 2017 Jul;71:31-48 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]

- Stieglitz S, Lattemann C, Robra-Bissantz S, Zarnekow R, Brockmann T. Introduction to Gamification: Foundation and Underlying Theories. In: Gamification - Using Game Elements in Serious Context. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing; 2017:3-18.
- 24. Aitken M, Clancy B, Nass D. The Growing Value of Digital Health.: IQVIA Institute; 2017. URL: https://www.iqvia.com/insights/the-iqviainstitute/reports/the-growing-value-of-digital-health [accessed 2019-11-10]
- 25. Brand J, Todhunter S, Jervis J. Digital Australia Report 2018. Eveleigh, NSW: Interactive Games & Entertainment Association; 2018. URL: https://www.igea.net/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Digital-Australia-2018-DA18-Final-1.pdf
- 26. Zhao J, Freeman B, Li M. Can Mobile Phone Apps Influence People's Health Behavior Change? An Evidence Review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Oct 31;18(11):e287 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 27. Hamine S, Gerth-Guyette E, Faulx D, Green BB, Ginsburg AS. Impact of mHealth chronic disease management on treatment adherence and patient outcomes: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2015 Mar 24;17(2):e52 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 28. Patel MS, Benjamin EJ, Volpp KG, Fox CS, Small DS, Massaro JM, et al. Effect of a Game-Based Intervention Designed to Enhance Social Incentives to Increase Physical Activity Among Families: The BE FIT Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Intern Med 2017 Nov 01;177(11):1586-1593 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 29. Ahmed I, Ahmad NS, Ali S, Ali S, George A, Saleem Danish H, et al. Medication Adherence Apps: Review and Content Analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Mar 16;6(3):e62 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Marcolino MS, Oliveira JAQ, D'Agostino M, Ribeiro AL, Alkmim MBM, Novillo-Ortiz D. The Impact of mHealth Interventions: Systematic Review of Systematic Reviews. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jan 17;6(1):e23 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 31. Hightow-Weidman L, Muessig K, Knudtson K, Srivatsa M, Lawrence E, LeGrand S, et al. A Gamified Smartphone App to Support Engagement in Care and Medication Adherence for HIV-Positive Young Men Who Have Sex With Men (AllyQuest): Development and Pilot Study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2018 May 30;4(2):e34 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 32. Sherman RE, Anderson SA, Dal Pan GJ, Gray GW, Gross T, Hunter NL, et al. Real-World Evidence - What Is It and What Can It Tell Us? N Engl J Med 2016 Dec 08;375(23):2293-2297. [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 33. Barnish MS, Turner S. The value of pragmatic and observational studies in health care and public health. Pragmat Obs Res 2017;8:49-55 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 34. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, STROBE Initiative. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in

Epidemiology (STROBE) Statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. Int J Surg 2014 Dec;12(12):1495-1499 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]

- 35. Shields MD, ALQahtani F, Rivey MP, McElnay JC. Mobile direct observation of therapy (MDOT) - A rapid systematic review and pilot study in children with asthma. PLoS One 2018 Feb 5;13(2):e0190031 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 36. Baumgartner PC, Haynes RB, Hersberger KE, Arnet I. A Systematic Review of Medication Adherence Thresholds Dependent of Clinical Outcomes. Front Pharmacol 2018;9:1290 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 37. Osterberg L, Blaschke T. Adherence to medication. N Engl J Med 2005 Aug 04;353(5):487-497. [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Torres-Robles A, Wiecek E, Cutler R, Drake B, Benrimoj SI, Fernandez-Llimos F, et al. Using Dispensing Data to Evaluate Adherence Implementation Rates in Community Pharmacy. Front Pharmacol 2019;10:130 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Burnier M. Is There a Threshold for Medication Adherence? Lessons Learnt From Electronic Monitoring of Drug Adherence. Front Pharmacol 2018;9:1540 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 40. Demonceau J, Ruppar T, Kristanto P, Hughes DA, Fargher E, Kardas P, ABC Project Team. Identification and assessment of adherence-enhancing interventions in studies assessing medication adherence through electronically compiled drug dosing histories: a systematic literature review and metaanalysis. Drugs 2013 May;73(6):545-562 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 41. Choudhry NK, Krumme AA, Ercole PM, Girdish C, Tong AY, Khan NF, et al. Effect of Reminder Devices on Medication Adherence: The REMIND Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Intern Med 2017 May 01;177(5):624-631 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 42. Vervloet M, Linn AJ, van Weert JCM, de Bakker DH, Bouvy ML, van Dijk L. The effectiveness of interventions using electronic reminders to improve adherence to chronic medication: a systematic review of the literature. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2012;19(5):696-704 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Sapkota S, Brien JE, Greenfield JR, Aslani P. A Systematic Review of Interventions Addressing Adherence to Anti-Diabetic Medications in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes--Components of Interventions. PLoS One 2015;10(6):e0128581 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 44. Kini V, Ho PM. Interventions to Improve Medication Adherence: A Review. JAMA 2018 Dec 18;320(23):2461-2473. [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 45. Wang Y, Sloan FA. Present bias and health. J Risk Uncertain 2018 Oct;57(2):177-198 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 46. van Roy R, Zaman B. Why Gamification Fails in Education and How to Make It Successful: Introducing Nine Gamification Heuristics Based on Self-

Determination Theory. In: Serious Games and Edutainment Applications Volume II. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing; 2017:485-509.

- 47. Deci EL, Ryan RM. Facilitating optimal motivation and psychological well-being across life's domains. Canadian Psychology/Psychologie canadienne 2008 Feb;49(1):14-23. [CrossRef]
- 48. Mekler ED, Brühlmann F, Tuch AN, Opwis K. Towards understanding the effects of individual gamification elements on intrinsic motivation and performance. Comput Hum Behav 2017 Jun;71:525-534 [FREE Full text]
- 49. van Heuckelum M, van den Ende CHM, Houterman AEJ, Heemskerk CPM, van Dulmen S, van den Bemt BJF. The effect of electronic monitoring feedback on medication adherence and clinical outcomes: A systematic review. PLoS One 2017;12(10):e0185453 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- Burgess S, Ratto M. The Role of Incentives in the Public Sector: Issues and Evidence. Oxf Rev Econ Policy 2003 Jun 01;19(2):285-300 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef]
- 51. Kreps DM. Intrinsic Motivation and Extrinsic Incentives. Am. Econ. Rev 1997 May;87(2):359-364 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef]
- 52. Conn VS, Ruppar TM. Medication adherence outcomes of 771 intervention trials: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Prev Med 2017 Jul;99:269-276 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 53. Morrissey EC, Corbett TK, Walsh JC, Molloy GJ. Behavior Change Techniques in Apps for Medication Adherence: A Content Analysis. Am J Prev Med 2016 May;50(5):e143-e146. [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 54. Dayer L, Heldenbrand S, Anderson P, Gubbins PO, Martin BC. Smartphone medication adherence apps: potential benefits to patients and providers: response to Aungst. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003) 2013;53(4):345. [CrossRef] [Medline]
- 55. Dayer L, Heldenbrand S, Anderson P, Gubbins PO, Martin BC. Smartphone medication adherence apps: potential benefits to patients and providers. J Am Pharm Assoc (2003) 2013;53(2):172-181 [FREE Full text] [CrossRef] [Medline]

This page is intentionally left blank

Chapter 5

User Perception of a mHealth Application Using Gamification and Incentives to Improve Medication Adherence: Content Analysis of User Survey Reviews

This page is intentionally left blank

Introduction

MHealth (mobile health) is in an advantageous position to enhance the management of medication adherence. Rewards and gamification are two innovative techniques being utilised to combat the perception of medication adherence as an inconvenience. Perx Health is an mHealth app aiming to improve adherence to medications by utilising these strategies along with reminders. While it has proven effectiveness in enhancing adherence, its acceptability by its users is still unknown. The aim of this study was to analyse user beliefs, perceptions and experiences towards an already implemented mHealth app utilising multiple components including rewards, reminders and gamification.

Methods

Retrospective mixed methods analysis of quantitative survey and qualitative cross-sectional questionnaire data obtained from Perx users was used. Raw qualitative data was organised, cleaned and imported into NVivo version 12. A sample of data (n = 200) was tested by two researchers and common words were extracted to design categories. Content analysis was conducted between two researchers to code responses into overarching categories by identifying common phrases and words embedded within user survey responses. Quantitative data was analysed using Microsoft Excel.

Results

The majority 88.9% of user responses (88.9%) stated that they were likely to recommend Perx. Common frequent positive reasons as to why users would recommend Perx included having an overall positive experience, improved medication adherence, appreciating the reminder features and the inclusion of rewards. Common negative reasons as to why users would not recommend Perx included reward frequency, an overall negative experience, reward type, technology functionality and repetitive educational material. Components of Perx thought to require improvement was rewards, games and educational material. However, a large number of patients thought Perx did not require improvement or stated it was already a positive experience.

Conclusion

The use of an mHealth app utilising rewards, reminders and gamification is an intervention that is widely accepted by its users. Patients enjoyed and would recommend the application overall, but especially appreciated reminder features and stated that the improved their medication adherence. To improve the app, users would like higher reward frequency, functionality issues such as glitches to be eliminated and updated educational material.

Introduction

The popularity of mobile health (mHealth), or medical and public health practice supported by mobile devices, has grown worldwide with an estimated two billion smartphone users identified in 2018.¹ This expansion provides opportunities to utilise these mobile technologies to address challenges within the health care system such as medication non-adherence.² With the potential health solutions that mobile applications could provide, it is not surprising that there are over 97,000 mobile health applications available on various application platforms and were 3.7 billion downloads of mHealth mobile applications in 2017.¹

Mobile tools have been advantageous in improving access to health care, delivering medical information and data in a cost-effective manner, and improving clinical health outcomes through health behaviour change.³ In a recent classification, six main uses were defined for mHealth interventions based on content of current mobile apps available: obtaining educational tools, consulting medical information and references, fulfilling a contextual need, communication and/or sharing information, managing health professionals' activities, and facilitating healthrelated management of patients.⁴ Employing these uses in mHealth, a specific opportunity to improve clinical health outcomes includes medication adherence, or "the process by which patients take their medications as prescribed."⁵ Non-adherence to medications, or not taking medication as prescribed, limits the capabilities and optimization of therapy benefits in improving health outcomes. Causing increased rehospitalisations, increased morbidity and mortality, and higher healthcare costs, non-adherence has been declared by the World Health Organization as an epidemic with only 50% of chronic disease patients revealed adherent.^{2, 6-8} Having multiple determinants, adherence is a complicated issue most effectively improved by interventions with multiple components.⁹ MHealth is becoming a rapidly popular tool to address this problem.¹⁰

The fast integration and development of mobile tools to improve and monitor our health has left a major gap in understanding users' opinions of the rapidly changing health management technologies. Content analyses of mHealth features, usability testing of apps' functioning, and observational studies exploring use and connection to clinical outcomes have been used to better understand these digital tools' effectiveness.^{11, 15} Previous literature has also examined

the relevance of mHealth solutions as well as the implementation and healthcare professionals' perspective. Yet even with understanding the effectiveness of these tools, limited knowledge is available on the main stakeholders' opinion: the users themselves. A recent meta-ethnographic review identified qualitative studies reviewing patients' perception of mHealth apps and concluded patients consider mHealth apps useful, issues identified include more closely tailored designs, cost, validity of information delivered, and security and privacy issues. This review presented qualitative findings showing that mHealth apps can strengthen patient engagement in self-care.¹¹ Although this is the case, it has been documented that patient engagement is dependent on patient perception of an intervention as useful and facilitating improvements in health outcomes.¹¹ While patient perception towards other modifying health behaviours such as smoking cessation or type II diabetes management have been found to be positive,^{12, 13} the patient perception towards the behaviour change of a medication adherence mHealth app remains relatively unknown. Few medication adherence mHealth apps have been examined on patient perception and the interventions of those that have remain focused on traditional methods of improving medication adherence through reminders and education.¹¹ Without this knowledge, we do not have an understanding of the acceptibility, desirability and patient engagement of mHealth within medication adherence.

In the uprising of mobile technologies to improve medication adherence, a specific mHealth digital therapeutic has utilised a distinctive strategy to motivate and empower patients managing their health. The Perx mobile app was found to be effective in managing medication adherence with their innovative approach through gamification concepts and monetary rewards to incite behaviour change. Though users of the Perx mobile app sustained high adherence rates over time,¹⁴ the app's capacity to improve health outcomes will rely on its capability to engage and retain users. Additionally, given the fast integration of mHealth apps in society, it is crucial to document and explore user perceptions, beliefs, and experiences as well as establish how highly mHealth apps are appreciated.¹¹ By reviewing these user perspectives, it can be established whether users agree the integration of a mHealth app is feasible and desirable.¹⁵ Therefore, it is imperative to examine user opinion and perception within the Perx mHealth app.

We aim to conduct a content analysis of user reviews to explore user's perceptions, beliefs, and experiences of Perx, an already implemented mHealth app utilising gamification and reward concepts to promote behaviour change.

Methods

Study Design

Retrospective mixed methods analysis of quantitative and qualitative survey data was used. Data was obtained from users using the smartphone app Perx aimed at analysing user satisfaction towards the application. The Consolidated criteria for Reporting Qualitative research (COREQ) guidelines were used.¹⁶

Intervention – Perx Health Application

Perx is a digital therapeutic offering that utilises different components within a mHealth app to motivate users and improve adherence to medications. These components include: (1) technical components (dosage reminders based on the individual patient's dosing regimen and individualised visual adherence feedback), (2) educational components (educational materials on the medication and disease), (3) incentives and rewards (lottery-based gift card system) (4) a social community (chat forum and collaborative competitive dynamics) and (5) gamification concepts (by point-earning and mini-games). Perx users input their medication schedule information and are sent dosage reminders based on the individual user's regimen. Doses taken are self- reported and recorded by mDOT photo verification. Users are rewarded with points for each dose taken on time (+/- one hour) and a lottery incentive of chance instant wins. Minigames are offered at the time of medication dose to enhance the medication-taking experience. Additional points can be earned through educational daily facts about the patient's medication or disease state and completing all daily tasks. Points may be redeemed for shopping gift cards. Supplementary tasks within the app to manage all aspects of a user's health include health measurements (blood pressure monitoring, blood glucose monitoring, etc.), appointment reminders, physical therapy sessions, and other customisable actions in addition to visual adherence feedback on a user's progress. A social forum and collaborative competitive dynamics are also included creating a Perx community.

User satisfaction survey

Users from the Perx Health were asked 3 questions:

- 1. How likely are you to recommend Perx on a scale from 0 to 10, with 0 being very unlikely and 10 being very likely to recommend?
- 2. Why did you give Perx that score?
- 3. What is one thing we could improve within the app?

The satisfaction survey was based on the NPS or Net Promoter Score, the most widely used customer satisfaction survey. It is based on a single question to measure customer experience and loyalty to a product. Its original form has limitations in only asking "how is the product" without asking what could be improved or worked on. Therefore, our Perx survey analysis added an additional question, "What is one thing we could improve within the app?"

Perx users could respond multiple times to questions depending on the amount of time they used the app (once per month).

Data Source and Patients

Users from the Perx Health database in Australia were used for this study to assess user satisfaction data between November 2018 and September 2019. Users were prompted within the app with cross-sectional surveys conducted within the first two weeks of using the app and once per month thereafter, with multiple responses possible per user. All information was deidentified including user age and responses.

Data Analysis

Raw qualitative data was organised, cleaned and imported into NVivo version 12. A sample of data (n = 200) was tested and common words were extracted to design the categorical node analysis. Qualitative content analysis was conducted between two researchers to code responses into overarching categories and themes by identifying common phrases and words embedded within cross-sectional user survey responses. An inductive approach was used that followed three main coding steps: (1) initial open coding, (2) establishment of categories, and

(3) abstraction into themes. User responses could be categorised into more than one category or theme depending on the text analysis of the individual response. The question "Why did you give Perx this score?" was separated into positive, negative and neutral responses and separately coded into most suitable category with frequency examined. The question "What is the one thing we could improve within the app?" was separately coded into most suitable category and theme based on user words used in the user response, and then analysed to determine frequency. Qualitative themes were extracted from patterns found in the content analysis. All quantitative data extracted from the "How likely are you to recommend Perx on a scale from 0 to 10?" question was analysed in Microsoft Excel.

Repeat evaluation of users was analysed across time for the net promoter score (rating from 0 to 10). However, for qualitative data on survey questions 2 and 3, an analysis across time was not performed. The questions asked were open-ended to provide new insights rather than evaluate aspects of the app over time. We included multiple responses from the same user over time as the scores, experiences and answers for improvement could change over time. A sample analysis was taken on survey responses at month one versus survey responses at month 6 and no patterns of change were determined to warrant further investigation.

Ethics

University of Technology Sydney Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) approved this study (ETH19-3622). The study was classified as having Nil/Negligible Risk. No personal or confidential data was included in the database which therefore did not require informed patient consent.

Results

Study

Sample

There were 6,296 responses to the survey questions made by a total of 449 Perx application users over an 11-month period from November 2018 and September 2019. The mean number of responses per user was 4.7 (SD 3.23). All users were between the age of 18 and 67 years of age with an average age of 35 (SD).

How likely are you to recommend Perx on a scale from 0 to 10?

Of the 2,110 responses to this question 1,026 (48.6%) of responses stated that users were very likely to recommend (score of 10) Perx. For users that were likely (score of seven and above) to recommend Perx, 88.9% (1,876) gave a score of seven or higher (Figure 1). Of those unsure if they would recommend Perx, 4.2% (90) of responses gave a score of five (Figure 1). Those very unlikely to recommend Perx were 0.9% (19) of responses that gave a score of zero. In addition, 3.1% (66) of responses stated that users were unlikely (score between one and four) to recommend Perx (Figure 1). The average score given was 8.65 (SD 1.92). Of users that gave multiple responses, 346 were identified with an average first response score of 8.57 (SD 2.01) and average last response score of 8.54 (SD 1.95).



Figure 1. Frequency of user responses stating how likely they were to recommend Perx.

Why did you give this score?

Negative Responses

The most frequent negative responses were related to reward frequency (n=101) (Table 1) where user comments included *"The rewards aren't given that easily I feel like you go months before you win something."* The next most frequent responses came from users that had

experienced an overall negative encounter whilst using the application (n=55) (Table 1) stating "...it can be a chore at times." Other frequent negative responses included "different gift vouchers" when patients commented on the types of rewards offered by Perx (n=50) (Table 1), "Still a few bugs to iron out" when patients discussed technology issues (n=47) (Figure 2) and "The facts...there's way too much repetition" when patients described the repetitiveness of fun facts (n=43) (Table 1).

Positive Responses

The most frequent positive responses were from users that had an overall positive experience whilst using the app (n=569) with examples stating "... Because it's a great app for everyone young or old." This was followed by responses stating that Perx increased user medication adherence (n=344) (Table 1). "Before my medication [adherence] was very adhoc. Yes, take it or not. Now [I'm] excited [to take my medication]. I tell people go on computer and inquire [about Perx]. Now I take my medication on time. Thankyou." Other frequent positive responses included when patients commented on the reminder component of Perx (n=276)."I love this app and couldn't endorse it enough. This app reminds me to take my medication when I usually wouldn't," "Great app love winning prizes for taking my medication" when patients discussed the inclusion of rewards (n=184) and "It's great to motivate and keep me on track" when users described that Perx was motivating (n=116) (Table 1).

Themes and Categories		Responses, n ^a	Themes and Categories		Responses, n ^a
Positive		569	Negative		55
1.	Behavioural	1	1.	Behavioural	3
i.	Community	1	i.	Community	1
ii.	Compliance	344	ii.	Compliance	32
iii.	Motivation	116	iii.	Motivation	11
iv.	Condition Management	3	iv.	Condition Management	4
2.	Functionality	2	2.	Functionality	29
i.	Dosage Setting	0	i.	Dosage Setting	26
ii.	Ease of use	81	ii.	Ease of use	14
iii.	Glitches	0	iii.	Glitches	38
iv.	Medication List	0	iv.	Medication List	8
٧.	Photos	0	٧.	Photos	24

vi.	Sign In	0	vi.	Sign In	7
vii.	Technology	4	vii.	Technology	47
3.	Components		3.	Components	
i.	Fun Facts	2	i.	Fun Facts	5
a)	Content	2	a)	Content	13
b)	Repetitive or Frequency	0	b)	Repetitive or Frequency	43
ii.	Games	8	ii.	Games	8
a)	Frequency or Skipping	0	a)	Frequency or Skipping	16
b)	Туре	10	b)	Туре	28
iii.	Reminder	276	iii.	Reminder	26
iv.	Rewards	184	iv.	Rewards	25
a)	Frequency	7	a)	Frequency	101
b)	Туре	83	b)	Туре	50

^aCategories may not add up to themes as responses could be coded into an overarching theme if they did not specify a category

Table 1. Frequency of positive (left) and negative (right) user responses stating why they assigned a particular score for Perx recommendation.

What is the one thing we could improve within the app?

The biggest area requiring improvement identified by patients was the rewards offered (n=322) (Table 2) where users stated, *"rewards and prizes."* Following this, responses indicated that nothing required improvement (n=178) by commenting such as *"Keep doing what you're doing it's great"* or *"I love it just as it is!"* when users had an overall positive experience while using the app (n=149). Other areas identified as requiring improvement include the games (n=125) where users commented *"developing some new games"* and *"keeping the app up to date so there is no technical issues"* when users described technology functionality (n=114) as needing improvement and *"update the facts/tips…"* when content of fun facts (n=114) required improvement. Finally, more personalisation of dosage reminders (n=96) was often mentioned with users stating things like *"personalising medication routines – I.e. days of the week, not just daily, every three days etc."* (Table 2).

1. Positive	149
2. Nothing	178
3. Behavioural	
ii. Community	4
iii. Compliance	61
iv. Feedback	7
v. Motivation	26
vi. Condition Management	21
4. Functionality	
ii. Dosage Settings	96
iii. Ease of Use	35
iv. Glitches	68
v. Medication List	19
vi. Sign in	3
vii. Technology	114
viii. Photos	44
5. Components	
ii. Fun Facts	258
a. Content	114
b. Repetitive or Frequency	31
iii. Games	125
a. Frequency or Skipping	11
b. Type of Games	70
iv. Reminders	77
v. Rewards	322
a. Frequency	83
b. Type	95

^aCategories may not add up to themes as responses could be coded into an overarching theme if they did not specify a category

Table 2. Frequency of user responses stating what improvements arerequired within the application.

Discussion

Analysis of responses from users receiving an mHealth medication adherence intervention demonstrated overall user acceptance towards the app. This acceptance can encourage patient

engagement assisting to establish the idea that using a mHealth intervention utilising gamification concepts and rewards is a feasible strategy to improve medication adherence.

Reminders, a technical component, are a common feature used in mHealth and have been extensively used in research aiming to improve medication adherence.⁹ Previous research has examined patient perceptions on reminders within mHealth interventions stating that they are generally well accepted amongst patients as long as they are not too frequent.¹⁷ This supports the trend in the results where Perx users appreciate the use of reminders within the app and found them to be helpful for being adherent. Reminders have repeatedly been a successful intervention component in improving adherence and their acceptance has most likely been crucial in their success.⁹ However, their effectiveness is only sustained over time when in combination with other components and may be due to reminders targeting only one barrier to adherence, forgetfulness. There still can be a negative effect seen when reminders are too frequent and overwhelming in a user's schedule.^{11, 18} They can be perceived as an annoyance and therefore rejected even when necessary. It is therefore vital to sparingly use reminders for only important actions that users perceive as necessary, such as when a medication dose is due.

Studies have confirmed that rewards can encourage patient perception changes by appealing to established theories of intrinsic motivation leading to increased patient engagement.^{19, 20} Gamified systems such as mobile applications, commonly employ extrinsic motivational features such as: immediate success feedback through reward, continuous progress feedback and goal setting through reminders and support such as recognition, and comparison through leader boards or chat functions to provide emotional and value based rationales to influence patient engagement and in turn behaviour change.²⁰ All three of these main extrinsic motivational features (rewards, reminders and a social community) are utilised by Perx and two of them (rewards and reminders) were recurrent positive responses as to why users would recommend the application.

Although rewards were generally well accepted by Perx users, a recurring trend examined within the results was that low frequency of rewards was a precursor towards negative recommendation scores. A previous systematic review by Sardi et al. examined the role of rewards in providing feedback in eHealth applications.²¹ The review stated that providing instant feedback, such as rewarding gold points through gamification, was perceived by mHealth app users as a helpful mechanism by informing users about their current progress and alerting them to required changes in their health status.²¹ Perx utilises a combination of instant and accumulated feedback processes. Instant feedback is offered in the form of pop-ups and visuals and accumulated feedback is offered in an "insights" tab to view an individual's previous adherence history on a visual graph.

It is important to note, that another frequent response was that patients perceived improved adherence from using Perx. Users' may only alone be perceiving improved adherence or they may be objectively viewing their adherence history within the app's insights feature. Moreover, our previous analysis of the Perx mHealth app concluded average high rates of adherence to medications and sustained adherence over six months, validating users' perceptions that their adherence was improved.¹⁴ Feedback and review on progress, both within adherence and clinical outcomes, is a vital theme in allowing user satisfaction and continuing motivation. It is predicted that positive feedback, such as seeing a successful past history of being adherent, can additionally increase feelings of autonomy and competence.²² Motivation is then created through an increase in need satisfaction. The positive perceptions of succeeding can continue to incite intrinsic motivation and in turn increased Perx patient engagement coinciding with improved medication adherence. This was additionally a common strength mentioned by patients in a recent review of mHealth perceptions. Patients highlighted the benefit of increasing patient empowerment with mHealth strategies' ability to facilitate self-management and create greater control and autonomy for a patient.¹¹

Education in combination with other components has been found to be an effective intervention in improving medication adherence.⁹ However, several barriers amongst health care practitioners delivering patient education have been identified.²³ Practitioner responses contributed to the general consensus that patients would not be interested in receiving educational materials.²³ Contrarily, Perx user perceptions showed that many users wanted additional daily educational materials to support their medication taking. Although the desire for educational materials was reflected within the results of this study, repetition of those materials was not. Repetition has been established as a cause of disengagement in previous literature.^{19, 24, 25} The results of this study agree with this notion as one of the main negative responses observed affecting user referral was repetitive fun facts. Several users reported that the information given through this component was not new and did not provide adequate support or information in helping improve their adherence or manage their condition. Although the educational facts were identified as the main tiresome component within Perx, reward type and games were also repetitive and in turn an area requiring improvement and barrier towards app recommendation via user responses. By introducing new and innovative medical facts, games and rewards, patient engagement, and in turn satisfaction will increase leading to a potential improvement in medication adherence. Adding to the utilisation of gamification concepts within the Perx mHealth app, educational games have been proven to be successful in the classroom and this would be expected to translate into adult health education as well.^{26, 27} As long as the material is updated and non-repetitive for users, quizzes focusing on information about medication and disease states could be a potential new and exciting delivery form of education for users.

A major theme seen previously in literature surrounding patient perceptions of mHealth was tailoring of the intervention and the need for greater personalisation.¹¹ Some examples highlighted were patients being able to press a "snooze" button if the medication could not be taken right away. It is not surprising that Perx users responded the same, with 96 responses wishing dosage settings could be tailored more. While medication schedules may seem rigid, the patients' lives in which they are implemented may not be. Tailored settings to allow for travel, weekend routine differences, or hospital visits were often requested. It is therefore recommended that the Perx mHealth app, as well as other health behaviour change apps, allow for greater personalisation of reminder and notification settings within the app.

MHealth interventions are in an advantageous position to allow greater personalisation and reaction to user requests. While typical previous interventions to improve medication adherence relied on a healthcare professional often limited by training in intervention delivery, mHealth strategies have an ability to easily and swiftly be adjusted and updated to reflect user feedback. Resources may still be required to adjust mHealth interventions, but they remain less resource-and time-intensive than traditional strategies such as healthcare professional-delivered education, motivational interviewing, or pillboxes. Due to the fast adaptability of these approaches, mHealth may allow greater and quicker improvement in patient health outcomes.¹

This implies that mHealth interventions should continue to be explored more frequently in their effectiveness on patient health outcomes and should be seriously considered as a recommended intervention avenue to incite behaviour change.

With a large amount of qualitative data, in-depth analysis is not always feasible. Modern methods of text mining and machine learning should be explored and utilised for a more efficient process to understanding users' experiences. Advanced methods of machine learning can also use these responses to personalize approaches and integrate more preferred components for the users that find them most helpful."

While proving that Perx was widely accepted amongst its users, there were some limitations in the study. First, multiple responses were seen per user thus responses could change over the time they use the app. This could make gauging a decisive positive or negative view of the application difficult. This was accounted for by averaging scores of first last response of users, with the average score remaining relatively the same (8.57 vs 8.54). Second, while two researchers undertook the data analysis with a small sample comparing results, moderator bias could still be present. Last, survey answers were only provided by users prompted to answer after one week of using the app or users willing to take the time to enter a response. Other users, such as those using the app for less than a week or those unwilling, would not be included in the analysis, eliminating a key population in those not engaging with the app.

Future research should aim to analyse health care professionals' opinions and perspectives on the Perx app to potentially gain their acceptance leading towards implementation into the health care system. A cost-effective reward frequency should also be determined to uncover the feasibility of long-term implementation of the application.

Conclusion

The use of a mHealth app utilising gamification and reward components to incite health behaviour change is an intervention that is widely accepted by its users. Most respondents would recommend using the intervention. Respondents enjoyed the app overall but especially reacted positively to reminder and reward components and stated that it improved their medication adherence, highlighting the desirability of these features in an mHealth app by users. To improve the app, respondents would like higher reward frequency, functionality issues such as glitches to be eliminated and updated educational material. Further research should aim to analyse other stakeholders' perceptions of the mHealth app as well as its the cost-effectiveness to determine its long-term feasibility and implementation.

References

- **1.** Ahmed I, Ahmad NS, Ali S, et al. Medication Adherence Apps: Review and Content Analysis. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* 2018;6:e62.
- **2.** Sabaté E, Sabaté E. *Adherence to long-term therapies: evidence for action*: World Health Organization; 2003.
- **3.** Han M, Lee E. Effectiveness of Mobile Health Application Use to Improve Health Behavior Changes: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Healthcare informatics research.* 2018;24:207-226.
- **4.** Yasini M, Marchand G. Toward a use case based classification of mobile health applications. *MIE.* Vol 2102015:175-179.
- **5.** Grounded ARGE. ESPACOMP medication adherence reporting guideline (emerge). *Ann Intern Med.* 2018;169:30-35.
- 6. Ho PM, Rumsfeld JS, Masoudi FA, et al. Effect of medication nonadherence on hospitalization and mortality among patients with diabetes mellitus. *Arch Intern Med.* 2006;166:1836-1841.
- **7.** Cutler RL, Torres-Robles A, Wiecek E, et al. Pharmacist-led medication non-adherence intervention: reducing the economic burden placed on the Australian health care system. *Patient preference and adherence.* 2019;13:853.
- 8. Cutler RL, Fernandez-Llimos F, Frommer M, Benrimoj C, Garcia-Cardenas V. Economic impact of medication non-adherence by disease groups: a systematic review. *BMJ Open.* 2018;8:e016982.
- **9.** Wiecek E, Tonin FS, Torres-Robles A, Benrimoj SI, Fernandez-Llimos F, Garcia-Cardenas V. Temporal effectiveness of interventions to improve medication adherence: A network meta-analysis. *PloS one.* 2019;14:e0213432.
- **10.** Leite J WE, Torres-Robles A, Cutler RL, Garcia-Cardenas V. The effectiveness of using mobile applications to improve medication adherence: a systematic review. *Telemedicine and e-Health.* 2020. (Under Review)
- **11.** Vo V, Auroy L, Sarradon-Eck A. Patients' Perceptions of mHealth Apps: Meta-Ethnographic Review of Qualitative Studies. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*. 2019;7:e13817-e13817.
- **12.** Luna-Perejon F, Malwade S, Styliadis C, et al. Evaluation of user satisfaction and usability of a mobile app for smoking cessation. *Computer methods and programs in biomedicine*. 2019;182:105042.
- **13.** Husted GR, Weis J, Teilmann G, Castensoe-Seidenfaden P. Exploring the Influence of a Smartphone App (Young with Diabetes) on Young People's Self-Management: Qualitative Study. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* 2018;6:e43.
- **14.** Wiecek E T-RA, Cutler RL, Garcia-Cardenas V. The Effects of a Digital Therapeutic Utilizing Gamification and Incentives to Achieve Optimal Medication Adherence: Retrospective Analysis. *JMIR.* 2020. (Under Review)
- **15.** Park JYE, Li J, Howren A, Tsao NW, De Vera M. Mobile Phone Apps Targeting Medication Adherence: Quality Assessment and Content Analysis of User Reviews. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth.* 2019;7:e11919-e11919.
- **16.** Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care.* 2007;19:349-357.

- **17.** Pérez-Jover V, Sala-González M, Guilabert M, Mira JJ. Mobile Apps for Increasing Treatment Adherence: Systematic Review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*. 2019;21:e12505.
- **18.** Tao D, Xie L, Wang T, Wang T. A meta-analysis of the use of electronic reminders for patient adherence to medication in chronic disease care. *Journal of telemedicine and telecare*. 2015;21:3-13.
- **19.** Johnson DE, Yamazaki H, Ward KM, et al. Inhibitory effects of antipsychotics on carbachol-enhanced insulin secretion from perifused rat islets: role of muscarinic antagonism in antipsychotic-induced diabetes and hyperglycemia. *Diabetes*. 2005;54:1552-1558.
- **20.** Alnawas I, Aburub F. The effect of benefits generated from interacting with branded mobile apps on consumer satisfaction and purchase intentions. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services.* 2016;31:313-322.
- **21.** Sardi L, Idri A, Fernández-Alemán JL. A systematic review of gamification in e-Health. *Journal of biomedical informatics.* 2017;71:31-48.
- **22.** Burgers C, Eden A, van Engelenburg MD, Buningh S. How feedback boosts motivation and play in a brain-training game. *Computers in Human Behavior*. 2015;48:94-103.
- **23.** Huyer G, Chreim S, Michalowski W, Farion KJ. Barriers and enablers to a physiciandelivered educational initiative to reduce low-acuity visits to the pediatric emergency department. *PloS one.* 2018;13:e0198181.
- **24.** Saeed S, Zyngier D. How Motivation Influences Student Engagement: A Qualitative Case Study. *Journal of Education and Learning*. 2012;1:252-267.
- **25.** Peng W, Kanthawala S, Yuan S, Hussain SA. A qualitative study of user perceptions of mobile health apps. *BMC Public Health*. 2016;16:1158.
- **26.** Revere L. Classroom Jeopardy: A winning approach for improving student assessment, performance, and satisfaction. *Decision Line*. 2004;23:4-6.
- **27.** Brull S, Finlayson S. Importance of gamification in increasing learning. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*. 2016;47:372-375.

This page is intentionally left blank

Chapter 6

Discussion and conclusions

This page is intentionally left blank

Discussion

The overall aim of this thesis was to examine the effectiveness of interventions to enhance medication adherence across all disease states through a network metaanalysis, evaluate the effectiveness of an innovative mHealth intervention implemented, and explore the beliefs, perceptions and experiences of its users. The need for understanding the components for effective interventions at improving adherence was a theme observed across the body of work. There was an emphasis on the necessity for accurate description and evaluation of new mHealth or reward-based interventions' impact on adherence and their acceptability by the patients using them. The lack of research and guidance within the mHealth sector highlights a need for analysis of interventions implemented within consumer markets and a requirement in evaluating mHealth user beliefs and perspectives surrounding these interventions.

Medication non-adherence results from multiple factors and determinants within varying dimensions of the healthcare system, condition, treatment, socioeconomic context, and the patient. (Kardas, Lewek & Matyjaszczyk 2013) Multicomponent interventions aim to address multiple factors affecting the medication-taking process, resulted in effectiveness in improving adherence. (Nieuwlaat et al. 2014) This is a collective conclusion amongst the literature and was a main finding of our research in chapter 3 within our network meta-analysis assessing adherence interventions greater than 10 months. (Wiecek et al. 2019)

With an ability to incorporate multiple effective components, mHealth interventions are quickly gaining popularity as a supportive tool in assisting patients with all aspects of their healthcare. (Xiong et al. 2018) They have the potential to encompass several interacting components to facilitate the medication-taking process in a convenient method easily accessible to patients. (Silva et al. 2015) Evidence to support these rapidly developing mHealth interventions that aim to improve medication adherence is currently lacking, however, such research is vital to their successful implementation as

evidence-based health tools. Finally, understanding their acceptability by exploring the beliefs, perceptions and experiences of their users is essential for identifying their use, role in health care systems and long-term engagement. (Ahmed et al. 2018; Park et al. 2019)

Effective Interventions to Improve Medication Adherence

Our previous knowledge identified the most effective interventions at improving adherence to be multicomponent "package" interventions. (Nieuwlaat et al. 2014) The absence of understanding these effective interventions' working components identified a major gap in interpretation and replication of these successful strategies. Our network meta-analysis in chapter 3 allowed us to synthesise evidence from more than 400 studies on interventions aimed at enhancing adherence. We aimed to get a better understanding of what successful interventions are composed of and if certain combinations of components were more effective. We identified changes over multiple time periods for a better understanding of the evolution of adherence and interventions, as non-adherence is not a one-time issue but a continuous and often life-time challenge for patients on chronic medications. (Kardas, Lewek & Matyjaszczyk 2013) Due to the prevalence of chronic diseases and therefore the necessity of chronic medication, there is a focus on long-term adherence outcomes greater than 10 months and a need for interventions able to sustain long-term optimal adherence.

While a gold-standard intervention to improve adherence does not exist, we have discovered our results fit previous conclusions that multicomponent interventions are needed to enhance adherence over a long period of time (exceeding 10 months of duration). (Nieuwlaat et al. 2014) We can be confident from these results that one type of intervention, or a singular component intervention, will not be as effective alone in improving adherence long-term. Rather, components working together to target the

multiple dimensions of the medication-taking process are needed to sustain high levels of adherence across most populations. (Allemann et al. 2016; Kardas, Lewek & Matyjaszczyk 2013) Therefore, there is a need for the replication and feasibility of delivering these complex interventions within our health care systems.

While the network meta-analysis did not observe interventions across populations, a sub-analysis manuscript from our research team explored interventions with durations of 10 months or more and their effectiveness across disease states. Effectiveness of interventions did seem to relate to disease state, with educational and technical interventions being the most successful within patients with HIV infections and circulatory system and metabolic diseases, and attitudinal interventions showing a higher effect on musculoskeletal and mental, behavioural or neurodevelopmental disorders. (Torres-Robles et al. 2018) Conditional-related determinants of medication adherence can range from presence of symptoms, clinical improvement, disease severity, disease duration, and psychiatric conditions. From these numerous factors based on an individual's disease or co-morbidities, logic follows a conclusion that effective interventions would vary based on these conditions. A tailored, easily adaptable and multifaceted approach may be needed for individuals to understand their specific determinants with their condition or multiple conditions. (Allemann et al. 2016; Torres-Robles et al. 2018)

Patients will often have differing causes of non-adherence. (Ahmed et al. 2018) As discussed in the background, these different causes may require different interventions. The best approach may be for tailored interventions based on a patient's specific barriers and characteristics. Tailored interventions targeted at identifying patient barriers to adherence and offering solutions based on those barriers have tested in the past with modest effectiveness. (Grant et al. 2003; van der Laan et al. 2018) A trial on hypertensive patients used a nurse-delivered telephone intervention to assess patient barriers to adherence ranging from adverse effects to stress and literacy. While a 9%

increase was seen from baseline adherence rates, the extensiveness of the strategies offered combined with the necessary training of nurses to deliver the intervention create difficultly in the ability to replicate the intervention and results. (Bosworth et al. 2008) From other tailored interventions reported in the literature, a lack of describing intervention components make it difficult to replicate and offers a challenging approach to examine and understand their effectiveness. (Grant et al. 2003) A starting point in comparing effectiveness of these interventions may be through determining an agreement on ways to describe components of interventions delivered. While guidelines have been proposed, there is no consensus on a preferred method with literature not often utilising any guidelines. (Agarwal et al. 2016) Additional detailed protocols may also be a helpful tool in training those delivering tailored interventions, but consensus on strategies employed must be reached.

Within our network meta-analysis in chapter 3, technical intervention components (those aimed at simplifying or facilitating the medication taking process) were commonly utilised and highly effective. The most common types of technical interventions included reminders, simplification of drug regimen, medication aids, and monitoring and feedback of adherence. Reminders have been established as a desirable intervention though they are thought to be only effective on patients with nonintentional reasons for adherence, such as forgetfulness. (Tao et al. 2015) Nevertheless, technical components including reminders were consistently seen to be highly effective in our network meta-analysis and were ranked as the most effective intervention when combined with rewards in long term follow-ups greater than 10 months.

From the systematic review of mHealth apps effectiveness discussed in chapter 1, all twelve studies included in the review featured a reminder component within the app. (Leite et al. 2010) These were often dosage reminders but were widely found to be effective in a mobile phone avenue and desirable. (Kosse et al. 2019a; Mohan et al. 2018) Additionally, they appear to be more effective when combined with other components
such as education or behavioural type interventions, seen within our network metaanalysis. (Wiecek et al. 2019) While speculated that the effectiveness of reminders may diminish over time, technical components including reminders within chapter 3 were seen as the most effective in long term follow-ups greater than 10 months. (Tao et al. 2015) Longer duration studies over 24 months may be needed to understand the lasting ability of reminders on adherence. Finally, a surprising characteristic of reminders that may not be as important as one would assume is frequency. Significant differences have not been seen from frequency of reminders, ranging from multiple reminders per day to one per week; however, reminder fatigue should still be a consideration. (Tao et al. 2015) While not extensively researched within patients, "reminder fatigue," or the overuse of reminders may result in reminders being ignored. (Backman et al. 2017)

Rewards-based Interventions

Through our network meta-analysis, technical in combination with reward components (those creating incentives to be adherent) were often seen across time as the most effective intervention combination. Substantial effects were seen on adherence in short term studies less than 3 months, and long-term research over 10 months. The difficulty with basing conclusions from these results derive from the fact that the quantity of studies evaluating these intervention types, specifically reward-based interventions, was limited (n=7) compared to other interventions including educational or attitudinal components. Even considering the limited amount of research, the notable results warrant a more in-depth exploration of rewards, particularly in combination with other components, as a method of improving adherence.

The seven studies with interventions including a reward component included cash given to patients for being adherent and a decrease of drug co-payments. Acting as positive reinforcers, or a reinforcing desirable stimulus as a consequence aimed to repeat favourable behaviour, rewards have high potential to incite positive health behaviour change. (Giles et al. 2014; Lattal 1991) In most studies, rewards were often monetary incentives of low value less than \$5-\$10 at a time,. (Malotte, Rhodes & Mais 1998) Interestingly, lottery-based incentives seemed to have a similar effect on improving adherence with any amount. A daily expected value of \$3 was as successful as a daily expected value of \$5. (Volpp et al. 2008) Recent research has also looked into lottery incentives for adherence, suggesting that lottery size, or the amount of value or chance of winning, may not have a substantial effect on adherence overall.

Additionally, participants seemed to remain engaged after 6 months of a lottery program, suggesting lottery-based interventions have the potential to continue to engage patients and improve adherence long-term. (Humphrey et al. 2019) Through the effectiveness of lotteries, it seems that regret messaging within these interventions plays a large role in patient psychology and effectiveness. Regret theory states that perception of loss is greater than the enjoyment of winning, or in simpler terms, we hate to lose more than we love to win. (Loomes & Sugden 1982) This theory seems to hold true within the fact that lotteries can be an effective approach to enhancing medication adherence. (Kullgren et al. 2017)

Through behavioural economics we understand that humans are often irrational and do not always correctly value rewards. (Earl 1990) Humans generally tend to have excessive optimism about receiving a positive outcome such as a lottery win even when the value purchase price of that lottery ticket in relation to the chance of winning indicates a loss in value. (Sharot 2011) Lottery-based interventions to improve adherence should be furthered explored not only on their effectiveness but also on how users perceive them, in addition to the feasibility, implementation with health systems and their costeffectiveness.

The Perx intervention aims to employ lottery incentives within their rewards by using random rewards versus expected. The lottery creates regret theory by the user believing

not taking their medication dose results in a loss and by the user believing they may have won a reward had they taken it. (Loomes & Sugden 1982) Perx users may therefore be more likely to feel intense regret by missing medication doses and would try hard to avoid this feeling of loss, that is perceived as stronger compared to a feeling of winning. This strategy may create lasting engagement, as we saw in our analysis in chapter 4, as users had consistently high adherence rates above 80% over the full 6 months. Additionally, this is known in psychology as variable ratio partial reinforcement schedule. Most commonly seen within gambling, a variable ratio delivers positive reinforcement after an unpredictable number of responses to produce a high and steady response rate. (Lattal 1991)

We must not dismiss ethical concerns with lottery-based or incentive-based interventions. Financial incentives are increasingly becoming more important within motivating health behaviour change, yet they still only remain a single strategy within a complex issue. Oftentimes these strategies can be seen as ethical in that they improve health outcomes and guide patients towards better health choices. (Vlaev et al. 2019) Negatively, monetary compensation can also mute intrinsic motivation, meaning a patient may feel less inclined in the future to perform a positive health behaviour, such as taking their medication on time, without a reward. Others may see incentives as a form of bribery or coercion that may take advantage of certain types of populations.

Following this, research has consistently observed that individuals do not always act according to their long-term interests, such as improving their health. We often discern that patients regret decisions in their past, such as eating unhealthy food or smoking, yet their behaviours do not reflect their intentions. (Vlaev et al. 2019) While we may argue the ethics of rewards, they are assisting patients in adjusting their actions to their long-term preferences, such as healthier behaviour. (Marteau, Ashcroft & Oliver 2009) Financial incentives have long been commonplace within public policy and private organisations and seem to be increasing in frequency rather than decreasing. Small evidence additionally shows that the public supports incentive schemes as long as they are cost-effective, and the majority do not interpret them as coercion. (Giles et al. 2015; Wadge, Bicknell & Vlaev 2015)

Furthermore, there is lacking data on the feasibility of implementing these financial incentives on a large scale within health. Limited research has proven cost-effectiveness in similar health incentive interventions, yet future research will need to examine more closely cost-effective analyses within different contexts as well as implementation and sustainability of these strategies into health care systems. (Crespo-Gonzalez, Garcia-Cardenas & Benrimoj 2017; Lee et al. 2019)

Incentives alone will often not be sufficient enough to change behaviour without additional context. Incentives may be used as a motivator but can often fade on their value over time. (Gneezy, Meier & Rey-Biel 2011) Behavioural economics has extensively researched and concluded that when you begin rewarding a behaviour, the reward for that behaviour will continue to be expected. (Ariely 2016) Therefore, when we reward patients with vouchers for taking their medication correctly and on time, the patients will continue to be expected for this behaviour for each dose thereafter. Within our qualitative assessment of Perx users, we found this trend in some users. While many users expressed their desire and the appeal for rewards within the app, others revealed anger and frustration at not receiving rewards frequently enough over time.

To combat this, as stated in chapter 4, Perx include multiple other components within their intervention. These include educational components, monitoring and feedback components (technical), supportive and motivational communication components (attitudinal) and gamification components (rewards). Gamification is the "application of game elements for purposes other than their expected use for entertainment." (Dicheva et al. 2015) The Perx intervention utilises gamification concepts within by a "points" system in addition to daily streaks. These points and streaks within the app create a similar sense of reward that a monetary incentive does in addition to habit forming a behaviour. (Mekler et al. 2013) Not only acting as an incentive, streaks can act as an additional dimension creating regret. If a patient does not take their daily dose and report within the app, their streak is over, rendering a consequence in loss of a greater reward. To avoid this regret and consequence, patients are more likely to be adherent. (Chou 2019)

Gamification concepts are limited in their research but have been studies within health behaviour change. They have been identified to often include the same techniques highlighted in the behaviour change techniques (BCT) taxonomy, an internationally recognised system of intervention components aimed to behaviour change. (Edwards et al. 2016) Within research, the BE FIT Randomised Clinical Trial game design significantly increased physical activity among families utilising the program. (Patel et al. 2017) Identifying similar behavioural economic theories in their game design, the Perx intervention created similar engagement and effectiveness over time seen in this previous research.

While rewards through the Perx intervention may be a motivating factor in being adherent, the additional context of the other components, including gamification concepts and technical components like reminders and feedback proven within research to improve health behaviours, may be necessary. Future research should evaluate more in-depth the components being used within the Perx interventions.

MHealth Intervention Content and Behaviour Change

Mhealth interventions delivered through apps create an innovative approach to managing medication adherence. The technology behind mobile apps allows quick changes and adaptability in delivery to users that may offer an easier avenue in tailoring adherence interventions to the individual patient. While hundreds of apps with this aim

remain on the consumer app stores, research is lacking on evaluation of intervention content. (Morrissey et al. 2016) Studies on effectiveness can help develop future recommendations on interventions to utilise, yet effectiveness outcomes can remain useless if the intervention is not fully understood to be replicated or implemented, or if they are poorly accepted by the patients using them. Examples of this were seen in the previously discussed tailored interventions. (Grant et al. 2003) These interventions were effective in improving adherence, yet the extensive training of staff delivering the intervention and unavailability of a transparent protocol prevent their replication.

Interventions, such as mHealth apps aimed at changing health behaviour, are increasingly complex with multiple components, as seen in the Perx intervention described in chapters 4 and 5. Specifically, within medication adherence, multicomponent interventions have been the most successful in improving adherence outcomes long term as we discovered in chapter 3. Due to these interventions requiring many parts and roles interacting together, they become difficult to replicate within research and challenging to implement within everyday healthcare practice. (Nieuwlaat et al. 2014) Additionally, complex interventions are often evaluated as a "package" without realisation of the most effective individual components. (Care 2009) While our network meta-analysis aimed to identify the most effective combinations of components, we were still limited by having to broadly categorise intervention components in order for a comparison. Moreover, poor description of interventions within research and protocols, in addition to published interventions using differently labels for similar strategies, create difficulties in duplication and uncertainty in understanding of why specific interventions, or their components, are effective. (Michie et al. 2013)

Behaviour change techniques (BCTs), previously mentioned earlier in this discussion, are replicable components of behaviour change interventions or so called "active ingredients". To further identify the make-up of successful interventions in improving

225

medication adherence, BCTs can help to better understand the mechanisms utilised for behaviour change interventions and to further inform on continued development of productive interventions. (Michie et al. 2013) BCTs can occur alone in singular component interventions or can be used within complex, multicomponent combinations through a variety of delivery avenues. Through this identification, effective interventions can be understood more thoroughly by the BCTs associated and included within the interventions. Past reviews have identified effective BCTs for interventions aimed at supporting smoking cessation, prevention of sexually transmitted infections, and strategies to improve healthy eating and exercise. (Albarracín et al. 2005; Michie et al. 2009; West et al. 2010)

Before exploring BCTs within medication adherence and mHealth research, we must first define and understand these techniques and theories behind them. A recent taxonomy highlighted 93 distinct BCTs within 16 categories developed by a Delphi panel of behaviour change experts. (Michie et al. 2013) These 16 clusters include: goals and planning, feedback and monitoring, social support, shaping knowledge, natural consequences, comparison of behaviour, associations, repetition and substitution, comparison of outcomes, reward and threat, regulation, antecedents, identity, scheduled consequences, self-belief, and covert learning. (Michie et al. 2013) Specific techniques within these clusters have clear definitions and examples in order to be replicated.

Due to the complex, multicomponent nature of successful interventions in improving medication adherence, BCTs can be advantageous in defining, understanding, and replicating effective mHealth interventions. A recent content analysis used the BCT taxonomy to review consumer available mHealth apps aimed at improving medication adherence to understand the presence or absence of behaviour change techniques. (Morrissey et al. 2016) Of apps available, 166 adherence apps were identified and coded with BCTs found to be present. A total of only 12 out of the possible 96 BCTs were

identified within these. The most common were "action planning" and "prompt/cues," found in 96% of apps, correlating with the most often utilised adherence component of reminders or alert notifications. "Self-monitoring of behaviour" and "feedback on behaviour" were also commonly identified. (Morrissey et al. 2016) Self-monitoring and feedback on adherence have been used across multiple interventions avenues including healthcare professional delivered or electronic, for the past decade. They have often been found to be effective in improving adherence and were found by a review by Demonceau et al to be the most common component included in the most effective interventions to improve adherence. (Demonceau et al. 2013)

Agreeing with the finding of BCTs within smoking cessation and weight loss interventions, BCTs used in apps aimed at improving medication adherence were limited. While the revelation of an absence of BCTs can be disappointing in replicating mHealth adherence interventions, it also offers an opportunity for insight and utilisation of theory when developing or improving apps for effectiveness and quality. (Morrissey et al. 2016)

Previously mentioned within this discussion, gamification concepts often correlate closely to behaviour change techniques. Specifically, gamification apps aimed at promoting health behaviour change included an average of 14 BCTs per app, identified in a review of 64 consumer available gamification-based mHealth apps. (Edwards et al. 2016) The inclusion of game concepts within mHealth approaches may create additional BCTs utilised within these interventions.

Future research should focus on not only including BCTs and theory when developing mHealth interventions to improve adherence, but to also explore and evaluate which BCTS or combinations of BCTs within apps are most effective at achieving the goal of sustained adherence. Before this can be achieved, theory-based apps will need to be identified as well as their measurable effectiveness in improving medication adherence.

Additionally, while theories may be informative in creating effectiveness in achieving outcomes, user experience of BCTs and their apps components must be evaluated through qualitative research.

The Perx Intervention

The Perx mHealth intervention was extensively described within chapters 4 and 5. However, identifying specific BCTs within the intervention can be exceedingly useful in understanding its success in sustaining adherence rates averaging at 87.6% over 6 months and its comparison to other effective mHealth interventions. Additionally, the Perx app was created based on theory, specifically from behavioural economic principles and gamification concepts, and its BCTs can be identified within the app.

First, the Perx intervention utilised common components and BCTs found within other mHealth apps such as prompts/cues (a reminder alarm), action planning (setting a reminder), self-monitoring (recording of a dose taken), and feedback on behaviour (graphical display of adherence). (Michie et al. 2013) Categorised as technical components, all of these individual strategies have been proven to be effective in improving medication adherence within past literature. (Demonceau et al. 2013; Sawyer 2002; Stawarz et al. 2016)

Uncommonly used components, such as anticipated regret (raising awareness of expectations of future regret about the unwanted behaviour) and material incentives and rewards for behaviour and outcomes set the Perx intervention apart from other medication adherence mHealth interventions. Within the 166 apps aimed at improving adherence in Morrissey et al. 2016, none included goal setting (of the behaviour, adherence), information about health consequences, anticipated regret, graded tasks (challenges to be adherence for a certain amount of doses), material incentives (anticipation of a reward for the behaviour, adherence), material rewards (rewarding

the behaviour), incentives (for the behaviour), reward (of the outcome, being adherent), or reduced reward frequency. (Morrissey et al. 2016)

While limited studies have tested rewards and incentives to improve medication adherence, we still found the few interventions including them to be highly effective in chapter 3 and have discussed why that might be earlier within this discussion. To the best of our knowledge, the Perx mHealth intervention is the first identified within the literature to deliver rewards and incentives through a mHealth method. Connecting with our findings from the network meta-analysis, the Perx intervention including a reward component was effective at maintaining optimal levels of adherence over 6 months.

These additional components and BCTs utilised within the Perx intervention may be part of its success seen in sustaining optimal adherence rates over 6 months and may be evidence that combining rewards with multiple other component strategies is effective at creating long-term engagement and efficacy. Future research should more closely evaluate the working components within the Perx intervention, the role in the engagement of users within the intervention and their correlating effect on different barriers to medication adherence.

User Perspectives on mHealth

Exploring user perspectives on mHealth interventions is crucial to understanding the patient-centred means of managing medication adherence through mobile phones. Considering their implementation through consumer stores such as Apple, Android, and Blackberry has skyrocketed in the past decade, perspectives are often missing from the main stakeholders themselves: the users. The acceptability of an mHealth intervention is fundamental for understanding the probability of adoption of the intervention among end-users and therefore its ability to have an impact on adherence across these

populations. (Agarwal et al. 2016) Within our content analysis of Perx users in chapter 5, we aimed to explore the beliefs, perceptions and experiences of users of the app in addition to gain insight into the interventions' acceptability, desirable components and areas for improvement.

A recent content analysis on 1323 user reviews available through Apple and Android app stores of 20 different apps targeting medication adherence were analysed. (Park et al. 2019) Three main themes emerged: (1) features and functions users appreciated; (2) negative user experiences; and (3) desirable features. The analysis found user reviews to be mostly positive and pointed out specific derisible features. Though it should be noted this correlated with the most common features available in the apps, such as reminders. (Park et al. 2019) Within the Perx intervention content analysis in chapter 5, a common theme was also desirable features, with reminders often cited as the most helpful followed by rewards.

Reminders have been identified as a useful tool for patients with unintentional nonadherence, though they are generally found to be more effective over time when in combination with other intervention components. (Wiecek et al. 2019) Multiple metaanalyses and systematic reviews have explored their effectiveness within experimental studies. Forgetfulness is an often-cited reason for medication non-adherence. (Gadkari & McHorney 2012; Lowry et al. 2005) Users experiencing forgetfulness are the most likely to find reminders useful and may be the reason why many users of mHealth apps and the Perx intervention desired the use of reminders and found them helpful in improving their adherence. (Kosse et al. 2019b)

Within the overview of user reviews of mHealth interventions, simple app designs and apps with user-friendliness were frequently appreciated. (Park et al. 2019) Often users will express frustration with difficulty navigating the app features or by having difficultly and too much time needed for inputting medications. While we found this theme common within Perx users as well, they also requested more personalisation of dosage reminders necessary. A balance would be needed to allow for greater personalisation when required, but an ease to navigating this customisation. This need to greater personalisation is additionally found within app reviews. (Park et al. 2019) However, restrictions of reminders or creating reminders without WIFI is often a complaint as well as people having difficultly when their regimen includes multiple medications to input. Apps were also favoured if they included the ability to manage medications for multiple people and pets. (Park et al. 2019) While this was not a major theme within Perx users, we believe certain users, such as those caring for children on medications or elders on medication, could benefit from this ability and could be a future recommendation to improve mHealth apps. This personalisation of adjusting dosing schedules to be more tailored to an individual's schedule, or allowing flexibility for caregivers, could create higher acceptability and satisfaction within the Perx intervention.

Often found within reviews is that users commonly try and seek multiple apps before deciding on one that best first their needed. (Park et al. 2019) Over 800 apps will be offered by searching medication terms within app stores, making the selection of an app difficult and overwhelming. (Tabi et al. 2019) This suggests a need for new avenues of discovering apps, preferably high quality and evidence-based mHealth apps. Health care providers, specifically pharmacists, may be in the best position for assisting patients with identifying a beneficial app appropriate for the individual patient and their specific barriers to adherence. (Park et al. 2019) Research and evidence surrounded these mHealth interventions is necessary for healthcare professionals to be able to evaluate different mHealth options and to give an evidence-based recommendation based on a patient's needs.

Future Directions

While we have seen a successful intervention in sustaining high medication adherence rates across time, and one that is highly accepted and desirable by its users, future research is still required.

First, while our retrospective analysis of the impact on adherence rates had strengths in that it observed real-life environments of its users, the Perx intervention must be critically evaluated and optimal adherence rates confirmed within the gold standard of research – a randomised controlled trial. It must be explored to be effective across different populations including those vulnerable with inequal health outcomes and it must be also evaluated if it is similarly accepted by these populations. A randomised controlled trial conditions has already begun within Australia and will conclude in 2020, informing of the intervention's effect in improving adherence outcomes as well as clinical outcomes.

Second, through this research we extensively tried to understand the innerworkings of interventions to explore why some are effective, why others are not, and if all components are necessary. MHealth apps offer an opportunity in their ability to collect large amounts of data by how users are using the intervention. Utilising data science techniques, evaluation of user pathways, user events and event attributes can offer invaluable insight into how the users are interacting with the Perx intervention and what routine the most successful cohorts are experiencing. This would assess user engagement within the app and determine the app's most useful components, through examination of medication reminders, clinical reminders, educational facts, gamification components or types of rewards claimed. These analytics would be further correlated to determine what Perx app components result in the greatest change in patient adherence rates and for optimisation of the intervention. (Levati et al. 2016)

232

Furthermore, machine learning and artificial intelligence (AI) are quickly developing fields of data analytics. These techniques of computer systems learning to perform specific tasks through inference rather than explicit instructions mean the collection of large amounts of data regarding components' effectiveness on differing barriers to adherence can be identified and analysed more efficiently by advanced computing techniques. A machine's ability to identify patterns and insights within data can surpass those of traditional statistical techniques and should be a future explored opportunity for health behaviour data.

We have understood that patients have different determinants and causes for nonadherence and that tailored interventions to these specific determinants, both within mHealth and outside, may be the most effective solution. Through understanding component use and its correlation to adherence, better insight into recommended and tailored approaches would be allowed while still being able to describe the barriers assessed and tailored approaches correlated. By using questionnaires to identify patient barriers to adherence, further exploration of cohorts of patients with common causes of non-adherence, such as those not motivated versus patients with forgetfulness, can advance the knowledge of specific components that are most effective for which cohort.

Finally, while we have explored user beliefs, perceptions and experiences with a mHealth intervention utilising reward and technical components, an evaluation of how such an intervention fits into the entire healthcare sector is recommended. An evaluation may focus on integrating the service into pharmacy and the wider health care sector, encouraging consumer engagement, and identifying barriers responsible for resistance of integration of the app and significant strategies to mitigate the resistance factors. Mixed methods anonymous survey and questionnaire designs to both users of the app and stakeholders such as healthcare professionals or caregivers, will allow insight into implementation of the Perx intervention into the health care sector and barriers prohibiting its full sustainability.

Through a transdisciplinary approach for the utilisation of an innovative mHealth app to improve medication adherence, a full optimisation of the intervention itself and its implementation and sustainability into the health care sector is necessary. Critical insight and expertise from all multiple disciplines is required for a holistic approach such as this.

Methodological Strengths and Limitations

This thesis investigated components within effective interventions to improve medication adherence and explored the use of an mHealth intervention utilising multiple components. Multiple methodologies were used to analyse, evaluate and determine effective interventions in improving adherence while additionally evaluating the opinions and perspectives of patients using one such intervention.

Within the literature surrounding interventions to improve medication adherence, modest improvements have been observed from numerous methods and strategies. To attain a more in-depth analysis of components within interventions found to be the most effective, a network meta-analysis was employed (chapter 3). This was an innovative method not used within adherence intervention research, outside of HIV research, (Kanters et al. 2017) and was aimed to broaden the understanding of the innerworkings of effective interventions. Network meta-analysis allows multiple comparisons of interventions to each other, rather than a common limitation of only being compared to standard care. This method allowed an analysis of ranking of intervention types and combination of components within interventions for a better understanding of the effectiveness of these tools. (Tonin et al. 2019) Limitations within the network included the classification of interventions and components. We originally attempted to categorise interventions and components into twelve categories that were more detailed and exact. This more detailed attempted created too many nodes within our networks, rendering it unable to be analysed. Additional methods like using BCTs within the network or previous categorisations in the literature would also create too many nodes and combinations that would prevent applicable results. Therefore, our fourcategory system was created for the purpose of broader categories and less combinations able to be compared effectively within the networks.

An additional element of subjectiveness remains in the categorisation of interventions and within often lacking descriptions of interventions trialled. We tried to reduce this limitation by having two individual researchers independently categorise interventions before discussing disputes. Due to the broad range of interventions utilised within the literature and the quality of intervention description reporting, we were still limited in our ability to accurately classify intervention types. Additionally, we chose to avoid restrictions on population inclusion criteria, such as disease state, in order to focus on specific type of interventions and their working components. While including multiple populations could be seen as a strength in the reach of our conclusions, we were limited in that certain intervention types were only researched within certain populations (i.e. reward + technical within drug-abuse populations).

A concern following the network meta-analysis was that while reward-type interventions revealed effectiveness in improving medication adherence, especially when combined with other components, a lack of analysis surrounding these interventions was present. We aimed to fill this gap with an analysis of adherence rates across users of a mHealth app, Perx, utilising rewards to motivate adherence in addition to other technical, educational and attitudinal components. M-DOT measurements allowed an objective method of measuring adherence across users of the intervention for a six-month period. However, M-DOT still required the user to open the app to record the dose, therefore not being able to accurately measure adherence unless a user was engaging with the app. While only retrospective data on app users was available, we were limited on evaluating the app's improvement on adherence without data on a control group or baseline adherence rates. Our retrospective data also had a strength in that we could observe the impact on adherence in real-life environments or normal practice without the influence of patients being aware they are being monitored and evaluated. Additionally, a small cohort of app users was available with a six-month period of using the app consistently over the time period, disallowing further evaluation across clinical conditions, age groups or medications used. However, even within this

small cohort we saw positive trends of optimal adherence being sustained over six months. There still remains a limitation in only evaluating retrospective observational data. A randomised controlled trial is recommended to complement the real-world evidence and further validate the app's causation of adherence rates.

Qualitative content analysis of user survey data allowed insight into user beliefs, perceptions and experiences of using the mHealth intervention. Content analysis revealed centralising themes surrounding their opinions of useful components within the app as well as their frustrations. Insight was gained on which components users find the most useful and correlating this with research analysing effectiveness of these components. The survey often presented multiple responses over many months (once per month per user) for a majority of users. However, our analysis revealed consistency in highly rating the intervention over time, with no decrease seen in the average rating score. A major limitation of our analysis, however, was that a user was not approached with the survey questionnaire unless they began using the app for multiple days. This excludes the opinions of a crucial population of those patients not ever engaged with the mHealth intervention. Future recent may be able to address this limitation by identifying cohorts that disengaged with the app less than a week after their first use of the app and targeting surveys to examine their beliefs and experiences.

Implications for policy, professional practice and research

The fast pace of industry allows for mHealth innovative creations to quickly hit markets. While this creativity should not be hampered, these interventions aiming to change health behaviours, such as medication adherence, must also be scrutinised and examined. The influence of these interventions cannot be understated on their impact on patients and evaluation of both mHealth's interventions' effectiveness on the relevant outcomes, in addition to perspectives of their stakeholders, should be required. Currently, Australia does not have guidelines on recommendations for evaluating mHealth or digital health tools. Due to this, the Evidence Standards Framework for Digital Health Technologies created by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) is recommended. Different recommendations on analysis needed is based on different tiers, or classifications, of digital health interventions. (NICE 2019)

Regarding professional practice implications, as mHealth interventions continue to grow and come into the forefront of patient care, healthcare professionals stand as a vital resource in guiding patients. Healthcare professionals should be educated on the type of mHealth interventions being offered to their patients and should be able to place recommendations based on an individual patient's needs. While we understand this is currently an overwhelming task for any healthcare professional to understand the seemingly infinite option of mHealth tools, mHealth interventions based on theory and tested within the NICE Evidence Standards Framework should be those first recommended. Easier comparison of app reliability and efficacy is necessary in order for healthcare professionals to have confidence in recommending digital tools for medication and healthcare management. Healthcare professionals confidence in mHealth tools will assist in improvements to healthcare professional workload and efficiency of patient-centred interventions. Within the research sector, it is imperative that research agencies, such as universities, combine efforts with industry partners to develop and evaluate mHealth interventions. The majority of mHealth apps already being utilised by patients were created by industry, were not based in theory, and have not be evaluated publicly. The ability of the research sector to collect data and scrutinise these interventions on their content, effectiveness, stakeholder's perspectives, usability and implementation ability is crucial in the success of creating positive health behaviour changes, such as improved medication adherence. Furthermore, the collaboration of research and industry sectors may produce translational research by employing peer-reviewed results and applying them within industry to better promote effective mHealth solutions among larger populations.

Additionally, research surrounding interventions to improve medication adherence must focus on the content and components of these interventions in their evaluations. The vast amount of literature has provided sufficient knowledge concluding multicomponent interventions are effective in improving adherence yet lacks clarification of the specific content or combination of successful components. New methods through data mining or multifactorial approaches are needed in the assessment of these complex interventions to understand their effective components in addition to accurate and detailed description of interventions able to be replicated.

Opportunities for mHealth

The fast-paced creation and uptake of mHealth interventions across all healthcare dimensions offers endless opportunity in improving the lives of patients everywhere. The progress seen thus far from mHealth interventions within medication adherence gives hope for easily implementable and effective solutions to assist patients in medication management. In this thesis, we examined the effective components within interventions aimed at improving adherence and their application within mHealth avenues. Exploring the views of an mHealth intervention's users offered insight into their positive desirability seen and ability to be highly appreciated. We recommend continuing to innovate mHealth solutions within medication adherence, but to follow guidelines in their necessary evaluation, examination and acceptability as digital tools to assist in improving medication adherence as well as fully reporting and evaluating their working components.

Conclusions

- Medication adherence is most effectively improved long term by multicomponent interventions targeting multiple causes of non-adherence. A lack of research surrounding the use of reward components, alone or in combination with other components, warrants further investigation into their use.
- An mHealth intervention utilising multiple components including rewards (monetary vouchers and gamification), technical components (reminders and feedback), educational components, and attitudinal components (supportive communication) was an effective method of sustaining optimal adherence levels over six months.
- The mHealth intervention was highly accepted by its users, who found it helpful to improving their adherence. App features users appreciated the most included technical (dosage reminders and feedback) and rewards but barriers to app desirability remain in their ability to be personalised as well as their ease of use.
- Innovative mHealth solutions to improving medication adherence are encouraged to be developed, yet the examination of their effectiveness, acceptability and evaluation of their intervention components is necessary in recommending evidence-based digital tools.

References

- Agarwal, S., LeFevre, A.E., Lee, J., L'Engle, K., Mehl, G., Sinha, C. & Labrique, A. 2016, 'Guidelines for reporting of health interventions using mobile phones: mobile health (mHealth) evidence reporting and assessment (mERA) checklist', *BMJ*, vol. 352, p. i1174.
- Ahmed, I., Ahmad, N.S., Ali, S., Ali, S., George, A., Danish, H.S., Uppal, E., Soo, J., Mobasheri, M.H. & King, D. 2018, 'Medication adherence apps: review and content analysis', *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, vol. 6, no. 3, p. e62.
- Ahmed, M., Sherwani, Y., Muntasir, M., El-Hilly, A., Iqbal, S., Siddiqui, S., Al-Fagih, Z., Usmani, O. & Eisingerich, A. 2015, 'S80 Game on? The gamification of mHealth apps in the context of smoking cessation', *Thorax*, vol. 70, no. Suppl 3, pp. A47-A.
- Albarracín, D., Gillette, J.C., Earl, A.N., Glasman, L.R., Durantini, M.R. & Ho, M.-H. 2005, 'A test of major assumptions about behavior change: a comprehensive look at the effects of passive and active HIV-prevention interventions since the beginning of the epidemic', *Psychological bulletin*, vol. 131, no. 6, pp. 856-97.
- Alcántara, C., Edmondson, D., Moise, N., Oyola, D., Hiti, D. & Kronish, I.M. 2014, 'Anxiety sensitivity and medication nonadherence in patients with uncontrolled hypertension', *Journal of psychosomatic research*, vol. 77, no. 4, pp. 283-6.
- Allemann, S.S., Nieuwlaat, R., van den Bemt, B.J., Hersberger, K.E. & Arnet, I. 2016, 'Matching adherence interventions to patient determinants using the theoretical domains framework', *Frontiers in pharmacology*, vol. 7, p. 429.
- Amico, K.R., Barta, W., Konkle-Parker, D.J., Fisher, J.D., Cornman, D.H., Shuper, P.A. & Fisher, W.A. 2009, 'The information–motivation–behavioral skills model of ART adherence in a deep South HIV+ clinic sample', *AIDS and Behavior*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 66-75.
- Anghel, L.A., Farcas, A.M. & Oprean, R.N. 2019, 'An overview of the common methods used to measure treatment adherence', *Medicine and pharmacy reports*, vol. 92, no. 2, pp. 117-22.
- Ariely, D. 2009, 'The end of rational economics', *Harvard business review*, vol. 87, no. 7-8, pp. 78-84.
- Ariely, D. 2016, *Payoff: The hidden logic that shapes our motivations*, Simon and Schuster.
- Backman, R., Bayliss, S., Moore, D. & Litchfield, I. 2017, 'Clinical reminder alert fatigue in healthcare: a systematic literature review protocol using qualitative evidence', *Syst Rev*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. 255.
- Balkrishnan, R. 1998, 'Predictors of medication adherence in the elderly', *Clinical therapeutics*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 764-71.
- Bauer, U.E., Briss, P.A., Goodman, R.A. & Bowman, B.A. 2014, 'Prevention of chronic disease in the 21st century: elimination of the leading preventable causes of premature death and disability in the USA', *The Lancet*, vol. 384, no. 9937, pp. 45-52.

- Bhih, A.A., Johnson, P. & Randles, M. 2016, 'Diversity in smartphone usage', Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Computer Systems and Technologies 2016, ACM, pp. 81-8.
- Blaschke, T.F., Osterberg, L., Vrijens, B. & Urquhart, J. 2012, 'Adherence to medications: insights arising from studies on the unreliable link between prescribed and actual drug dosing histories', *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*, vol. 52, pp. 275-301.
- Bosworth, H.B., Granger, B.B., Mendys, P., Brindis, R., Burkholder, R., Czajkowski, S.M., Daniel, J.G., Ekman, I., Ho, M. & Johnson, M. 2011, 'Medication adherence: a call for action', *American heart journal*, vol. 162, no. 3, pp. 412-24.
- Bosworth, H.B., Olsen, M.K., Neary, A., Orr, M., Grubber, J., Svetkey, L., Adams, M. & Oddone, E.Z. 2008, 'Take Control of Your Blood Pressure (TCYB) study: a multifactorial tailored behavioral and educational intervention for achieving blood pressure control', *Patient Educ Couns*, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 338-47.
- Brown, M.T. & Bussell, J.K. 2011, 'Medication adherence: WHO cares?', *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, vol. 86, Elsevier, pp. 304-14.
- Care, N.C.C.f.P. 2009, 'Interventions to increase adherence to prescribed medicine', Medicines Adherence: Involving Patients in Decisions About Prescribed Medicines and Supporting Adherence [Internet], Royal College of General Practitioners (UK).
- Chapman, S.C., Horne, R., Eade, R., Balestrini, S., Rush, J. & Sisodiya, S.M. 2015, 'Applying a perceptions and practicalities approach to understanding nonadherence to antiepileptic drugs', *Epilepsia*, vol. 56, no. 9, pp. 1398-407.
- Chou, Y.-k. 2019, Actionable gamification: Beyond points, badges, and leaderboards, Packt Publishing Ltd.
- Costa, E., Giardini, A., Savin, M., Menditto, E., Lehane, E., Laosa, O., Pecorelli, S., Monaco, A. & Marengoni, A. 2015, 'Interventional tools to improve medication adherence: review of literature', *Patient preference and adherence*, vol. 9, pp. 1303-14.
- Cramer, J.A. 2004, 'A systematic review of adherence with medications for diabetes', *Diabetes Care*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 1218-24.
- Cramer, J.A., Roy, A., Burrell, A., Fairchild, C.J., Fuldeore, M.J., Ollendorf, D.A. & Wong, P.K. 2008, 'Medication compliance and persistence: terminology and definitions', *Value Health*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 44-7.
- Crespo-Gonzalez, C., Garcia-Cardenas, V. & Benrimoj, S.I. 2017, 'The next phase in professional services research: From implementation to sustainability', *Res Social Adm Pharm*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 896-901.
- Crowe, M. 2013, 'Evaluating your clinical programs with prescription claim records', *Pharmacy Today*, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 40-1.
- Cutler, R.L., Torres-Robles, A., Wiecek, E., Drake, B., Van der Linden, N., Benrimoj, S.I.C.
 & Garcia-Cardenas, V. 2019, 'Pharmacist-led medication non-adherence intervention: reducing the economic burden placed on the Australian health care system', *Patient preference and adherence*, vol. 13, p. 853.

- Demonceau, J., Ruppar, T., Kristanto, P., Hughes, D.A., Fargher, E., Kardas, P., De Geest, S., Dobbels, F., Lewek, P., Urquhart, J. & Vrijens, B. 2013, 'Identification and assessment of adherence-enhancing interventions in studies assessing medication adherence through electronically compiled drug dosing histories: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis', *Drugs*, vol. 73, no. 6, pp. 545-62.
- DiBonaventura, M., Gabriel, S., Dupclay, L., Gupta, S. & Kim, E. 2012, 'A patient perspective of the impact of medication side effects on adherence: results of a cross-sectional nationwide survey of patients with schizophrenia', *BMC psychiatry*, vol. 12, no. 1, p. 20.
- Dicheva, D., Dichev, C., Agre, G. & Angelova, G. 2015, 'Gamification in education: A systematic mapping study', *Educational Technology & Society*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 75-88.
- Earl, P. 1990, Behavioural economics, Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Edwards, E.A., Lumsden, J., Rivas, C., Steed, L., Edwards, L., Thiyagarajan, A., Sohanpal, R., Caton, H., Griffiths, C. & Munafò, M. 2016, 'Gamification for health promotion: systematic review of behaviour change techniques in smartphone apps', *BMJ open*, vol. 6, no. 10, p. e012447.
- El Alili, M., Vrijens, B., Demonceau, J., Evers, S.M. & Hiligsmann, M. 2016, 'A scoping review of studies comparing the medication event monitoring system (MEMS) with alternative methods for measuring medication adherence', *British journal* of clinical pharmacology, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 268-79.
- 'Enhancing Patient Adherence: Proceedings of the Pinnacle Roundtable Discussion' 2004, APA Highlights Newsletter.
- Fenerty, S.D., West, C., Davis, S.A., Kaplan, S.G. & Feldman, S.R. 2012, 'The effect of reminder systems on patients' adherence to treatment', *Patient preference and adherence*, vol. 6, p. 127.
- Fleisher, J.E. & Stern, M.B. 2013, 'Medication nonadherence in Parkinson's disease', *Current neurology and neuroscience reports*, vol. 13, no. 10, p. 382.
- Gadkari, A.S. & McHorney, C.A. 2012, 'Unintentional non-adherence to chronic prescription medications: how unintentional is it really?', *BMC health services research*, vol. 12, pp. 98-.
- Garber, M.C., Nau, D.P., Erickson, S.R., Aikens, J.E. & Lawrence, J.B. 2004, 'The concordance of self-report with other measures of medication adherence: a summary of the literature', *Medical care*, vol. 42, no. 7, pp. 649-52.
- Giles, E.L., Robalino, S., McColl, E., Sniehotta, F.F. & Adams, J. 2014, 'The Effectiveness of Financial Incentives for Health Behaviour Change: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis', *PLOS ONE*, vol. 9, no. 3, p. e90347.
- Giles, E.L., Sniehotta, F.F., McColl, E. & Adams, J. 2015, 'Acceptability of financial incentives and penalties for encouraging uptake of healthy behaviours: focus groups', *BMC Public Health*, vol. 15, no. 1, p. 58.
- Gillespie, D., Hood, K., Williams, A., Stenson, R., Probert, C. & Hawthorne, A. 2011, 'The use of the Medication Event Monitoring System (MEMS) for assessing

medication adherence for chronic conditions: use and results from a 12 month trial of patients in remission with ulcerative colitis (UC)', *Trials*, vol. 12, no. Suppl 1, pp. A130-A.

- Gneezy, U., Meier, S. & Rey-Biel, P. 2011, 'When and why incentives (don't) work to modify behavior', *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 191-210.
- Grant, R.W., Devita, N.G., Singer, D.E. & Meigs, J.B. 2003, 'Improving Adherence and Reducing Medication Discrepancies in Patients with Diabetes', *Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, vol. 37, no. 7-8, pp. 962-9.
- Haynes, R.B. 1979, 'Determinant of compliance: The disease and the mechanics of treatment', *Compliance in health care*.
- Health, A.I.o. & Health, A.I.o. 2010, *Australia's Health 2010: The Twelfth Biennial Health Report of the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare*, Australian Government Pub. Service.
- Ho, P.M., Bryson, C.L. & Rumsfeld, J.S. 2009, 'Medication adherence: its importance in cardiovascular outcomes', *Circulation*, vol. 119, no. 23, pp. 3028-35.
- Horne, R., Weinman, J., Barber, N., Elliott, R., Morgan, M., Cribb, A. & Kellar, I. 2005,
 'Concordance, adherence and compliance in medicine taking', *London: NCCSDO*, vol. 2005, pp. 40-6.
- Howard, D.H., Sentell, T. & Gazmararian, J.A. 2006, 'Impact of health literacy on socioeconomic and racial differences in health in an elderly population', *Journal of general internal medicine*, vol. 21, no. 8, pp. 857-61.
- Humphrey, C.H., Small, D.S., Jensen, S.T., Volpp, K.G., Asch, D.A., Zhu, J. & Troxel, A.B. 2019, 'Modeling lottery incentives for daily adherence', *Statistics in Medicine*, vol. 38, no. 15, pp. 2847-67.
- Jimmy, B. & Jose, J. 2011, 'Patient medication adherence: measures in daily practice', *Oman medical journal*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 155-9.
- Kanters, S., Park, J.J., Chan, K., Socias, M.E., Ford, N., Forrest, J.I., Thorlund, K., Nachega, J.B. & Mills, E.J. 2017, 'Interventions to improve adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a systematic review and network meta-analysis', *Lancet HIV*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. e31-e40.
- Kardas, P., Lewek, P. & Matyjaszczyk, M. 2013, 'Determinants of patient adherence: a review of systematic reviews', *Frontiers in pharmacology*, vol. 4, p. 91.
- Khan, R. & Socha-Dietrich, K. 2018, 'Investing in medication adherence improves health outcomes and health system efficiency'.
- Kleinman, N.J., Shah, A., Shah, S., Phatak, S. & Viswanathan, V. 2017, 'Improved medication adherence and frequency of blood glucose self-testing using an m-Health platform versus usual care in a multisite randomized clinical trial among people with type 2 diabetes in India', *Telemedicine and e-Health*, vol. 23, no. 9, pp. 733-40.
- Kleinsinger, F. 2018, 'The Unmet Challenge of Medication Nonadherence', *The Permanente journal*, vol. 22, pp. 18-033.

- Kosse, R.C., Bouvy, M.L., de Vries, T.W. & Koster, E.S. 2019a, 'Effect of a mHealth intervention on adherence in adolescents with asthma: A randomized controlled trial', *Respir Med*, vol. 149, pp. 45-51.
- Kosse, R.C., Bouvy, M.L., de Vries, T.W. & Koster, E.S. 2019b, 'Evaluation of a mobile health intervention to support asthma self-management and adherence in the pharmacy', *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 452-9.
- Kripalani, S., Yao, X. & Haynes, R.B. 2007, 'Interventions to enhance medication adherence in chronic medical conditions: a systematic review', Archives of internal medicine, vol. 167, no. 6, pp. 540-9.
- Kullgren, J.T., Hafez, D., Fedewa, A. & Heisler, M. 2017, 'A Scoping Review of Behavioral Economic Interventions for Prevention and Treatment of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus', *Curr Diab Rep*, vol. 17, no. 9, p. 73.
- Labovitz, D.L., Shafner, L., Reyes Gil, M., Virmani, D. & Hanina, A. 2017, 'Using Artificial Intelligence to Reduce the Risk of Nonadherence in Patients on Anticoagulation Therapy', *Stroke*, vol. 48, no. 5, pp. 1416-9.
- Lam, W.Y. & Fresco, P. 2015, 'Medication adherence measures: an overview', *BioMed research international*, vol. 2015.
- Lattal, K.A. 1991, 'Scheduling positive reinforcers'.
- Lee, Y., Mozaffarian, D., Sy, S., Huang, Y., Liu, J., Wilde, P.E., Abrahams-Gessel, S., Jardim, T.S.V., Gaziano, T.A. & Micha, R. 2019, 'Cost-effectiveness of financial incentives for improving diet and health through Medicare and Medicaid: A microsimulation study', *PLoS Med*, vol. 16, no. 3, p. e1002761.
- Lehane, E. & McCarthy, G. 2007, 'Intentional and unintentional medication nonadherence: a comprehensive framework for clinical research and practice? A discussion paper', *International journal of nursing studies*, vol. 44, no. 8, pp. 1468-77.
- Leite J, Wiecek E, Torres-Robles A, Cutler RL, Garcia-Cardenas V 2020, 'The effectiveness of using mobile applications to improve medication adherence: a systematic review', Telemedicine and e-Health. (Submitted. Under Review)
- Levati, S., Campbell, P., Frost, R., Dougall, N., Wells, M., Donaldson, C. & Hagen, S. 2016, 'Optimisation of complex health interventions prior to a randomised controlled trial: a scoping review of strategies used', *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*, vol. 2, no. 1, p. 17.
- Loewenstein, G., Asch, D.A., Friedman, J.Y., Melichar, L.A. & Volpp, K.G. 2012, 'Can behavioural economics make us healthier?', *Bmj*, vol. 344, p. e3482.
- Loomes, G. & Sugden, R. 1982, 'Regret Theory: An Alternative Theory of Rational Choice Under Uncertainty', *The Economic Journal*, vol. 92, no. 368, pp. 805-24.
- Lowry, K.P., Dudley, T.K., Oddone, E.Z. & Bosworth, H.B. 2005, 'Intentional and unintentional nonadherence to antihypertensive medication', *Ann Pharmacother*, vol. 39, no. 7-8, pp. 1198-203.
- Malotte, C.K., Rhodes, F. & Mais, K.E. 1998, 'Tuberculosis screening and compliance with return for skin test reading among active drug users', *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 88, no. 5, pp. 792-6.

- Maningat, P., Gordon, B.R. & Breslow, J.L. 2013, 'How do we improve patient compliance and adherence to long-term statin therapy?', *Curr Atheroscler Rep*, vol. 15, no. 1, p. 291.
- Márquez Contreras, E., Márquez Rivero, S., Rodríguez García, E., López-García-Ramos, L., Carlos Pastoriza Vilas, J., Baldonedo Suárez, A., Gracia Diez, C., Gil Guillén, V., Martell Claros, N. & Hypertension, C.G.o.S.S.o. 2019, 'Specific hypertension smartphone application to improve medication adherence in hypertension: a cluster-randomized trial', *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 167-73.
- Marteau, T.M., Ashcroft, R.E. & Oliver, A. 2009, 'Using financial incentives to achieve healthy behaviour', *BMJ*, vol. 338, p. b1415.
- Masnoon, N., Shakib, S., Kalisch-Ellett, L. & Caughey, G.E. 2017, 'What is polypharmacy? A systematic review of definitions', *BMC geriatrics*, vol. 17, no. 1, p. 230.
- Mekler, E.D., Brühlmann, F., Opwis, K. & Tuch, A.N. 2013, 'Do points, levels and leaderboards harm intrinsic motivation?: an empirical analysis of common gamification elements', *Proceedings of the First International Conference on gameful design, research, and applications*, ACM, pp. 66-73.
- Michie, S., Abraham, C., Whittington, C., McAteer, J. & Gupta, S. 2009, 'Effective techniques in healthy eating and physical activity interventions: a meta-regression', *Health Psychol*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 690-701.
- Michie, S., Richardson, M., Johnston, M., Abraham, C., Francis, J., Hardeman, W., Eccles, M.P., Cane, J. & Wood, C.E. 2013, 'The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: building an international consensus for the reporting of behavior change interventions', *Ann Behav Med*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 81-95.
- Miller, A.S., Cafazzo, J.A. & Seto, E. 2014, 'A game plan: Gamification design principles in mHealth applications for chronic disease management', *Health Informatics Journal*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 184-93.
- Mohan, P.L., Shaji, S., Ashraf, T., Anas, V.U. & Basheer, B. 2018, 'Effectiveness of a reminder card system versus a mobile application to improve medication adherence among asthma patients in a tertiary care hospital', *Journal of Taibah University medical sciences*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 541-6.
- Morawski, K., Ghazinouri, R., Krumme, A., Lauffenburger, J.C., Lu, Z., Durfee, E., Oley, L., Lee, J., Mohta, N. & Haff, N. 2018, 'Association of a smartphone application with medication adherence and blood pressure control: the MedISAFE-BP randomized clinical trial', *JAMA internal medicine*, vol. 178, no. 6, pp. 802-9.
- Morisky, D.E., Ang, A., Krousel-Wood, M. & Ward, H.J. 2008, 'Predictive validity of a medication adherence measure in an outpatient setting', *The Journal of Clinical Hypertension*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 348-54.
- Morisky, D.E., Green, L.W. & Levine, D.M. 1986, 'Concurrent and predictive validity of a self-reported measure of medication adherence', *Med Care*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 67-74.

- Morrissey, E.C., Corbett, T.K., Walsh, J.C. & Molloy, G.J. 2016, 'Behavior change techniques in apps for medication adherence: a content analysis', *American journal of preventive medicine*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. e143-e6.
- Nau, D.P. 2012, 'Proportion of days covered (PDC) as a preferred method of measuring medication adherence', *Springfield, VA: Pharmacy Quality Alliance*.
- Nguyen, T.M.U., Caze, A.L. & Cottrell, N. 2014, 'What are validated self-report adherence scales really measuring?: a systematic review', *British journal of clinical pharmacology*, vol. 77, no. 3, pp. 427-45.
- NICE 2019, Evidence Standards Framework for Digital Health Technologies, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence.
- Nieuwlaat, R., Wilczynski, N., Navarro, T., Hobson, N., Jeffery, R., Keepanasseril, A., Agoritsas, T., Mistry, N., Iorio, A. & Jack, S. 2014, 'Interventions for enhancing medication adherence', *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, no. 11.
- Nunes, E.V., Rothenberg, J.L., Sullivan, M.A., Carpenter, K.M. & Kleber, H.D. 2006, 'Behavioral therapy to augment oral naltrexone for opioid dependence: a ceiling on effectiveness?', Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 503-17.
- Nunes, V., Neilson, J., O'flynn, N., Calvert, N., Kuntze, S., Smithson, H., Benson, J., Blair, J., Bowser, A. & Clyne, W. 2009, 'Medicines adherence: Involving patients in decisions about prescribed medicines and supporting adherence'.
- O'Donoghue, T. & Rabin, M. 1999, 'Doing it now or later', *American Economic Review*, vol. 89, no. 1, pp. 103-24.
- Olsson, I.N., Runnamo, R. & Engfeldt, P. 2011, 'Medication quality and quality of life in the elderly, a cohort study', *Health and quality of life outcomes*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 95.
- Organization, W.H. 2002, *The world health report 2002: reducing risks, promoting healthy life*, World Health Organization.
- Organization, W.H. 2004, The world medicines situation, World Health Organization.
- Osterberg, L. & Blaschke, T. 2005, 'Adherence to medication', *New England journal of medicine*, vol. 353, no. 5, pp. 487-97.
- Page, A.T., Falster, M.O., Litchfield, M., Pearson, S.A. & Etherton-Beer, C. 2019, 'Polypharmacy among older Australians, 2006–2017: a population-based study', *Medical Journal of Australia*.
- Park, J.Y.E., Li, J., Howren, A., Tsao, N.W. & De Vera, M. 2019, 'Mobile Phone Apps Targeting Medication Adherence: Quality Assessment and Content Analysis of User Reviews', JMIR mHealth and uHealth, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. e11919-e.
- Parthasarathi, G., Nyfort-Hansen, K. & Nahata, M.C. 2004, A Text Book of Clinical Pharmacy Practice: Essential Concepts and Skills, Orient Blackswan.
- Patel, M.S., Benjamin, E.J., Volpp, K.G., Fox, C.S., Small, D.S., Massaro, J.M., Lee, J.J., Hilbert, V., Valentino, M. & Taylor, D.H. 2017, 'Effect of a game-based intervention designed to enhance social incentives to increase physical activity among families: the BE FIT randomized clinical trial', *JAMA internal medicine*, vol. 177, no. 11, pp. 1586-93.

- Perera, A.I., Thomas, M.G., Moore, J.O., Faasse, K. & Petrie, K.J. 2014, 'Effect of a smartphone application incorporating personalized health-related imagery on adherence to antiretroviral therapy: a randomized clinical trial', *AIDS patient care and STDs*, vol. 28, no. 11, pp. 579-86.
- Pløhn, T. & Aalberg, T. 2015, 'Using gamification to motivate smoking cessation', European Conference on Games Based Learning, Academic Conferences International Limited, p. 431.
- Presley, B., Groot, W. & Pavlova, M. 2019, 'Pharmacy-led interventions to improve medication adherence among adults with diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis', *Res Social Adm Pharm*, vol. 15, no. 9, pp. 1057-67.
- Raebel, M.A., Schmittdiel, J., Karter, A.J., Konieczny, J.L. & Steiner, J.F. 2013, 'Standardizing terminology and definitions of medication adherence and persistence in research employing electronic databases', *Medical care*, vol. 51, no. 8 Suppl 3, pp. S11-S21.
- Rand, C.S. 1993, 'Measuring adherence with therapy for chronic diseases: implications for the treatment of heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia', *The American journal of cardiology*, vol. 72, no. 10, pp. D68-D74.
- Research2Guidance 2017, 'Mhealth App Economics 2017: Current Status and Future Trends in Mobile Health', Research 2 Guidance Berlin.
- Research, O.o.B.a.S.S. 2010, Adherence Research Network, U.S. National Institutes of Health.
- Rigsby, M.O., Rosen, M.I., Beauvais, J.E., Cramer, J.A., Rainey, P.M., O'Malley, S.S., Dieckhaus, K.D. & Rounsaville, B.J. 2000, 'Cue-dose training with monetary reinforcement: pilot study of an antiretroviral adherence intervention', J Gen Intern Med, vol. 15, no. 12, pp. 841-7.
- Rintamaki, L.S., Davis, T.C., Skripkauskas, S., Bennett, C.L. & Wolf, M.S. 2006, 'Social stigma concerns and HIV medication adherence', *AIDS Patient Care & STDs*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 359-68.
- Roebuck, J.N.L., Marin Gemmill-Toyama, and Troyen A. Brennan 2011, 'Medication Adherence Leads To Lower Health Care Use And Costs Despite Increased Drug Spending', *Health Affairs*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 91-9.
- Sabaté, E. & Sabaté, E. 2003, Adherence to long-term therapies: evidence for action, World Health Organization.
- Safran, D.G., Taira, D.A., Rogers, W.H., Kosinski, M., Ware, J.E. & Tarlov, A.R. 1998, 'Linking primary care performance to outcomes of care', *Journal of family practice*, vol. 47, pp. 213-20.
- Sapkota, S., Brien, J.A., Greenfield, J.R. & Aslani, P. 2015, 'A Systematic Review of Interventions Addressing Adherence to Anti-Diabetic Medications in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes--Components of Interventions', *PLoS One*, vol. 10, no. 6, p. e0128581.
- Sawyer, S.M. 2002, 'Action plans, self-monitoring and adherence: changing behaviour to promote better self-management', *Med J Aust*, vol. 177, no. S6, pp. S72-4.

- Schonherz, Y., Harel, T., Efron, M., Elazar, M. & Gothelf, D. 2018, 'Testing the efficacy of a smartphone application in improving medication adherence, among children with ADHD', *The Israel journal of psychiatry and related sciences*, vol. 55, no. 2, pp. 59-67.
- Sharot, T. 2011, 'The optimism bias', *Current biology*, vol. 21, no. 23, pp. R941-R5.
- Shenolikar, R.A., Balkrishnan, R., Camacho, F.T., Whitmire, J.T. & Anderson, R.T. 2006, 'Race and medication adherence in Medicaid enrollees with type-2 diabetes', *Journal of the National Medical Association*, vol. 98, no. 7, p. 1071.
- Shields, M.D., Alqahtani, F., Rivey, M.P. & McElnay, J.C. 2018, 'Mobile direct observation of therapy (MDOT) - A rapid systematic review and pilot study in children with asthma', *PLOS ONE*, vol. 13, no. 2, p. e0190031.
- Silva, B.M.C., Rodrigues, J.J.P.C., de la Torre Díez, I., López-Coronado, M. & Saleem, K. 2015, 'Mobile-health: A review of current state in 2015', *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, vol. 56, pp. 265-72.
- Stawarz, K., Rodríguez, M.D., Cox, A.L. & Blandford, A. 2016, 'Understanding the use of contextual cues: design implications for medication adherence technologies that support remembering', *Digital health*, vol. 2, pp. 2055207616678707-.
- Stoyanov, S. R., Hides, L., Kavanagh, D. J., Zelenko, O., Tjondronegoro, D., & Mani, M. (2015). Mobile App Rating Scale: A New Tool for Assessing the Quality of Health Mobile Apps. JMIR MHealth and UHealth, 3(1), e27. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.3422
- Tabi, K., Randhawa, A.S., Choi, F., Mithani, Z., Albers, F., Schnieder, M., Nikoo, M., Vigo, D., Jang, K., Demlova, R. & Krausz, M. 2019, 'Mobile Apps for Medication Management: Review and Analysis', *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*, vol. 7, no. 9, p. e13608.
- Tan, X., Patel, I. & Chang, J. 2014, 'Review of the four item Morisky medication adherence scale (MMAS-4) and eight item Morisky medication adherence scale (MMAS-8)', *INNOVATIONS in pharmacy*, vol. 5, no. 3, p. 5.
- Tanna, S. & Lawson, G. 2016, *Analytical Chemistry for Assessing Medication Adherence*, Elsevier.
- Tao, D., Xie, L., Wang, T. & Wang, T. 2015, 'A meta-analysis of the use of electronic reminders for patient adherence to medication in chronic disease care', *Journal of telemedicine and telecare*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 3-13.
- Thompson, K., Kulkarni, J. & Sergejew, A.A. 2000, 'Reliability and validity of a new Medication Adherence Rating Scale (MARS) for the psychoses', *Schizophrenia Research*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 241-7.
- Tonin, F.S., Wiecek, E., Torres-Robles, A., Pontarolo, R., Benrimoj, S.C.I., Fernandez-Llimos, F. & Garcia-Cardenas, V. 2019, 'An innovative and comprehensive technique to evaluate different measures of medication adherence: The network meta-analysis', *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 358-65.
- Torres-Robles, A., Wiecek, E., Cutler, R., Drake, B., Benrimoj, S.I., Fernandez-Llimos, F. & Garcia-Cardenas, V. 2019, 'Using Dispensing Data to Evaluate Adherence

Implementation Rates in Community Pharmacy', *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, vol. 10, no. 130.

- Torres-Robles, A., Wiecek, E., Tonin, F.S., Benrimoj, S.I., Fernandez-Llimos, F. & Garcia-Cardenas, V. 2018, 'Comparison of Interventions to Improve Long-Term Medication Adherence Across Different Clinical Conditions: A Systematic Review With Network Meta-Analysis', *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, vol. 9, no. 1454.
- van der Laan, D.M., Elders, P.J.M., Boons, C.C.L.M., Nijpels, G., van Dijk, L. & Hugtenburg, J.G. 2018, 'Effectiveness of a Patient-Tailored, Pharmacist-Led Intervention Program to Enhance Adherence to Antihypertensive Medication: The CATI Study', *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, vol. 9, no. 1057.
- Vik, S.A., Hogan, D.B., Patten, S.B., Johnson, J.A., Romonko-Slack, L. & Maxwell, C.J. 2006, 'Medication nonadherence and subsequent risk of hospitalisation and mortality among older adults', *Drugs & aging*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 345-56.
- Vlaev, I., King, D., Darzi, A. & Dolan, P. 2019, 'Changing health behaviors using financial incentives: a review from behavioral economics', *BMC Public Health*, vol. 19, no. 1, p. 1059.
- Vo, V., Auroy, L. & Sarradon-Eck, A. 2019, 'Patients' Perceptions of mHealth Apps: Meta-Ethnographic Review of Qualitative Studies', *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, vol. 7, no. 7, p. e13817.
- Volpp, K.G., Loewenstein, G., Troxel, A.B., Doshi, J., Price, M., Laskin, M. & Kimmel, S.E. 2008, 'A test of financial incentives to improve warfarin adherence', *BMC health services research*, vol. 8, no. 1, p. 272.
- Vrijens, B., De Geest, S., Hughes, D.A., Przemyslaw, K., Demonceau, J., Ruppar, T., Dobbels, F., Fargher, E., Morrison, V. & Lewek, P. 2012, 'A new taxonomy for describing and defining adherence to medications', *British journal of clinical pharmacology*, vol. 73, no. 5, pp. 691-705.
- Wadge, H., Bicknell, C. & Vlaev, I. 2015, 'Perceived ethical acceptability of financial incentives to improve diabetic eye screening attendance', *BMJ Open Diabetes Research & amp; Care*, vol. 3, no. 1, p. e000118.
- Wang, Y. & Sloan, F.A. 2018, 'Present bias and health', *Journal of Risk and Uncertainty*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 177-98.
- West, R., Walia, A., Hyder, N., Shahab, L. & Michie, S. 2010, 'Behavior change techniques used by the English Stop Smoking Services and their associations with short-term quit outcomes', *Nicotine Tob Res*, vol. 12, no. 7, pp. 742-7.
- Wiecek, E., Tonin, F.S., Torres-Robles, A., Benrimoj, S.I., Fernandez-Llimos, F. & Garcia-Cardenas, V. 2019, 'Temporal effectiveness of interventions to improve medication adherence: A network meta-analysis', *PloS one*, vol. 14, no. 3, p. e0213432.
- Xiong, S., Berkhouse, H., Schooler, M., Pu, W., Sun, A., Gong, E. & Yan, L.L. 2018, 'Effectiveness of mHealth Interventions in Improving Medication Adherence Among People with Hypertension: a Systematic Review', *Curr Hypertens Rep*, vol. 20, no. 10, p. 86.

- Yashkin, A.P., Hahn, P. & Sloan, F.A. 2016, 'Introducing anti-vascular endothelial growth factor therapies for AMD did not raise risk of myocardial infarction, stroke, and death', *Ophthalmology*, vol. 123, no. 10, pp. 2225-31.
- Zeller, A., Ramseier, E., Teagtmeyer, A. & Battegay, E. 2008, 'Patients' self-reported adherence to cardiovascular medication using electronic monitors as comparators', *Hypertens Res*, vol. 31, no. 11, pp. 2037-43.
- Zullig, L.L., Mendys, P. & Bosworth, H.B. 2017, 'Medication adherence: A practical measurement selection guide using case studies', *Patient education and counseling*, vol. 100, no. 7, pp. 1410-4.

Appendices

A. Negligible Risk Ethics Approval

Dear Applicant

Project title: Analysis of retrospective medication adherence data

You have declared your research as Nil/Negligible Risk and that it DOES NOT include any of the following:

* Establishment of a register or databank for possible use in future research projects

* Collection, transfer and/or banking of human biospecimens

* Any significant alteration to routine care or health service provided to participants

* Interventions and therapies, including clinical and non-clinical trials, and innovations

* Targeted recruitment or analysis of data from any of the participant groups listed in Chapter 4 of the National Statement (or where any of these participants are likely to be significantly over-represented in the group being studied) including:

- Women who are pregnant and the human fetus
- Children and young people (under 18 years)
- People in dependent or unequal relationships
- People highly dependent on medical care who may be unable to give consent
- People with a cognitive impairment, an intellectual disability, or a mental illness
- People who may be involved in illegal activities (including those affected)
- Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples

* Collection, use or disclosure of personal information (except where expert opinion is being canvased with full disclosure, consent and identification for use in the public domain)

* Collection, use or disclosure of health information

- * Collection, use or disclosure of sensitive information
- * Covert observation, active concealment, or planned deception of participants

* Activity that potentially infringes the privacy or professional reputation of participants, providers or organisations (except where expert opinion is being canvased with full disclosure, consent and identification for use in the public domain)

* Potential for participants to experience harm (e.g. physical, psychological, social, economic and/or legal)

* Direct contact with UTS staff/students, patients, consumers or members of the public (except where expert opinion is being canvased with full disclosure, consent and identification for use in the public domain)

* Participants who have a pre-existing relationship with the researcher (except where expert opinion is being canvased with full disclosure, consent and

identification for use in the public domain)

* People unable to give free informed consent due to difficulties in understanding the Information Sheet or Consent Form

* People in other countries

PLEASE NOTE: If at any time, the scope of your research changes to include one or more of the above categories, you are immediately required to submit a new application.

To access the National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research, visit the NHMRC webpage: <u>https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/guidelines-publications/e72</u>

Please keep a copy of your Declaration form on file to show you have considered the risks associated with your research. You should consider this your official letter of approval.

For tracking purposes, you have been provided with an ethics application number, which is UTS HREC ETH18-2312N.

I also refer you to the AVCC guidelines relating to the storage of data, which require that data be kept for a minimum of 5 years after publication of research. However, in NSW, longer retention requirements are required for research on human subjects with potential long-term effects, research with long-term environmental effects, or research considered of national or international significance, importance, or controversy. If the data from this research project falls into one of these categories, contact University Records for advice on long-term retention.

Instructions for saving the declaration form can be downloaded from: <u>https://staff.uts.edu.au/howdoi/Pages/Researching/Research%20ethics%20a</u> <u>nd%20Integrity/Human%20research%20ethics/submit-my-human-research-ethics-</u> <u>application.aspx</u>

To access this application, please follow the URLs below:

* if accessing within the UTS network: <u>https://rm.uts.edu.au</u>

* if accessing outside of UTS network: <u>https://vpn.uts.edu.au</u>, and click on ""RM6 - Production"" after logging in.

If you have any queries about this approval, please do not hesitate to contact your local research office or <u>Research.Ethics@uts.edu.au</u>.

Kind regards

UTS HREC Ethics Secretariat C/- Research & Innovation Office University of Technology Sydney E: <u>Research.Ethics@uts.edu.au</u> <u>https://staff.uts.edu.au/topichub/Pages/Researching/Research%20Ethics%20and%</u> <u>20Integrity/Human%20research%20ethics/human-research-ethics.aspx</u> PO Box 123, BROADWAY NSW 2007 [Level 14, Building 1, Broadway Campus]

REF: Ethics 2 -Neg Risk approved (c)